

The role of β_2 integrins on dendritic cells in tolerogenic and autoimmune environments

Leonie Schittenhelm BSc

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Translational and Clinial Research Institute,

Faculty of Medical Sciences,

Newcastle University

January 2020

Abstract

The human immune system reacts swiftly to pathogens while remaining oblivious to self, an important concept termed self-tolerance. Dendritic cells (DCs) are pivotal in this process, as they mediate both initiation of adaptive immune responses as well as induction of tolerance. Recently, evidence has been accumulating that β_2 integrins, heterodimeric adhesion receptors that can assume an active conformation in response to stimulation through various receptors, may have both pro-inflammatory and immunoregulatory roles on DCs. In this thesis, I investigated the hypothesis that dysregulation of β_2 integrin signalling on DCs can contribute to aberrant inflammatory responses, such as in the autoimmune disease rheumatoid arthritis (RA).

To test this hypothesis, I first developed and optimised a multi-colour flow cytometry panel to measure both expression ('total' β_2 integrin) and expression of the active conformation ('active' β_2 integrin) of three β_2 integrin subunits: CD11a, CD11b and the pairing subunit CD18. As conformational state of integrins is highly important for the functionality, this provided important proof of concept that simultaneous staining for both 'total' and activation-specific epitopes is possible.

Then I utilised mature and tolerogenic monocyte-derived DCs (Mo-DCs) as a model system to explore the role of β_2 integrins in circumstances of immune activation and tolerance. I found that tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed significantly more active CD11a, while expressing significantly less active CD11b compared to mature Mo-DCs. Furthermore, treating mature Mo-DCs with a CD11b-blocking antibody significantly decreased their T cell stimulatory ability, suggesting that CD11b might have pro-inflammatory roles on DCs.

Lastly, I compared total and active β_2 integrin expression on DCs and monocyte populations in RA patients and healthy controls. While no differences in β_2 integrin expression were observed in peripheral blood (PB), comparing synovial fluid (SF) to PB of active RA patients showed that expression of total and active CD11a was significantly reduced in SF, while CD11b was significantly increased.

To conclude, I found that CD11a and CD11b might play opposing roles on DCs in both tolerogenic and autoimmune environments. From my findings, it could be concluded that CD11a has immunoregulatory roles on DCs, while CD11b is proinflammatory.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the following people for their invaluable help in completing the work for this thesis.

First of all, a big thank you to my supervisors Vicky Morrison and Catharien Hilkens, whose support and guidance was vital for both my development as a researcher and this project. Catharien, thank you for letting me dip my toes into immunology in my first year and also for continuous support despite the physical distance. Vicky, thank you for your patience, kindness and support, as well as your passion - even if things didn't work out the way we planned, I always left our meetings full of motivation and ready to tackle the next problem. Thank you also to my third supervisor Arthur Pratt, whose help with clinical questions finally kicked my sample collection, and with it, my project, into gear.

Thank you to both the Isaacs/Hilkens group in Newcastle and LIVE in Glasgow and the McInnes/Goodyear group in Glasgow for welcoming me with open arms, helping me out wherever they could and making even late-night science fun. A special shoutout to Gemma, Lilian, Inma and Peter in Newcastle and Claire, Holly and Lotus in Glasgow, who first made me feel at home in the respective cities. Thank you also to my assessors Venetia Bigley and John Isaacs for their input and help with my project.

The work done in this thesis would not have been possible without the help and technical expertise of people in both Newcastle and Glasgow. Thank you to Dr. David McDonald, who built my large flow cytometry panel, and Dr. Andrew Filby for always taking the time to discuss the difficulties of staining for two targets in close proximity. Thank you to Diane Vaughan, who made my move from flow cytometers in Newcastle to flow cytometers in Glasgow as painless as possible and taught me how to tame the Fortessa. Thank you also to Gill Hulme, Carly Foster, Andrew Fuller in Newcastle as well as Alana Hamilton and Liz Peat in Glasgow, for their support and for teaching me the ins and outs of flow cytometry. Thank you to Leandro Lemgruber for his support with all things microscopy and for building the Cellprofiler pipeline to analyse my cell clustering data – and for adapting it again and again until it yielded all the data it could. Thank you also to Dennis Lendrem, who provided expertise and advice on covariate analysis. Thank you to Aziza Elmesmari, whose great expertise on all things dendritic cell was very much appreciated and made FACS sorting a

iii

breeze in those stressful last months. A big thank you to Claire Wright for making the move between institutions so easy and for her continuous support with everything RACE and her patience and kindness, when science got in the way of getting back to her. Thank you also to everyone in RACE who showed what collaborative science can look like and to Versus Arthritis for making this work and these collaborations possible.

Thank you to all the people who willingly provided blood samples for me to do research on. This work would not have been possible without the many patients, co-workers and family members of co-workers (!) that so kindly donated their time and tissue. Many thanks to the research nurses and medical staff involved in consenting patients and providing these samples, especially Kay Anderson, Jennifer Davidson and Maureen Todd, and to Dr. Duncan Porter and Dr. Andrew Hunter for giving me access to their clinics and always looking out to recruit more patients. Thank you also to Emma Garcia-Melchior, whose help with phlebotomy and biobanked synovial fluid was very much appreciated. Thank you to Mary Waterston for organising sample transport on many occasions and a special thanks to Ashely Gilmour and Dr. Stefan Siebert for making sure ethical approval and consent was in place for all my samples. Lastly, a huge thank you to Dr. Jamie Robertson, who persisted in sample recruitment against all odds and didn't give up looking for samples until I told him I was writing up.

Lastly, I want to thank my family and friends for supporting me through this PhD and lending their kind ears to the many frustrations and brief glances of hope over the last three years. I could not have done it without you (except maybe the repeated admonishments by my Uncle Krishan for going into basic research...). A big thank you to Katie Hamilton from the University of Glasgow Counselling Service, who taught me the skills to continue this PhD when it got hard and generally made my brain a much happier place to be in. Finally, thank you to my girlfriend Sarah. You were my stormy sea when science got hard and celebrated every high with me. Can't wait for all the adventures that come next.

iv

Table of Contents

Abstrac	:t	i	
Acknowledgmentsiii			
Table o	Table of Contentsv		
List of T	Table	esx	
List of F	igur	esxi	
Definitio	ons/A	Abbreviations xiv	
Chapte	r 1	Introduction1	
1.1	Imn	nune tolerance2	
1.2	Rol	e of antigen-presenting cells in the immune system	
1.2	.1	Dendritic cells	
1.2	.2	Monocytes12	
1.3	Bre	ach of tolerance: the autoimmune disease RA15	
1.3	5.1	Pathology of RA15	
1.3	.2	Role of dendritic cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis17	
1.3	.3	Dendritic cell therapy for Rheumatoid Arthritis19	
1.4	β_2 i	ntegrins: immune regulation versus activation23	
1.4	.1	Integrins24	
1.4	.2	A special role in the immune system: β_2 integrins	
1.4	.3	Roles of β_2 integrins in immune activation and regulation	
1.4	.4	Evidence suggesting a role of β_2 integrins in RA	
1.4	.5	Targeting β_2 integrin receptors therapeutically	
1.5	Нур	oothesis and Aims41	
Chapte	r 2	Materials and Methods45	
2.1	Cel	l isolation46	
2.1	.1	Ethical approval46	
2.1	.2	Peripheral blood46	

	2.1	.3	Synovial fluid	46
	2.1	.4	Synovial membrane	46
	2.2	Ger	nerating Mo-DCs	47
	2.2	.1	CD14 ⁺ monocyte isolation	47
	2.2	.2	Culture of Mo-DCs	47
	2.2	.3	Generation of immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs	48
	2.3	Flov	w cytometry	48
	2.3	.1	Mo-DC phenotyping	48
	2.3	.2	Integrin activation staining	49
	2.3	.3	Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS)	49
	2.4	Sta	tic adhesion assay	52
	2.5	18h	PBMC stimulation	53
	2.6	Mix	ed Lymphocyte Reactions	54
	2.6	.1	Naïve CD4 T cell isolation	54
	2.6	.2	CellTrace Violet Proliferation Staining	54
	2.6	.3	Setting up Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction	54
	2.7	ELI	SA	55
	2.8	Mic	roscopy	56
	2.8	.1	Quantification of Mo-DC clustering on glass bottom plates	56
	2.9	Sar	nple size estimation and power calculations	58
	2.10	S	tatistical Analysis	60
Ch	apte	r 3	Development and optimisation of a flow cytometry panel to quantify	
act	tive β	2 int	egrins	61
	3.1	Intro	oduction	62
	3.1	.1	The β_2 integrins of interest	62
	3.1	.2	Cells of interest	63
	3.1	.3	Application of the β_2 integrin flow cytometry panel	63
:	3.2	Aim	IS	64

3.3 Re	sults65
3.3.1	Temperature sensitivity of active integrin staining65
3.3.2	Time sensitivity of active integrin staining67
3.3.3	Validating a suitable positive control69
3.3.4	Assessing steric hindrance and FRET72
3.3.5	Active integrin panel: Titration of antibodies76
3.3.6	Gating strategy80
3.3.7	Experimental controls81
3.3.8	Potential of using active integrin panel on human tissue
3.3.9	The effect of sample preservation on active integrin staining
3.4 Dis	cussion90
3.4.1	Limitations of the active β_2 integrin staining protocol and panel90
3.4.2	Strengths of the active β_2 integrin staining protocol and panel92
3.4.3	Differences between β_2 integrin subunits identified
3.5 Co	nclusions96
Chapter 4	Characterisation and function of β_2 integrins on tolerogenic monocyte-
derived der	ndritic cells
4.1 Inti	roduction
4.1.1	Mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs98
4.1.2	The potential role of β_2 integrins on Mo-DCs
4.1.3	Aims101
4.2 Re	sults102
4.2.1	Generation and phenotypic analysis of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC
popula	tions102
4.2.2	Clustering abilities of Mo-DCs110
4.2.3	The role of CD11a in Mo-DCs112
424	
	The role of CD11b in Mo-DCs117

4.	3	Dise	cussion	136
	4.3	.1	Opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b	136
	4.3	.2	Possibility of modulating β_2 integrins to improve tolerogenic cell	
	the	rapie	es for RA	142
4.	4	Cor	nclusions	145
Cha Rhe	ptei uma	- 5 atoid	Opposing roles of β_2 integrins on antigen-presenting cells in patients I Arthritis	with 147
5.	1	Intro	oduction	148
	5.1	.1	Role of antigen-presenting cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis	148
	5.1	.2	Potential role of β_2 integrins in Rheumatoid Arthritis	150
5.	2	Aim	IS	152
5.	3	Res	sults	152
	5.3	.1	Analysis and quantification of clinical data	152
	5.3	.2	β_2 integrin expression on APCs in health	158
	5.3	.3	β_2 integrin expression in APCs in Rheumatoid Arthritis	173
	5.3	.4	The β_2 integrin CD11a in APCs from RA patients	177
	5.3	.5	The β_2 integrin CD11b in Rheumatoid Arthritis	190
	5.3	.6	Exploring functional roles of CD11a and CD11b ex vivo	198
	5.3	.7	Mimicking the synovial environment in vitro	198
	5.3	.8	Effect of blocking CD11b on cDC2 stimulatory ability	207
5.	4	Dise	cussion	209
	5.4	.1	Gender differences in β_2 integrins	210
5.4.2		.2	Increase of steric hindrance in RA samples	211
	5.4	.3	Opposing functions of CD11a and CD11b	214
5.	5	Cor	nclusion	216
Cha	ptei	⁻ 6	Final Discussion	217
6.	1	Cha	allenges in targeting β_2 integrins for research and therapeutic reasons	218
6.	2	Evic	dence of dysregulation of β_2 integrins in RA	222

6.3	Summary of opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b	224
6.4	Targeting β_2 integrins therapeutically	228
6.5	Future Directions	229
6.6	Concluding remarks	231
Appendix		232
References		235

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Expression of β_2 integrins on human and murine DCs and monocytes	. 30
Table 2.1 Antibodies used for flow cytometry	. 52
Table 2.2 Ligand concentrations for static adhesion assay	. 52
Table 2.3 Treatment conditions for 18h PBMC stimulation	. 53
Table 2.4 A priori sample size calculation	. 59
Table 2.5 Compromise power calculation	. 59
Table 3.1 Antibodies used in active β_2 integrin flow cytometry panel	. 79
Table 5.1 Recruitment details of healthy controls and patients with RA	174
Table 5.2 Information on disease pattern and prescribed therapeutics in the recruit	ted
RA patients	176

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Antigen-specific T cell activation and tolerance induction	8
Figure 1.2 Integrin α and β subunit pairings	24
Figure 1.3 Protein domains of integrins	25
Figure 1.4 Integrin signalling and conformational states	27
Figure 1.5 β_2 integrins and their ligands	29
Figure 1.6 Roles of β_2 integrins in DCs	
Figure 2.1 Gating strategy for sorting cDC2 DCs from human PB	50
Figure 2.2 Visual representation of CellProfiler pipeline for cell clustering anal	ysis57
Figure 3.1: Staining of active β_2 integrin subunits is temperature sensitive	66
Figure 3.2 The effect of staining time on active β_2 integrin staining	68
Figure 3.3 Effect of PMA stimulation on β_2 integrin activation	71
Figure 3.4 Staining for total and active β_2 integrins simultaneously does not le	ad to
signal loss in % due to steric hindrance	74
Figure 3.5 Loss of signal brightness due to steric hindrance	75
Figure 3.6: Example titration procedure using CD11b total antibody	78
Figure 3.7 Gating strategy for APCs in active β_2 integrin panel	81
Figure 3.8: Experimental controls used in active β_2 integrin staining panel	83
Figure 3.9: Effect of ST digestion protocol on total and active β_2 integrin staini	ng85
Figure 3.10: Effect of paraformaldehyde-fixation on total and active β_2 integrir	1
staining	87
Figure 3.11 Effect of freeze-thawing on total and active β_2 integrin staining	
Figure 4.1 Expression of CD1c and CD14 on Mo-DCs	103
Figure 4.2 Expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR on Mo-DCs	105
Figure 4.3 Expression of LAP and TLR2 on Mo-DCs	107
Figure 4.4 Effect of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs in an MLR	109
Figure 4.5 Cell clustering phenotype of Mo-DCs	112
Figure 4.6 Expression of total CD11a in Mo-DCs	114
Figure 4.7 Expression of active CD11a in Mo-DCs	115
Figure 4.8 Adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to ICAM-1	117
Figure 4.9 Expression of total CD11b on Mo-DCs	118
Figure 4.10 Expression of active CD11b in Mo-DCs	119
Figure 4.11 Expression of active CD18 in Mo-DCs	120

Figure 4.12 Adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to iC3b, C4b and
Fibrinogen
Figure 4.13 Expression of total CD11c on Mo-DCs 124
Figure 4.14 CD45RO-CD4+ T cells express CD11a and CD18, but not CD11b 126
Figure 4.15 High concentrations of LA-1 dissolved in DMSO inhibits T cell
proliferation in MLRs127
Figure 4.16 Effect of LA-1/DMSO on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs
Figure 4.17 Effect of CD11b agonist LA-1 on expression of active and total CD11b
Figure 4.18 Range of expression of active CD11b on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs
Figure 4.19 Effect of DMSO treatment on cell death 133
Figure 4.20 Effect of blocking CD11b on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs in MLRs
Figure 5.1 β_2 Quantification of β_2 integrin subunit expression
Figure 5.2 Effect of PMA on active β_2 integrin expression
Figure 5.3 Effect of PMA on total β_2 integrin expression
Figure 5.4 Total β_2 integrins in healthy controls
Figure 5.5 Effect of steric hindrance on total CD11a in healthy controls
Figure 5.6 Active β_2 integrins in healthy control APCs
Figure 5.7 Correlation of total and active β_2 integrin expression with age in healthy
controls
Figure 5.8 Effect of gender on total β_2 integrin expression in healthy controls 170
Figure 5.9 Percentage of male and female APCs expressing total CD11a
Figure 5.10 Effect of gender on active β_2 integrin expression
Figure 5.11 Total CD11a expression in RA178
Figure 5.12 Total CD11a expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients 180
Figure 5.13 Effect of steric hindrance on total CD11a in RA181
Figure 5.14 Active CD11a expression in RA
Figure 5.15 Active CD11a expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients
Figure 5.16 Effect of RA therapeutics on total CD11a expression in RA samples 184
Figure 5.17 Effect of DAS28, disease duration and disease status on total CD11a
expression

Figure 5.18 Total and active CD11a expression in RA PB and SF	189
Figure 5.19 Total CD11b expression in RA	190
Figure 5.20 Total CD11b expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients.	191
Figure 5.21 Active CD11b expression in RA	192
Figure 5.22 Active CD11b expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients	ì
	193
Figure 5.23 Total and active CD11b expression in RA PB and SF	195
Figure 5.24 Total and active CD18 expression in RA PB and SF	197
Figure 5.25 CD11a on 18h stimulated APCs	204
Figure 5.26 CD11b on 18h stimulated APCs	205
Figure 5.27 CD18 on 18h stimulated APCs	206
Figure 5.28 Effect of CD11b in FACS -sorted cDC2 MLRs	208

Definitions/Abbreviations

- ACPA anti-citrullinated peptide antibody
- APC antigen-presenting cell
- BMDCs bone marrow-derived dendritic cells
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- Ca²⁺ Calcium
- CCP anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide
- cDC1 conventional dendritic cell type 1
- cDC2 conventional dendritic cells type 2
- CDP common DC progenitor
- CIA collagen induced arthritis
- CLR C-type lectin receptors
- CR3/4 complement receptor 3/4
- CRP C-reactive protein
- CTV celltrace violet proliferatio dye
- DAG diaglycerol
- DAMPS damage associated molecular patterns
- DAS28 disease activity score 28
- DC dendritic cell
- DMARD disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug
- EAE experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
- ECM extra-cellular matrix
- EDTA ethylenediamine tetraacetate acid
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- ESR eryhthrocyte sedimentation rate

- FCS fetal calf serum
- FRC fibroblast reticular cells
- FRET fluorescent resonance energy transfer
- GWAS gene wide associated study
- $H_2SO_4 Sulfuric Acid$
- HBSS Hanks' balanced salt solution
- HCQ hydroxychloriquine
- HLA human leukocyte antigen
- HSP heat shock protein
- IBD irritable bowel syndrome
- ICAM-1 to -5 intracellular adhesion molecule 1 to 5
- IFN interferon
- IPEX immune dysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked
- JAM junction adhesion molecule
- JC virus human polyomavirus 2
- KO knock-out
- LAD leukocyte adhesion deficiency
- LAP latency-associated protein
- LFA-1 lymphocyte function associated antigen
- LN lymph node
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- mAb monoclonal antibody
- Mac-1 macrophage-1 antigen
- MFI mean fluorescence intensity
- MgCl₂ Magnesium Chloride

- MHC major histocompatibility complex
- $MIP1\alpha$ macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α
- MLR mixed lymphocyte reaction
- Mn²⁺ Manganese
- Mo-DC monocyte-derived DC
- MS multiple sclerosis
- MS residual mean squared residual
- MTX methotrexate
- NaOH sodium hydroxide
- NK cells Natural killer cells
- OA osteoarthritis
- PAMPs- pathogen associated molecular patterns
- PB peripheral blood
- PBMCs Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- pDC plasmacytoid DC
- PFA Paraformaldehyde
- PGN peptidoglycan
- PKC protein kinase C
- PMA phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
- PML progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy
- PMT voltages photomultiplier voltages
- PNPP p-nitrophenyl phosphate
- Pre-CDCs -pre-conventional DCs
- PRR pattern recognition receptor

- P-SMAC peripheral supramolecular activation cluster
- RA Rheumatoid Arthritis
- RAGE receptor for advanced glycation end products
- Rap-GEF Rap-guanine nucleotide exchanger
- RF rheumatoid factor
- RIAM Rap1-GTP interacting adaptor molecule
- RT room temperature
- SD standard deviation
- SF synovial fluid
- SI stain index
- SLE systemic lupus erythematosus
- SSChi SSC-high
- SSCIo- SSC-low
- SSZ sulfasalazine
- ST synovial tissue
- TCR T cell receptor
- TGF β Transforming growth factor β
- TLR Toll like receptor
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- Treg regulatory T cell
- VCAM vascular cell adhesion protein
- WT wild type
- $\beta TD \beta$ tail domain

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Immune tolerance

The immune system consists of a variety of specialised cells, which work concordantly to protect an organism from danger, either in the form of foreign pathogens (non-self) or aberrant self, such as cancerous cells. To effectively protect an organism from these threats, the immune system needs to correctly distinguish between foreign or abnormal non-self, which needs to be eliminated, and the body's own cells (self), which need to remain protected from an immune response to remain healthy and functional.

The state of remaining non-responsive in the presence of self is called immune tolerance. If tolerance to self is lost, this can lead to emergence of autoimmunity, where the immune system attacks and progressively damages the body's own tissues. Common examples of autoimmune disorders include diabetes, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), where the pancreas, intestines and joint tissues, respectively, are targeted by the immune system causing pathology. Correctly distinguishing between self and non-self is therefore a highly important immunological process (Parijs and Abbas, 1998).

Recognising pathogens can occur non-specifically, by the innate immune system, and specifically, by the adaptive immune system. Briefly, phagocytic cells (neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages), cells releasing pro-inflammatory mediators (basophils, mast cells, eosinophils) and natural killer (NK) cells, as well as the complement system and interferons (IFNs) are all players of innate immunity. They recognise highly conserved properties of foreign molecules using so-called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and act quickly to eliminate them. While the innate immune system is therefore a highly important line of first defence against infection, it is less effective at reacting to pathogens that do not share conserved pattern recognition motifs. Another important role of the innate immune system is therefore that it can provide danger signals to activate the antigen-specific adaptive immune system. The adaptive immune system consists of T cells and B cells, which, through genetic rearrangement of their surface receptors, are able to recognise any novel antigens. This is largely due to the huge number of different antigen-specific T and B cell clones, which then in turn can be expanded to counteract the pathogen in question specifically. Importantly, some of the members of the expanded clone(s) can persist after the end of infection as memory cells, thereby providing more swift and effective responses to subsequent infections with the same pathogen. The

adaptive immune system is therefore the basis of vaccination being an effective mechanism to combat otherwise life-threatening diseases (Delves and Roitt, 2000).

1.2 Role of antigen-presenting cells in the immune system

Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) provide the important link between innate and adaptive immune responses. Importantly, they are also involved in maintaining tolerance to self. This is because APCs continuously sample, process and finally present self and non-self antigens in so-called major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) on their surfaces, which are termed human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) in humans. MHCs exist in two classes, MHC class I (MHC I), which present antigen to CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells and MHC class II (MHC II), which present antigen to CD4⁺ helper T cells. This is where pathogenic and non-pathogenic antigens are presented and potentially recognised by both naïve and memory antigen-specific T cells, which are the drivers of the adaptive immune response. In contrast, self-antigen presented on cell surfaces is the basis of both central and peripheral tolerance (Miller and Basten, 1996; Miller and Morahan, 1992), which will be discussed in more detail in section 1.3. Although virtually all cells can act as APCs to present their own molecules to cytotoxic CD8 T cells via MHC I, only some APCs can present both foreign and self-antigen to helper CD4 T cells via MHC II. While macrophages, B cells and more recently vo T cells have all been described to express MHC II (Lanzavecchia, 1985; Moser and Brandes, 2006; Unanue, 1984), dendritic cells (DCs) have been described as the dominant APC population that have the ability to stimulate naïve CD4 T cells, therefore being termed the professional APCs of the immune system (Lassila et al., 1988). Even though expression of MHC II was also found to be inducible under inflammatory conditions in a variety of cells from basophils to neutrophils, there is little evidence that they could replace DCs in any meaningful way (Kambayashi and Laufer, 2014). DCs are therefore key players in initiating either immune activation or tolerance and will be described in detail in section 1.2.1. Additionally, monocytes, which can develop into so-called monocytederived DCs (Mo-DCs) under inflammatory conditions, will also be discussed.

1.2.1 Dendritic cells

DCs are large cells with cytoplasmic protrusions of varying lengths, which were recognised in their own right by Steinmann and Cohn in murine lymphoid organs (Steinman and Cohn, 1973). In their role as 'professional' APCs, DCs are highly important in both initiating an adaptive immune response in the presence of

pathogens and conversely limiting aberrant immune activation in response to self. The majority of DCs reside in tissues and lymphoid organs, where they are surveying the area for antigens. However, DCs make up only 1-2% of peripheral tissues and circulating DCs only comprise 1% of PB, making them a comparatively small cell population. In addition to patrolling PB and tissues, they can also be found in lymph and lymphoid organs. In this section, development of different DC populations will be briefly described before exploring their roles in both immune activation and tolerance induction.

Development of DC subsets

DCs develop from common DC progenitors (CDP) in the bone marrow (Naik et al., 2007; Rhodes et al., 2019), which give rise to plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and preconventional DCs (pre-cDCs). Pre-cDCs then further differentiate into two types of conventional DCs: cDC1 and cDC2 DCs. While pDCs exit the bone marrow fully differentiated, pre-cDCs circulate in peripheral blood (PB) and enter lymphoid organs to differentiate into cDC1 or cDC2 DCs. More recent studies using single cell RNAseg have however identified further DC subsets (Villani et al., 2017), yielding a total of six DC subsets in PB. To specify, two different subtypes of cDC2 DCs have been described, with the newly discovered one (termed DC3 by Villani and colleagues) expressing high levels of CD163 and CD36 alongside other cDC2 markers. Further, one DC subset that lacks both cDC1 and cDC2 markers but expresses the monocyte marker CD16 have been described as DC4. Lastly, a pDC marker expressing DC subset, which can be delineated by its expression of AxI and Siglec6 was termed DC5 (Rhodes et al., 2019; Villani et al., 2017). However, these distinctions are still relatively recent, with the ontogeny of some of these previously undefined subsets still being unknown and available surface antibodies for flow cytometry being limited. This thesis will therefore focus on cDC1, cDC2 and pDCs, which will be discuss in more detail in respect to their expression of surface molecules, requirements for restriction factors and function.

cDCs are the major DC population responsible for detecting foreign antigen and presenting it to naïve T cells to initiate an adaptive immune response. cDC1 DCs are the rarest DC subset with only 0.1% of leukocytes belonging to this group. They are characterised by high expression of the thrombomodulin (CD141) as well as CLEC9A and XCR1. Their development is dependent on the transcription factor BATF3 (Poulin et al., 2012) and their murine equivalent are characterised by CD8α and

CD103 expression. In contrast, cDC2 DCs, which are of myeloid origin, have been shown to be dependent on the presence of IRF4 (Guilliams et al., 2016) and express CD1c, a member of the CD1 family responsible for presenting lipids, as well as CLEC6A and CLEC7A. In mice, cDC2 DCs are mainly characterised by their high expression of the β_2 integrin CD11b. Lastly, pDCs have a specialised role in response to viruses, where they produce large amounts of Type I IFNs (IFN α , IFN β) to block viral replication and activate other immune cells (Asselin-Paturel and Trinchieri, 2005; Barchet et al., 2002). pDCs are characterised by expression of CD123 in human and Siglec H, BST-2 and B220 in mouse, as well as the absence of CD11c from their surface, which is a common marker for cDCs. The development of pDCs depends on the transcription factor E2-2 (Cisse et al., 2008).

Role of DCs in immune activation during infection

To appreciate the importance of DCs in the process of immune activation, a more detailed overview of antigen presentation and activation of adaptive immune responses is necessary. I will focus here on the presentation of a pathogenic antigen to illustrate how immune activation occurs when presented with a threat, but it has to be kept in mind that several steps in this process will occur similarly when a self-antigen is presented to induce tolerance. This aspect will be explored in detail in the following section, 'Role of DCs in tolerance'.

Tissue-patrolling DCs, which make up the largest proportion of these APCs, as well as circulating DCs are largely in an immature state, meaning they can efficiently capture, process and present antigen on their surface, but have low T cell stimulatory abilities (Bell et al., 1999). Immature DCs are therefore characterised by high endocytic activity and expression of Fc receptors to mediate highly efficient antigen capture. While they have been reported to have high intracellular levels of MHC, surface expression is low, as is expression of costimulatory molecules such as CD80, CD83 and CD40. Lastly, immature DCs express little to no pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines, explaining their low T cell priming abilities (Dudek et al., 2013). Upon encountering so-called danger signals, DCs rapidly increase surface expression of costimulatory molecules and MHC II while simultaneously downregulating processes of antigen capture. Furthermore, they undergo extensive cytoskeleton rearrangement and start expressing adhesion receptors, such as the integrin CD49 (Puig-Kröger et al., 2000), on their surface. However, a study comparing injection of wild type (WT) DCs into a murine footpad to DCs where all integrin subunits had been ablated,

showed that they arrived in the lymph node (LN) in similar numbers, suggesting that integrins are not required for migration of mature DCs to LN (Lämmermann et al., 2008). Much more importantly for migration, mature DCs also up-regulate the chemokine receptor CCR7, which mediates DC migration towards CCL19 and CCL20, chemokines produced by fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs). These stromal cells are located in the T cell zone of secondary lymphoid organs and thereby guide DCs to their appropriate location within the LN (Geissmann et al., 2002). This cluster of processes enabling DCs to migrate from peripheral tissues to LNs and efficiently stimulate T cells is known as DC maturation (Théry and Amigorena, 2001). The danger signals eliciting this process can be exogenous by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), for example through presence of the bacterial cell wall component lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Smedt et al., 1996), unmethylated CpG motifs in bacterial DNA (Sparwasser et al., 1998) or double-stranded viral DNA (Cella et al., 1999). To detect these PAMPs, DCs utilise so called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), including Toll like receptors (TLRs), such as TLR2 and TLR4, and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), such as CLEC9A and Dectin-2 (Lundberg et al., 2014). DC maturation can however also be induced by endogenous signals or damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as the presence of heat-shock protein (HSPs) (Singh- Jasuja et al., 2000), breakdown products of extracellular matrix (ECM) such as heparin sulfates (Kodaira et al., 2000) and cytokines released by other activated leukocytes, such as interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) and Tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (Zepter et al., 1997). Recognition of DAMPs can occur via DAMP receptors, such as TLR 4 and TLR9, but also via the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) (Nace et al., 2012).

After having acquired non-self antigen and undergone maturation, DCs migrate to the draining LN to present it to the resident naïve T cells. Once arrived in the LN, DCs present the antigen to a range of T cell clones, until a clone that specifically binds to the presented antigen is found (Ingulli et al., 1997). This antigen-specific interaction between DC and T cell is known as the immunological synapse. Three signals have been established to be necessary to initiate T cell activation and clonal expansion, which initiates the adaptive immune response (Figure 1.1A) (Gutcher and Becher, 2007). Signal 1 is the interaction between MHC II-bound peptide expressed by the DC and the T cell receptor (TCR) on the T cell side, ensuring that the response to the pathogenic origin of the presented peptide is antigen-specific. Signal 2, is mediated by

costimulatory factors CD80 and CD86 on DCs binding to CD28 expressed on CD4 T cells, thereby stimulating the T cell. Lastly, signal 3, mediated by cytokine released by DCs into the immunological synapse polarises T cell differentiation thereby targeting the immune response to the type of infective agent. For example, T cell stimulation occurring in the presence of IL-12 produced by APCs stimulates Th1 T cell responses targeted at bacteria and intracellular pathogens, while PGE₂ stimulates Th2 T cell responses, specifically targeting extracellular parasites such as helminths (Kaliński et al., 1999). Signal 3 can, therefore, provide valuable additional information collected by DCs in the periphery during maturation to naïve T cells in the LN. Furthermore, DCs play an important role in stimulating CD8 T cells in a process termed cross-presentation. This is a process whereby particularly cDC1 DCs present exogenous antigens via MHC I, which is usually reserved for cell-endogenous peptides, to stimulate CD8 T cells and enable them to mature into antigen-specific cytotoxic T cells (Bevan, 1976).



Figure 1.1 Antigen-specific T cell activation and tolerance induction

An APC, such as DC, and a T cell form an immunological synapse where the APC presents antigen in its MHC II, which is recognised by a TCR on the T cell (Signal 1). A. Initiation of immune activation occurs when DCs also provide co-stimulatory signals in the form of CD80/86 binding to CD28 on T cells (Signal 2) and produce cytokines that stimulate T cell responses (Signal 3). B. Non-pathogenic self-antigen is presented in the absence of Signal 2, Signal 3 or both, or in the presence of a immunoregulatory Signal 3 signalling involving IL-10 or TGF- β , thereby causing T cells specific for this antigen to become unresponsive, thereby maintaining peripheral tolerance to self. Adapted from Gutcher & Becher, 2007.

To summarise, DCs do not merely present antigens to T cells, they also actively stimulate T cell activation via costimulatory signals and shape the type of T cells responses elicited by polarising them towards pathogen-appropriate T cell phenotypes.

However, they also have important roles in maintaining tolerance, which I will explore in the following section.

Role of DCs in tolerance

As previously mentioned, DCs are not only important for the initiation of an immune response in the event of infection, they are also indispensable in preventing immune response to self-antigens, as well as commensals and harmless antigens ingested with food. The immense importance of DCs for tolerance is highlighted by the fact that complete ablation of DCs in a mouse model led to severe fatal multi-organ autoimmunity, suggesting that DCs play a highly important role in induction of tolerance to self (Ohnmacht et al., 2009).

There are a variety of ways in which DCs induce tolerance. To induce central tolerance, DCs induce cell death of T cells showing high affinity for self-antigen in the thymus, a process termed negative selection (Brocker et al., 1997). However up to 25-40% of self-reactive T cells were found to escape negative selection, necessitating further mechanisms to maintain tolerance to self (Bouneaud et al., 2000). Further contributing to central tolerance, DCs have also been found to contribute to the induction and expansion of FoxP3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) in the thymus (Proietto et al., 2008). Tregs are potent regulators of aberrant immune responses and depletion or reduction in numbers of Tregs has been associated with the emergence of autoimmune disease (Ochs et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2001). In fact, mutations in FoxP3 cause the fatal IPEX syndrome (immune dysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked), an X-linked genetic disorder being characterised by excessive autoimmunity due to the absence of functional Tregs (Bennett et al., 2001). Furthermore, DCs are also involved in peripheral tolerance, by presenting self-antigen to T cells in the absence of costimulatory signals (signal 2) or pro-inflammatory cytokines (signal 3) in an immunological synapse (Figure 1.1B). In in vitro studies, absence of costimulation via CD28 rendered T cells anergic to stimulation with lectins, with low production of IL-2 and a decrease in IL-2 receptor expression, which was not possible to be reversed by external provision of IL-2 (Shahinian et al., 1993). The same study also reported that effective T cell responses were reduced in vivo studies when costimulation was absent, suggesting that absence of costimulation negatively impacts the ability of T cells to mount an immune response. Another possibility for DCs to mediate peripheral tolerance is by altering the cytokine profiles of stimulated T cells, thereby steering the direction of the

immune response. For example, DCs matured in the presence of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 were found to induce anergic T cells expressing low levels of IL-2, thereby being unlikely to elicit sustained T cell proliferation (Steinbrink et al., 1997). Furthermore, T cells activated by these so-called tolerogenic DCs did not only show reduced abilities raise an immune response themselves, they were also shown to actively suppress syngeneic T cells not exposed to IL10 in an antigenspecific manner (Steinbrink et al., 2002), thereby suggesting that these tolerised T cells can themselves tolerise other T cells. In addition to their roles in Treg induction in the thymus, DCs have also been shown to be able to induce Treg differentiation from CD4 T cells in the periphery (Coombes et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2007), further underlining their importance for tolerance induction.

In addition to routes to tolerance, it is also important to consider which types of DCs are able to induce tolerance. For a long time, it was believed that only immature or semi-mature DCs were able to induce tolerance, as they provided antigen presentation (signal 1) in the absence of costimulation and cytokines (signals 2 and 3). Immature DCs were repeatedly described to induce T cell anergy, which resulted in production of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 by T cells (Jonuleit et al., 2000; Lutz et al., 2000b, 2000a). More recently, however, mature DCs have also been shown to have tolerogenic functions in certain immune environments. For example, introducing DCs matured with TNF-a, which was shown to produce an incomplete maturation of DCs in contrast with LPS+CD40 in respect to DC cytokine production, were shown to protect against the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS), in an antigen-specific manner (Menges et al., 2002). In fact, in the complete absence of TNF- α , mice were shown to be more susceptible to EAE, further supporting that the cytokine had protective functions. In *in vitro* studies of Mo-DCs, a range of other compounds was found to drive a tolerogenic phenotype in DCs. For example, DCs matured in the presence of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 were shown to have reduced abilities to stimulate T cells (Steinbrink et al., 1997), as in the presence of transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) (Fogel-Petrovic et al., 2007), IL-6 (Hegde et al., 2004) or a combination thereof (Torres-Aguilar et al., 2010). Furthermore, non-immune compounds such as Vitamin D₃, or the dietary compounds sulforaphane or curcumin were shown to have similarly suppressive effects on DC maturation and enhance tolerogenic functions (Geisel et al., 2014; Penna and Adorini, 2000; Rogers et al.,

2010). Overall, this suggested that tolerogenic functions of DCs are not necessarily dependent only on immaturity, but also on surrounding factors.

Furthermore, different DC populations might have differential capacity to induce tolerance. For example, both thymus resident and migratory cDCs seem to be highly important for negative selection in the thymus, while pDCs were not shown to contribute to deletion of self-reactive T cells to the same degree (Guerri et al., 2013). In contrast, while ablation of all DCs caused fatal autoimmunity in mice, ablation of only cDCs specifically caused problems with raising an immune response but did not result in failure of either negative selection or Treg induction (Birnberg et al., 2008). Although these results have to be scrutinised due to the potential redundancy between different DC types, leading to pDCs potentially compensating functionally in the absence of cDCs, this suggests that pDCs might also contribute to self-tolerance. A role for pDCs in tolerance is further supported by studies reporting their tolerogenic functions in inflammatory models in the lung (Heer et al., 2004), the joint (Jongbloed et al., 2009) and models of organ transplantation (Ochando et al., 2006). While this suggests that both cDCs and pDCs contribute to induction of tolerance, they have also both been shown to be able to contribute to a breach of tolerance causing autoimmunity, which I will explore in more detail in the following section.

Role of DCs in breach of tolerance

While the previous section expanded on the important roles DCs play in immune tolerance, they can also be important contributors to development and progression of autoimmunity.

A range of autoimmune conditions show increased numbers of DCs within the affected tissue, suggesting that DCs play an important role in breach of tolerance and maintenance of autoimmunity. In the autoimmune disease RA, proportion and total number of DCs were found to be increased in synovial fluid and synovial membranes (Harding and Knight, 1986; Jongbloed et al., 2009; Lebre et al., 2008; Poulter et al., 1983). Similarly, in Sjögren's syndrome, an autoimmune condition targeting glands that produce moisture, increased numbers of DCs were observed in salivary glands (Blokland et al., 2000; Wildenberg et al., 2009). In MS, large numbers of circulating DCs expressing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 (Huang et al., 1999). The study also reported increased levels of IFN- γ , which is likely to be due to increased T cell activation in MS.

Furthermore, animal studies have shown that DCs can effectively drive autoreactive T cell responses to cause autoimmunity. Introduction of DCs specific to a transgenic protein exclusively expressed in pancreatic β cells caused onset of diabetes in mice (Ludewig et al., 1998) and a similar study showed that adoptive transfer of DCs exposed to thyroglobulin were able to induce thyroiditis (Knight et al., 1988). Interestingly, high IFN levels due to persistent activation of pDCs has been described to contribute to systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and potentially other autoimmune disorders (Banchereau and Pascual, 2006), suggesting that pDCs can also play important roles in breach of tolerance.

There are different ways in which DCs could contribute to the initiation of autoimmunity. It is possible that DCs simply fail to provide tolerogenic signals to self-reactive T cells, either in the thymus, letting self-reactive T cells escape negative selection, or in the periphery, where presentation of innocuous self-antigen could falsely occur in the presence of costimulatory signals (signal 2) and pro-inflammatory cytokine release (signal 3). A third option is that T cells fail to react to self-antigen, but have strong affinity for self-antigen altered through post-translational modification. As post-translationally altered peptides would not be presented in the thymus, this means that T cells specific for altered peptides would not undergo deletion and could therefore become activated in the presence of post-transcriptionally altered peptide in the periphery.

To summarise, DCs are integral to the decision between immune activation and tolerance. If this careful balance is disturbed however, DCs can equally be important contributors to a breach of tolerance and thereby lead to autoimmune disease. In the next section I will explore the role monocytes play in these contexts before discussing the role these APCs play in the autoimmune condition RA.

1.2.2 Monocytes

Similar to DCs, monocytes arise from common monocyte progenitors (cMop) in the bone marrow before exiting to circulate in PB (Hettinger et al., 2013). Monocytes were originally characterised by their expression of the LPS co-receptor CD14 and occur in three distinct subsets: classical, intermediate and non-classical monocytes (Passlick et al., 1989; Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2010).

Classical monocytes show high expression of CD14 and are negative for CD16, a Fcy receptor type III. Transcriptomic analysis of CD14⁺ monocytes, thereby including both classical and intermediate monocyte populations, suggested roles in antibacterial and pro-inflammatory responses (Anbazhagan et al., 2014). While it was shown that CD14⁺ monocytes do not undergo differentiation into DCs in the steady state, they contribute to antigen surveillance (Jakubzick et al., 2013). Under inflammatory conditions, such as in the presence of TNF- α and LPS, classical monocytes were shown to effectively differentiate into either so-called Mo-DCs or assumed a macrophage-like phenotype (Mo-macrophages) (Iwamoto et al., 2007) and CD14⁺ monocytes could even differentiate into osteoclasts, when exposed to macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and RANK ligand (Sørensen et al., 2007). The guestion which cell type CD14⁺ monocytes differentiate into is strongly reliant on the signalling factor present in the peripheral tissues where differentiation occurs. In vitro studies have shown that presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF produces differentiation of classical monocytes into DCs, while presence of M-CSF induces differentiation into either M1-like macrophages (+LPS) or M2-like macrophages (+IL-4) (Geissmann et al., 2010). Non-classical monocytes on the other hand express high levels of CD16 and low levels of CD14. They were shown to express higher levels of MHCII compared to classical monocytes and produce increased levels of TNF in response to TLR stimulation. Furthermore, non-classical monocytes were shown to expand in inflammatory conditions (Fingerle et al., 1993; Nockher and Scherberich, 1998), suggesting that they play a more important role in inflammation. This is further supported by a study reporting that CD16⁺ monocytes expressed increased levels of TLRs and costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, as well as the previously mentioned HLA-DR, compared to CD14⁺ monocytes, produced higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β and showed low phagocytic activity (Mukherjee et al., 2015). The authors of the study therefore suggested that non-classical monocytes might contribute to antigen presentation. Indeed, others have suggested that studies detailing antigen-presentation to splenic marginal zone B cells by CD11c-low cells is not mediated by DCs but actually by CD16⁺ monocytes (Balázs et al., 2002; Randolph et al., 2008), thereby mediating inflammatory immune responses directly. Additionally they are major producers of TNF in response to inflammatory signals (Belge et al., 2002). However, in the murine model of MS, EAE, immature non-classical monocytes were found to occur in high numbers in the CNS and suppressed T cell proliferation and induced apoptosis in T cells via Nitric Oxide

(Zhu et al., 2007), suggesting that CD16⁺ monocytes also have anti-inflammatory roles. Intermediate monocytes, expressing high levels of CD14 as well as CD16, are found in much smaller numbers compared to the other two subsets in PB. While they were long thought to be merely a developmental intermediate, gene expression studies have confirmed that they are a transcriptomically distinct subset (Wong et al., 2011; Zawada et al., 2011). Although their distinct roles are still unclear, specifically intermediate monocytes have been described to be increased in RA, sarcoidosis and severe asthma (Hijdra et al., 2012; Moniuszko et al., 2009; Rossol et al., 2012). In contrast to the more pro-inflammatory roles of non-classical monocytes, intermediate monocytes were shown to express high amounts of IL-10 in response to LPS stimulation with decreased antigen-presentation but increased phagocytic capabilities (Skrzeczyńska- Moncznik et al., 2008). This suggested potential anti-inflammatory roles for intermediate monocytes.

In addition to their roles in inflammation and tolerance, it is also important to consider how monocytes can contribute to either a breach of tolerance or subsequent maintenance of autoimmunity. For example, activated CD14⁺ monocytes isolated from inflamed RA joints were shown to induce exclusively Th17 T cells via cellcontact, thereby suggesting that classical monocytes actively contribute to autoimmunity and might be attractive targets to limit harmful Th17 responses (H. G. Evans et al., 2009). Furthermore, CD16⁺ monocytes were found to be increased in both PB and SF of RA patients (Kawanaka et al., 2002). The same study suggested that increased CD16 expression on monocytes was likely due to increased cytokines such as IL-10, TGF-β1 and M-CSF, which recruited large numbers of CD16⁺ monocytes to the joint, thereby sustaining joint inflammation. In EAE, non-classical monocytes expressing CCR2 were furthermore shown to be required for disease initiation, suggesting again that monocytes have important roles in contributing to autoimmunity.

As previously mentioned, an important characteristic of monocytes is their ability to exit the PB, enter tissues and differentiate into both macrophages and DCs (Randolph et al., 1999). While monocytes were originally believed to be the main precursor for both cell types, it is now known that macrophages are largely tissue-resident, where they arise from embryonic cells, while conventional DCs arise from a separate precursor, the CDP, in the bone marrow. However, the ability of monocytes

to differentiate into Mo-DCs at the infection site was found to be important in eliciting an effective Th1 response in *Leishmania* infection (León et al., 2007).

To summarise, both DCs in their capacity as professional APCs and monocytes in their ability to differentiate into potent APCs play a deciding role in initiating adaptive immune responses but also maintaining immune tolerance to avoid immune-mediated damage to self. Dysregulation of DC or Mo-DC function, especially in their communication with T cells, could therefore be a powerful contributor to the development of autoimmune diseases such as RA.

1.3 Breach of tolerance: the autoimmune disease RA

Especially as APCs mediate the decision between immune activation and tolerance, they also have an important role in breach of tolerance, which can contribute to emergence of autoimmune diseases. One example of such a disease is RA, where an aberrant immune response is raised targeting joint tissues thereby resulting in pain and progressive disability if unmedicated. In the following section, I will discuss the pathogenesis of RA in detail, including the role of specifically DCs in disease initiation and maintenance, before exploring DCs as potential therapeutics for RA.

1.3.1 Pathology of RA

The autoimmune disease RA is characterised by painful inflammation and swelling of joints, which can lead to progressive loss of function and disability due to destruction of cartilage and bone tissue. In addition to joint-specific symptoms, patients with RA are also more likely to suffer from systemic problems, such as a high vascular risk, metabolic syndrome and depression, which overall results in increased mortality (Mitchell et al., 1986; Pincus et al., 1984; Wolfe et al., 1994). Around 0.5-1% of people worldwide suffer from RA (Alamanos and Drosos, 2005), with women being twice as likely to be affected as men. While the reason for this discrepancy is not fully resolved, it is likely that hormonal differences, for example overproduction of prolactin in women who breastfed extensively or suffered from infertility or lower levels of the anti-inflammatory hormone testosterone, contribute to disease onset (Brennan and Silman, 1995).

RA is diagnosed using several indicators, including number of inflamed joints, serologic tests for the presence of auto-antibodies (Rheumatoid factor, RF, Anticitrullinated peptide antibody, ACPA), increased inflammatory markers (e.g. erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ESR, C-reactive protein, CRP) and duration of

symptoms (Aletaha et al., 2010). Disease severity and response to treatment is most commonly measured using the disease activity score 28 (DAS28). This is a composite score calculated by the number of swollen and tender joints out of 28 (shoulders, elbows, wrists, knees and finger joints on each side), measurement of inflammation using either ESR or CRP and a global assessment of health of the patient using a health assessment questionnaire (HAQ) (Prevoo et al., 1995). Currently, a 'treat to target' therapy strategy is employed in the UK, meaning that treatment is adjusted regularly until improvement of symptoms as measured in a low disease activity DAS28 score is reached (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2018). As a first line treatment a conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drug (DMARD) is recommended as a monotherapy, with further DMARDs being added if neither remission (DAS28<2.6) or low disease activity (DAS28<3.2) can be achieved. DMARDs usually decrease immune system activity and include drugs such as methotrexate (MTX), hydroxychloriquine (HCQ) or sulfasalazine (SSZ). If multiple DMARDs do not achieve either low disease activity or remission or if side effects elicited by DMARDs are not acceptable, treatment can be further escalated to include biologics. These are drugs targeting specific molecules important for the immune system, such as abatacept, a CTLA4 fusion protein blocking T cell activation, or etanercept or infliximab, which both block TNF- α (Curtis and Singh, 2011). While this strategy has been proven efficient to decrease the level of disability that accumulates over time (Pincus et al., 2005), medicinal side effects (Bernatsky et al., 2007), persistence of pain in the absence of joint inflammation (Boyden et al., 2016) and difficulties in achieving stable long-term remission for treatment refractory patients (Gallego- Galisteo et al., 2012) remain to be solved to ensure patient well-being.

There is strong evidence that in RA tolerance to self is lost through a combination of genetic predisposition (susceptibility genes) and environmental factors, such as smoking, air pollution or periodontitis, which cause epigenetic changes (McInnes and Schett, 2011). This is believed to alter post-translational protein modification processes, which in turn leads to an increase in citrullination of self-proteins, where the amino acid arginine is replaced by citrulline. These alterations in self-proteins lead to the immune system falsely identifying them as non-self, causing immune activation and in turn eliciting the infiltration of the synovium with leukocytes (Hill et al., 2003). Autoantibodies, such as ACPA, tested for as anti-cyclic citrullinated
peptide (CCP), or RF are therefore a common hallmark of disease and contribute to diagnosis. The presence of autoantibodies can contribute to more aggressive disease progression and might therefore alter the clinical treatment strategy (Rycke et al., 2004), although they are currently used in the UK to expedite referral or patients with suspected RA from their primary care physician to specialist care. It is common that people with RA display autoantibodies years before the onset of symptoms, suggesting that dysregulation of the immune system occurs long before overt joint inflammation (Aho et al., 1991; Nielen et al., 2004; Rantapää- Dahlqvist et al., 2003). Especially considering that disease outcomes improve with early intervention (Emery, 2002; Quinn et al., 2001), it has been hypothesised that intervening before symptom onset might have merit. However, this idea is faced by two major challenges: first, the difficulty to correctly distinguish between the 1-2% of healthy people who are ACPA positive or the 4% who are RF positive and people who will definitely develop symptoms (Prüßmann et al., 2014; Ursum et al., 2009), and second, the question of how to induce the immune system to remain in a state of tolerance to self. This is especially important as current RA treatment strategies can only ameliorate symptoms of the disease not cure it. To achieve a cure for RA, the ultimate goal is therefore to re-establish tolerance that has been lost and is causing pathology.

To conclude, RA is an autoimmune disease where immune dysregulation leads to joint inflammation. If untreated using immunosuppressive drugs, joint tissue is destroyed leading to progressive accumulation of disability and significant morbidity.

1.3.2 Role of dendritic cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Auto-reactive Th1 and Th17 T cells have been implicated in driving the autoimmune response in RA (Chabaud et al., 1998; Yamada et al., 2008). Therefore, it is likely that DCs play a pivotal role in the initiation of RA due to their unique role as APCs in initiating T cell responses. Furthermore, recent evidence suggests that DCs also play a role in maintaining joint-specific immune responses in RA, making them a potential therapeutic target. For example, cDC2 DCs isolated from RA synovial fluid (SF) were shown to spontaneously activate autologous PB CD4 T cells and elicit increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17, IFN- γ and IL-4 by co-cultured T cells (Moret et al., 2013).

In a mouse line expressing the RA susceptibility gene HLA-DRB1*0401, which was shown to contribute to altered citrullination levels (Snir et al., 2011), citrullination was shown to increase affinity between MHC II and peptide and thereby increase CD4 T cell activation by DCs (Hill et al., 2003). Further support for an important role of DCs in the initiation of RA was shown in a murine model of RA, where injection of collagen-pulsed mature DCs caused antigen-specific joint inflammation, mediated by both activation of autoreactive T cells and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by DCs (Leung et al., 2002). It has been furthermore shown that induction of an RA murine model is critically dependant on cDCs (Benson et al., 2010), while pDCs were described to have immunoregulatory roles in this context and reduced autoimmune responses by adaptive immune cells (Jongbloed et al., 2009). In human, the strongest evidence for an important role for DCs in RA pathogenesis is that disease is strongly associated with specific alleles encoding the antigen-binding groove of MHC II (Winchester and Gregersen, 1988). This so-called shared epitope theory suggests that a number of alleles, specifically HLA-DRB1, all code for either the same or highly similar amino acid sequences, thereby conferring a higher risk of RA. This is interesting as patients with different HLA-DRB1 alleles were found to show distinct clinical phenotypes (Weyand et al., 1992), and presence of some alleles was found to be a reliable biomarker for efficacy of abatacept (Oryoji et al., 2018), an RA therapeutic blocking costimulation of T cells by DCs. Together, this provides strong evidence that DCs contribute to pathogenesis of RA by mediating the breach of tolerance via immunogenic presentation of altered self-antigen to T cells.

In addition to DCs contributing to onset of RA, there is also evidence that DCs contribute to the maintenance of RA pathology once it has been triggered. For example, DCs are found in much higher numbers in RA SF compared to synovium derived from patients with osteoarthritis (OA) (Harding and Knight, 1986; Zvaifler et al., 1985). Furthermore, while DCs have been described to be absent from healthy synovial tissue (ST), both cDC2s and pDCs occur in high numbers in RA ST, where they were shown to express cytokine profiles concurrent with maintaining RA pathology (Lebre et al., 2008). For example, cDC2 DCs were shown to produce large amounts of IL-12, which enhances Th1 differentiation and effector functions via increasing IFN- γ production by CD4 T cells and NK cells, and IL-23, a major driver of the Th17 response. pDCs produced high levels of both IL-18, which induces IFN- γ thereby also driving the Th1 phenotype, and IFNa/ β , which similarly contribute to Th1

and autoreactive T cell responses, although IFNβ has been recently implied to also have some immunoregulatory roles in RA (van Holten et al., 2002). Lastly Lebre and colleagues reported that, cDC2 and pDCs from RA ST were shown to produce IL-15, which drives both sustained T cell and B cell responses. Therefore, it was suggested that DCs are an important contributor to on-going RA pathology. An on-going role of DCs is also likely due to the clinical success of the previously mentioned fusion protein of CTLA-4 and an IgG, abatacept, which competitively binds to CD80/CD86 on DC surfaces and thereby reduces their ability to stimulate potent T cell activation via CD28. In clinical trials, treating MTX-resistant RA patients with high disease activity with abatacept caused increased rates of remission and significantly lower disease activity scores (Kremer et al., 2005), strongly suggesting that on-going activation of auto-reactive T cells was partially responsible for RA disease severity.

To conclude, evidence suggests that DCs play not only a role in initiating an autoimmune response but also in maintaining active disease. DCs are therefore considered a valuable target for therapeutic intervention, which I will expand on in the next section.

1.3.3 Dendritic cell therapy for Rheumatoid Arthritis

Given the vast evidence indicating a dominant role for DCs in the initiation and progression of RA, DCs might hold the key to re-establish tolerance to self to achieve full remission. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs are promising cell therapeutics to re-educate the immune system by promoting T cell tolerance instead of restricting T cell activation using DMARDs or biologics. In this section I will introduce tolerogenic cell therapy approaches already underway in other autoimmune conditions, before discussing the properties of therapeutic tolerogenic Mo-DCs and exploring their potential significance in the treatment of RA.

As mentioned previously, DCs play a wide range of tolerogenic roles both in the thymus, where they delete self-reactive T cells, and in the periphery, where T cells that have escaped thymic selection are rendered unresponsive (Brocker et al., 1997; Proietto et al., 2008; Shahinian et al., 1993). These functions can be exploited for therapeutic causes, either by targeting endogenous DCs *in vivo* or by extracting monocytes, which are the precursors of Mo-DCs, culturing them to become tolerogenic Mo-DCs and reintroducing them into the patient. There is the potential to introduce an RA-relevant antigen to the tolerogenic Mo-DCs to make them disease-

specific and thereby more effective, which is however hindered by the absence of a singular antigen causing RA. A 'disease-relevant' antigen would therefore have to be highly specific to the patient or patient subset, in which pathology is caused by autoimmune reaction to this antigen, or a variety of RA-associated antigens, such as citrullinated peptides and collagen, would have to be used. The question of an RA relevant antigen thereby has implications for both availability of therapy to a wide range of patients, as therapeutic intervention might only be helpful if specific for the antigen causing disease in a patient, and cost of therapy, as the more personalised the tolerogenic Mo-DCs are, the more expensive the treatment would be. A further potential challenge in the use of tolerogenic Mo-DCs is the correct timing of cell therapy administration. Especially as breach of tolerance has been implied to occur years before disease onset, it is possible that only patients with very early disease would benefit from the treatment. However, when considering evidence of therapeutic use of tolerogenic Mo-DCs in other autoimmune diseases, a positive role for tolerogenic Mo-DCs even in established disease is likely.

Tolerogenic cell therapy has been successfully explored in a range of different autoimmune conditions. In Crohn's disease, an autoimmune disorder targeting the intestine, intraperitoneal injection of tolerogenic Mo-DCs in Phase I clinical safety trial into patients refractory to treatment showed that tolerogenic Mo-DCs were safe with clinical responses in 2 of 9 study participants, with one further participant reaching full remission (Jauregui-Amezaga et al., 2015). A similar phase I clinical safety trial assessing intradermal injection of autologous tolerogenic Mo-DCs for Type 1 Diabetes showed no safety concerns either (Giannoukakis et al., 2011). Interestingly, injection with Mo-DCs caused increased presence of a B220+CD11c^{neg} B cell population, which was hypothesised to be regulatory in nature and might therefore positively contribute to disease outcomes. While tolerogenic cell therapy is still in its infancy, clinical safety trials in the last ten years show promise that this approach if feasible, safe and potentially beneficial to patients even at low doses. Although targeting DCs in vivo has shown promising results in other diseases, and is potentially more cost-effective because of the high cost of personalised cell therapy, the failure to identify a singular specific antigen in RA pointed to tolerogenic Mo-DCs as the more viable option in RA.

Tolerogenic Mo-DCs can be generated in culture in a variety of ways, but commonly require the presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF to initiate a DC-like phenotype in

monocytes (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). To achieve a tolerogenic phenotype, a stimulating signal, such as LPS (Anderson et al., 2009), which would usually induce maturation of Mo-DCs, is combined with immunosuppressive drugs, such as blocking NF-kB, Dexamethasone and/or Vitamin D3 (Piemonti et al., 2000; Xia et al., 2005). The resulting tolerogenic Mo-DCs are described to exhibit a semi-mature state, marked by reduced expression of costimulatory molecules, decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-6, IL-23 and TNF- α , and increased production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10, compared to mature DCs (Anderson et al., 2009; Harry et al., 2010). Therefore, tolerogenic Mo-DCs show reduced ability to stimulate T cells. Specifically, they have been described to cause skewing of naïve CD4 T cells towards a immunoregulatory cytokine profile low in IFNy and high in IL-10, while memory T cells were found to be rendered hyporesponsive to reactivation when co-cultured with tolerogenic DCs (Anderson et al., 2008). If injected, tolerogenic Mo-DCs could therefore render autoreactive T cells unresponsive either in the periphery or in the nearest LN, thereby returning the body to a state of self-tolerance. More specifically, Mo-DCs tolerised with Dexamethasone as well as Vitamin D3 are thought to induce their tolerogenic effects by their complete lack of IL-12 production, their high expression of LAP/TGF-β and lastly their ability to induce Type I Tregs, thereby indirectly promoting tolerance (Anderson et al., 2017, 2008; Spiering et al., 2019).

As immature DCs share many tolerising features of tolerogenic DCs, but can easily undergo maturation and become immunogenic in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, it was important to ensure stability of tolerogenic DCs in the presence of inflammation to avoid further exacerbating disease when considering this as a cell therapy. However, re-stimulation of tolerogenic Mo-DCs with various proinflammatory mediators such as cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α and IFN γ), LPS or peptidoglycan (PGN) did not alter their cytokine expression or semi-mature phenotype, strongly suggesting that tolerogenic Mo-DCs were stable and therefore unlikely to become reactivated in the presence of inflammation (Harry et al., 2010).

Another challenge in optimising tolerogenic Mo-DC therapy is considering their migratory ability and localisation *in vivo*, to ensure that tolerogenic cell therapy would not only suppress self-reactive T cells once they arrive in the periphery but also migrate to the nearest LN and present self-antigen in the absence of activating signals to induce tolerance. This would be more effective as it would potentially

provide lasting protection from autoreactive T cells that is not dependent on continuous presence of large numbers of therapeutic tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Indeed, tolerogenic Mo-DCs were found to migrate less effectively in a transwell system towards CCL19, which was proposed to be due to their reduced expression of CCR7 (Anderson et al., 2009). However, tolerogenic Mo-DCs maintained CCR7-mediated migration towards CCL19, albeit at lower levels, suggesting that tolerogenic Mo-DCs have the ability to migrate towards the nearest LN. Lastly, it is important to consider the antigenic stimulation that will be provided to tolerogenic Mo-DCs. The specific antigen eliciting RA is unknown and hypothesised to vary between patients, therefore making it difficult to achieve antigen-specific protection using tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

To date, the use of tolerogenic Mo-DC therapy for RA has been successfully tested in a range of animal models. For example, in mice, Mo-DCs tolerised using NF-κB inhibition and pulsed with collagen, were able to reduce the antigen-specific T cell response to collagen in the CIA model, thereby improving clinical scores when given 12 days after first injection with collagen but before onset of disease at 28 days (Popov et al., 2006). A different group found that intravenous injection of tolerogenic BMDCs pulsed with collagen but not without were able to migrate to draining LNs, decrease Th17 T cell responses and simultaneously increase the level of circulating IL-10 producing CD4 T cells (Stoop et al., 2010). A more recent study showed that murine tolerogenic BMDCs induced using vasoactive intestinal peptide could similarly improve clinical outcome in the CIA model when injected after onset of disease at day 40, suggesting that tolerogenic DC therapy could not only work preventatively but also in established disease (Wu et al., 2019).

In recent years, a range of early clinical trials has explored the viability of tolerogenic DC therapy in humans. One strategy involved tolerogenic Mo-DCs established through blocking NF-κB and exposed to four different citrullinated peptides, which were injected intradermally into patients positive for anti-CCP and carriers of the HLA-DRB1 shared epitope (Benham et al., 2015). Benham and colleagues showed a reduction in peripheral effector T cells with a concurrent increase in regulatory T cell numbers one month after injection. In addition, serum levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-15, IL-29 and CX3CL1 were reduced compared to untreated controls. These mediators have all be associated with worsened outcomes in RA, with IL-15 being described to sensitise TCRs to RA autoantigens (Deshpande et al., 2013), IL-29 being associated with increased

expression of TLR4 in both ST and PB (Xu et al., 2015) and expression of CX3CL1 being reduced inversely to clinical improvements in patients treated with infliximab (Odai et al., 2009). Furthermore, a phase I clinical trial was undertaken in 2016 to test the safety of injecting tolerogenic Mo-DCs directly into an inflamed joint (Bell et al., 2016). In the absence of a known common RA antigen, tolerogenic Mo-DCs were exposed to autologous SF, thereby providing a range of antigens that were likely to be relevant for the patient in question. Bell and colleagues established that treatment with tolerogenic Mo-DCs was feasible and safe, with minor symptom improvement observed in the small group of patients receiving the highest dose of tolerogenic Mo-DCs to treat RA, determining a suitable antigen to benefit the largest amount of RA patients and finding the most suitable route of administration remain challenging. However, work on solving these problems is currently underway, with a Phase II clinical trial of tolerogenic Mo-DCs for RA currently in preparation.

To conclude, tolerogenic Mo-DCs represent a viable therapeutic opportunity for RA. Instead of current treatment strategies that aim to dampen unwanted immune activation, tolerogenic DC-based cell therapy aims to exploit the immune system's own mechanism to maintain tolerance to re-establish tolerance to self. However, while animal studies using tolerogenic Mo-DCs have been promising and clinical safety trials have been successful, certain challenges remain to be solved before this therapy can become available to patients. This includes the correct time and location to administer cell therapy as well as defining viable read-outs for therapeutic success (Hilkens and Isaacs, 2013).

1.4 β_2 integrins: immune regulation versus activation

As discussed in the previous section, APCs can both initiate and modulate T cell responses by direct contact with T cells. This can occur either at the site of inflammation or in the LN. One way that contact between DCs and T cells is established and maintained is by adhesion receptors, one group of which are integrins. β_2 integrins in particular, well known for their pro-inflammatory roles in lymphocytes, have recently been suggested to have immunoregulatory roles in DCs. In this section, I will give a brief outline of the family of integrin receptors before focusing on the roles of β_2 integrins, specifically in DCs. Lastly, I will explore the feasibility of targeting β_2 integrins therapeutically to influence the balance between immune activation and tolerance.

1.4.1 Integrins

Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane receptors, which consist of two noncovalently associated proteins, more specifically one α - and one β -subunit (Hynes, 1987). To date, 18 α - and 8 β -subunits have been identified, which occur in various combinations yielding the 24 currently known members of the integrin family (Figure 1.2). While their large N-terminal extracellular domain can bind and interact with a number of different ligands, their short C-terminal cytoplasmic domain interacts directly and specifically with cytoskeletal proteins such as talin and filamin and induces downstream signalling pathways (Pfaff et al., 1998). This means that information between extracellular and intracellular space can be relayed and vice versa (Hynes, 1987). These properties make integrins important for a wide variety of biological functions including adhesion, cell migration and extravasation into tissues and cell communication.



Figure 1.2 Integrin α and β subunit pairings

Adapted from Hynes & Naba, 2012. Integrin receptors consist of an α subunit and a β subunit. 18 α subunits (circles) and 8 β integrin subunits (squares) can pair to form a total of 24 recognised integrin receptors. Integrin receptors circled in red are expressed on leukocytes, but this thesis focuses on leukocyte-specific β_2 integrins and their role for the immune system specifically (blue background).

Integrin subunits consist of highly conserved domains, a visual representation of which can be seen in Figure 1.3 (Hynes and Naba, 2012). Briefly, integrin subunits consist of a head region, which forms part the ligand binding site, and a leg region,

important in positioning the head regions of each integrin subunit. An integrin α subunit consists of one 7-bladed β propeller domain, followed by three β sandwich domains termed thigh and two calf domains (calf1, calf 2), forming the leg region of the integrin. Furthermore, 9 of the 18 α -subunits also have an I domain, which is located over the β propeller domain and thereby makes it an important factor in the integrin binding site. Interestingly, all four α -subunits (CD11a, CD11b, CD11c, CD11d) pairing with the β_2 integrin subunit (CD18), which is the focus of this thesis, have an I-domain as well as the β propeller and the thigh domain in their head region. The β_2 subunit CD18 on the other hand is made up of an I-like domain and a β sandwich hybrid domain forming the head of the integrin protein. The leg part of the protein consists of a cysteine rich plexine-semaphorin-integrin (PSI) domain, four EGF-like repeats and lastly a β tail domain (β TD) (R. Evans et al., 2009), which is located immediately above the transmembrane domains traversing the membrane and the short cytoplasmic tail.





Adapted from Byron et al., 2009 and Evans et al., 2009. Both α and β subunits consist of distinct domains making up a leg region anchored in the cell membrane, a neck region and a head region, where the ligand binding site is located (circled in yellow).

Due to the wide variety of roles integrins can play on cell surfaces, adhesion to ligands has to be tightly controlled. Integrins have therefore been described to exist in three distinct of conformational states, which can limit or expand the access of ligand binding sites and thereby control the level of binding and signalling through the transmembrane receptor. The three integrin conformational states are: inactive, intermediate and active. Movement from an inactive over an intermediate to an active integrin conformational state occurs via the so-called switchblade model (Jin et al., 2004). In an inactive state, the head regions of both integrin subunits are bent down towards the cell surface and the leg regions are clustering closely together, yielding the ligand binding site closed and the integrin receptor with low affinity for ligand (Figure 1.4) (Byron et al., 2009; R. Evans et al., 2009). Through chemokine or cytokine receptor activation, the leg regions move further apart from each other and extend upwards from their bent position, thereby forming an intermediate state. Even though the leg regions are extended, the head regions forming the ligand binding sites are still closed in this state, and were presumed to show intermediate affinity for ligand. To achieve full activation, the head regions have to open, exposing the ligandbinding sites to the extracellular environment. Due to the free availability of the binding sites, the active conformation of an integrin has the highest affinity for ligands, with up to 4,000 times higher affinity compared to the bent-closed inactive conformation (Li et al., 2017). A visual overview of this process can be seen in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4 Integrin signalling and conformational states

Adapted from Evans et al., 2009. Integrins exist in three distinct conformational states: inactive with low affinity for ligand, intermediate with intermediate affinity for ligand and active with high affinity for ligand. Transition between inactive and active conformation is regulated by inside-out signalling, by which chemokine or cytokine receptor activation initiates the recruitment of talin and kindlin to the intracellular portion of the integrin subunits. This causes extension of neck regions and leg regions move apart from each other, thereby exposing the active ligand binding site to the extracellular space. When ligand binds to the ligand binding site, downstream signalling cascades transmit extracellular information towards the intracellular space via outside-in signalling.

Due to the need for tight regulation of integrin signalling, integrins have been described to be largely inactive on cell surfaces (Li and Springer, 2017), with 99.75% of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrins being in the bent-closed formation on a human leukaemia cell line. This poses the question how integrins can assume the extended-open (active) conformation efficiently and rapidly to mediate adhesion. The answer lies in integrin signalling, which consists of both inside-out and outside-in signalling (Figure 1.4). Fundamentally, inside-out signalling translates cell-internal signal into receptor affinity and clustering, thereby altering how the cell interacts with its immediate environment. Inside-out signalling is triggered by cell stimulation via chemokine or cytokine receptors (Shamri et al., 2005). This causes an increased formation of diaglycerol (DAG) and increase Ca²⁺ levels, which either activates protein kinase C (PKC) or a Rap-guanine nucleotide exchanger (Rap-GEF). Both of these signalling

proteins function in activating Rap1 by exchanging GDP for GTP (Han et al., 2006). This in turn causes relocation of Rap1-GTP to the cell membrane, where it was shown to interact with Rap1-GTP interacting adaptor molecule (RIAM) (Lee et al., 2009), which in turn causes the recruitment of talin and kindlin to the NPxY motifs of the integrin β subunit (Calderwood et al., 2002; Moser et al., 2008). By connecting the short cytoplasmic tail to the cytoskeleton, talin and kindlin function to separate the closely associated leg regions of the integrin alpha and beta subunits and stabilise them in the extended high-affinity conformation. Outside-in signalling then occurs once a ligand has bound to the integrin receptor. This is characterised by a downstream signalling cascade altering cell function in response to its environment (Shen et al., 2012), for example by activation and interaction with the g-protein coupled receptor G α_{13} (Gong et al., 2010). Outside-in signalling can mediate a range of possible outcomes for cells, including migration and motility, survival, cytoskeletal rearrangement and differentiation.

For the work done in this thesis, I focused specifically on β_2 integrins, due to their reported importance in immune function. In the following section, I will describe specific properties of β_2 integrins, particularly in our cell types of interest, namely monocytes and DCs.

1.4.2 A special role in the immune system: β_2 integrins

As mentioned previously, the β_2 integrin subunit (CD18) can pair with one of four α subunits (α_L -CD11a, α_M -CD11b, α_X -CD11c, α_D -CD11d) and are exclusively expressed by leukocytes. Due to their importance in immune function including adhesion, cell migration and cell-cell communication, they are known under a variety of names including lymphocyte function associated antigen I (LFA-1) (CD11a/CD18), macrophage-1 antigen (Mac-1) or complement receptor 3 (CR3) (CD11b/CD18), p150/95 or complement receptor 4 (CR4) (CD11c/CD18) and CD11d/CD18. For clarity, I have used CD nomenclature for all β_2 integrins throughout this thesis.

The β_2 integrin receptor family can bind a variety of ligands, detailed in Figure 1.5. Briefly, CD11a/CD18 binds intracellular adhesion molecule-1 to 5 (ICAM-1 to ICAM-5) preferentially (Arnaout, 2016), as well as to junction adhesion molecule 1 (JAM-1) (Ostermann et al., 2002). CD11b/CD18 is the most promiscuous of all β_2 integrins with over 40 reported ligands (Podolnikova et al., 2015). CD11b binds a variety of complement proteins, including iC3b and C4b (Graham et al., 1989), as well as the adhesion molecules ICAM-1-4 and JAM-3, and ECM proteins fibrinogen and fibronectin. CD11c is highly homologous to CD11b, which makes it unsurprising that it shares many of its ligands, including iC3b, ICAM-1 as well as ICAM-4. Additionally, CD11c binds vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (VCAM-1). Lastly, CD11d was reported to bind specifically ICAM-3 and VCAM-1, as well as having many overlapping ECMderived ligands with CD11b, such as fibronectin and fibrinogen as well as vitronectin (Van der Vieren et al., 1995; Yakubenko et al., 2006), which has also been described to be bound by CD11b (Kanse et al., 2004). Expression of CD11a, CD11b, CD11c and CD11d on human and mouse DCs and monocytes can found in Table 1.1. A more thorough review of the expression of beta2 integrin subunits in different DC and monocyte subsets can be found in my published review (Schittenhelm et al., 2017).





Adapted from Schittenhelm et al., 2017. Shown are the four members of the β_2 integrin receptor subgroup with alternatively used names and respective most commonly described ligands.

Cell Type		Dendritic cells	Monocytes	
CD11a (αL,	Human	High on Mo-DCs, pDCs, reduced upon activation (Ammon et al., 2000; de la Rosa et al., 2003; Freudenthal and Steinman, 1990; Geijtenbeek et al., 2000; Rieckmann et al., 2017; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994)	Circulating monocytes (Ammon et al., 2000; Bohuslav et al., 1995; Prieto et al., 1994)	
ITGAL)	Mouse	cDCs (especially CD8+), pDCs (Segura et al., 2007)	Circulating monocytes (Auffray et al., 2007)	
CD11b (αM, <i>ITGAM</i>)	Human	Mo-DCs, cDCs, but not on pDCs, reduced upon activation (Freudenthal and Steinman, 1990; Geijtenbeek et al., 2000; Haniffa et al., 2012; Rieckmann et al., 2017; Robbins et al., 2008; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994)	Circulating monocytes, differentially expressed on osteoclast precursors (Bohuslav et al., 1995; Prieto et al., 1994; Robbins et al., 2008; Sprangers et al., 2017)	
	Mouse	BMDCs, CD8- DCs > CD8 ⁺ splenic DCs, subpopulations of gut DCs, not on pDCs (Cerovic et al., 2014; Nakano et al., 2001; Segura et al., 2007; Shortman and Liu, 2002)	High on monocytes (Sunderkötter et al., 2004)	
CD11c (αX, <i>ITGAX</i>)	Human	Mo-DCs, higher on cDC2 than cDC1 DCs, absent from pDCs, reduced levels upon activation (Haniffa et al., 2012; Li et al., 2011; Rieckmann et al., 2017; Robbins et al., 2008)	Circulating monocytes, classical, non-classical and intermediate monocytes (Prieto et al., 1994; Rieckmann et al., 2017; Robbins et al., 2008)	
	Mouse	BMDCs, cDCs (used as marker, pDCs (Helft et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2012; Segura et al., 2007)	Thought to be absent from most monocytes, upregulated upon activation (Geissmann et al., 2003a; Sunderkötter et al., 2004)	
CD11d (αD, <i>ITGAD</i>)	Human	Mo-DCs, single cell mRNA suggests low expression on DCs (EMBL-EBI expression atlas, 2017; Miyazaki et al., 2014)	Circulating monocytes, CD16 ⁺ < CD16- monocytes (Miyazaki et al., 2014)	
	Mouse	RNAseq data suggests medium <i>ITGAD</i> expression in murine DCs, CD8 ⁺ > CD8 ^{neg} DCs (EMBL-EBI expression atlas, 2017; Segura et al., 2007)	Low <i>ITGAD</i> mRNA expression, low on circulating monocytes (EMBL-EBI expression atlas, 2017; Noti, 2002)	

Table 1.1 Expression of β_2 integrins on human and murine DCs and monocytes

The importance of β_2 integrin function for the immune system is highlighted by a group of congenital autosomal-recessive disorders termed leukocyte adhesion deficiencies (LAD), where a defective immune system arises from deficiencies in immune cell adhesion and migration. There are three different types of LAD, two of which show loss of expression or functionality of β_2 integrins. This is the case for LAD-I, where ITGB2, the gene coding for CD18 is mutated (Fischer et al., 1988), or the more recently identified LAD-III, where a mutation in kindlin-3 (FERMT3), a major cytoplasmic regulator of β_2 integrin activation, causes a failure of kindlin-3 binding to the β_2 integrin subunit, which directly results in the integrins inability to assume it active conformation and bind ligand (Jurk et al., 2010). Symptoms of LAD are recurrent bacterial and fungal infection and leukocytosis due to the inability of immune cells, especially neutrophils, to extravasate into tissue sites of infection in absence of β_2 integrins. Extravasation and homing into tissues is a major function of β_2 integrins (Grabbe et al., 2002), which will be discussed in more detail in the next section on immunoregulatory and pro-inflammatory roles of β_2 integrins. Many different mutations have been described to cause LAD of varying severity due to either a reduction of CD18 function or its complete absence. Furthermore, it has been shown that disease severity of LAD-I is directly correlated with the level of CD18 function preserved (Novoa et al., 2018). Together with the knowledge that effective β_2 integrin signalling is diminished in LAD-III, this strongly suggests the immense importance of β_2 integrins for raising effective immune responses. Interestingly, it was also shown that some symptoms of LAD are not due to the failure of raising an immune response, but rather due to an unregulated increase in inflammation. For example, bone destruction in periodontitis, another condition associated with LAD, was found to be driven by an increase in IL-17 production (Moutsopoulos et al., 2014), and was found to be mitigated by blocking IL-12 and IL-23, thereby reducing IL-17 signalling (Moutsopoulos et al., 2017). Furthermore, some patients with LAD have been described to suffer from ulcerative colitis (D'Agata et al., 1996; Uzel et al., 2001). While the exact causes for emergence of this autoimmune condition in LAD are not clear, it again suggests that impairment or complete absence of β_2 integrins might not only contribute to the failure to raise an appropriate immune response, but also the ability to regulate and dampen inappropriate immune activation.

To conclude, β_2 integrins are leukocyte-specific adhesion molecules with a wide range of ligands which are highly important for an effective response. In the following section, I will explore their roles in immune activation as well as more recent discoveries that suggest they play a distinct immunoregulatory role especially in DCs and other APCs.

1.4.3 Roles of β_2 integrins in immune activation and regulation

For a long time, β_2 integrins were primarily known for their various roles in initiating and maintaining immune responses. However, more recently, β_2 integrins have also been reported to be involved in a wide variety of functions involving immune regulation. In this section I will briefly summarise the roles of β_2 integrins in immune activation before exploring their important roles in immune regulation that form the basis of my thesis.

β_2 integrins in immune activation

 β_2 integrins are involved in many stages of an effective immune response. I will highlight their immunostimulatory roles in the areas of antigen presentation/APC-T cell contact, cell migration and cell signalling.

Firstly, especially CD11b and CD11c are important mediators of phagocytosis by recognising iC3b- or C3b-opsonised particles or bacteria. The importance of these integrins for phagocytic activity can be supported by their high expression in immature DCs, which becomes downregulated upon DC activation, when phagocytosis is similarly downregulated in mature DCs (Rieckmann et al., 2017). Furthermore, macrophages, known primarily for their ability to phagocytose opsonised compounds, express both CD11b and CD11c at high levels on their surface (Beller et al., 1982; Drevets et al., 1993; Gautier et al., 2012). Phagocytosis is an important factor for effective downstream processing of antigen and final presentation on the cell surface, thereby contributing to immune activation. However, an allele of the gene coding for CD11b and being marked by reduced phagocytic ability is one the most common risk factors for SLE, suggesting that CD11b-mediated uptake of apoptotic cells and cellular debris also has important roles in maintaining immune tolerance (Fossati-Jimack et al., 2013; Rhodes et al., 2012). Furthermore, β_2 integrins play an important role in immunological synapse, where CD11a on T cells binding to ICAM-1 on APCs was found to cluster in the peripheral supramolecular activation cluster (P-SMAC), thereby stabilising the central SMAC and with it the

connection between MHC:peptide and TCR (Grakoui et al., 1999; Monks et al., 1998). By this process, CD11a was found to be an effective costimulatory signal, enhancing TCR signal transduction (Seventer et al., 1990). Furthermore, blocking either CD11a, CD18 or the integrin ligand ICAM-1 on human Langerhans cells from the skin significantly blocked their ability to stimulate T cells *in vitro* by over 70% (Simon et al., 1991), suggesting an important role of β_2 integrins on these DC-like cells in immune activation. However, examples of activating roles of β_2 integrins in 'true' DCs are difficult to find, as current research primarily focuses on the role of β_2 integrins on the T cell side.

In addition, β_2 integrins are important for cell adhesion and migration. While migration of leukocytes within tissues was found to occur independently of β_2 integrins (Lämmermann et al., 2008), the adhesion receptors are absolutely required for migration of leukocytes to inflamed tissues, as this requires adhesion to ICAM-1 on endothelial cells under shear-flow conditions (Alon and Dustin, 2007; Lämmermann et al., 2008). However, while blocking either CD11a specifically or all β_2 integrins by blocking CD18 caused a reduction in adherence of monocytes to vessel walls and migration (Chuluyan and Issekutz, 1993; Geissmann et al., 2003b), migration of monocytes to an inflammatory site was found to occur independently of either CD11a or CD11b (Henderson et al., 2003). Similarly, DCs deficient for all integrins migrated to the LNs to the same degree as WT DCs when injected into the footpad of a mouse, suggesting that DC migration towards the LN also occurred independently of integrins (Lämmermann et al., 2008). This suggests that in monocytes and DCs, β_2 integrin-mediated migration does not majorly contribute to inflammation, although this is not the case for all cell types. For example, increased expression of CD11d on macrophages was found to retain macrophages at the site of inflammation, while monocytes expressing lower levels could still migrate (Yakubenko et al., 2008).

Lastly, β_2 integrins play a pro-inflammatory role in signalling. As mentioned above, CD11a signalling in T cells acts a co-stimulatory signal, directly contributing to T cell activation. Additionally, ligation of both CD11b and CD11c on human monocytes elicited production of pro-inflammatory mediators such as macrophage-inflammatory protein 1- α (MIP1 α), MIP1 β and IL-8 (Rezzonico et al., 2001). Further supporting this, both CD11b in macrophages and CD11c in monocytes were shown to mediate activation in the presence of LPS (Fan and Edgington, 1991; Ingalls and Golenbock, 1995). Several studies also suggest that β_2 integrins positively regulate or mediate

TLR4 signalling. For example, CD14, CD11b and TLR4 on murine macrophages were reported to react in synergy to LPS stimulation (Perera et al., 2001). In DCs, CD11b was found to positively regulate TLR4, with loss of CD11b-mediated TLR4 signalling resulting in reduced ability to stimulate T cells (Ling et al., 2014).

β_2 integrins in immune regulation

While β_2 integrins, especially CD11a, were described to have pro-inflammatory functions in T cells, there is evidence suggesting that the opposite might be true in APCs. In murine models, increasing expression of both active CD11a (Balkow et al., 2010) and active CD11b (Varga et al., 2007) in DCs was found to decrease T cell activation, suggesting that β_2 integrin activation status on DCs is immunoregulatory. In humans, a similar mechanism has been described, whereby CD11b on APCs binding to ICAM-1 on inflamed lymphatic endothelial cells in the absence of pathogen-associated danger signals reduced expression of costimulatory molecule CD86 on APCs and suppressed their ability to stimulate T cells (Podgrabinska et al., 2009). Furthermore, expression of CD11b has been described to play an active role in Th17 T cell suppression, potentially by limiting IL-6 production by DCs (Ehirchiou et al., 2007), which was further supported by the finding that ligating CD11b on Mo-DCs resulted in a reduced ability to induce Th17 T cells, thereby conferring tolerogenic qualities on the Mo-DCs (Nowatzky et al., 2018a). Ligation of CD11b on murine bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) was further shown to increase expression of MHC and costimulatory molecules, while production of inflammatory cytokine was blocked (Behrens et al., 2007), thereby suppressing T cell stimulatory capability.

While β_2 integrins on DCs were not found to be an important factor in mediating migration to the LN, they were reported to be indispensable for DCs strongly adhering to endothelium and extravasating into tissues (Alon and Dustin, 2007; Lämmermann et al., 2008). Interestingly, injecting murine BMDCs deficient in integrin signalling into the footpad of a mouse without LPS stimulation, BMDCs migrated to the LN in higher numbers, suggesting that β_2 integrins actually retain DCs in the periphery in the steady state. Furthermore, the study showed that BMDCs with deficient β_2 integrin function stimulated more IFN- γ production by T cells, indicative of driving a Th1 phenotye, thereby suggesting that β_2 integrins function in keeping DCs both non-migratory and non-stimulatory in the steady state (Morrison et al., 2014).

This strongly suggests an active role for β_2 integrins on DCs in immune regulation. In a murine model of skin inflammation, a larger number of signalling-deficient DCs were found both in the LN and at the site of inflammation, potentially suggesting that failure of β_2 integrin signalling further enhanced disease severity (Savinko et al., 2015). As mentioned above, some studies report that β_2 integrins have proinflammatory roles in immune cell signalling, especially in the context of TLR4. However, in the absence of β_2 integrins (CD18 KO mice), TLR signalling is increased, suggesting a regulatory role of β_2 integrins on TLR signalling (Yee and Hamerman, 2013). This however contradicts another study mentioned above, that specifically CD11b actually positively mediates TLR4 signalling (Ling et al., 2014). The discrepancy in these findings can potentially be explained by Yee and Hamerman utilising a complete CD18 knockout (KO), thereby not distinguishing between the potentially different roles of β_2 integrin α subunits, while Ling and colleagues focused specifically on the effects of CD11b deficiency. While this provides some insight into the distinct β_2 integrin subunit functions, other studies support the finding that β_2 integrins restrict TLR signalling. For example, TLR signalling was found to be restricted by β_2 integrins on both macrophages and DCs (Savinko et al., 2015). However, the role of β_2 integrins in immune cell signalling is complex. For example, a lack of CD11b in murine BMDCs was found to decrease signalling via TLR4, but simultaneously upregulated microRNA-146a, which functioned to increase DC-mediated cross-priming of cytotoxic T cells (Bai et al., 2012).Considering this evidence it becomes apparent that the literature exploring the role of β_2 integrins in immune cell signalling is complex, which makes it likely that the effect of β_2 integrins on TLR signalling might be dependent on cell type and environment.

To conclude, β_2 integrins play a wide variety of pro-inflammatory roles in the immune system. However, evidence specifically in DCs and monocytes suggests that they also play a potent role in regulation of immune responses (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Roles of β_2 integrins in DCs

Adapted from Schittenhelm et al., 2017. Involvement of β_2 integrins in the immune system can be broadly categorised into interactions with immune cells, homing to LNs and recruitment to tissues as well as immune cell signalling. Evidence is accumulating that β_2 integrins have both proinflammatory and immunoregulatory roles in these areas. Dysregulation of β_2 integrins could therefore contribute to the aberrant immune response in autoimmune disease.

1.4.4 Evidence suggesting a role of β_2 integrins in RA

While β_2 integrins have not been identified as genetic risk factors for RA in gene wide association (GWAS) studies to my knowledge, there is still a wide range of evidence that suggests β_2 integrins might play a role in RA pathogenesis or progression. However, having explored the opposing functions of β_2 integrins, it is also possible that β_2 integrins might regulate or dampen aberrant immune processes. In the following section, I will give an overview of the published literature in this field and highlight where the limitations of current knowledge lie.

A range of autoimmune diseases and inflammatory disorders share β_2 integrins as genetic risk factors, which seem to be β_2 integrin α -subunit-specific. For example, the autoimmune condition IBD showed increased expression of alleles for CD11a (ITGAL), as well as its main ligand ICAM-1 (ICAM1) (de Lange et al., 2017). On the other hand, a genetic polymorphism of the gene coding for CD11b (ITGAM) was found to show increased risk of the autoimmune disease SLE (Nath et al., 2008),

which shares genetic risk factors with RA (Remmers et al., 2007). Lastly, in obesity, a condition marked by increased systemic inflammation, expression of CD11d was found to be increased in white adipose tissue of female study participants (Thomas et al., 2011). Furthermore, an increase in CD11d activation was found to elicit production of IL-1 β (Miyazaki et al., 2014), a pro-inflammatory cytokine associated with autoinflammatory conditions (Dinarello, 2011). This suggests involvement of β_2 integrins in dysregulated immune responses including autoimmune conditions.

There is a large body of evidence in both animal models and human studies that suggest that beta2 integrins contribute to RA. For example, blocking all β_2 integrins in a rabbit model of arthritis using antigen directly injected into the joint reduced inflammation (Jasin et al., 1992). A different study showed that absence of CD11a specifically in a KB x N transfer mouse model caused animals to remain completely resistant to disease induction (Watts et al., 2005). Additionally, mice deficient for the β_2 integrin ligand ICAM-1 similarly showed reduced susceptibility to a collagen induced arthiritis (CIA) model (Bullard et al., 1996), suggesting that CD11a and ICAM-1 especially might have a role in RA initiation. It was furthermore shown that in the CIA model, treatment with either a mAb or a small-molecule antagonist targeting CD11a was protective and markedly reduced both inflammation-mediated joint destruction and synovial cytokine mRNA levels (Kakimoto et al., 1992; Suchard et al., 2010). However, these positive effects of blocking CD11a function in RA animal models are likely mediated by reduced cell recruitment to the joint, thereby improving symptoms.

In humans, surface expression of CD11a was found to be increased in cells isolated from RA ST but not from PB, where it was hypothesised to contribute to cell activation and maintenance of inflammation (Cush and Lipsky, 1988; Takahashi et al., 1992). However, considering that CD11a has a role in cell migration as well as immune cell activation and this study did not distinguish different cell types, it is possible that expression of CD11a is high due to the increased influx of immune cells into the joint cavity during synovitis. Another study did find CD11a, CD11b and CD18 to be elevated on PB monocytes from RA patients compared to healthy controls, an effect which was normalised after 4-6 weeks of low-dose steroid treatment (Torsteinsdóttir et al., 1999), suggesting that expression of β_2 integrins was associated with disease activity. Furthermore, while a wide range of self-peptides can be citrullinated thereby contributing to RA pathogenesis, citrullinated self-peptides

commonly identified in RA include several β_2 integrin ligands, such as fibrinogen, fibronectin and vimentin (McInnes and Schett, 2011). One could therefore hypothesise that altered self-protein might also alter β_2 integrin downstream signalling, for example by altering binding affinity of ligand to β_2 integrin. This is supported by a recent study showing that citrullination of fibronectin, a β_2 integrin ligand, altered clustering behaviour and adhesive capabilities of integrins $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ on stromal cells (Stefanelli et al., 2019). Similarly, RA synovial fibroblasts were found to show reduced adhesion and cell spreading on citrullinated fibonectin but not uncitrullinated fibronectin (Shelef et al., 2012). This suggests that citrullination of self-peptides might alter β_2 integrin function in RA.

To conclude there is a range of evidence suggesting β_2 integrins contribute to the development and/or progression of autoimmune disorders. Interestingly, roles of β_2 integrins are often α -subunit specific, highlighting that different β_2 integrins, while highly homologous, have distinct and potentially opposing functions. This is supported by the fact that different β_2 integrin subunits show differential expression in leukocyte subsets. Lastly, while extensive research in the role of β_2 integrins in RA exists, it is mostly focused on T cells and neutrophils, with no discernible reports on β_2 integrins specifically on APCs in RA. Considering especially the importance of DCs for initiation and maintenance of RA discussed at length in section 1.4.2, understanding how β_2 integrins on DCs might contribute to RA could reveal novel therapeutic pathways for the disease.

1.4.5 Targeting β_2 integrin receptors therapeutically

As discussed, β_2 integrins have a variety of important roles in the immune system from immune cell adhesion and migration to immune cell communication. This makes them a promising therapeutic target in conditions that are marked by dysregulation or aberrant activation of the immune system, such as autoimmune conditions. While the possibility of targeting β_2 integrins to control such conditions is encouraging, the wide range of roles played by β_2 integrins also make off-target effects a likely risk that will have to be circumvented. In this section, I will provide an overview of therapeutics that target integrins and the β_2 family specifically, and comment on their respective successes and failures. Lastly, I will identify the gaps in our understanding of the roles of β_2 integrins, the understanding of which will help to direct future strategies for therapeutic targeting of the beta2 integrin family.

To date, few examples of drugs targeting β_2 integrins specifically exist in the clinic. One exception is efalizumab, a monoclonal antibody (mAb) targeted against CD11a, which was originally licenced to treat psoriasis (Leonardi et al., 2005) and resulted in significant improvement in psoriatic plague size and severity in 30-40% of patient after 12 weeks and up to 50-60% of patients after 24 weeks of efalizumab treatment. However, around 1 in 500 of patients several treated with the drug developed progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), a rare, severe and potentially lifethreatening condition where demyelination of brain white matter of the brain occurs due to reactivation of the human polyomavirus 2 (JC virus) (Khalili et al., 2019; Major, 2010). Due to the associated safety concerns, efalizumab was therefore withdrawn from European and American markets in 2009. Although the specific mechanism of action causing the increased incidence of PML in patients treated with efalizumab was not investigated, it was hypothesised to be either due to insufficient immune cell recruitment to the brain or the mAb itself entering the brain (Pavlovic et al., 2015; Schwab et al., 2012). However, in an animal model of joint inflammation, both a CD11a-targeting small-molecule antagonist (Suchard et al., 2010) and a mAB targeted against CD11a (Kakimoto et al., 1992) were successful in reducing inflammatory joint destruction and synovial cytokine levels. While efalizumab succeeded in reducing recruitment of leukocytes to inflamed sites, the severe side effects associated with its administration were not acceptable. However, lifitegrast, a competitive antagonist of CD11a, was found to be successful in treatment of dry eye disease by restricting recruitment of T cells to the ocular surface and activation of T cells, thereby reducing local inflammation and symptoms (Perez et al., 2016).

Similarly to CD11a, blocking of CD11b showed great promise in animal models. For example, in mice, a CD11b blocking antibody reduced liver injury in response to ischaemia due to reduced recruitment of neutrophils (Jaeschke et al., 1993) and in a rabbit model of arterial injury, blocking CD11b caused reduced intimal thickening due to reduced recruitment of cells to the site of injury (Rogers et al., 1998). This provided important proof of concept that blocking CD11b might be a viable therapeutic strategy to reduce the amount of immune cell influx into injury sites and the resulting tissue damage. However, results of blocking CD11b in human have largely been disappointing, with small or no visible improvement compared to placebo was found in most cases (Dove, 2000; Harlan and Winn, 2002). More recently, a different approach of using small-molecule agonists of especially CD11b, called leukadherins

(Faridi et al., 2009; Park et al., 2007), has shown great promise in reducing inflammation. The rationale for this counterintuitive approach was that increasing adhesion of immune cells to the vasculature due to the increase in CD11b activation led to a reduction in cell recruitment to the site of inflammation. As cells were less likely to transmigrate into tissues due to their strong adhesion to endothelium, inflammatory responses in a variety of animal inflammation models, including peritonitis, vascular injury and nephritis, were reduced (Maiguel et al., 2011). While this poses the risks of side effects in the form or endothelial damage or leakage due to increased adhesion of leukocytes to endothelium, this was not observed by the same group, suggesting that this approach is safe, although there is the possibility that recruitment to LNs of cells who are dependent on CD11b might be impaired. Another study on vascular injury confirmed that while both an CD11b activating antibody and the small-molecule agonist significantly increased adhesion to Fibrinogen, a reduction in inflammation was only observed in the animals treated with the leukadherin and not the activating antibody (Faridi et al., 2013). This was suggested to be due to the specificity of leukadherin, which only affected adhesive ability of cells, while the activating antibody furthermore induced both clustering of integrins and mediated outside-in signalling, suggesting that either or both of these properties made the activating antibody less effective. Clinically, the use of smallmolecule agonists targeted at CD11b might be important for treatment of cancer: ADH-503, a different CD11b small molecule agonist, was shown to reduce recruitment of immunosuppressive myeloid cells to pancreatic tumours while simultaneously increasing DC-mediated immunogenic T cell responses (Panni et al., 2019). The positive effect on anti-tumour T cell response was proposed to be due to increased recruitment of cross-presenting cDC1 DCs into the tumour in the presence of ADH-503, which was in turn mediated by their naturally low expression of CD11b and increased expression of both MHCI and MHCII in the presence of CD11b agonism. Another option to avoid off-target negative side effects of drugs targeting β_2 integrins is by blocking β_2 integrin function in a ligand-specific way. For example, a mAb specifically blocking interaction between CD11b and one of its ligand CD40L was found to be protective in an animal model of sepsis, probably due to leukocytes not being able to adhere to CD40L on inflamed endothelium to extravasate into tissues, while broad blockade of CD11b worsened symptoms (Wolf et al., 2018).

In summary, there are a variety of drugs targeting β_2 integrins available. A big challenge is the wide variety of roles β_2 integrins play in the immune system, meaning that blocking these leukocyte-specific adhesion receptors has many unwanted off-target effects. Recent advances in β_2 integrin therapeutics highlight that activating rather than blocking β_2 integrins might be a viable option to prevent excessive immune activation by harnessing the immunoregulatory roles of these integrins. However, even though β_2 integrins were reported to have an immunoregulatory role specifically in DCs and macrophages, positive effects of CD11b activating drugs seem to be largely mediated by neutrophils (Celik et al., 2013; Dickinson et al., 2018). Understanding how these drugs that interfere with β_2 integrins affect DCs more specifically might therefore be important for the successful translation of these drugs into the clinic.

1.5 Hypothesis and Aims

Published literature suggests that β_2 integrins play an important role in DCs at the interface between immune activation and tolerance. While immunoregulatory roles of β_2 integrins especially on DCs have been reported in murine studies (Morrison et al., 2014; Savinko et al., 2015) as well as in human (Balkow et al., 2010; Podgrabinska et al., 2009; Varga et al., 2007), published knowledge in human DCs is still limited due to the complexity of β_2 integrins is able to potently contribute to aberrant immune activation (Torsteinsdóttir et al., 1999; Watts et al., 2005). Therefore, it was hypothesised that dysregulation of integrin signalling in APCs could alter the balance between activation and tolerance, thus contributing to the aberrant inflammation present in autoimmune diseases such as RA.

The hypothesis this thesis is based on can therefore be summarised as such: β_2 integrins on DCs play important pro-inflammatory and immunoregulatory roles. Dysregulation of β_2 integrins on DCs might therefore contribute to autoimmune conditions such as RA which would make β_2 integrins a viable therapeutic target. To investigate this hypothesis, I focused on three main questions.

First, integrin signalling is strongly reliant on conformational status of its subunits in response to cell-internal (inside-out signalling) and external signals (outside-in signalling) (Carman and Springer, 2003; Li et al., 2017). Whilst some studies suggest that differential expression of β_2 integrins, in this case CD11c, confers different

abilities and functions (Sándor et al., 2016a), activity status of β_2 integrins is not commonly measured. Due to published evidence suggesting that integrin conformation is highly important for their function, I hypothesised that alterations in conformational states of β_2 integrins might have functional effects on cells they are expressed on. Dysregulation in β_2 integrin signalling that could interfere with appropriate immune activation could therefore occur at the level of surface expression, as well as conformational state of β_2 integrin subunits. I therefore aimed to quantify both total β_2 integrin expression as well as the level of active conformation present on APCs, specifically DCs and monocytes. To this end, optimisation of staining for both 'total' β_2 integrin subunit expression as well as 'active' β_2 integrin expression, which used antibodies specific to an epitope exposed only when the β_2 integrin subunit was in its extended conformation is detailed in Chapter 3. This will tell us if either surface expression or regulation of conformational state of β_2 integrins differs between conditions or patient samples and healthy controls.

Second, tolerogenic Mo-DCs are not only a potential therapeutic option for DCmediated therapy of RA, they also present a unique modelling system of DCs between immune activation and tolerance. Chapter 4 therefore aimed to characterise 'total' and 'active' β_2 integrin expression on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs to identify any potential differences in the respective immunoregulatory and proinflammatory model settings. In addition, this also allowed me to generate DC-like cells in large enough numbers for functional experiments, which is a challenge when using circulating human DCs, due to their low frequency in PB. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs were furthermore chosen as an optimal model system to investigate the proinflammatory and immunoregulatory function of β_2 integrins in DCs. This was because they show altered migration and adhesion abilities (Anderson et al., 2009) as well as altered T cell stimulatory activity (Anderson et al., 2008), which suggested differences in β_2 integrin expression or functionality. Investigating tolerogenic Mo-DCs was therefore also suited to explore the possibility of interfering with β_2 integrin function to potentially improve therapeutic efficacy of this cell-based therapy for RA.

Lastly, I aimed to investigate if β_2 integrins were indeed dysregulated in the autoimmune setting of RA, thereby potentially contributing to disease pathology. To do so, I first collected a comprehensive data set detailing 'total' and 'active' β_2 integrin expression on different human PB DC and monocyte subsets in health to act as a baseline. To investigate if dysregulation of β_2 integrins could indeed contribute

to RA pathology, I aimed to compare this healthy data set to β_2 integrin expression and conformation status in patients with RA. My findings comparing active RA, to remission and to healthy controls, as well as comparing RA PB to SF, are detailed in Chapter 5.

To conclude, the aims for my thesis were three-fold. First, I aimed to develop and optimise usage of flow cytometry to detect both expression and conformational status of β_2 integrins on APCs simultaneously. Second, I utilised mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs as a model system to investigate both pro-inflammatory and immunoregulatory functions of β_2 integrins in DCs. Third and last, I collected a cohort of healthy, active RA and RA in remission PB and SF samples to investigate if either expression or conformational status of β_2 integrins was altered in the dysregulated autoimmune environment of RA.

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell isolation

2.1.1 Ethical approval

All healthy human samples were acquired under MVLS ethical approval 2012073, while patient samples collected in the clinic were acquired under REC approval 14/WS/1035 (additional tissue) and 16/WS/0207 (surplus tissue) for PB and SF/ST, respectively. Appropriate consent was given by all participants prior to sample collection. Additionally, every sample received a unique identifying number to anonymise the participant before cell isolation occurred.

2.1.2 Peripheral blood

Fresh whole blood was collected into 9ml VACUETTE® EDTA tubes (Greiner Bio-One). To isolate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), fresh human peripheral blood (PB) was mixed 1:1 with room temperature (RT) Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Gibco) + 2mM Ethylenediamine Tetraacetate Acid (EDTA, Fisher Scientific) before slowly layering onto 15ml RT lymphoprep (Axis-Shield PoC AS). Blood was centrifuged at 895g for 30min at RT and PBMCs were recovered from the surface of the high density medium with a sterile Pasteur pipette. Cell suspension was then washed in 50ml cold HBSS+1% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS, Gibco) at 600g, 4°C for 7min. Supernatant was discarded and pellet resuspended in HBSS+1%FCS for a further washing step at 250g, 4°C for 7min. Cells were filtered using a 70µm cell strainer and resuspended in appropriate volume for counting, with dead cells excluded by Trypan blue (Sigma), before being washed a third time at 400g, 4°C for 7min.

2.1.3 Synovial fluid

SF was collected into uncoated 20ml universal tubes as part of joint aspiration procedure and processed on the same day. To isolate cells from synovial fluid, the viscous sample was mixed 1:2 with RT HBSS + 2mM EDTA and filtered through a 100µm cell strainer before being carefully layered onto 15ml lymphoprep. After this cell isolation proceeded exactly as described for peripheral blood.

2.1.4 Synovial membrane

Synovial membrane or ST was collected as part of joint replacement operations and kept at 4°C suspended in RF10, consisting of RPMI-1640 (Gibco), 10% FCS, 2mM L-Glutamine (200mM, Invitrogen) and 100 units/ml of Penicillin and 0.1mg/ml Streptomycin solution (10,000 units of Penicillin and 10mg of Streptomycin per ml in 0.9% NaCl, Sigma-Aldrich) until processing the next day. ST samples were freed of

any visible fat and bone fragments before being cut into 1mm fragments using a scalpel. Care was taken to keep tissue immersed in RF10 to avoid drying out. Mechanically digested tissue in medium was resuspended in warm RF10, Then Liberase TH (high Thermolysin concentration, Roche) at a final concentration of 15µg/ml and DNase (Roche) at a final concentration of 30µg/ml were added. Samples were then transferred to a shaking incubator set at 260rpm at 37°C for 45min, with additional manual vigorous shaking every 15min. The solution was then filtered through a 70µm nylon filter. Whilst the filtrate was placed on ice immediately to prevent further enzymatic digestion, the tissue remaining in the filter was subjected to a second digestion of 45min, 260rpm at 37°C. Afterwards, filtrates were pooled, washed and cells counted.

2.2 Generating Mo-DCs

2.2.1 CD14⁺ monocyte isolation

PBMCs were isolated from human peripheral blood as described above. After the last washing step at 400g, 4°C for 7min, cells were resuspended in 80µl of ice-cold sterilefiltered MACS cell separation buffer per 10x10⁶ PBMCs, consisting out of Phospate Buffered Saline (PBS, Ca²⁺ free, Mg²⁺ free, Gibco), 5% FCS and 2mM EDTA. Then 10µl of human CD14 microbeads (MACS Miltenyi Biotec) per 10x10⁶ PBMCs were added and cells were incubated on ice for 20min, throughout which cells were gently shaken every 5min. Then, cells were washed in 25ml ice-cold MACS buffer as before. During this time, a cooled positive selection column (LS, MACS Miltenyi Biotec) was placed onto MACS separator magnet and pre-rinsed with 3ml ice-cold MACS buffer. Cell supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 2ml ice-cold MACS buffer before being added to the column. CD14^{neg} cells were allowed to pass through the column, and it was washed a further three times using 3ml MACS buffer to ensure all negative cells had been flushed through. The MACS column was then removed from magnet and 5ml MACS buffer were added before releasing cells from column using a plunger. Cells were counted, washed in cold MACS buffer as described above and resuspended at 0.5x10⁶ cells/ml in cold RF10 medium.

2.2.2 Culture of Mo-DCs

Cells were seeded into an uncoated 24 well plate at 0.5x10⁶ cells in 1ml of cold RF10 per well. Human IL-4 (Immunotools) and GM-CSF (Immunotools) were added to CD14⁺ monocytes at a final concentration of 50ng/ml. Plates were incubated for 7 days

at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were fed by removing 450 μ l of old culture medium and replacing with 500 μ l warm fresh RF10 supplemented with IL-4 and GM-CSF on day 3 of culture.

2.2.3 Generation of immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs

To culture immature Mo-DCs no further reagents were added. Mature Mo-DCs were stimulated with 0.1μ g/ml LPS (Sigma-Aldrich) on day 6. To yield tolerogenic MO-DCs, cells received Dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich) at a final concentration of 10^{-6} M per well on day 3. The same amount of Dexamethasone was added on day 6 of the culture, together with Vitamin D₃ (Tocris, Biotechne) at a final concentration of 10^{-10} M and 0.1μ g/ml LPS per well. All cells were harvested on day 7 for experimental use. To harvest, 24 well plates were placed on ice for 1hr to loosen cells. Cells were then gently scraped and removed from the wells. Cell suspension in RF10 was washed at least three times in ice-cold HBSS+1%FCS at 400g, 7min at 4°C, after which they were counted for further use.

2.3 Flow cytometry

All flow cytometry staining and washing steps were executed using cold FACS buffer, consisting out of PBS +3%FCS, 0.01% Sodium Azide (NaN₃, Sigma-Aldrich) and 1mM EDTA. Unless otherwise noted Sytox[™] 7-AADvanced dead cell stain (Invitrogen) was added to cell suspension after washes at least 15min before analysis and was not washed off. Ultracomp beads (Invitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific) were used for compensation. 200µg/ml of human IgG was added to all staining mixes to act as a blocking agent to reduce non-specific binding to Fc receptors on human cell surfaces. In addition to controls mentioned specifically. Fluorescence Minus One (FMO) controls, containing all antibodies except for the one of interest, were used to ensure correct gating of populations, especially where data spread introduced by the use of multiple fluorochromes was likely. An overview of all antibodies used for flow cytometry with corresponding dilution used can be found in Table 2.1. Flow cytometry samples were acquired using a BD Fortessa and data was analysed using Flowjo software (Treestar).

2.3.1 Mo-DC phenotyping

After Mo-DC-harvest, cells were divided into two 96 well round bottom plates, to stain for β_2 integrin expression (at 37°C, as above) and phenotyping the different Mo-DC populations (at 4°C), respectively, for 30min in FACS buffer. For phenotyping Mo-DCs, cells were stained with antibodies to CD14 and CD1c, and MO-DCs identified as CD14^{neg}CD1c⁺. Furthermore, respective expression of HLA-DR, costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, as well as TLR2 and the latency-associated protein (LAP) portion of TGFβ1 were stained for. Cells were washed three times in cold FACS Buffer and resuspended in 200µl FACS buffer for acquisition.

2.3.2 Integrin activation staining

PBMCs were prepared as described. After the last wash, cells were rested for 60min in a 96 well plate in 200µl HBSS+2%FCS per staining condition in an incubator (37°C, 5% CO₂). This resting period was introduced to avoid DC death due to strenuous cell isolation process. In addition to 200µg/ml human IgG (Sigma), 1mM Magnesium Chloride (MgCl₂, Sigma) was added to the FACS buffer to ensure conditions in which β_2 integrins could fully extend. When staining for active β_2 integrins, an unstained control, a negative control containing no β_2 integrin antibodies, an isotype control and a positive control with the addition of 100ng/ml phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) were always included. After the resting period, cells were spun down in the plate for 5min, 400g at 4°C and stained for 30min at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Cells were then washed three times in 200µl cold FACS buffer as before and kept on ice between washes before being filtered and resuspended in 300µl for flow cytometry analysis.

2.3.3 Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS)

After PBMC isolation, cells were stained for 30min at 37°C with panel including HLA-DR, CD11c, CD14, CD16, CD1c and CD141 to yield cDC2s. CD3, CD19, CD20 and CD56 were also included to exclude T cells, B cells and NK cells. A representative gating strategy can be seen in Figure 2.1. Cells were washed three times in ice-cold FACS buffer and resuspended at 2x10⁷ cells/ml in FACS buffer, with further dilution of cells as needed to ensure optimal sorting conditions of ca. 7000 events/second. Cells were sorted into 5ml FACS tubes containing FACS buffer with 50%FCS to ensure cell survival. All sorting was done on a FACS Aria IIU or a FACS Aria II (BD Biosciences) using a 85µm nozzle. After sorting, cDC2s were rested overnight in RF10 in the presence of GM-CSF at 10ng/ml before use in further experiments.



Figure 2.1 Gating strategy for sorting cDC2 DCs from human PB

cDC2s were sorted from healthy PBMCs under exclusion of doublets, T cells, B cells and NK cells. HLA-DR+CD11c+, bur CD14-CD16- cells were then shown in respect to their CD1c and CD141 staining and CD1c+ population was delineated using an unstained control. CD1c+ population was then sorted for. Representative plot of 3 different donors during 3 separate experimental repeats.

Antigen	Clone	Fluorochrome	Supplier	Optimal Titration	Final concentration
CD11a active	MEM-83	AF 700	Novus bio	1:100	9.5µg/ml
CD11a total	HI111	PE	BioLegend	1:50	2µg/ml
CD11b active	CBRM1/5	APC	BioLegend	1:50	4µg/ml
CD11b total	ICRF44	BV785	BioLegend	1:100	1.5µg/ml
CD11c	BU15	APC-Cy7	BioLegend	1:100	4µg/ml
CD14	M5E2	BUV737	BD Biosciences	1:50	1µg/ml
CD141	M80	PE-Cy7	BioLegend	1:50	4µg/ml
CD16	3G8	PE-Dazzle594	BioLegend	1:200	0.25µg/ml
CD18 active	m24	AF 488	BioLegend	1:10	10µg/ml
CD18 total	6.7	BV421	BD Biosciences	1:20	10µg/ml
CD19	SJ25C1	PE-Cy5.5	eBioscience	1:50	0.1µg/ml
CD1c	L161	PerCP-Cy5.5	BioLegend	1:100	2µg/ml
CD20	2H7	PE-Cy5.5	eBioscience	1:50	0.3µg/ml
CD3	SK7	PE-Cy5.5	eBioscience	1:100	5µg/ml
CD4	OKT4	PerCP-Cy5.5	Biolegend	1:50	2µg/ml
CD45	HI30	BUV395	BD Biosciences	1:50	2µg/ml
CD45RO	UCHL1	APC-Cy7	Biolegend	1:50	8µg/ml
CD56	CMSSB	PE-Cy5.5	eBioscience	1:100	0.06µg/ml
CD83	HB15e	PE	BD Biosciences	1:10	25µg/ml
CD86	2331 (FUN-1)	V450	BD Biosciences	1:50	4µg/ml
HLA-DR	G46-6	BV480	BD Biosciences	1:50	2µg/ml
HLA-DR	L243	APC	BD Biosciences	1:100	Unknown
h-LAP (TGFβ1)	27232	PE	R&D systems	1:10	Unknown
Isotype control Mouse IgG1, к	11711	AF700	R&D systems	1:25	9.5µg/ml

Isotype control	MOPC-21	APC	BD Biosciences	1:50	4µg/ml
Mouse IgG1, к					
Isotype control	MOPC-21	AF488	Biolegend	1:5	10µg/ml
Mouse IgG1, к					
TLR2	TL2.1	AF647	Biolegend	1:10	40µg/ml

Table 2.1 Antibodies used for flow cytometry

2.4 Static adhesion assay

Static adhesion assays were used to quantify Mo-DC adherence to various β_2 integrin ligands. ICAM-1 (R&D systems), iC3b (Merck Millipore), C4b (Merck Millipore), Fibrinogen (Merck Millipore) and Fibronectin (R&D systems) diluted in PBS were coated overnight at 4°C onto COSTAR 96 well high-binding assay plates (Corning) at low, medium and high concentrations, which can be found in Table 2.2. Fibronectin was included as a positive control, while wells treated with PBS without any addition of ligand were included as a negative control. After 24h, wells were washed twice with PBS, before blocking with 1% Milk in PBS for 1h15min at 37°C. Plates were washed twice with cold PBS, left with 200µl PBS per well and placed on ice. Harvested Mo-DCs were resuspended in adhesion medium consisting of RPMI 1640, 0.1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA, Sigma), 20mM HEPES (pH 7.25) and 2mM MgCl₂ (Sigma), before adding 25x10³ Mo-DCs per well in duplicate or triplicate (400µl at a concentration of 0.0625x10⁶cells/ml).

Ligand	Concentration (in µg/ml)				
	Low	Medium	High		
ICAM-1	0.1	1	10		
iC3b	1	3.3	10		
C4b	1	3.3	10		
Fibrinogen	1	10	100		
Fibronection	Positive contr	ol: 10	· ·		

Table 2.2 Ligand concentrations for static adhesion assay

After the addition of cells, plates were incubated for 8min on ice to allow cells to settle to the bottom of the well before being transferred to 37°C for 15min to allow cell adherence. Plates were then carefully placed upside down in 2.5 litre PBS+2mM MgCl₂ for 50min at RT to allow non-adhered cells to exit the well. Then, plates were inverted
and 350µl buffer was removed to leave 50µl per well, to which 100µl of lysis buffer, consisting out of p-nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP, Calbiochem) dissolved in 1%Tx-100/50mM acetate buffer (pH 5) at a final concentration of 3mg/ml, was added. Adhered cells were lysed for 60min at 37°C protected from light and reaction was stopped by adding 50µl Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH) per well. Absorbance was measured using a Sunrise Absorbance Reader (Tecan) at 405nm. In order to quantify cell adhesion as a percentage of total cells, a 'total' plate was prepared by pelleting 25x10³ cells per Mo-DC subtype (400µl of 0.0625x10⁶ cells/ml cell suspension) and resuspending cells in 200µl PBS. 50µl of each cell suspension (i.e. x number of cells) was then transferred to a fresh uncoated COSTAR 96 well high-binding assay plate in triplicate, together with PBS in triplicate as a negative control. This 'total' plate was lysed and measured as described with the experimental plate.

2.5 18h PBMC stimulation

To understand the effects of extracellular factors on β_2 integrin expression and

Condition	Final concentration	Supplier	
Untreated	-	-	
LPS	100ng/ml	Sigma-Aldrich	
IL-1β +	10ng/ml	Immunotools	
TNF	10ng/ml	Immunotools	
IL-10 +	10ng/ml	Immunotools	
TGF-β	10ng/ml	Immunotools	
Synovial fluid	25% synovial fluid in RF10	Biobanked samples under	
		REC 16/WS/0207	

 Table 2.3 Treatment conditions for 18h PBMC stimulation

activation, PBMCs were stimulated with various factors for 18h. PBMCs were resuspended in RF10 and plated into 48 well plates (Corning) at 1.5×10^6 cells per well. Then, stimuli diluted in RF10 were added to yield five conditions (untreated, LPS, IL-1\beta+TNF\alpha, IL-10+TGF-\beta, SF), each in duplicate. Details of concentrations used can be found in Table 2.3. Cells were then returned to 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 18h before being harvested and stained for flow cytometry as above.

2.6 Mixed Lymphocyte Reactions

To investigate the role of β_2 integrins on DCs in T cell activation, mixed lymphocyte reactions (MLRs) were set up with mature or tolerogenic Mo-DCs, or sorted cDC2s, together with CD4 T cells isolated from a different donor.

2.6.1 Naïve CD4 T cell isolation

5-10ml of buffy coat was taken to yield approximately 20-40x10⁶ naïve CD4⁺ T cells. Rosettesep Human CD4⁺ enrichment cocktail (Stemcell Technologies) was added at 75µl/ml and incubated at RT for 20min. Sample was then diluted 1:2 using PBS+2%FCS at RT and gently layered onto 15ml lymphoprep. Density centrifugation occurred at 895g, 21°C for 30min after which enriched T cells were removed from the high density medium interface using a sterile Pasteur pipette. Cells were washed in warm PBS+2%FCS for 7min at 600G, RT, and again at 400G. Then, cells were counted and washed a third time in cold HBSS+1%FCS at 400G, 4°C for 7min. The pellet was then resuspended in 80µl ice-cold MACS buffer per 10x10⁶cells. 20µl of human CD45RO Microbeads (MACS Miltenyi) per 10x10⁶ cells were added and gently mixed before cells were placed in the fridge for 15min. After incubation, non-adhered beads were washed off using ice-cold MACS buffer for 7min at 400g, 4°C, and resuspended in 500µl MACS buffer. A MACS separator column was pre-washed with 3ml MACS Buffer, before cells were added. CD45ROneg cells passed through the column, while unwanted CD45RO⁺ T cells remained bound to the column. The column was washed a further three times with 3ml MACS buffer each. Cells present in flowthrough were counted for further analysis.

2.6.2 CellTrace Violet Proliferation Staining

After counting, naïve CD4 T cells were washed twice in PBS for 7min at 400g, 4°C. They were then stained with 5 μ M CellTrace Violet Proliferation Dye (CTV, Invitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific) in PBS for 15min at RT protected from light. After the incubation period, 1/5 of the staining volume of FCS was added for 5min to quench the reaction. Cells were then washed twice more in cold PBS+1%FCS for 7min at 400g, 4°C to remove excess dye. Cells were counted again and resuspended at 2x10⁶ cells/ml in cold RF10.

2.6.3 Setting up Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction

Mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as well as overnight rested sorted cDC2s, were resuspended at 2x10⁵ cells/ml in cold RF10. MLR was set up in 48 well plates (Corning)

with 250µl of CTV-stained naïve CD4 T cells at $2x10^6$ cells per ml (0.5 $x10^6$ T cells per well) and 250µl of the respective DCs (0.05 $x10^6$ Mo-DCs or cDC2s per well) per well. This gives a DC:T cell ratio of 1:10. Where indicated, the CD11b agonist, Leukadherin-1 (R&D systems, Biotechne) in concentrations from 1µM to 10µM, with a corresponding DMSO control (0.1-1%) or a CD11b blocking antibody (Biolegend) at 20µg/ml with a corresponding isotype control (Biolegend) also at 20µg/ml were added to the culture. MLRs were cultured at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 4 or 6 days. CD11b antagonists were replenished on Day 4, with a further 10µl of 1mg/ml stock solution of either CD11b blocking antibody or isotype control being added to respective culture dishes. CD11b and DMSO control were not replenished on Day 4, but only added to the culture on Day 0 due to the inhibitory effect of even low DMSO concentrations on cell proliferation.

2.7 ELISA

Supernatants of MLRs were collected on Day 6 of culture and frozen at -80°C for cytokine measurements using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). IL-10 and IFN-γ were measured using Human IL-10 ELISA MAX[™] Deluxe (Biolegend) and human IFN-γ ELISA MAX[™] Deluxe (Biolegend) kits, respectively, according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Briefly, capture antibodies against IL-10 and IFN- γ were coated overnight at 4°C onto COSTAR 96 well high-binding assay plates (Corning) at 50µl per well. Unbound capture antibody was washed off the following morning using PBS-T (PBS, 0.05% Tween-20) three times before blocking for 1h with the manufacturer's blocking solution. Plates were washed 3 times and 50µl of prepared stock solutions and sample dilutions were added to respective wells in duplicate. Plates were incubated for 2h on a shaker at RT for cytokine binding. After washing plates three times, 50µl of detection antibody was added to the plates and incubated a further 1h at RT on a shaker. Plates were washed three more times and 50µl of Avidin-HRP solution was added for 30min. For final 4 washes, plates were soaked in washing buffer for 30-60sec for each wash to reduce background signal. After the last washing step, 50µl of freshly mixed TMB substrate solution (components provided by the manufacturer) were added to each well and incubated in the dark. Once the characteristic blue colour appeared, after ca. 10-20min, the reaction was stopped by the addition of 50µl 10% Sulfuric Acid (H₂SO₄).

A Sunrise absorbance reader (Tecan) was used to measure absorbance at 450nm and 570nm, where the reading for A_{570} was subtracted from the reading for A_{450} .

55

Furthermore, background signal was removed by subtracting values measured in assay diluent-only negative control wells. Unknown cytokine concentrations were interpolated from a standard curve constructed using Graphpad Prism software and a defined series of 10 serial dilutions performed in duplicate, beginning with the top standard at 1000pg/ml and ending with a well without any top standard added to assay diluent (12 standards in total).

2.8 Microscopy

Microscopic imaging was used to validate cell blasting in MLRs and overall cell morphology as well as quantify cell clustering of different Mo-DC subtypes.

2.8.1 Quantification of Mo-DC clustering on glass bottom plates

To measure Mo-DC clustering a Leica DMi8 (Leica Microsystems) was used with a live cell chamber attachment at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were plated onto glass-bottom 24 well plates at a concentration of 200,000 cells per well in 1ml RF10 and kept at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Wells were then imaged 6h after plating to observe respective clustering behaviour. Up to 40 Bright field images of each well were taken at 10x magnification and stitched together to yield an overview of the whole well. Imaging acquisition software provided by Leica was used for all images acquired on this instrument.

To quantify clustering of Mo-DCs, a cellprofiler pipeline was designed with the help of Dr. Leandro Lemgruber (Imaging Technologist, Glasgow Imaging Facility), to identify both clusters of cells and single non-clustered cells respectively for measurement. An example of an image analysed by the pipeline can be found in Figure 2.2. Briefly, the origininal images were pre-processed to yield a high threshold black and white image showing cells as bright objects on a dark background (Step 2, using CellProfiler modules ColourToGrey, RescaleImage, ImageMath, EnhanceOrSuppressFeatures and Threshold). Each individual cell was then identified as an object, using parameters ranging between 30-40 pixels (ca. 18-24 μ m), which was based off repeated measurements of cells visualised (Step 3, IdentifyObjects). Then, to identify clusters of cells, cells which had one or more 'neighbours', which were defined as separate objects that were immediately adjacent to a cell, were identified (Step 4, MeasureObjectNeighbours). Clusters of cells were defined as cells that had neighbouring cells with touching borders. To enable measurement of these clusters, a threshold was applied to images containing just clusters and each cluster was

56



Figure 2.2 Visual representation of CellProfiler pipeline for cell clustering analysis

Analysis of sample image (mature Mo-DCs) with CellProfiler pipeline for cell clustering analysis, with different relevant steps shown to identify and quantify both clusters of cells as well as individual non-clustered cells. CellProfiler image processing modules utilised to yield respective stages can be found in cursive below each image.

identified as an object (Step 5, Threshold, IdentifyObjects). To detect single cells, that did not cluster together, the threshold image of clusters (Threshold ObjectsWithNeighbours) was overlaid as a mask onto the original threshold image (Threshold of original image), leaving only non-clustered cells. Then each nonclustered cell was identified as an object (Step 6, MaskImage, IdentifyObjects). After both cell clusters and single cells were identified as objects, measurements of object number, size and radius could be obtained (Step 7, MeasureImageAreaOccupied, MeasureObjectSizeShape) and compared between immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

2.9 Sample size estimation and power calculations

As very little is known about the expression levels of β_2 integrins, particularly in the active conformation, on human APCs, it was not possible to conduct a formal power calculation before beginning sample acquisition. It was therefore decided to utilise both a priori and compromise power calculations with Cohen's standard effect sizes (Cohen's *d*) (Cohen, 1992) initially and adapting these after 10 samples per group (healthy, active RA, remission) were collected to provide the preliminary data needed to estimate an appropriate effect size (Jones et al., 2003).

The null hypothesis for the clinical part of this thesis states that there is no difference in β_2 integrin expression or activation between RA patients (active or in remission) and healthy controls. The alternative hypothesis therefore states that there is a difference between these groups of people, with power calculations serving to avoid Type I (falsely accepting the null hypothesis) or Type II (incorrectly rejecting the null hypothesis) statistical errors. For all power calculations and sample size estimation Gpower 3.1 was used.

For a priori (Test family: F tests), a one-way ANOVA, fixed effects was used with varying levels of effect sizes (large -0.4, medium -0.25, small -0.1, Cohen's *d*) and the lowest acceptable power (0.8) was compared to 0.95, which should be aimed for. Results of these calculations can be found in Table 2.4. For example, when acquiring 31 samples per group, medium effects would be detected correctly in 80% of cases.

For power calculations using compromise (Test family: F tests), the same statistical test was used with the difference that power was calculated from a respective sample size of 20 per group (total sample size 60), 25 per group (total sample size 75) and

32 per group (total sample size 96). Results of these calculations can be found in Table 2.5. For example, with a sample size of 25 samples per group, large effects could be correctly identified with 91% probability, neither medium nor small effects could be detected at high enough power to be reliable. Overall both a priori and compromise power calculations suggest that it would be impossible to detect small effects in the context of this thesis.

A priori	POWER 0.95		POWER 0.8	
Effect size	Total	Samples	Total	Samples
	samples	per group	samples	per group
LARGE:	102	34	39	13
0.4				
MEDIUM:	252	84	93	31
0.25				
SMALL:	1548	516	570	190
0.1				

 Table 2.4 A priori sample size calculation

Compromise	Power if total sample size=		
Effect size	60	75	96
LARGE:	0.88	0.91	0.95
0.4			
MEDIUM:	0.73	0.76	0.81
0.25			
SMALL:	0.55	0.56	0.58
0.1			

Table 2.5 Compromise power calculation

However, there is some criticism of using Cohen's small, medium and large effect sizes, as they are based on a normally distributed population and therefore might not fit all experiments (Rice and Harris, 2005). It is therefore recommended to calculate experiment-specific effect sizes using Cohen's *d* from means and standard deviation (SD) of relevant preliminary data.

The general formula states that (Ferguson, 2016):

$$Effect \ size = \frac{Mean \ of \ group \ A - Mean \ of \ group \ B}{SD \ of \ both \ data \ sets}$$

SD of both data sets =
$$\sqrt{\frac{SD_AA^2 + SD_BA^2}{2}}$$

However, as three groups are compared to each other instead of two, effect sizes have to be calculated taking SDs and means of all three groups into account. Therefore, g*power was utilised to calculate respective effect sizes from the means of 10 samples per group. SD pooled from all three groups was calculated by the programme by providing the square root of the mean squared residual value (MS residual), which describes the mean difference between estimated sample mean and sample (Dekking, 2005).

2.10 Statistical Analysis

Data is shown as mean +SD if not specified otherwise. For all other statistical analysis Graphpad Prism software was used. Student's *t*-tests were used to compare two groups, while one-way ANOVA was utilised to compare single variables between 2 or more groups. In this case, Tukey's multiple comparison test was used to determine where differences between groups specifically occurred. P-values shown are as follows *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.001.

Chapter 3 Development and optimisation of a flow cytometry panel to quantify active β_2 integrins

3.1 Introduction

The heterodimeric β_2 integrin receptors are exclusively found on leukocytes, where they play important role in cell adhesion and migration. However, evidence is growing that β_2 integrins can also regulate immune functions specifically in DCs (Schittenhelm et al., 2017) It was, therefore, hypothesised that dysregulation of β_2 integrin immune cell signalling is associated with the pro-inflammatory autoimmune environment prevalent in inflammatory diseases such as RA. To this end, the aim was to establish if total and active forms of β_2 integrins can be assessed in the same sample, and to develop a flow cytometry panel that will enable us to measure these β_2 integrin conformations on a range of APCs.

3.1.1 The β_2 integrins of interest

Receptors of the β_2 integrin family consist of a shared β_2 subunit (CD18) that noncovalently pairs with one of four α-subunits (CD11a, CD11b, CD11c or CD11d). These integrins are expressed on the cell surface and possess two main signalling modes. In inside-out signalling, cell internal signals drive activation or avidity of integrins on the cell surface to interact with the cells' immediate environment. On the other hand, outside-in signalling is triggered when an integrin encounters its ligand, which causes integrin activation and downstream signalling processes within the cell (Hogg et al., 2011). Importantly, both inside-out and outside-in β_2 integrin signalling is therefore modulated by conformational changes, which can increase ligand affinity between 4000 to 6000-fold between the inactive low affinity and active high-affinity state (Li et al., 2017). Considering the importance of these conformational changes for integrin signalling and function in immune cells, it is key to not only assess expression of a subunit but also consider its activation state. While published literature extensively explores differential expression of total β_2 integrins on various cell types (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.2, Table 1.1), a comprehensive overview of β_2 integrin activation status on different immune cell types has not been attained to date.

To address this knowledge gap, the aim was to quantify not only expression of the respective subunit (*total* β_2 integrin expression) but also the proportion of receptors present in the active high-affinity conformation (*active* β_2 integrin expression). This could provide important insights into the relationship between surface expression and activation, which are not well understood so far. CD11a, CD11b and the pairing subunit CD18 all have commercially available antibodies against binding sites that are exposed regardless of β_2 integrin conformational state (*total* β_2 integrin antibodies) and binding

sites that only become exposed when the β_2 integrin is extended into its high affinity conformation (*active* β_2 integrin antibodies) (Diamond and Springer, 1993). Comparing the α -subunits CD11a and CD11b is especially interesting, as they share ligands and are highly homologous, but have been described to have different functions (Ding et al., 1999). Measuring CD18 on the other hand yields slightly different information. As it pairs with both CD11a and CD11b, CD18 provides valuable information on how the different subunits can potentially compensate for each other if changes in one should occur. While an activation-specific antibody is commercially available for CD11c (Sadhu et al., 2007), this marker was not included as total CD11c was used to delineate APCs in the gating strategy (see Figure 2.1). CD11d, which is the most recent β_2 integrin subunit identified (Van der Vieren et al., 1995) and the least well-described, does not have flow cytometry antibodies targeted at either total CD11d or an activationspecific epitope, so it was not included. While CD11c and CD11d could not be assessed directly, CD18 might give us some information about these subunits indirectly.

3.1.2 Cells of interest

As my main focus was to investigate the roles of β_2 integrins in immune regulation, specifically in DCs, different subtypes of these professional APCs present in peripheral blood were of interest. This included both conventional DC subtypes, differing in the presence of CD141⁺ staining (cDC1) and CD1c⁺ staining (cDC2). Additionally, pDCs were considered. However, as there is some evidence that respective integrin expression or activation might contribute to the differing antigen-presenting capabilities between cell types (Sándor et al., 2016b), non-professional APCs were also included for comparison, such as classical and non-classical monocytes. Lastly, as the scope of my work was to investigate the role of β_2 integrins on myeloid APCs, lymphocytes such as T cells, B Cells and NK cells were not considered.

To conclude, expression of total and active forms of the β_2 integrin α -subunits CD11a and CD11b, as well as their common paired β -subunit CD18, were assessed in MO-DCs (*in vitro* work) and APCs present in peripheral blood (*ex vivo* work).

3.1.3 Application of the β_2 integrin flow cytometry panel

As I was interested in exploring β_2 integrin expression and conformation not only in peripheral blood of healthy controls, but in the context of autoimmune disease, further considerations had to be taken into account when designing the active β_2 integrin

panel. While RA is a systemic disease, many symptoms are joint-specific so it was important to test if synovial tissue could also be assessed. Developing a panel that can be dynamically used between different tissues is also important for potential future use in different disease contexts. To this end, I wanted to make sure this panel could also be used to measure total and active β_2 integrin expression in cells isolated not only from peripheral blood, but also from synovial fluid and synovial tissue samples. CD45 was therefore included as a marker into the panel to be able to distinguish between CD45^{neg} stromal cells present in high numbers in these tissues and the CD45⁺ APCs of interest. Furthermore, application of the panel to fresh and frozen samples alike would be tested, to make future use of the panel on samples stored in biobanks or other repositories possible.

3.2 Aims

To explore the potential roles β_2 integrins play in immune regulation on DCs, expression of both total and active forms of specific β_2 integrin subunits needed to be quantified in the different types of DCs. In this chapter, I aimed to develop and optimise a flow cytometry panel that will enable us to do this.

The specific aims of this chapter were:

- 1. To optimise staining conditions for total and active β_2 integrins in terms of staining temperature and time.
- 2. To validate an appropriate positive control for β_2 integrin staining.
- 3. To ensure concurrent staining of total and active β_2 integrins was not hindered by signal loss due to steric hindrance or FRET.
- 4. To titrate antibodies for optimal signal and develop a gating strategy to distinguish a range of APCs present in PB.
- 5. To assess potential future applications of the panel on both biobanked samples and synovial tissue.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Temperature sensitivity of active integrin staining

Published literature suggests that integrin-mediated adhesion is highly temperaturesensitive (Cai and Wright, 1995; Rico et al., 2010), with little to no adhesion to ligand being observed at 4°C or even at RT. As integrin activation confers functionality, including adhesive capability of cells, it was hypothesised that integrins do not expose their activation-specific epitope under cold conditions, which hinders the binding of antibodies to active integrins. Differences between staining for an activation-specific epitope cold or at 37°C have been shown previously with the CD11b/CD18 activating clone KIM127 (Andrew et al., 1993). Different approaches concerning this limitation can be found in the literature, including bringing cells to 37°C for 30min before staining at 4°C (Kooyk et al., 1999) or staining separately for activation-specific epitopes at 37°C for a reduced time period of 10min (Shamri et al., 2005).

To test whether temperature influences the staining of active integrins, binding of antibodies to active and total CD11a, CD11b and CD18 in the fridge at 5.6°C and in the incubator at 37°C was compared (Figure 3.1). Staining of active CD11a was slightly higher at 37°C than at 5.6°C (Figure 3.1A), a difference which was significant (Figure 3.1B). Staining of active CD11b was also consistently higher at 37°C, which was especially true for the SSC-high (SSChi) population. However, this result was not significant due to the comparably small sample size with higher variation. Lastly, active CD18 staining at 37°C yielded a clear staining with distinct SSChi and SSC-low (SSClo) populations. This result was also not significant. Staining of total CD11a is also higher at 37°C compared to 5.6°C, but the result was not significant. Both total CD11b and total CD18 showed significantly higher staining at 37°C than at 5.6°C. Overall, SSC-hi and SCC-lo populations were the same between samples stained at 37°C.

The aim was to develop a flow cytometry panel that detects both total and active expression to investigate the physiological relevance of β_2 integrins for disease. Being able to detect and measure active CD18 is a critical part of this aim, which is why staining of all samples at 37°C was deemed necessary. This is however associated with several caveats, such as increased cell death and an increase in non-specific

65



Figure 3.1: Staining of active β_2 integrin subunits is temperature sensitive.

Positive staining for the respective antibodies against active and total CD11a, CD11b and CD18 was assessed. Healthy unstimulated PBMCs were stained for 30min at 5.6°C or 37°C. A. Representative plots show positive staining for active and total β_2 integrins stained at 37°C (shown in red) overlaid onto cells stained at 5.6°C (shown in blue). Only live single cells negative for CD3, CD19, CD20 and CD56 are shown. B. Pooled data of three independent donors, stained on three separate days. Paired t-test, two-tailed.

staining, making the antibody staining less specific and reliable. Comparing the higher staining of total β_2 integrins at 37°C, it is possible that this is due to non-specific antibody binding, even though SSChi and SSClo populations have not changed in shape but merely in the brightness of signal recorded. Alternative methods were briefly explored, such as consecutive staining of total and active integrins at different temperatures. However, continuous integrin trafficking between cytoplasm and cell surface is a phenomenon widely described in the literature (Bretscher, 1992; Fabbri et al., 1999). To understand the relationship between β_2 integrin expression and activation, it is therefore essential that total and active forms are measured on the same cells in the same sample at the same time.

To summarise, staining of active β_2 integrins is highly temperature-sensitive. Therefore, staining samples at 37°C is necessary to detect the active integrin conformation, especially for active CD18. However, higher staining of total β_2 integrins at 37°C means that an increase in non-specific antibody binding could occur. A reduction in staining time was therefore tested to potentially recoup this effect.

3.3.2 Time sensitivity of active integrin staining

After it became apparent that β_2 integrin staining would have to be performed at 37°C, it is likely that molecular processes involved in the staining process, such as an antibody binding to its specific target, would occur faster than in cold temperatures. To minimise the risk of non-specific staining, it was hypothesised that staining time could be reduced from 30min.

Testing this hypothesis on CD11a showed promising results, as the positive population remained stable when comparing only 5min of staining to 30min of staining. The isotype control showed reduced non-specific specific binding (A). Approximately 10% of cells gained CD11a active staining in the 25min between experimental conditions. On the other hand, signal in isotype control was almost absent after 5min of staining time (1.48%), but rose to 8.39% after 30min, although the non-specific staining did not seem to overlap with cell populations stained with the CD11a active antibody. It was therefore considered reducing the staining time to 5min, with the signal lost being the caveat to reduce risks of non-specific staining. However, when staining for active CD11b for 5min or for 30min, clear separation of positive and negative population only became visible at 30min of staining (Figure 3.2B, top).

67



Figure 3.2 The effect of staining time on active β_2 integrin staining.

Healthy unstimulated PBMCs were stained for either 5min or 30min at 37°C. Cells were either stained with active CD11a (A), active CD11b (B, top) or active CD18 (B, bottom) or matched isotype controls. In the case of active CD11a and CD11b the same sample was stained for the respective times, while active CD18 was stained on two different samples. Experiment was done once for each β_2 integrin subunit. In B, Isotype control staining (shown in black) is overlaid over β_2 integrin staining (shown in blue).

Interestingly, while proportion of positive cells only increased by 5.9% when comparing 5min to 30min of staining time, cells gained signal brightness as staining time

increased. Furthermore, isotype control staining (shown in black) did not become more positive with increased staining time. A similar trend can be observed in active CD18 (Figure 3.2B, bottom), where only 0.31% of cells are positive for active CD18. After 30min of staining, not only signal brightness has increased but the percentage of active CD18⁺ cells has risen to 16.3%. Similar to CD11b, non-specific binding in isotype control (shown in black) does not seem to increase with a longer staining time of 30min. As no clear positive populations could be distinguished in either active CD11b or active CD18 stain, the staining time experiments were not repeated further.

Clearly, β_2 integrin subunits differ in their optimal staining time. Even though β_2 integrin staining at 37°C risks increased levels of non-specific binding, this is not the case for every sample. From the different samples considered in **Figure 3.2**, this was only a minor problem in active CD11a, where non-specific binding was very low compared to active CD11a specific staining. For active CD11b and active CD18, non-specific staining could not be observed at all. Based on these results, all staining was performed for 30min so all active β_2 integrins could be detected. To ensure staining was not due to temperature-mediated non-specific binding isotype controls for the three active integrin antibodies were included in all future experiments.

3.3.3 Validating a suitable positive control

Before establishing if both total and active β_2 integrin antibodies can be used in the same panel, it first had to be ensured active β_2 integrins could be detected reliably and a suitable positive control could be validated. The positive control therefore requires high levels of active integrins. The three main ways to increase integrin activation are through monoclonal antibodies, which stabilise or induce the active conformation of the integrin subunit targeted (Byron et al., 2009), provision of divalent cations such as Manganese (Mn²⁺) (Dransfield et al., 1992), and stimulation with phorbol esters (Kucik et al., 1996). Adding further antibodies, even if not fluorescently-labelled, was immediately eliminated due to likely binding site overlap. While the addition of Mn²⁺ has been described to increase activation specifically of CD11b, the positive effect of the divalent cation on β_2 integrins can be diminished by the presence of Calcium (Ca²⁺) (Dransfield et al., 1992). While care was taken to only use Ca²⁺-free media, the potential variability of Mn²⁺ as a positive control made it a less viable option. Therefore, the addition of phorbol esters in the form of PMA to stimulate β_2 integrin activation on cell surfaces was explored as a positive control.

Phorbol esters, specifically PMA, have been described to increase integrin-mediated adhesion via protein kinase C activation (Danilov and Juliano, 1989). When considering β_2 integrins specifically, total expression levels of CD11a were unaffected by PMA stimulation, but adhesion to ICAM-1 and mobility of the subunit on the cell surface were increased (Kucik et al., 1996). This suggests that an increase in active CD11a, rather than total, contributed to this effect, making PMA a feasible possibility as a positive control. 100ng/ml PMA was added to staining buffer with active β_2 integrin antibodies, stained for 30min at 37°C and compared to -PMA (Figure 3.3). In contrast to evidence in the literature, the effect of PMA on CD11a was the least pronounced, with PMA only inducing a small shift in active CD11a signal (Figure 3.3A and B). Both CD11b and CD18, on the other hand, show pronounced increase in activation after 30min of PMA stimulation, but result was not significant for any of the β_2 integrin subunits of interest (Figure 3.3B). However, increase in activation upon PMA stimulation is especially apparent in CD18, which in this donor shows little active staining in the absence of stimulation with PMA, an observation that fits with the literature describing that most β_2 integrins are inactive on the cell surface in the steady state (Li et al., 2017).

To conclude, PMA stimulation occurring concurrently with antibodies staining induced a visible shift in active CD11b and CD18 in the dot plot and histogram overlays. This result was not significant due to the variability of the response induced, but the marked shift visible in the histogram suggests that PMA stimulation is a viable positive control for activation-specific integrin staining. Although the shift observed in CD11a was very small, this could be due to the high levels of activated CD11a already detected on cell surfaces without stimulation, possibly leaving little room for further increase. This possibility could be assessed further when staining both active and total CD11a on the same cells, as the % of CD11a total expressing cells expressing CD11a active could be determined.





A healthy PBMC sample was stained for active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 respectively without or in the presence of 100ng/ml of PMA. A. Overlays of PMA-stimulated and unstimulated samples. Unstimulated cells are shown in red, PMA-stimulated cells are shown in blue, representative plots of both SSC-A (top) and histogram overlays (bottom) are shown for each active β_2 integrin subunit. Plots are representative of 3 donor samples in 3 independent experiments for each β_2 integrin subunit. B. Difference in MFI between 3 donor samples per β_2 integrin subunit, paired students t test.

3.3.4 Assessing steric hindrance and FRET

After ensuring activation-specific β_2 integrin staining can be detected and controlled for, it was then assessed if total and active integrin expression could be measured in the same sample. The challenge with this set-up is that an active subunit is the target of two antibodies simultaneously binding in close proximity. Furthermore, as α (CD11a or CD11b) and β (CD18) subunits are non-covalently associated with each other, up to four mAbs (two for determining total expression of the α and β subunits, and two for determining the active forms of these subunits) are vying for their epitope on the same adhesion protein complex. This could lead to loss or gain of signal either due to steric hindrance or fluoresecent resonance energy transfer (FRET), respectively, so both had to be kept in mind when designing and optimising this panel.

Steric hindrance describes the physical inaccessibility of antibody-binding sites due to another space-filling molecule, in this case the corresponding antibody, obstructing access to the binding site (Rubenstein and Leute, 1976). This would potentially lead to loss especially of the total signal, as activation-specific antibodies primarily bind in the β_2 integrin binding site only accessible when the respective integrin is in its extended form. This extension process rapidly increases binding affinity to its ligand, potentially making it a much easier target for activation-specific antibodies compared to total antibodies binding in an area which does not increase in binding affinity (Hughes and Pfaff, 1998) To assess if the respective total and active antibodies were susceptible to steric hindrance, double staining of both total and active integrin subunits was performed and compared to the respective single stained sample (for examples of CD11a, CD11b and CD18 see Figure 3.4A, B and C respectively). Signal loss as a percentage of the single stain was recorded in three separate healthy control samples, comparing both -PMA and +PMA samples to ensure that increased activation did not increase signal loss (see Figure 3.4D). A significant change in percentage of cells expressing either total or active β_2 integrin marker cannot be observed in any of the markers when stained simultaneously for active and total markers of CD11a, CD11b or CD18. Overall any differences in % seem to be between ± 0.1 -4.5%, with the highest recorded increase of signal in CD18 active at +11%. However, as this was only observed in one sample out of three and steric hindrance would not cause an increase in signal, this was not further followed up. In addition to % of cells expressing a marker after double staining, the staining brightness in the form of MFI was also considered (Figure 3.5). This is especially important as steric hindrance might occur on a % of cell surface receptors rather than a % of cells. Figure 3.5A shows the single stains of total and active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 compared to their respective signal brightness in the double stained sample. While there is no visible signal loss in any of the active β_2 integrins, nor CD11b and CD18 total, CD11a total is higher in the single stain when comparing it to its respective double stain. This loss of signal brightness when staining total and active CD11a together is statistically significant in non-stimulated cells (Figure 3.5B), with cells stained with both antibodies having a 50-60% lower MFI than cells stained with the CD11a total antibody alone. Interestingly, this effect, while visible, is not statistically significant in the PMA-stimulated cells. This is puzzling as one could expect that higher activation due to PMA would increase steric hindrance and therefore CD11a total signal loss. However, when keeping in mind that PMA was less able to stimulate CD11a active compared to active CD11b and CD18, this could also point towards maximum activation being achieved even without PMA. In this case, one could speculate that PMA increased cycling rates of CD11a, which might in turn result in less CD11a total signal loss because inactive CD11a subunits are returned to the cell surface at a higher rate. It is also surprising that the loss of total CD11a signal does not affect active CD11a signal, as one might suspect. However, despite loss of signal, total CD11a can still be detected at high levels compared to an unstained control, suggesting detection of total CD11a on cells is still possible.



Figure 3.4 Staining for total and active β_2 integrins simultaneously does not lead to signal loss in % due to steric hindrance

PBMCs were stained with either total (single stain total), active (single stain active) or both total and active β_2 integrin antibodies (double stain). Representative plots show unstimulated CD11a (A), CD11b (B) and CD18 (C). D. Loss of signal was calculated by subtracting % of respective double stain from % of single stain with (+PMA) or without (-PMA) PMA stimulation. N=3.



Figure 3.5 Loss of signal brightness due to steric hindrance

Data set shown is the same as in Figure 3.4, but in regards to signal brightness measured in MFI rather than %positive expression. A. Representative histograms show single total stain (shown in blue, top) and single active stain (shown in yellow, bottom) in comparison to respective double stain (shown in green). Only unstimulated samples are shown. B. Loss of signal brightness was calculated by subtracting MFI of respective double stain from MFI of single stain with (+PMA) or without (-PMA) PMA stimulation. Paired student's t test comparing single and double stain, N=3.

FRET describes the non-radioactive energy transfer between two fluorochromes where the emission energy of one corresponds with the activation energy of the other, resulting in an increase of signal (Horváth et al., 2005). While this can be exploited for flow cytometry and microscopy purposes, in this case FRET pairs were deliberately avoided when choosing which colours to use for the respective active and total antibody fluorochromes. As published literature has shown that the distance between associated CD11b and CD18 subunit is only 8.2nm (Fan et al., 2019) and FRET can occur over short distances from 1-10nm (or 10-100Å), care was also taken that α -subunit antibodies were not FRET pairs.

Overall, no significant signal loss occurs in percentage of cells expressing one of the β_2 integrin subunits due to steric hindrance. However, when considering loss in signal brightness, CD11a total showed considerable significant signal loss, which was not shared by any of the other total or active subunits. This is a valid concern, as loosing over half of the signal brightness of CD11a total suggest that signal loss due to steric hindrance occurs frequently. On the other hand, the high consistency in % of MFI signal lost between repeats using different healthy donors suggests that comparing a double-stained (i.e. total/active CD11a) sample to another double-stained sample would still give accurate results. Especially considering the absence of signal loss in the other markers considered, the ability to still record total CD11a expression levels although at lower levels and the importance of CD11a for this project, it was decided to proceed with simultaneous staining for active and total subunits of CD11b, CD18 and indeed CD11a. However, loss of CD11a total brightness due to steric hindrance has to be kept in mind when designing experimental controls.

3.3.5 Active integrin panel: Titration of antibodies

After having established that total and active β_2 integrins can indeed be stained together, although with some signal loss of CD11a total, I then turned to the development of an active integrin panel. Before the panel could be used to stain a healthy human sample, all antibodies had to be titrated for optimal performance on freshly isolated PBMCs (Hulspas et al., 2009).

Multicolour dot plots of each titration were compared to a histogram overlay of all four titrations. In addition, a titration curve was attained by calculating a stain index (SI) for each titration and plotting them against the increasing dilutions of antibodies. All information was taken into account when selecting the appropriate titration. Some

cases warranted choosing the titration with a clearly delineated positive population over the highest SI value. As an example, the dot plot, histogram overlay and titration curve of CD11b total are presented in Figure 3.6. Figure 3.6A shows a representative multi-colour flow plot and histogram of positive CD11b total staining (1:100 dilution), on healthy PBMCs where debris has been gated out. Histograms of different dilutions, 1:10, 1:50, 1:100, 1:200, were overlaid and signal brightness as well as cell number stained positive were considered (Figure 3.6B). 1:10 dilution showed the lowest signal both in brightness and cell numbers stained, followed by 1:50. 1:200 shows highest staining brightness, but 1:100 shows the largest number of cells stained positive for total CD11b. Then the respective SI values were calculated using the mean of the positive and negative populations as well as the SD of the negative population (Figure 3.6). SI values remained stable before falling off at 1:200, signalling that staining efficiency is compromised at this titration. Manufacturer's recommendation suggested 1:10 dilution, however 1:100 dilution shows most stained cells in overlay and highest stain index before signal intensity falls off. The 1:100 dilution was chosen for the CD11b total antibody. Optimal titrations for all antibodies can be found in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.6: Example titration procedure using CD11b total antibody.

Healthy unstimulated donor PBMCs were stained with different dilutions of CD11b total antibody for 30min. **A.** Example of multi-colour flow plot for CD11b at 1:100 titration, clearly identifying positive (CD11b+) and negative (-ve) population. **B**. Histogram overlay of four titrations: 1:10, 1:50, 1:100 and 1:200

C. Titration curve of CD11b total antibody. The stain index (SI) was calculated using this formula:

$$SI = \frac{\mu_{pos} - \mu_{neg}}{2 \times \sigma_{neg}}$$

Where μ_{pos} and μ_{neg} are the mean of the +/-ve population respectively and σ_{neg} is the standard deviation of the –ve population based data spread in flowjo. N=1, although further repeats were necessary in some cases to settle on a final suitable concentration.

Antigen	Cione	Fluorochrome	Company	Optimal Titration	Final concentration
CD18 total	6.7	BV421	BD Biosciences	1:20	10µg/ml
CD18 active	m24	AF 488	BioLegend	1:10	10µg/ml
CD11a total	HI111	PE	BioLegend	1:50	2µg/ml
CD11a active	MEM-83	AF 700	Novus bio	1:100	9.5µg/ml
CD11b total	ICRF44	BV785	BioLegend	1:100	1.5µg/ml
CD11b active	CBRM1/5	APC	BioLegend	1:50	4µg/ml
CD11c	BU15	APC-Cy7	BioLegend	1:100	4µg/ml
CD141	M80	PE-Cy7	BioLegend	1:50	4µg/ml
HLA-DR	G46-6	BV480	BD Biosciences	1:50	2µg/ml
CD1c	L161	PerCP-Cy5.5	BioLegend	1:100	2µg/ml
CD14	M5E2	BUV737	BD Biosciences	1:50	1µg/ml
CD16	3G8	PE-Dazzle594	BioLegend	1:200	0.25µg/ml
CD45	HI30	BUV395	BD Biosciences	1:50	2µg/ml
Lineage: CD19 CD20 CD56 CD3 AADvanced dead cell	SJ25C1 2H7 CMSSB SK7	PE-Cy5.5	eBioscience eBioscience eBioscience eBioscience Thermo. Scientific	1:50 1:50 1:100 1:100 1:500	0.1µg/ml 0.3µg/ml 0.06µg/ml 5µg/ml 1µM

Table 3.1 Antibodies used in active β_2 integrin flow cytometry panel

3.3.6 Gating strategy

After determining optimal antibody titration for this application, a gating strategy was devised to distinguish the different cells of interest (cDC1, cDC2 and pDCs, CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes) and measure β_2 integrin expression and activation on their respective surfaces.

The full gating strategy is presented in Figure 3.7, after a panel designed by Dr. David McDonald, Experimental Scientific Offier, Flow Cytometry Core Facility, Newcastle University. Markers chosen were based on a panel that had been successfully used to distinguish DCs in the lab before (Wood et al., 2019). First, cell debris and doublet cells were excluded, as well as all dead cells and lineage⁺ cells. Lineage markers included CD3, to exclude both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as CD19 and CD20, to exclude B cells, and lastly CD56, to exclude NK cells. Then all CD45⁺ cells are considered in respect to their HLA-DR and CD11c expression, identifying the HLA-DR high but CD11c^{neg} pDCs and a HLA-DR⁺CD11c⁺ APC population. These APCs were split up into classical and non-classical monocytes, using high CD14 and high CD16 expression respectively. Lastly CD14^{neg}CD16^{neg} cells were assessed according to their CD1c and CD141 expression, with cDC1 cells expressing high CD141 and cDC2 cells expressing high levels of CD1c.



Figure 3.7 Gating strategy for APCs in active β_2 integrin panel

Demonstration of gating strategy on healthy control, to distinguish between different cell types capable of presenting antigen, including CD14+ monocytes, CD16+ monocytes, cDC1 DCs, cDC2 DCs and pDCs. Representative plots are from a healthy control PBMC sample. This gating strategy was used throughout Chapter 5 for PBMC, SF and ST analysis.

3.3.7 Experimental controls

Experimental controls were included to assess validity of each experiment. In addition to a completely unstained control, a 'negative' control where no β_2 integrin subunits were stained for was included to yield a baseline for integrin expression on the background of the lineage markers. As detailed above (Figure 3.3), a +PMA positive control was included. Lastly, an isotype control was included, where total β_2 integrin antibodies were stained as normal and individual active integrin antibodies were replaced by matched isotype controls with the fluorochromes and concentrations corresponding to the active β_2 integrin antibodies. This control also doubles a single stain reference for CD11a total, enabling us to validate any future results with the total and active β_2 integrin subunits in the same sample at the same time, it can still provide a frame of reference how much signal was lost to steric hindrance and if this affects any results observed in the samples stained with both active and total CD11a simultaneously.

An example of all experimental controls in a healthy control sample can be seen in Figure 3.8. The negative control is void of all total and active integrin staining (2nd row),

the isotype control is void of active integrin staining only (3rd row), and the +PMA control (4th row) shows increased staining compared to staining for all β_2 integrin antibodies in the absence of stimulants (experimental condition, 1st row). Gates shown are based on the experimental condition (1st row) to demonstrate respective differences in β_2 integrin staining visible between different controls and experimental condition.





Total and active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 are shown in the experimental condition (1st row), as well was three appropriate experimental controls below it. The negative control (2nd row) was stained with the lineage markers but without any total or active β_2 integrin antibodies. The isotype control (3rd row) was stained with the lineage markers and total β_2 integrin antibodies, but active β_2 integrin antibodies were replaced with matched isotype controls. The positive control (4th row) was stained exactly as the experimental condition but in the presence of 100ng/ml PMA. Representative plots from a single healthy control sample are shown, gates shown were drawn around experimental condition and copied to other control to demonstrate their differences.

3.3.8 Potential of using active integrin panel on human tissue

As this panel was developed for the investigation of β_2 integrin expression and activation states on APCs in the context of the autoimmune disorder RA, the joint-specific nature of the disease had to be taken into account. To this end, it was tested if the panel could not only assess β_2 integrins on cells isolated from PB and SF, but also on cells that were present in ST. As ST requires both mechanical and enzymatic digestion to yield a single cell suspension viable for flow cytometry analysis, it was therefore important to test if β_2 integrins would be cleaved or otherwise altered during the lengthy tissue digestion protocol.

To test for this eventuality without utilising precious synovial tissue samples, PBMCs were isolated and treated with the enzymatic digestion protocol optimised for ST (Wood et al., 2019). While ST is subjected to the enzymatic digestion for up to three cycles a 45min, PBMCs were only subjected to one round of digestion with the same concentrations used for ST of 15μ g/ml Liberase and 30μ g/ml DNAse for 45min at 37° C, as they already were in the single cell suspension the digestion is supposed to achieve. PB and ST cell exposure to the digestion enzymes is, therefore, assumed to be similar. Figure 3.9 shows the result of this investigation, with an example overlay of β_2 integrin staining in undigested and digested PB samples (Figure 3.9A). No significant signal loss occurs in any of the markers but CD18 total (Figure 3.9B), which is significantly lower in digested sample compared to undigested sample. On the other hand, CD18 active signal is not affected by the digestion process. CD11a total surprisingly showed an increase in the marker in one experiment, but this appears to be an outlier.

Overall, enzymatically digesting PBMCs does not cleave the majority of our β_2 integrins of interest off cell surfaces and staining of all subunits considered stays viable. The exception to this is CD18 total which is significantly reduced in digested samples. However, this is not mirrored in signal loss of total CD11a or CD11b, suggesting that this is a direct effect on CD18. It is however also possible that digestion enzymes preferentially cleave CD11c or CD11d, which would in turn cause the loss of CD18 total staining. Lastly the increase in sample processing time due the digestion step might have a different effect on CD18, or indeed CD11c and CD11d, than on CD11a and CD11b. If using this flow cytometry panel on ST samples, direct comparison to blood or other tissues would have to be exercised with caution due to the potential effect of the digestion process on CD18 total. As SF samples do not undergo a digestion protocol, it can therefore be compared directly to PB in a more straightforward way.



Figure 3.9: Effect of ST digestion protocol on total and active β_2 integrin staining

Healthy PBMCs were either kept on ice or subjected to a 45min digestion protocol in a shaking incubator at 37°C in the presence of 15µg/ml Liberase and 30µg/ml DNAse. After washing digestion enzymes off, undigested and digested samples were stained with the full active β_2 integrin panel. Cells shown are LIN-CD45+HLA-DR+. **A.** A representative overlay of undigested (shown in red), digested (shown in purple) and unstained control cells (shown in grey) in respect to their total and active β_2 integrin expression. Statistics shown were determined between undigested and digested sample MFI signals using a paired student's t test. N=3. **B.** Difference between MFI values of undigested and digested samples. A negative value signifies a loss of signal; a positive value indicates that signal has been increased due to digestion process.

3.3.9 The effect of sample preservation on active integrin staining

Circumstances of clinical research, including use of biobank samples and short-term unavailability of flow cytometers due to technical problems, sometimes make the use of sample preservation for later analysis of samples necessary. As the β_2 integrin activation panel was meant to be as widely usable as possible for potential future applications, the effect of common sample preservation methods on integrin expression and activation was assessed. These were (i) paraformaldehyde (PFA) fixation of stained samples; and (ii) freezing of PBMCs. This was of importance as available literature suggested that integrin expression and especially activation, which can occur on very short timeframes, can be heavily influenced by the medium surrounding it, such as in the case of cation availability (Zhang and Chen, 2012).

First, the effect of PFA-fixation, which is a widely accepted method for preserving flow cytometry samples for up to a week after staining (Lanier and Warner, 1981), on active β_2 integrin expression was assessed. For this, PB samples were stained with total and active β_2 integrin antibodies (CD11a, CD11b and CD18) and split in two, one to be analysed immediately and one to be fixed using 1% PFA, which was not washed off before flow cytometry analysis 6 days later. As visible in Figure 3.10, very little signal brightness was lost after 6 days of PFA-fixation. Neither total nor active CD11a, CD11b or CD18 showed any significant loss in signal brightness. Interestingly, CD18 total increased in signal brightness in two out of three repeats, although the increase was not significant. It is not likely that this increase is due to an increase in autofluorescence due to PFA fixation (Stewart et al., 2007), as such autofluorescence would affect colours in the green/yellow laser range, such as FITC, and not BV421, which is the fluorochrome used for CD18 total. Interestingly, active CD18 shows no significant difference in signal brightness between freshly stained and fixed samples, but all three repeats show variation in the percentage of cells positive at a specific brightness, as visible in the larger proportion of fixed cells high in active CD18 expression (Figure 3.10A). This change in proportions is however not mirrored in active CD18 MFI values, which could suggest some cell populations might be more prone to being gated out as debris after the fixing process.



Figure 3.10: Effect of paraformaldehyde-fixation on total and active β₂ integrin staining

A healthy control PBMC sample was stained with the full active β_2 integrin panel and split into two, one to be acquired immediately, while the other was fixed using 1% PFA and acquired 6 days later. Cells shown are LIN-CD45+HLA-DR+. **A.** A representative overlay of freshly stained (shown in red), paraformaldehyde-fixed (shown in blue) and unstained control cells (shown in grey) in respect to their total and active β_2 integrin expression. **B.** Difference between MFI values of fixed and unfixed samples. A negative value signifies a loss of signal; a positive value indicates that signal has been increased due to the fixation process. Statistics shown were determined between freshly stained and PFA-fixed MFI signals using a paired student's t test. N=3.

In conclusion, fixation does not alter β_2 integrin staining in any of the active or total β_2 integrins, CD11a, CD11b or CD18. However, reasons for the high CD18 total staining in two out of three samples could not be completely elucidated. It was therefore decided to acquire samples immediately after staining and only rely on fixing samples in the event of an unusable flow cytometer. In this eventuality, measurements for total CD18 staining would not be included in the analysis to avoid skewing of the data.

While I had access to fresh samples from Rheumatology clinics and healthy donors alike, samples collected for disease-specific biobanks are frequently stored in frozen form. To explore the feasibility of using such biobank samples for active integrin staining, PBMCs were isolated and stained a proportion of cells immediately, whereas the rest was frozen for 2-4 weeks and stained after thawing.

Results of this enquiry can be seen in Figure 3.11, with an overlay of a healthy control sample that was either freshly stained or freeze-thawed before staining. Overall, there is no significant increase or decrease in any of the β_2 integrin subunit signals when comparing freshly stained to thawed samples (Figure 3.11B). However, when looking at the histogram overlays (Figure 3.11A), freshly stained and freeze-thawed samples do not overlap neatly, even though the differences are not significant. One possible explanation for this could be the freezing protocol utilised, which suspends cells in 10%DMSO 90%FCS. Both the addition of a high concentration of DMSO and the increased availability of FCS might cause subtler variations in β_2 integrins expressed and activated on the cell surface. Furthermore, the thawing process, which involves 3 washing steps to ensure DMSO is removed fully, could equally increase cell activation and increase cell death, changing the composition of the live cells gated on.

To conclude, neither fixing nor subjecting cells to a freeze-thawing cycle caused significant cleavage of β_2 integrins off the cell surface or deactivation of subunits, making both the use of fixed or biobanked samples possible with this panel. However, as small changes in both total expression and activation of β_2 integrins do seem to occur, it would be best practice to keep conditions between samples as similar as possible. As my project did not involve using biobanked samples, it was therefore decided to stain all samples fresh on the day of collection to avoid introducing further variability to data.

88


Figure 3.11 Effect of freeze-thawing on total and active β_2 integrin staining

Healthy control PB samples were stained with β_2 integrin antibodies (active and total) and split in two parts, one to be analysed on the BD LSR Fortessa immediately, while the other was fixed using 1%PFA and analysed a week later. Cells shown are LIN-CD45+HLA-DR+. **A.** A representative overlay of freshly stained (shown in red), freeze-thawed (shown in green) and unstained control cells (shown in grey) in respect to their total and active β_2 integrin expression. **B.** Difference between MFI values of freshly stained and freeze-thawed samples. A negative value signifies a loss of signal; a positive value indicates that signal has been increased due to the cryopreservation. Statistics shown were determined between freshly stained and freeze-thawed MFI signals using a paired student's t test. N=3.

3.4 Discussion

The aims of this chapter were the optimisation of detecting both total and active β_2 integrins on the surface of APCs. In this chapter, I have developed a flow cytometry panel that can measure expression of not only total but also active β_2 integrin subunits CD11a, CD11b and CD18 in a defined group of APC populations of interest. The staining protocol was optimised in respect to staining time and temperature and signal loss due to steric hindrance or FRET was assessed to be kept to a minimum. Positive and negative controls for the panel were developed. Furthermore, durability of this panel across cells from different sources or from different sample preservation methods was revealed, to ensure that the panel can be utilised as broadly as possible. This attempt to assess expression and activation on a variety of different APC populations present in blood holds both caveats and strengths, which are important to consider when evaluating any novel knowledge gained from this approach.

3.4.1 Limitations of the active β_2 integrin staining protocol and panel

There are several limitations of both the β_2 integrin staining procedure and the active integrin panel that need to be considered.

Macrophages

While the active integrin panel distinguishes a range of different APCs, one cell type is markedly absent: the macrophage. Although these cells could contribute to the initiation of RA, they are better known for their roles in pathology and disease activity (Janossy et al., 1981; Kinne et al., 2000). As an example, Haringman and colleagues (2005) showed that the number of macrophages present in the synovial sub-lining is a potent biomarker for disease activity and correlates well with successful therapeutic intervention. The option of including macrophages in our analysis was explored by trying to free up a flow cytometry channel to detect autofluorescence. In addition to being high in CD14 and HLA-DR, high autofluorescence of macrophages is used in the literature to distinguish them from monocytes (Wood et al., 2019). However, CD18 active, which was not available in a range of colours, already occupied the FITC channel and adding further parameters to a 14-colour flow cytometry panel proved difficult due to laser and fluorochrome limitations. The addition of further markers to allow the identification of macrophages would have had a negative impact on other, more important, aspects of the panel. Additionally, as the primary aim is to use this

panel in PB and SF where macrophage numbers are absent or low, respectively, exclusion of macrophage markers was thought not to impede the analysis significantly.

Integrin subunits

Other markers that had to be left out due to panel size restrictions, CD11c and CD11d, could similarly be considered a caveat. However, published literature points especially to the similarities as well as the differences between CD11a and CD11b. Research shows that adhesion to endothelial cells is 50% due to CD11a and 50% due to CD11b, while blocking CD11c had no effect on adhesive capabilities of cells (Lo et al., 1989). Similarly, increasing the amount of active CD11a (Balkow et al., 2010) and active CD11b (Varga et al., 2007) on DCs was found to inhibit their ability to activate T cells. While this highlights the overlapping functions of CD11a and CD11b, published literature also shows functions that are unique to either α -subunit respectively. Especially mouse KO studies have been helpful in elucidating β_2 integrin α -subunit specific functions. For example, CD11b is important for neutrophil adhesion and degranulation, but insignificant for cell emigration into tissues, which is mediated by CD11a (Lu et al., 1997). However, elucidating β_2 integrin α -subunit specific functions is very reliant on mouse KO models of the individual subunits. This means that there is very little knowledge about how CD11a and CD11b interact in a healthy person compared to someone who has a chronic inflammatory condition. Therefore, comparing CD11a and CD11b specifically is of great value to contribute to our knowledge of their similarities and differences.

Integrin signalling

Another aspect to keep in mind when interpreting results is that there are several aspects of integrin signalling that cannot be assessed using the active integrin flow cytometry panel. For example, as mentioned above, integrin clustering rather than its affinity (conformational state) can be as important for function as activation. Any results regarding β_2 integrin activation status will therefore have to be carefully examined to not draw conclusions prematurely. Additionally, measuring β_2 integrins using flow cytometry is quantitative on the population level and not on a cell-by-cell basis. This might potentially lead to misunderstandings or misinterpretation of results. Rather than measuring total number of active or total integrins per cell, this method can only state signal brightness or the proportion of cells that are positive for a marker. To give an example, published literature states that only ca. 1% of the $\alpha_1\beta_5$ integrins is in its active

conformation on cell surfaces under steady conditions (Li et al., 2017), while my results record levels of active integrins between 15-99% (Figure 3.4A, B and C). While this disparity could be due to differences between β_2 and β_1 integrin subfamilies, it is also due to the fact that this method cannot measure the exact number of integrin receptors per cell and, instead, measure the percentage of cells that have at least one active integrin on their surface. It is possible they have more, due to the potential removal of Ca²⁺ by EDTA (present in FACS buffer), which plays an important role to restrict integrin activation in blood (Dransfield et al., 1992), but this can only be measured non-quantitatively using the respective signal brightness. Therefore, all results gained from the active integrin flow cytometry panel will be compared to the same marker on different cell types or clinical samples.

These limitations discussed here should be kept in mind when assessing future results generated using the active flow cytometry panel. However, the strengths of this panel far outweigh its minor limitations.

3.4.2 Strengths of the active β_2 integrin staining protocol and panel

While there are some accepted limitations associated with this newly developed flow cytometry panel, it is also important to point out the strengths and scientific potential of this method.

Total and active integrins

Quantification of expression levels of both the total and active forms of the same β_2 integrin subunit in the same sample is of immense value to the scientific community. To my knowledge, this has not been done before. This is especially important as our knowledge of how integrin activation might differ between cell types or in disease is very limited. For example, differences in β_2 integrin expression or activation between cell types might contribute to our understanding of their distinct and overlapping functions. Furthermore, balance of β_2 integrin expression or activation might be altered in disease and either contribute to or further exacerbate symptoms. Assessing total and active β_2 integrins in the same sample will therefore give us a breadth of information not accessible before. It also provides valuable proof of concept, that will allow the practice to become more widespread, providing valuable further information on how β_2 integrin activation is regulated in different cell types.

It also important to mention here the use of several controls that strengthen any results generated using the active integrin panel. An appropriate positive control was validated in the form of PMA activation, and the negative control was expanded to include an isotype control that is necessary due to the temperature-sensitive nature of detecting activated β_2 integrin subunits, especially CD11b and CD18. Although some signal loss of CD11a total due to steric hindrance occurs when staining for total and active CD11a simultaneously, the isotype control includes a single stain of all total antibodies. Therefore, any results involving CD11a total can be confirmed with the single-stained CD11a total signal, further strengthening any findings.

APC populations of interest

Another strength of the active integrin panel is the wide range of APC populations it will assess. This is especially important as, due to the quantification of populations rather than single cells described above, comparing different specific cell subtypes (such as cDC1 vs. cDC2) will be valuable in understanding how these cells differ from each other in regards to their β_2 integrins. pDCs are similarly interesting, as they primarily respond to viral infections rather than activating naïve T cells. Comparing how conventional DCs differ from pDCs therefore might give insights into how β_2 integrins might contribute to these different ways of linking the innate to the adaptive immune system. While this project is focused on DCs in particular, monocytes also present antigen, although to a lesser level. Including them in our analysis will therefore give us valuable insight into how β_2 integrin surface expression and activation relates to a cells ability to adhere to β_2 integrin ligands, migrate and contribute to T cell activation.

Broad applications of the active integrin panel

Samples that were previously frozen or fixed after staining using PFA show no significant signal gain or loss in any of the β_2 integrin subunits assessed (Figure 3.10, Figure 3.11). This means that the panel could potentially be used on any biobanked disease samples, making it possible to validate if effects are disease-specific or in the broader context of inflammation. The possibility of fixing samples without significant signal loss is similarly important, as it ensures that staining remains viable if the flow cytometer usually used has technical problems. While not feasible in the context of this project, it would also allow staining to be done freshly on samples remotely, before analysis of the fixed sample after transport back to appropriate facilities. This might be especially important in diseases where sample collection involves long-distance travel.

Furthermore, it could be demonstrated that no signal loss occurred in any of the subunits except CD18 total when using a tissue digestion protocol (Figure 3.9). This means that the panel can not only be used in PB, SF or cells isolated from other bodily fluids, but also on cells isolated from tissues. This could be especially interesting when investigating the effect of β_2 integrins on highly tissue-specific conditions, such as RA or celiac disease. As β_2 integrins might also have an important role in cancer (Bednarska et al., 2016), this also suggests that the panel could be used on tumour biopsies to compare to healthy tissue samples and assess β_2 integrin contribution to tumour maintenance.

3.4.3 Differences between β_2 integrin subunits identified

Several structural differences between β_2 integrin subunits became apparent during the staining optimisation process. Mostly these differences exist between CD11a and both CD11b and CD18, which seem to behave more similarly to each other. While CD11a was the only subunit where the active conformation was significantly decreased in low temperatures, this was due to a very small amount of signal lost, as visible in the overlay (Figure 3.1). On the other hand, both active CD11b and CD18 were not significantly lower at cold temperatures, but a much larger shift occurred between warm and cold staining temperature, with active CD18 being virtually undetectable at 5.6°C in all three experiments. While this effect might simply be due to individual protein structure generally being more or less vulnerable to changes in temperature, the difference between CD11a and the other β_2 integrin subunits could also signify a functional difference. Although this has not been demonstrated for β_2 integrins, a link between fever and integrin-mediated homing of immune cells has been recently identified (Lin et al., 2019), potentially suggesting that differential temperature control between integrin subunits has to be in place to control for this.

While the effect of staining time on CD18 could not be assessed due to time constraints, differences occurred between CD11a and CD11b in regards to their staining time (Figure 3.2). Active CD11a was detected at high levels on the cell surface after only 5min, while active CD11b increased in signal brightness over time. One might argue that is merely due to more β_2 integrins becoming active, but this is unlikely as this occurs within very short time frames, so could easily be achieved in 5min of staining time. It is therefore more likely that this this effect is due to differences in β_2 integrin trafficking between cell surface and cytoplasm. Only 1% of CD11a molecules were found to cycle in a span of 20min, while CD11b cycles much faster, with 2.2% of

all cell surface molecules being endocytosed and returning to the cell surface every minute (Bretscher, 1992). This makes it likely that most CD11a subunits to be stained would be on the surface already when only stained for 5min, while the increased cycling speed of CD11b might lead to new receptors appearing on the cell surface throughout the 30min staining process. However, this also raises the question if the CD11b antibody would be internalised at higher rates due to the higher cycling speed of CD11b. While this is certainly a possibility, it seems unlikely that signal is lost due to internalisation as fast as signal is gained from more CD11b appearing on the cell surface, as we see an increase in signal over time. Another potential reason for this difference would be that CD11a and CD11b have different rates of cycling between active and inactive conformation on the cell surface, rather than cycling between cytoplasm and cell surface. However, by my knowledge this has not been shown in the published literature so far.

The difference between CD11a on one hand and CD11b/CD18 on the other is revealed again in the effects of PMA activation. Clear shifts in subunit activation occurred in CD11b and CD18, but only a subtle shift occurred in CD11a (Figure 3.3) although none of these were significant when looking at only 3 samples, with some experiments showing loss of CD11a activation upon PMA stimulation (Figure 3.8). This is especially puzzling because CD11a was one of the first β_2 integrins identified to increase adhesive capabilities of cells upon PMA-stimulation (Patarroyo et al., 1985), posing the question how adhesion can be increased without visible activation. While the specific mechanism by which the protein kinase C activator, PMA, increases integrin-mediated adhesion is not fully elucidated, there is some evidence that it is due to downstreamsignalling events rather than a direct phosphorylation of the integrin subunit (Danilov and Juliano, 1989). One possibility is therefore that the increase in adhesion in response to PMA is due to receptor avidity rather than affinity. Supporting this, Kucik and colleagues showed that PMA increases non-directed CD11a mobility in lymphocytes, further suggesting that PMA releases cytoskeletal restraints on CD11a rather than acting on the integrin directly (Kucik et al., 1996). As active CD11a was detected on over 50% of cells, it is possible that levels of activation contribute less to adhesion than clustering behaviour of CD11a on the cell surface. Another possibility is that the mAb used to detect CD11a behaves differently compared to CD11b and CD18. While CBRM1/5, the antibody used to detect CD11b has been described to be a activation-specific antibody (Diamond and Springer, 1993), the antibody used to detect

active CD11a is more complex. As well as binding to active CD11a, clone MEM-83 has also been shown to induce adhesion of T cells to ICAM-1, which led to the assumption that MEM-83 also actively contributes to inactive CD11a assuming its high affinity state (Binnerts et al., 1994; Hogg et al., 1993; Landis et al., 1993). It is therefore likely that instead of CD11a reacting differently to PMA compared to CD11b, that the antibody used to detect already increased levels of active CD11a to its maximum, leaving very little room for further increases. Indeed, if gating on all cells positive for total CD11a, close to 100% of them are positive for active CD11a, suggesting that MEM-83 indeed actively contributes to activation of CD11a.

To conclude, several differences between CD11a and CD11b were detected during the panel optimisation process, which fit with published literature regarding differences in trafficking and avidity of these subunits. This is promising, as it further validates that we can effectively measure expression of total and active β_2 integrins, and that this measurement actually relates to their function.

3.5 Conclusions

I successfully developed a flow cytometry panel that allows me to quantify the total expression and activation-status of β_2 integrin subunits CD11a, CD11b and CD18. Furthermore, this panel can differentiate between a variety of APCs of interest, including cDC1 DCs, cDC2 DCs and pDCs, as well as CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes.

After having established that total and active forms of an integrin can be stained in the same sample, the next step was to quantify the expression of total and active integrins in Mo-DCs and explore how their expression changes under conditions of activation and tolerance.

4.1 Introduction

After having established that total and active β_2 integrins can be assessed on the same cells, I investigated expression and function of β_2 integrins in *in vitro* generated Mo-DCs. I hypothesised that β_2 integrins play an important role in mediating immune tolerance on DCs, which is however challenging to investigate in vitro. Therefore, I focused specifically on two Mo-DC culturing conditions that represent two extremes: mature Mo-DCs, which were found to elicit immune cell activation (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994; Zhou and Tedder, 1996), and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, which have tolerising and immunoregulatory roles (Anderson et al., 2008). While this does not mirror tolerance induction in DCs *in vivo*, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs still provided an excellent model system to investigate the roles of β_2 integrin expression and activation on DC-like cells between immune activation and tolerance.

4.1.1 Mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs

Briefly, Mo-DCs were derived from human CD14⁺ monocytes isolated from healthy PB, that became DC-like after 7 days of culture in the presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs received tolerising agents Dexamethasone as well as Vitamin D₃, but both tolerogenic and mature Mo-DCs received stimulation with LPS on Day 6 of culture. There are several reasons for choosing Mo-DCs to investigate potential immunoregulatory roles of β_2 integrins in DCs:

First, they are an established *in vitro* model of DCs. While current literature suggests that most DCs present in PB in the steady state are myeloid- and not monocytederived (Guilliams et al., 2014), studies also suggest that *in vitro* generated Mo-DCs and PB DCs share many common features. For example, Mo-DCs and CD11c+ PB DCs express similar levels of the antigen-presenting complex HLA-DR as well as costimulatory factors such as CD40, CD83 and CD86 (Osugi et al., 2002). Furthermore, Mo-DCs are able to present antigen and elicit T cell proliferation in an MLR (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). With the knowledge that DCs only constitute 1% of PBMCs, culturing Mo-DCs from healthy blood monocytes therefore provides a viable option to generate stable DCs in sufficiently high numbers to test expression as well as functionality of β_2 integrins.

Second, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were selected because of their ability to activate and tolerise T cells, respectively, similar to cDCs. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs, cultured using the same protocol used for my studies, were characterised to have an

anti-inflammatory cytokine profile, with higher expression of IL-10 and concurrent lower expression of IL-12p70, IL-6 and TNF- α when compared to mature Mo-DCs (Anderson et al., 2008). The same study also observed that mature Mo-DCs induced activation and proliferation of both naïve and memory T cells, while tolerogenic Mo-DCs were significantly less capable to stimulate T cells. Lastly, naïve T cells that were primed by tolerogenic Mo-DCs produced more IL-10 upon restimulation with either mature Mo-DCs or anti-CD3/anti-CD28 while memory T cells were shown to be hyporesponsive to restimulation. Furthermore, tolerogenic Mo-DCs were found to control T cell activation by mature Mo-DCs in a co-culturing system where both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were present (Harry et al., 2010). Comparing β_2 integrin expression and function between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs therefore provides the opportunity to investigate possible differences in a well-defined model system of immune stimulation (mature Mo-DCs) and regulation (tolerogenic Mo-DCs).

To conclude, respective phenotypes of both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs are well-described and large numbers of Mo-DCs can be generated *in vitro* relatively easily. Using mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs therefore represent a useful tool to understand the role of β_2 integrins in immune activation and regulation. In addition, some properties of tolerogenic Mo-DCs described in the literature suggest a likely involvement of β_2 integrins in their function, which I will explore in the next section.

4.1.2 The potential role of β_2 integrins on Mo-DCs

After establishing that mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs are a model system wellsuited to investigate the roles of β_2 integrins between immune activation and tolerance, it is important to discuss published literature that suggest differences in β_2 integrins between the two Mo-DC subtypes.

Several studies have shown that genes encoding β_2 integrins are differentially expressed between CD14+ monocytes and Mo-DCs. For example, CD18 expression is increased in unstimulated (immature) Mo-DCs compared to monocytes (Angénieux et al., 2001). However, CD11a gene expression was downregulated in TNF- α stimulated Mo-DCs compared to monocytes, but did not differ between immature and mature Mo-DCs, alongside an upregulation of genes important for cell migration, such as macrophage capping protein and vimentin (Ivaska et al., 2007; Naour et al., 2001; Sun et al., 1995). This gene expression data is backed up by another study

measuring surface expression of β_2 integrins on mature Mo-DCs compared to CD14+ monocytes, which found higher expression of CD11c, CD11b and CD18, but lower expression of CD11a on Mo-DCs compared to monocytes (Ammon et al., 2000). Furthermore, previous experience in the Hilkens laboratory has shown that tolerogenic Mo-DCs adhere more tightly to plastic compared to mature Mo-DCs (unpublished observation). Keeping Mo-DCs for 60min on ice was therefore introduced into the protocol to enable sufficient harvesting of tolerogenic Mo-DCs. While plastic is obviously not a biological ligand for β_2 integrins, this suggests that adhesive capabilities are altered in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. This is further supported by the finding that mouse BMDCs with deficient β_2 integrin signalling show reduced adhesion to both ligands and plastic (Morrison et al., 2014). As adhesion is one function of β_2 integrins, it therefore seems likely that either expression or conformational state of the adhesion receptors differs between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, thereby affecting Mo-DC adhesive capabilities.

Another important function of β_2 integrins is cell migration. Migration of immune cells towards the LN and correct positioning in T cell zones is primarily mediated by the chemokine receptor CCR7 binding to CCL19 and CCL21 located in the LN. While tolerogenic Mo-DCs can migrate towards CCL19, they are reported to migrate with 25-40% of the efficiency of mature Mo-DCs (Anderson et al., 2009, 2008), which was proposed to be due to the lower expression of CCR7 on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs. However, other studies suggest that β_2 integrins might also be involved. For example, in mouse, mature migratory DCs are shown to upregulate CCR7 while simultaneously downregulating β_2 integrins such as CD18 and CD11c (Morrison et al., 2014). Interestingly, the same study also showed that CCR7 is also upregulated in BMDCs when the kindlin-3 binding site of the β_2 integrin is mutated, reducing the integrins ability to form stable adhesions and making cells assume a mature migratory phenotype. Furthermore, both ligands of CCR7, namely CCL19 and CCL21, were shown to induce CD11a/CD18 activation on human Mo-DCs via insideout signalling (Eich et al., 2011; Quast et al., 2009). These seemingly conflicting reports suggest that β_2 integrins might be important to mediate migration of cells into the LN once they receive CCR7 stimulation. This is supported by the finding that TNF-α stimulated Mo-DCs from two patients with LAD-1, where CD18 expression is impaired, show decreased trans-endothelial migratory ability (Fiorini et al., 2002). Previously described differences in both migration and CCR7 expression in

tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs might therefore go alongside as of yet undescribed differences in β_2 integrins, which are potentially regulated by CCR7 signalling. When comparing different immunosuppressive agents (Vitamin D₃, IL-10, Dexamethasone, TGF- β , rapamycin) meant to induce tolerogenicity in Mo-DCs, it was furthermore shown that agents eliciting little immunosuppression also show no reduction in migratory ability towards CCL19 and vice versa (Boks et al., 2012). In fact, the same study did not pursue Vitamin D₃-treated tolerogenic Mo-DCs after finding that they showed lowest migratory ability of all agents tested. One could therefore hypothesise that gaining immunosuppressive and regulatory functions occurs simultaneously with loss of migratory capability, making a role for β_2 integrins in this context likely. This however also holds a caveat for future use of tolerogenic Mo-DCs as cell therapy, as low migratory ability might also impede their ability to travel to the draining LN and render T cells unresponsive.

Lastly, β_2 integrins have also been described to play a role in DCs forming contacts with T cells through the immunological synapse. For example, ligation of CD11b on human Mo-DCs reduced both their expression of CD86 and their ability to stimulate T cells (Podgrabinska et al., 2009), which has also been found in murine BMDCs (Behrens et al., 2007). CD11b was also found to be involved in controlling peripheral tolerance by restricting Th17 cell differentiation (Ehirchiou et al., 2007). Furthermore, both the active conformation of CD11a and CD11b were found to restrict T cell activation (Balkow et al., 2010; Varga et al., 2007), suggesting an active role of β_2 integrins in mediating T cell contacts from the DC side. While tolerogenic Mo-DCs were shown to have reduced T cell stimulatory abilities (Anderson et al., 2008), β_2 integrin expression on their surface has not been assessed so far.

To conclude, differences in adhesive and migratory capabilities between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as well as their respective ability to stimulate T cells, suggest that they differ in expression of total or active β_2 integrins. Identifying these differences and assessing their role for Mo-DC function could yield important insights into the immunoregulatory function of β_2 integrins on DCs.

4.1.3 Aims

The aims of this chapter are as follows:

 Assess expression of total and active β₂ integrins on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

- Define the adhesive and clustering capabilities of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.
- 3) Investigate the functional impact of CD11b manipulation on Mo-DC phenotype and T cell priming ability.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Generation and phenotypic analysis of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC populations

First, populations of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were generated by *in vitro* culture and characterised phenotypically and functionally. This was to ensure that culturing of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs was successful and could be compared to published literature. Additionally, phenotyping of Mo-DCs ensured consistency between Mo-DCs cultured from different healthy donors or on different days. To this end, immature Mo-DCs, mature Mo-DCs (LPS) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Dexamethasone+Vitamin D₃+LPS) were compared for expression of key cell surface markers. While immature Mo-DCs were included in all cultures as an internal control for phenotyping purposes, they were not of special interest to the understanding of the role of β_2 integrins in Mo-DC between activation and tolerance, so this group is included in figures only if they are of interest to the question at hand.

First, expression of CD14 and CD1c were assessed. A hallmark of successful *in vitro* DC induction is the loss of the monocyte marker CD14, while expressing CD1c (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). As the monocytes utilised for this culture are selected for their CD14-positivity, the loss of this marker signifies that monocytes have indeed been transformed due to the presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF. An example of CD14 and CD1c expression in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs generated from the monocytes is shown in Figure 4.1A.





Expression of CD1c and CD14 on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative expression of CD1c and CD14 on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs cultured from CD14+ monocytes of a healthy donor compared to an unstained sample. B. MFI of CD14 expression, comparing immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Dotted line represents median of unstained control. One-way ANOVA, n=13. C. MFI of CD1c expression, comparing immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to an unstained sample. Dotted line represents median of unstained control. One-way ANOVA, n=13.

CD14+ staining was absent from both immature and mature Mo-DCs, with signal brightness being highly similar to an unstained control. However, tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed some CD14+staining, some of which was CD1c positive (3.18%), while the largest part was CD1c negative (10.8%). CD1c expression was not significantly different between immature, mature or tolerogenic Mo-DCs, but all three Mo-DC subtypes expressed levels of CD1c above a median unstained signal (Figure 4.1C). As visible from the representative sample, immature and mature Mo-DCs showed very low CD14 expression which was not significantly different from unstained controls in immature Mo-DCs and actually significantly lower on mature Mo-DCs. However, the mean difference was very small, underlining that CD14 expression was comprehensively absent from mature Mo-DCs at the end of the 7-day culture. Interestingly, CD14 expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs was significantly higher compared to an unstained control, suggesting that addition of immunosuppressive drugs inhibited the complete loss of CD14 from the cell surface. This could suggest that some cells did not complete the monocyte to DC differentiation process under tolerogenic cell culture conditions. Other studies have however also shown that Vitamin D₃ might induce expression of CD14 (Oberg et al., 1993), suggesting that the presence of this tolerogenic factor stimulates CD14 expression. Overall, CD14 was only expressed on around 14% of tolerogenic Mo-DCs, suggesting that only a small proportion of cells was affected by this and that the large majority of cells in tolerogenic cultures resembled Mo-DCs. To conclude, it can be assumed that immature and mature Mo-DCs harvested were Mo-DCs and not monocytes, and that at least 85% of tolerogenic Mo-DCs assumed a DC-like phenotype. CD1c expression compared to an unstained control is shown in Figure 4.1C, revealing that all Mo-DC subtypes express CD1c. Again, tolerogenic Mo-DCs differed from immature and mature Mo-DCs in that they expressed lower levels of CD1c, while this was not found to be significant, it suggests that addition of Dexamethasone and Vitamin D3 inhibited full Mo-DC development.

Immature Mo-DCs are known to increase in costimulatory markers such as CD83, CD86 and the antigen-presenting MHC HLA-DR upon LPS stimulation to yield mature Mo-DCs (Harry et al., 2010; Osugi et al., 2002). Tolerogenic Mo-DCs on the other hand were described to exhibit a semi-mature state, with significantly reduced expression levels of CD83 and CD86 and reduced expression of HLA-DR compared to mature Mo-DCs (Anderson et al., 2008; Harry et al., 2010). This observation was

confirmed in Figure 4.2A, which shows a representative overlay of expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR on immature (shown in green), mature (shown in red) and tolerogenic (shown in blue) viable Mo-DCs. Immature Mo-DCs were lowest in all markers, while mature Mo-DCs showed the highest expression. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed medium to low expression of CD83, medium expression of CD86 (both intermediate between immature and mature) but expressed HLA-DR in similarly high levels to mature Mo-DCs. Expression of these three costimulatory molecules was quantified (Figure 4.2B), which confirmed that mature Mo-DCs express significantly higher levels of CD83 and CD86 compared to both immature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, which were not shown to be significantly different from each other. However, while HLA-DR expression was significantly increased between immature and mature Mo-DCs, tolerogenic Mo-DCs were not shown to be significantly different from mature Mo-DCs. While representative histogram overlays showed that tolerogenic Mo-DCs, this effect was not found to be significant in the pooled data.





Expression of costimulatory receptors CD83 and CD86, as well as MHC class II HLA-DR on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative histogram overlay of expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR by immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic (blue) Mo-DCs. B. MFI expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR comparing immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). One-way ANOVA, n=13.

Overall, this suggests that the Mo-DC culturing system yielded three distinct Mo-DCs subtypes, which show differential expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR. Here,

immature and mature Mo-DCs represented the low and high ends of costimulatory molecule expression, with tolerogenic Mo-DCs being more similar to immature Mo-DCs in respect to expression of CD83 and CD86, while HLA-DR expression was closer to that of mature Mo-DCs.

However, expression of MHC and costimulatory molecules alone are not sufficient to define DCs as either mature or tolerogenic. Distinct other markers are needed to distinguish tolerogenic from mature Mo-DCs. TLR2, a cell surface receptor that recognises bacterial lipoproteins and whose expression is induced by exposure to Dexamethasone, and the TGF- β receptor LAP have previously been described as markers of tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Harry et al., 2010; Shibata et al., 2009). Expression of TLR2 and LAP is shown using a multi-colour dot plot on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.3A). While immature and mature Mo-DCs showed some TLR2 expression, between 20-35% of Mo-DCs did not express TLR2. In contrast, tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed much higher levels of TLR2 with only 2.2% of cells not expressing the marker. TLR2 signal was significantly brighter on tolerogenic Mo-DCs compared to both immature and mature Mo-DCs, and was also expressed on a larger percentage of tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.3B). Interestingly, a significantly smaller percentage of mature Mo-DCs expressed TLR2 compared to the percentage of immature Mo-DCs. Furthermore, only 1-3% of immature and mature Mo-DCs showed expression of LAP, while up to 12% of tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed LAP. Quantifying expression of LAP, no differences in MFI between the different Mo-DC subsets can be observed, although a significantly larger proportion of tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed LAP when compared to mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.3).

Overall, phenotyping of Mo-DC subtypes showed that culturing of the three different subtypes generated distinct populations that show significant differences in expression of key markers that matched their description in the literature. Mo-DCs lost CD14 expression but retained or in some cases gained CD1c expression as they differentiated into Mo-DCs. Addition of LPS caused a rapid increase in surface expression of CD83, CD86 and HLA-DR in mature DCs, but this was only the case for HLA-DR in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Furthermore, tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed significantly increased surface expression of TLR2 compared to both immature and mature Mo-DCs, as well as an increased proportion of tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressing LAP. This shows that I was able to generate phenotypically distinct

mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs reliably, which could therefore be used to study β_2 integrin expression and function in the context of immune activation and tolerance.



Figure 4.3 Expression of LAP and TLR2 on Mo-DCs

Expression of LAP and TLR2 on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative multi-colour dot plot of expression of LAP and TLR2 on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. B. MFI expression of TLR2 (left) and LAP (right) on immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). Both signal brightness (MFI, top) and %positive population (bottom) for both TLR2 and LAP are shown. One-way ANOVA, n=13.

T cell stimulatory abilities of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs

Mature Mo-DCs are described to induce higher levels of T cell proliferation and IFN-y production compared to tolerogenic Mo-DCs in an MLR (Anderson et al., 2008). To test this, T cell proliferation in an MLR was tested using a cell proliferation dye (CTV, Figure 4.4A-B) and supernatants were tested for levels of IFN-y (Figure 4.4C) and IL-10 (Figure 4.4D) using an ELISA. However, no significant difference in T cell proliferation was observed, neither in the total amount of proliferation nor when comparing different levels of division (Figure 4.4B). In fact, around 90% of T cells cocultured with both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were shown to have undergone 5-7 cell divisions, with only a small percentage of cells in either cell type having undergone 1-2 divisions. This suggested that at Day 6, that mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs drive the same level of T cell division. This could potentially be due to the fact that it is difficult to detect further divisions after seven, as the CTV gets too diluted for detection. Therefore, potentially an earlier time point would show differences between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs ability to stimulate T cell proliferation, as the maximal amount of proliferation has not been reached yet. Another option however is that mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs drive different T cell phenotypes. This is especially possible as IFN-y levels in mature Mo-DC supernatants were significantly higher compared to tolerogenic Mo-DC-co-cultures (Figure 4.4C), confirming that the mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC states result in altered T cell priming. In addition to IFN-y, I also measured levels of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 in Mo-DC MLR supernatants to test if there was an increase in anti-inflammatory signalling in tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. No significant differences in IL-10 levels were found between MLRs using tolerogenic or mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.4D). However, measuring IL-10 in MLRs had the inherent caveat that both T cells and Mo-DCs can produce it. This could mean that IL-10 production by either Mo-DC subset masked differences in IL-10 production by T cells that were present in the culture. Interestingly, the only donor that showed increased IFN-y production in tolerogenic MLRs simultaneously also showed the only decrease in IL-10 production in tolerogenic compared to mature MLRs. This could suggest that this specific culture was unusual, possibly due to donor to donor variation of both Mo-DCs and naïve T cells or accidental switching of samples.



Figure 4.4 Effect of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs in an MLR

Effect of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs on T cell proliferation, IFN- γ and IL-10 production in an MLR. A. Gating strategy to yield proliferated cells in percent (Proliferated) and cells that had undergone 1-2, 3-4 and 5-7 divisions respectively. Single live cells, CD11c-CD3+CD4+. B. Total T cell proliferation in percent of T cells that have diluted CTV staining after 6 days of co-culture (left) and percent that had undergone 1-2, 3-4 and 5-7 cell divisions, comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. C. IFN- γ concentration detected in MLR supernatants by ELISA. D. IL-10 concentration detected in MLR supernatants by ELISA. D. IL-10 concentration detected in MLR supernatants by ELISA.

conclude, I established that cultured mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs are stable and

comparable to Mo-DCs discussed in previously published literature in respect to both their phenotype and their ability to stimulate T cells. Shortly, mature Mo-DCs had not only the ability to induce T cell proliferation but also showed to induce high levels of IFN- γ production by T cells. In contrast, tolerogenic Mo-DCs could induce T cell proliferation similar to mature Mo-DCs, the T cells produced significantly lower amounts of IFN- γ . Phenotypic differences, as well as immunostimulatory versus immunoregulatory abilities, in the form of T cell stimulatory abilities, were shown to be different between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. This underlined that mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs cultured by me are indeed two distinct phenotypes to investigate further.

4.2.2 Clustering abilities of Mo-DCs

In addition to differences in cell surface marker expression in Mo-DC subtypes, it was also important to assess if Mo-DC subtypes differ in their functionality in respect to cell adhesive behaviour. This is because differences in adhesive capabilities have been observed but so far not quantified. To this end, clustering phenotype of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs was assessed.

Clustering phenotypes of monocyte-derived dendritic cells

Mature Mo-DCs have been described previously to show DC morphology, including dendrite-like extensions, as well as to form tight clusters with each other (Zhou and Tedder, 1996). Given reports of altered adhesion of Mo-DC subtypes (Hilkens et al, unpublished observations), I then looked at Mo-DC morphology and clustering by imaging. Therefore, immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were incubated for 6h at 37°C on glass after all stimulants were washed off, imaged using a bright field microscope and cell clustering was quantified using a CellProfiler pipeline, whereby both clusters of cells and individual unclustered cells could be detected as objects, enabling measurements of various parameters, including object area.

Immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue) were cultured on glass slides (representative images shown in Figure 4.5A). Differences in Mo-DC clustering was observed between conditions: immature Mo-DCs showed the least level of clustering, mature Mo-DCs showed few large clusters of cells and tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed a large number of smaller clusters. When quantifying the images using Cellprofiler, it was observed that clusters were significantly larger in mature Mo-DCs compared to both immature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, and that tolerogenic Mo-

DCs in turn formed significantly larger clusters compared to immature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.5B, left). This result was furthermore supported when considering the median radius of clusters, which describes the median length of distance between any pixel within a cluster to the closest pixel outside of the cluster. Mature Mo-DC clusters are shown to have the largest median radius, with both tolerogenic and immature Mo-DC clusters having significantly lower median radius values (Figure 4.5B, right). Furthermore, the number of both clusters (left) and single unclustered cells (right) was determined for each condition to determine clustering behaviours of different Mo-DC subtypes (Figure 4.5). Mature Mo-DCs showed a significantly lower number of clusters compared to both immature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, which did not differ in their number of clusters. Furthermore, mature Mo-DCs showed significantly less single unclustered cells compared to immature Mo-DCs, underlining again that mature Mo-DCs show higher rates of clustering compared to especially immature Mo-DCs. Overall, this confirmed that mature Mo-DCs show the highest level of cell clustering of all three Mo-DC types as the form a smaller number of larger clusters, with significantly less cells remaining unclustered. Immature Mo-DCs on the other hand show the least amount of clustering, with the smallest area and median radius of clusters observed. Lastly tolerogenic Mo-DCs possess an intermediate phenotype, with clusters that are significantly larger than immature Mo-DC clusters, but significantly smaller compared to mature Mo-DCs. Clustering ability of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs on glass slides suggests that mature Mo-DCs are less adhesive and therefore able to move faster together to form large clusters, while tolerogenic Mo-DCs could be supposed to be more adhesive, thereby only being able to transverse shorter distances to form smaller clusters. Although this is adhesion to glass, one could speculate that increased adhesive capabilities of tolerogenic Mo-DCs might alter their ability to migrate and affect how tightly they adhere to T cells, thereby influencing T cell activation.



Figure 4.5 Cell clustering phenotype of Mo-DCs

Cell clustering of immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs incubated for 6h at 37°C on glass slides. A. Representative bright field microscopy images of immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue) on glass slides. 10x magnification. B. Area in pixels of clusters identified by cellprofiler (left) as well as median radius in pixels per cluster (right). Area is defined as the number of pixels in the region of the cluster, while median radius is defined as the median distance of any pixel in a cluster to the closest pixel outside of the object. One-way ANOVA, immature n=2490, mature=1493, tolerogenic=2405 individual clusters. C. Number of clusters identified per image by Cellprofiler pipeline (left) and number of unclustered individual cells identified per image by Cellprofiler pipeline (right). One-way ANOVA, immature n=23, mature n=29, tolerogenic n=28 healthy control donors. Experiment was done on three separate occasions using three different healthy Mo-DC donors.

4.2.3 The role of CD11a in Mo-DCs

As previously discussed in the introduction to this chapter, evidence supports an important role for β_2 integrins in mediating the functional differences between mature

and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Indeed, the clustering data (Figure 4.5) indicate clear differences in adhesive properties between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. However, very little is known about the expression and conformation of β_2 integrin subunits in Mo-DCs, and how integrin expression might influence Mo-DC function.

To assess a potential role of CD11a in Mo-DCs, total and active CD11a expression was assessed. As double staining for total and active CD11a led to a significant signal loss of total CD11a, due to steric hindrance (Chapter 3, section 3.3.4, Figure 3.4), total CD11a staining was assessed using both double stained (total and active CD11a mAbs) and single stained (total CD11a mAbs only) cells. Double stained total CD11a (left) was found to be significantly lower on tolerogenic DCs compared to both immature and mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.6A). However, when considering the staining of the same samples not affected by steric hindrance (single stained, right), no significant differences in total CD11a expression between Mo-DC subtypes were observed. This suggests that the level of steric hindrance differs between cell types. Investigating this further, the level of steric hindrance between Mo-DC subtypes, both as the difference between single stained and double stained MFI (left) and as percentage of signal lost (difference single-double stained as percentage of single stained, right) was plotted (Figure 4.6B). This showed that tolerogenic Mo-DC indeed lost significantly more total CD11a signal compared to immature and mature Mo-DCs. This was the case both for total signal plotted as MFI, as well as percentage of signal loss, with immature Mo-DCs losing a mean of 13.9% of signal, mature Mo-DCs losing only a mean 0.7% of signal and tolerogenic Mo-DCs losing a mean of 34.7% of their total CD11a signal. Surprisingly, two out of 13 mature Mo-DCs actually gained signal when double stained. Furthermore, when excluding the three samples with the highest levels of steric hindrance shown from the double-stained data, no significant difference between expression of total CD11a was observed (Figure 4.6C), confirming that steric hindrance was the cause for the significantly different expression of total CD11a in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. As total CD11a expression was not significantly different between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, but steric hindrance was increased in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, one could hypothesise that tolerogenic Mo-DCs have increased levels of active CD11a. This would explain why more total CD11a signal was lost, as more binding of active CD11a might reduce total CD11a binding to its target.



Figure 4.6 Expression of total CD11a in Mo-DCs

Expression of total CD11a in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. MFI of total CD11a, comparing double stain (left, total and active CD11a stained) and single stain (right, only total CD11a stained). B. Level of steric hindrance in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Left shows the difference between single and double stain in MFI values (MFI lost to steric hindrance), right shows differences in steric hindrance as a percentage of single stain (% of signal lost to steric hindrance). C. MFI of total CD11a, double stain with three samples with highest levels of steric hindrance recoreded removed. Results shown are from single, live cultured cells. Matched one-way ANOVA, n=13, except C. n=10.

When considering active CD11a expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, this hypothesis was confirmed, as tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed significantly more active CD11a compared to mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.7). Expression of active CD11a was clearly higher in both a dot plot and a histogram overlay (Figure 4.7A). Interestingly, tolerogenic Mo-DCs did not differ significantly from immature Mo-DCs, which were also significantly higher in active CD11a expression compared to mature DCs. This was surprising, as one could therefore expect levels of steric hindrance due to higher active CD11a expression in immature Mo-DCs to be similar to tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.7). However, this was not the case as there was significantly less steric hindrance in immature Mo-DCs compared to tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.6B). This suggested that factors affecting steric hindrance of CD11a antibodies are potentially different in immature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.



Figure 4.7 Expression of active CD11a in Mo-DCs

Expression of active CD11a in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative dot plot and histogram overlay of active CD11a expression in mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). B. MFI expression of active CD11a in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (left, matched one-way ANOVA, n=13), or only comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (right, paired Student's *t* test, n=13)

significantly increased expression of active CD11a in tolerogenic compared to mature

Mo-DCs could suggest that β_2 integrins are altered on DCs under different circumstances. However, it is difficult to make assumptions about the potential functional impact of these differences on tolerogenic function of Mo-DCs. First, therefore, it was important to test if the observed difference in active CD11a expression affected cell adhesion. To this end, adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to varying concentrations of the β_2 integrin ligand ICAM-1, which is a known ligand of CD11a (Landis et al., 1994), was compared. Given the increase in active CD11a expression seen in tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, we would predict increased adhesion of tolerogenic Mo-DCs to ICAM-1. Adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to 0.1µg/ml (Figure 4.8A), 1µg/ml (Figure 4.8B) and 10µg/ml ICAM-1 (Figure 4.8C) is presented in Figure 4.8. Interestingly, no significant increase in adhesion was observed to any of the three concentrations of ICAM-1. Adhesion to the highest concentration of ICAM-1 (Figure 4.8C) showed a consistent upwards trend in all but one sample, which almost reaches statistical significance at p=0.051. This would suggest that the increase in active CD11a expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs was not sufficient to increase adhesion to low and medium concentrations of ICAM-1, but that there might be a small but potentially important biological effect at high concentrations of ICAM-1. However, while ICAM-1 is described to be one of the main ligands for CD11a, both CD11b and CD11c can also bind ICAM-1 (Blackford et al., 1996; Diamond et al., 1990). This means that either one of the other β_2 integrin alpha subunits could potentially have compensated for the lower expression of active CD11a on mature Mo-DCs, making them equal to tolerogenic Mo-DCs. If given the ability to undertake further studies, β_2 integrin subunit specific blockade could be utilised to assess CD11a-mediated adhesion to ICAM-1 specifically.

To conclude, while total CD11a expression of CD11a did not differ between Mo-DCs, there was significantly higher expression of active CD11a on tolerogenic Mo-DCs compared to mature Mo-DCs. This explains the significantly increased level of total CD11a signal loss due to steric hindrance in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as total CD11a binding sites may be obstructed by active CD11a binding. While increased expression of active CD11a on tolerogenic Mo-DCs did not translate to increased adhesion to one of the CD11a ligands ICAM-1, this could be explained by both CD11b and CD11c also being able to utilise ICAM-1 as a ligand, which could potentially mask effects of active CD11a expression. However, the almost significant increased adhesion of tolerogenic Mo-DCs to high levels of ICAM-1 suggests that

adhesion to especially T cells, which express ICAM-1 as part of stabilising the immunological synapse, might be altered as an effect of altered CD11a conformational state. It is also important to note that different β_2 integrin subunits might have distinct downstream-signalling pathways depending on ligand, thereby suggesting that even though CD11b or CD11c can maintain adhesion to ICAM-1 on mature Mo-DCs, downstream signalling might be altered due to the lower levels of CD11a binding ICAM-1. Because of the consistent and significant increase in active CD11a on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, one could hypothesise that active CD11a plays an immunoregulatory role in this *in vitro* system.





Adhesion assays comparing adhesion of mature to tolerogenic Mo-DCs to three concentrations of ICAM-1. A. Adhesion to ICAM-1 at 0.1μ g/ml. B. Adhesion to ICAM-1 at 1μ g/ml. C. Adhesion to ICAM-1 at 10μ g/ml. Paired Student's *t* test, n=13.

4.2.4 The role of CD11b in Mo-DCs

Having explored total and active CD11a expression on Mo-DCs, I found that active CD11a expression was significantly higher on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, but that the two Mo-DC subtypes did not differ significantly in their adhesion to ICAM-1. As CD11b, a different β_2 integrin alpha subunit, can also bind ICAM-1 and was hypothesised to be partially responsible for the similar adhesive capabilities of tolerogenic and mature Mo-DCs despite their differences in active CD11a, CD11b was also investigated. As no significant signal loss due to steric hindrance was observed between active and total CD11b (Chapter 3, section 3.3.4, Figure 3.4), only

samples where both total and active CD11b antibodies were used simultaneously were considered.

There were no significant differences in total CD11b expression between immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, nor when comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs specifically to each other (Figure 4.9A-B). Neither expression of total CD11a nor total CD11b therefore differed between Mo-DC subtypes.



Figure 4.9 Expression of total CD11b on Mo-DCs

Expression of total CD11b on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative overlay of expression of total CD11b in mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). B. MFI of total CD11b comparing immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). Matched one-way ANOVA, n=13.

Levels of active CD11b were found to be lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs when compared to mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.10A-B), but only when comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs directly. When comparing immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, tolerogenic Mo-DCs are not shown to be significantly different from mature Mo-DCs, but are significantly lower than immature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.10B, left). However, when only comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, tolerogenic Mo-DCs were shown to have significantly lower expression of active CD11b. Interestingly, expression of active CD18, the shared β_2 integrin subunit of both CD11a and CD11b, was also significantly lower in tolerogenic Mo-DCs when compared only to mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.11A-B). As active CD11a was found to be significantly increased in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, this could suggest that the lower active CD11b levels dominate over higher active CD11a levels on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as active CD18 was also significantly affected. However, when comparing active CD18 expression of all three Mo-DC subtypes to each other, no significant differences were observed. This could suggest that this effect is potentially smaller and therefore more relevant when comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs directly.



Figure 4.10 Expression of active CD11b in Mo-DCs

Expression of active CD11b in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative dot plot and histogram overlay of active CD11b expression in mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). B. MFI of active CD11b expression in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (left, matched one-way ANOVA, n=13), or only comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (right, paired Student's *t* test, n=13).

As active CD11b expression was significantly lower on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, but active CD18 expression was similar, it was important to assess if different levels of active CD11b expression had functional consequences on Mo-DC adhesion. Similar to assessing adhesion of Mo-DCs to ICAM-1, adhesion was assessed to a range of CD11b ligands, including complement proteins iC3b and C4b as well as the blood protein fibrinogen. Due to the reduced expression of active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, it was hypothesised that tolerogenic Mo-DCs would adhere less to CD11b ligands compared to mature Mo-DCs. Adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to a range of concentrations of these CD11b ligands is shown in Figure 4.12.



Figure 4.11 Expression of active CD18 in Mo-DCs

Expression active CD18 in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. A. Representative dot plot and histogram overlay of active CD18 expression in mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). B. MFI of active CD18 expression in immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (left, matched one-way ANOVA, n=13), or only comparing mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (right, paired Student's *t* test, n=13).

As previously mentioned, iC3b (Figure 4.12A) was described to play an important role in the complement cascade and is produced when Complement Factor I cleaves C3b. Once it is cleaved, iC3b can act as an opsonin, enabling leukocytes to bind via CD11b/CD18 (Ross et al., 1985). Adhesion to iC3b was not found to be significantly different between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs in the lowest and highest ligand concentration, but adhesion to iC3b was significantly higher in tolerogenic Mo-DCs at 3.33mg/ml. This is surprising, as lower levels of active CD11b expression on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs would suggest a reduced ability to adhere to iC3b. C4b, a different member of the complement system, is located upstream of iC3b acting in concert with C2a to cleave C3 into C3a and C3b. It has also been described to act as opsonin mediating phagocytosis of opsonised cells mediated via outside-in signalling after CD11b binds to it (Gresham et al., 1991). No differences in adhesion between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs were found in any of the three concentrations of C4b (Figure 4.12B). Lastly, fibrinogen, a member of the coagulation cascade also termed Factor I, is an important factor for blood clotting and a

commonly used ligand to test adhesive capabilities of CD11b (Sándor et al., 2016b). Here, the breadth of ligand concentration used was larger with an additional concentrations added due to the wide variation in adhesion to fibrinogen between Mo-DCs derived from different donors. No significant differences in adhesion to fibrinogen were found in the lower concentrations, but at the highest ligand concentration of 100µg/ml tolerogenic Mo-DCs were found to be significantly more adhesive compared to mature Mo-DCs. These data fit with the increased adhesion to iC3b but contradict the hypothesis that reduced active CD11b expression would result in reduced adhesion to CD11b ligands.

The result that lower expression of active β_2 integrins resulted in increased adhesion to its ligand is puzzling and requires further discussion. There are several ways to interpret these results. First, while CD11b is lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, it could be more potent and therefore more likely to establish stable adhesion to a ligand that withstands washing steps of the adhesion assay protocol to a higher degree. This is however highly unlikely, as β_2 integrins in their active form have the highest affinity for ligand and integrin activation correlates well with adhesive capability (Coller, 1985; Shattil et al., 1985).

A more likely explanation is the ligand promiscuity of β_2 integrins, which was already discussed in the context of different β_2 integrin alpha-subunits binding to ICAM-1. Not only CD11b but also CD11c can bind both iC3b and fibrinogen (Loike et al., 1991; Malhotra et al., 1986; Myones et al., 1988), making it possible that CD11c compensates for reduced expression of active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs. While no difference in total CD11c expression on Mo-DCs was found (Figure 4.13), active CD11c expression was not measured. One could therefore hypothesise that active CD11c expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs is increased, compensating for the reduction in active CD11b expression and leading to an overall increase in adhesion to iC3b and fibrinogen.



Figure 4.12 Adhesion of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to iC3b, C4b and Fibrinogen

Adhesion assays comparing adhesion of mature (red) to tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue) to three concentrations of iC3b and C4b, and four concentrations of fibrinogen. A. Adhesion to iC3b at 1 μ g/ml, 3.33 μ g/ml and 10 μ g/ml. Paired student's *t* test, n=10. B. Adhesion to C4b at 1 μ g/ml, 3.33 μ g/ml and 10 μ g/ml. Paired student's *t* test, n=10. C. Adhesion to Fibrinogen at 0.1 μ g/ml (n=6), 1 μ g/ml (n=7), 10 μ g/ml (n=10) and 100 μ g/ml (n=11). Paired student's *t* test.

This explanation is supported further by the fact that C4b is not described to be a ligand for CD11c, and adhesion to this protein did not show a similar pattern to iC3b and fibrinogen, and adhesion did not differ between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. This could suggest that respective binding of different β_2 integrin subunits to ligand might be regulated either by subunit conformational state or interplay between different subunits, such as CD11b and CD11c.

In conclusion, active but not total CD11b expression was significantly lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs when compared to mature Mo-DCs. Additionally, active CD18, the pairing β_2 integrin of both CD11a and CD11b, was also significantly lower in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. This suggests that the lower expression of active CD11b dominates over the higher expression of CD11a on tolerogenic Mo-DCs. The down-regulation of active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, compared to both mature and immature Mo-DCs could suggest that lowering CD11b activation plays a role in the distinct phenotype tolerogenic Mo-DCs show compared to mature Mo-DCs. However, adhesion to β_2 integrin ligands iC3b, C4b and fibrinogen was not negatively affected by the decrease in active CD11b expression, suggesting that surface expression and functionality are potentially not directly linked. Indeed, adhesion to iC3b and fibrinogen was actually higher in tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, an effect presumed to be mediated by an increase in active CD11c. On the other hand, adhesion to C4b was not different between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.



Figure 4.13 Expression of total CD11c on Mo-DCs

Expression of total CD11b on immature, mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. MFI of total CD11c comparing immature (green), mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DCs (blue). Matched one-way ANOVA, n=7.

To summarise my work up to this point, I found that mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs differ in their active β_2 integrin expression, with tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressing more active CD11a and less active CD11b than mature Mo-DCs. I also found that adhesion to iC3b and fibrinogen, which have been reported to be ligands for both CD11b and CD11c, was significantly increased in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, while adhesion ICAM-1, bound by both CD11a and CD11b, was not significantly different between groups with the available sample size. Furthermore, tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed less clustering when adherent to glass. Together these data suggest that altered β_2 integrin conformational state on tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed reduced T cell stimulatory abilities, it was important to investigate if this could also be due to altered β_2 integrins on tolerogenic Mo-DCs. To this end, I tested if altering availability of the active CD11b β_2 integrin subunit affected the T cell stimulatory abilities of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

4.2.5 Functional significance of β_2 integrins on Mo-DCs

To investigate the roles of β_2 integrins on Mo-DCs in mediating T cell proliferation and activation, both increasing β_2 integrin activation and blocking β_2 integrin adhesion were explored in MLRs. T cell proliferation was measured by CTV signal loss, and IFN- γ and IL-10 levels were quantified in MLR supernatants by ELISA.
I decided to focus on CD11b for the manipulation studies. This decision had several reasons. First, while active CD11a expression was significantly increased in tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, the significantly lower active CD18 expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs suggested that CD11b might be a more dominant integrin. Second, manipulating either CD11a or CD18 in the context of an MLR held additional caveats: β_2 integrins not only play a role on DCs but are also important adhesion receptors on T cells. Indeed, investigation of total CD11a, CD11b, CD11c and CD18 expression on naïve CD45RO- T cells showed high levels of CD11a and CD18, and a low level of CD11c (Figure 4.14). On the other hand, naïve T cells showed no positive staining for CD11b, which is congruent with the published literature on β_2 integrins on T cells: In mice, absence of CD11b expression was shown to be one of the hallmarks of naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Christensen et al., 2001; Hataye et al., 2006; McFarland et al., 1992). This made manipulation of CD11b the best option, as any effects on T cell proliferation and differentiation in MLRs would be due to the DC-specific function of the β_2 integrin and not any T cellmediated effects.



Figure 4.14 CD45RO-CD4+ T cells express CD11a and CD18, but not CD11b

CD45RO-CD4+ T cells isolated from healthy buffy coat for use in MLRs were stained for expression of total β_2 integrins CD11a, CD11b, CD11c and CD18. Multi-colour dot plots of stained single CD3+CD4+ T cells are shown above histogram overlays of unstained t cells (black), an FMO control (grey) and the stained sample (white). N=1.

Effect of activating the Mo-DC integrin subunit CD11b on T cell priming

Considering the significant decrease in active CD11b expression between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, one could hypothesise that increasing active CD11b expression could enhance T cell proliferation and/or production of IFN-γ. This could be paired with a lower production of IL-10 in MLRs where CD11b activation was increased. Overall, I predict that increasing active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs might make them more similar to mature Mo-DCs in their ability to stimulate T cells. To investigate the role of CD11b on Mo-DCs in T cell proliferation, Mo-DCs were cultured as previously described, harvested and co-cultured with freshly isolated naïve T cells from healthy buffy coats. Proliferation and cytokine analysis from supernatants took place on Day 6 of culture.

To this end, a small-molecule agonist of CD11b, Leukadherin-1 (LA-1) was utilised to induce CD11b activation in MLRs. Leukadherins were identified to increase CD11b-

mediated adhesion to fibrinogen using a high-throughput screening system (Park et al., 2007), and have since been found to be a promising therapeutic agent (Dickinson et al., 2018). LA-1 specifically has been used in a wide range of studies and is commercially available. However, preliminary results testing the effect of LA-1 on MLRs showed that 15µM of LA-1, a concentration previously used in the literature (Maiguel et al., 2011), was not feasible due to the DMSO content: T cell proliferation was almost completely inhibited in both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC cultures when treated with either LA-1 or the DMSO control (Figure 4.15). These data indicate that it is the DMSO, rather than the LA-1, that is inhibiting T cell proliferation.



Figure 4.15 High concentrations of LA-1 dissolved in DMSO inhibits T cell proliferation in MLRs

Effect of 15μ M LA-1 or equivalent volume of DMSO (1.5%) as a control in MLRs with either mature (left) or tolerogenic Mo-DCs (right), compared to an untreated culture. Matched one-way ANOVA, Mo-DCs n=3, with naïve CD4+ T cells from a single donor.

As per the recommendation of the supplier, LA-1 was dissolved in pure DMSO before being added to cells, which meant cells in Figure 4.15 were exposed to 1.5% of DMSO. As concentrations over 1% of DMSO have been described to be toxic in some cell lines (Galvao et al., 2013), it was decided to reduce the amount of DMSO added to MLRs. To this end, LA-1 concentration was titrated using concentrations between 0.5% and 0.1% DMSO per well, which is tolerated by T cells (Kloverpris et al., 2010).

It was found that adding LA-1 at a concentration of 5µM, resulting in a final concentration of 0.5% of DMSO, caused no negative effects on T cell proliferation in mature Mo-DCs, with T cell proliferation being equivalent between untreated and

DMSO-treated cultures in a representative experiment, at 57.4 and 53.0%, respectively (Figure 4.16A), which was confirmed in DMSO treated cultures not being significantly different from untreated cultures (Figure 4.16B). LA-1 treatment of mature Mo-DC MLRs resulted in a broadly similar level of T cell proliferation (63.6%), again confirmed by LA-1 treated cultures being not significantly different from untreated MLRs (Figure 4.16A-B). Conversely, the tolerogenic Mo-DC MLR was visibly affected by even the reduced amount of DMSO, with T cell proliferation in the DMSO control being reduced to 4.03% compared to 70.2% in the untreated culture (Figure 4.16C). However, it was interesting to observe that treatment with 5µM LA-1 partially rescued T cell proliferation, with approximately a third (33.5%) of T cells in the LA-1-treated tolerogenic Mo-DC cultures undergoing cell division (Figure 4.16C). However, guantification of tolerogenic MLR data showed that while both DMSO and LA-1 treated MLRs showed significantly lower T cell proliferation, no significant increase between DMSO and LA-1 could be observed. As active CD11b was higher in mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.10), one could hypothesise that CD11b activation cannot be further increased as mature Mo-DCs already expressed the maximal amount possible. One the other hand, tolerogenic Mo-DCs did show significant loss of T cell proliferation in response to 0.5% DMSO, as well as 5µM of LA-1. This differential response to DMSO between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs was surprising, as it suggested either that T cells did not proliferate as effectively in the presence of DMSO or that tolerogenic Mo-DCs in turn show reduced ability to activate T cells due to DMSO exposure. However, LA-1-treated tolerogenic Mo-DC co-cultures had a trend for higher T cell proliferation than their DMSO control counterparts. When comparing DMSO control and LA-1 treatment directly to each other, however, the result was not significant. This would indicate that LA-1 cannot rescue the negative effect of DMSO on T cell proliferation and instead shows that CD11b activation in MLRs has no effect on T cell proliferation.

This was an unexpected result, as I had hypothesised that increasing activation of CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs especially, due to their low expression of active CD11b (Figure 4.10), would increase Mo-DC-mediated T cell proliferation. To test the efficacy of the CD11b activating drug, effect of LA-1 treatment on active CD11b expression was investigated on Mo-DCs exposed to either 5µM LA-1 or equivalent DMSO and compared to untreated cells (Figure 4.17). Interestingly, no consistent increase in active CD11b expression was found in either mature or tolerogenic Mo-

DCs from four donors. In fact, results seemed to differ widely between donors: While donor 1 (Figure 4.17A) and donor 4 (Figure 4.17D) showed no effect of LA-1 treatment in either mature or tolerogenic Mo-DCs, donor 2 (Figure 4.17B) showed lower active CD11b expression on mature Mo-DCs exposed to DMSO, and with the LA-1 treated cells actually being lower in active CD11b in both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, although this is likely to be due to the reduction in total CD11b expression observed in both Mo-DC subtypes. The only Mo-DC data-set where LA-1 treatment caused a visible increase in active CD11b expression was donor 3 (Figure 4.17C), but treatment with the equivalent percentage of DMSO increased active CD11b to a similar degree as LA-1 in both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

Overall, these data showed that treatment with 5µM LA-1 did not reliably induce an increase of active CD11b expression. LA-1 was reported to allosterically activate CD11b and thereby cause increased adhesion to fibrinogen and increased binding of an activation-specific antibody targeted at its pairing subunit CD18 (Maiguel et al., 2011). However, the same study also suggested that this was due to binding of LA-1 to the α I domain, which thereby stabilised the active conformation of CD11b. Therefore, while LA-1 was found to locally stabilise CD11b in its extended conformation, a global increase in expression of active CD11b was not observed in some studies (Faridi et al., 2013). Furthermore, using atomic force microscopy to test strength of ligand-integrin interaction, it was shown that LA-1 increased adhesion to ICAM-1 by increasing formation of membrane tethers with CD11b subunits showing weaker cytoskeletal linkage bonds (Celik et al., 2013). In light of this, it is possible that LA-1 is functional but that I cannot observe its functionality either with activationspecific antibodies, as it has not been reported to directly affect conformational state of CD11b, or in the more long-term culture conditions of an MLR, as it has been mostly reported to show effects in short-term cultures.



Figure 4.16 Effect of LA-1/DMSO on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs

Representative effect of 5µM LA-1 or 0.5% DMSO equivalent control on T cell proliferation in mature (A) and tolerogenic (B) Mo-DC MLRs, compared to untreated co-cultures. Effect of 5µM LA-1 or 0.5% DMSO equivalent control on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs, compared to untreated co-cultures. A. Representative effect of LA-1/DMSO on mature Mo-DC MLRs. B. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on mature Mo-DC MLRs. One-way ANOVA, Mo-DCs n=3, naïve T cells n=3.C. Representative effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. D. Quantification of effect of LA-1/DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. One-way ANOVA, Mo-DCs n=3, naïve T cells n=3.





Effect of 5μ M LA-1 or 0.5% DMSO control on expression of active and total CD11b in mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs after 18h of incubation at 37°C. A-D represent four individual Mo-DC donors. N=4.

Another option is that CD11b is already in its active conformation in donors A, B and D (Figure 4.17). This argument can be supported by Figure 4.18, which shows mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs with the respective lowest and highest MFI value for active CD11b. Comparing the highest recorded expression of active CD11b in both mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to the untreated conditions in Figure 4.17, this strongly suggests that CD11b is already in a highly active conformation and can therefore potentially not be activated further by LA-1.





Lastly, it was important to consider if the negative effect of the DMSO vehicle was due to Mo-DCs or T cells being affected. To this end, percentage of dead cells, both CD11c+ to gain information on any Mo-DCs remaining in culture, and CD11c-, to assess if DMSO was directly toxic to T cells was being compared between untreated and the DMSO control (Figure 4.19). However, cell death was not significantly different between untreated and MLRs exposed to DMSO, and it was furthermore very low. This suggests that the negative effect of DMSO on T cell proliferation was not mediated by toxicity mediating increased cell death. However, considering that DMSO was shown to increase expression of active CD11b in Donor C (Figure 4.17C), which was the only donor shown to not have high expression of active CD11b regardless of treatment, it could suggested that DMSO might have a range of effects on both Mo-DCs and T cells that hinder effective proliferation. However, as three out of four donors showed high expression of active CD11b.

To conclude, treatment of MLRs with LA-1 had no significant effect on T cell proliferation as active CD11b expression on Mo-DCs was not increased. There was

an unexpected negative influence of DMSO on tolerogenic Mo-DCs that was not observed to affect mature Mo-DCs. This suggests that the DMSO vehicle, that LA-1 was dissolved in, inhibited either Mo-DCs, T cells or both in their ability to produce T cell proliferation to a similar level of the untreated control. As active CD11b was not consistently increased by LA-1 treatment independently of DMSO, it was decided to not pursue measurement of IFN- γ and IL-10 concentrations in culture supernatants or further LA-1 treatment studies. Further investigation, for example of other CD11b agonists, is required to fully define the impact of CD11b activation in MLRs.



Figure 4.19 Effect of DMSO treatment on cell death

Assessing the percentage of cell death occurring in mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs in response to DMSO. Cells shown are single, positive for cell death marker and either CD11c- (T cells) or CD11c+ (Mo-DCs). Paired student's *t* test. N=3

Effect of blocking the β_2 integrin subunit CD11b

Due to the low expression of active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs and considering tolerogenic Mo-DCs reduced ability to stimulate IFN-γ production by T cells in an MLR, I hypothesised that downregulating active CD11b is an immunoregulatory process. Investigating this hypothesis, I predicted that blocking CD11b on Mo-DCs in an MLR would decrease T cell proliferation and IFN-γ production, while simultaneously increasing IL-10 production. To investigate the effect of blocking CD11b function, a CD11b-specific blocking antibody (clone M1/70) was compared to an isotype control which were added to the MLRs.

The effect of blocking CD11b on T cell proliferation is shown in Figure 4.20A. While tolerogenic Mo-DCs were not significantly affected in their ability to induce T cell proliferation with CD11b blocking, mature Mo-DCs induced significantly less proliferation of T cells when CD11b was blocked. In mature Mo-DC MLRs treated with a CD11b blocking antibody, significantly less T cells showed a high number of divisions (5-7), suggesting that blocking of CD11b caused T cells to either divide less quickly or stop dividing after less division cycles. As expression of active CD11b was already lower on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, one could hypothesise that availability of active binding sites for ligand was already reduced. This would suggest that, even though tolerogenic Mo-DCs still expressed high levels of active CD11b, reduction of active CD11b might only be able to reduce T cell stimulatory capability to a certain degree, which was already reached in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. This would explain the absence of an effect in tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs. One could therefore suggest that reducing CD11b activity on mature Mo-DC made them more tolerogenic Mo-DC-like. In support of this, there was a small but significant decrease in IFN-y concentration measured in MLR supernatants in mature but not tolerogenic Mo-DC MLRs when CD11b was blocked (Figure 4.20B). This suggested that blocking CD11b did not only have an effect on T cell proliferation but also reduced the amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by the T cells. On the other hand, no significant difference in IL-10 production was found with CD11b blocking of MLRs of either mature or tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.20C). The absence of an effect of blocking CD11b on IL-10 production by T cells could be due to different reasons. As I am hypothesising CD11b to be more pro-inflammatory, it is possible that production of IL-10 was simply not affected by CD11b. As previously mentioned, T cells can also produce IL-10, which might render small differences due to treatment with the CD11b blocking antibody invisible.





Effect of blocking of CD11b using a mAb (clone M1/70) compared to an isotype control (Rat, IgG2b, κ) in mature (red) and tolerogenic Mo-DC (blue) MLRs. A. Effect on T cell proliferation in percentage of T cells that showed diluted CTV signal due to cell division, percentage of T cells that have undergone proliferation (top) and percentage of cells per division category (1-2, 3-4, 5-7) (bottom) are compared between isotype control (unfilled circle) and CD11b blocking antibody (filled circle). B. Concentration of IFN- γ in MLR supernatants on day 6 measured by ELISA. C. Concentration of IL-10 in MLR supernatants on day 6 measured by ELISA. Paired Student's *t* test, Mo-DCs n=9, naïve T cells n=3.

To conclude, blocking CD11b significantly reduced the level of T cell proliferation and IFN-γ production elicited by mature Mo-DCs, but not tolerogenic Mo-DCs. One could therefore hypothesise that blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs made them more similar to tolerogenic Mo-DCs in terms of their T cell priming capacity.

4.3 Discussion

In this chapter, I investigated expression of both total and active CD11a and CD11b on mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as well as their respective ability to adhere to a range of β_2 integrin ligands. There, I found that tolerogenic Mo-DCs express higher levels of active CD11a, but lower levels of active CD11b compared to mature Mo-DCs, which suggested opposing roles between the two subunits. While tolerogenic Mo-DCs actually adhered significantly better to CD11b ligands iC3b and fibrinogen, only a trend towards increased adhesion to ICAM-1 could be found at its highest concentration. Lastly, findings of differences in β_2 integrin expression were taken forward to test the functional role of the β_2 integrin CD11b in MLRs, using activating and blocking agents. This showed that blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs reduced their ability to induce T cell proliferation and downregulated IFN-y production by T cells, suggesting that CD11b has pro-inflammatory roles in Mo-DCs. To summarise, in vitro study of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs has highlighted potential opposing roles for β_2 integrin subunits: high expression of active CD11a in tolerogenic Mo-DCs suggests an immunoregulatory role; whilst expression and intervention data point to a pro-inflammatory role for CD11b.

4.3.1 Opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b

While expression of the β_2 integrin CD11a in its active conformation was increased, in tolerogenic Mo-DCs compared to mature Mo-DCs, expression of active CD11b was significantly decreased in tolerogenic Mo-DCs. One can therefore conclude that they have opposing functions. While total CD11a or CD11b expression was not altered between Mo-DC subtypes, tolerogenic Mo-DCs expressed significantly higher levels of active CD11a and significantly lower levels of active CD11b compared to mature Mo-DCs. Tolerogenic Mo-DCs show decreased ability to stimulate IFN- γ production by T cells in an MLR, which may suggest that altered β_2 integrin conformational states could contribute to their tolerogenic function. Therefore, I hypothesised that CD11a has more immunoregulatory functions, as it was increased, while CD11b has more pro-inflammatory functions, as it was downregulated on tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

Evidence for immunoregulatory roles of CD11a

In the case of CD11a, an immunoregulatory role is supported by data in published literature. For example, constitutive activation of CD11a on BMDCs through a gene targeting approach actually reduced the amount of T cell proliferation DCs were ability to induce both in vitro and in vivo (Balkow et al., 2010). This was especially surprising, as constitutively active CD11a on DCs also increase their adhesion to ICAM-1 and prolonged contact time with T cells, both of which would have been expected to increase BMDC-mediated T cell stimulation. Furthermore, this effect could be rescued by blocking CD11a function using blocking antibodies, again suggesting that inactive CD11a is needed for effective T cell stimulation. Controlling activation of CD11a could therefore be understood as a highly effective immunoregulatory tool. However, this finding is surprising when considering what is known about timing DC-T cell interactions correctly. A large number of studies have shown that prolonged contact between T cells and DCs is needed for CD4+ T cell priming and proliferation (Celli et al., 2007; Hugues et al., 2004; Obst et al., 2005; Stoll et al., 2002). Additionally, Hugues and colleagues also reported that continuous short-term DC-T cell interactions are required for tolerance induction, and another study showed that Tregs limited development of diabetes by limiting contact duration between DCs and CD4+ T cells (Tang et al., 2006). However, another study showed that within the first 8h of antigen presentation, T cells only interacted briefly with DCs, after which they showed reduced motility and increased expression of activation markers (Mempel et al., 2004). After this time period, T cells were reported to associate with DCs for over 1h, finally resulting in T cell activation. This could suggest that early tight adhesion to T cells because of increased active CD11a might result in failure of T cells to upregulate activation markers CD44 and CD69 as well as increase cell motility. Seeing this in the context of my findings, it is therefore possible that the increase in active CD11a expression in tolerogenic Mo-DCs controlled contact duration with T cells. However, there is very little available information on CD11a in DCs, with no other studies finding a similar immunoregulatory role of CD11a in DCs.

It is also interesting that CCR7, which was found to be lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs in previous studies (Anderson et al., 2009, 2008), usually mediates activation of CD11a (Kliche et al., 2012). One could have therefore expected expression of active CD11a to be lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs due to their lower expression of CCR7.

However, as active CD11a expression was significantly increased in tolerogenic Mo-DCs this could have two reasons. Although CCR7 expression was not measured directly here, having utilised exactly the same protocol for generation of Mo-DCs and characterised their phenotype as identical to previous studies (Anderson et al., 2009, 2008; Harry et al., 2010), it is likely that CCR7 expression is similar to reported values in my cultures. It is therefore unlikely that expression of CCR7 on tolerogenic Mo-DCs was responsible for the increase in active CD11a. Another, more likely, possibility is that activation of CD11a in tolerogenic Mo-DCs is not mediated via inside-out signalling of CCR7. For example, Anderson and colleagues also found that expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 remained high in tolerogenic Mo-DCs even after stimulation with LPS (Anderson et al., 2009). This would suggest that higher expression of these cytokine receptors might mediate the higher expression of active CD11a instead. This is supported by studies finding that macrophages expressing CD11a were recruited at much lower levels to a site of nerve injury in a KO mouse model of CCR2 compared to CD11b positive macrophages (Siebert et al., 2000). Furthermore, CCL5, a ligand of CCR1, was shown to specifically mediate adhesion of T cells to ICAM-3 via CD11a, suggesting a role for especially CCR1 in mediating the increased expression of active CD11a (Szabo et al., 1997).

As discussed previously, targeting CD11a in an MLR holds caveats, as T cells also express the β_2 integrin subunit (Figure 4.14). This poses a technical challenge, as interfering with CD11a function in any way would always affect T cells as well as DCs, thereby making results less conclusive. However, there could be other ways to investigate the potential immunoregulatory role of CD11a on DCs. For example, an RNA silencing approach could be used to silence CD11a specifically on DCs before putting them in co-culture with T cells. One could expect that absence of CD11a from DCs would increase DC-mediated T cell stimulation. However, as transfection with a silencing RNA takes up to a week in culture, this approach would be difficult to do with mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, as tolerogenic Mo-DCs might alter their phenotype during this time and transfection rates might not be consistent between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs, making comparisons difficult. Possibly, a murine DC-specific KO of CD11a would give yield more information on the potential immunoregulatory role of CD11a.

Evidence for pro-inflammatory roles of CD11b

In contrast, the hypothesis that CD11b is a pro-inflammatory mediator of DC function due to my finding that it is significantly lower in tolerogenic Mo-DCs cannot be aligned with the published literature in the same way. Interestingly, active CD11b on DCs, similarly to active CD11a, was found to decrease the cells ability to stimulate T cells (Varga et al., 2007), which would suggest the significant reduction in active CD11b expression seen in Figure 4.10 actually represents a pro-inflammatory stimulus able to enhance T cell proliferation. However, this is not congruent with findings from my functional work, where I demonstrated that blocking CD11b on mature but not tolerogenic Mo-DCs significantly reduced the level of T cell proliferation and IFN-y production elicited by Mo-DCs (Figure 4.20). Other studies have furthermore shown immunoregulatory roles of CD11b, especially in preventing Th17 immune responses. CD11b KO mice were shown to be unable to induce oral tolerance in response to a repeated antigen challenge, which was suggested to be due to increased IL-6 production of CD11b deficient APCs which in turn swayed T cell differentiation towards a Th17 phenotype (Ehirchiou et al., 2007). In addition, ligating CD11b on human Mo-DCs was found to efficiently restrict Th17 T cell expansion from memory T cells by reducing the production of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 (Nowatzky et al., 2018a). However, as this study did not demonstrate a similar effect in naïve T cells, one could argue that this described immunoregulatory role of CD11b is not relevant in the experimental system utilised in this chapter whereby naïve T cell priming is quantified. Furthermore, ligation of CD11b was found to increase expression of MHC and costimulatory molecules on DCs, but restrict release of proinflammatory cytokines, thereby suppressing their stimulatory ability (Behrens et al., 2007), and CD11b was found to make DCs more tolerogenic (Škoberne et al., 2006). CD11b on DCs binding to ICAM-1 on inflamed endothelial cells similarly suppressed stimulatory function (Podgrabinska et al., 2009). Lastly, CD11b was found to be highly important in restricting TLR signalling on DCs (Han et al., 2010, p. 88; Yee and Hamerman, 2013), and was found to induce production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Wang et al., 2010).

However, while several studies mentioned above suggest that CD11b negatively regulates TLR signalling, one study reported that CD11b deficiency caused reduction in T cell activation due to DCs inability to endocytose TLR4 in response to LPS stimulation, thereby suggesting CD11b as a positive regulator of TLR4 (Ling et al.,

2014). Still, considering the overwhelming breadth of evidence of CD11b playing immunoregulatory roles, the results of this chapter suggesting the exact opposite of CD11b being more pro-inflammatory have to be scrutinised.

One possibility is that the CD11b blocking antibody causes the downstream signalling associated with CD11b ligation, resulting in an immuno-regulatory effect in line with previous reports. While several studies have shown that blocking CD11b reduced CD11b-mediated adhesion (Altieri, 1991; Kusunoki et al., 1994), it is not well-described if binding of the blocking antibody could induce intracellular signalling despite blocking adhesion. Published evidence on this is conflicting. In monocytes for example, CD11b-dependent enhancement of TNF- α production in response to monocytes was reduced when confronted with a CD11b blocking antibody compared to ligation of CD11b (Fan and Edgington, 1993). This would suggest that blocking CD11b does not have the same effect as ligating it in terms of downstream cell signalling. However, another study reported that macrophages could produce Nitric oxide (NO) in a dose-dependent manner, when treated with different levels of CD11b blocking antibody in the presence of IFN-y (Goodrum et al., 1994). Furthermore, ligation of CD11b with a different ligand did not have the same effect, suggesting that specifically M1/70, the CD11b blocking antibody used in this study, might have functional roles when binding to CD11b in addition to merely blocking access to other ligands. Thinking about this potential dual role of blocking CD11b and the wealth of literature describing anti-inflammatory roles of CD11b, this could imply that by blocking CD11b two distinct roles of the integrin subunits could be affected. First, its contribution to DC-T cell physical contacts via CD11b binding to its ligand ICAM-1 on T cells, which is a function that would be blocked. Second however, is the signalling role of ligated CD11b, which might have downstream effects on expression of costimulatory receptors and cytokine production and might potentially be increased by providing the CD11b blocking antibody in culture. CD11b blocking antibody acting in a similar way to ligation of CD11b, which was reported to be immunoregulatory, would explain the reduction in IFN-y production and T cell proliferation in mature Mo-DCs treated with it (Figure 4.20). However, it does not explain why tolerogenic Mo-DCs, which showed to induce significantly lower IFN- γ production by T cells compared to mature Mo-DCs, have comparatively lower expression of active CD11b on their surface (Figure 4.10).

Balance between β_2 integrin subunits

Another possibility is that β_2 integrin subunits, such as CD11a and CD11b (and indeed CD11c and CD11d), act in careful balance with each other, which is an aspect that none of the CD11b-specific studies mentioned above took into consideration. For example, mutating CD11b could potentially alter the balance of other β_2 integrin subunits, such as CD11a and CD11c, in an attempt to compensate for the loss of CD11b. Rather than attributing results directly to CD11b, it is therefore possible that the balance between different β_2 integrin subunits contributes to their respective function. This is especially likely considering the inconclusive results gained from investigating adhesive ability of Mo-DCs to a variety of β_2 integrin ligands, where it was found that tolerogenic Mo-DCs were not significantly increased in their adhesion to ICAM-1, although close at the highest concentration of ligand, but surprisingly showed significantly higher adhesion to ligands iC3b and fibrinogen, but not C4b, which had been hypothesised to be reduced due to the significantly lower expression of active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Figure 4.8 and Figure 4.12, respectively). As discussed, even if other β_2 integrin subunits such as CD11c compensated for reduction in active CD11b to mediate increased adhesion, this does still not explain why adhesion to C4b was not altered. This could suggest that balance of different β_2 integrin subunits is important to mediate adhesion to ligand.

Role of β_2 integrins on tolerogenic Mo-DCs

An important point that has not been discussed yet is the question if differences in expression of CD11a and CD11b on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs are downstream or upstream of cells assuming a tolerogenic phenotype. So far, I have assumed that alteration in expression of active CD11a and CD11b part of the changes that infer tolerogenic Mo-DCs with immunoregulatory functions. However, it is also possible that tolerogenic phenotype in turn drives altered β_2 integrin conformation on tolerogenic Mo-DC surfaces, thereby implicating it as a potential biomarker for tolerogenicity of Mo-DCs. Considering that targeting CD11b using a CD11b blocking antibody caused a reduction in T cell proliferation and IFN- γ production elicited by mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.20), it is likely that CD11b has a functional role, as well as the potential opportunity to use it as a biomarker for tolerogenic Mo-DCs. However, as manipulating CD11a was technically difficult, a functionally significant role for the increased expression of its active conformation

could not be confirmed in this study. Keeping in mind that another study did find that increases presence of active CD11a reduced T stimulatory capability of DCs (Balkow et al., 2010), it is however likely that both CD11a and CD11b might play distinct functional roles as well as being downstream of other tolerogenic mediators important for tolerogenic Mo-DC function.

While the proposed immunoregulatory role of active CD11a in Mo-DCs could not be proven functionally, it has been previously shown in the published literature. In contrast, the hypothesised pro-inflammatory role of active CD11b finds no relevant support in the very limited literature, and is actually found to be similarly immunosuppressive to active CD11a. However, when blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs I found T cell proliferation and IFN- γ production to be significantly lower, again supporting a pro-inflammatory role for CD11b. To conclude, CD11b might have pro-inflammatory roles on DCs that have not been extensively described so far and remit further investigation. Especially as CD11b seems to have both pro-inflammatory and immunoregulatory roles depending on context, involvement of other β_2 integrin subunits will have to be considered.

4.3.2 Possibility of modulating β_2 integrins to improve tolerogenic cell therapies for RA

As mentioned in Chapter 1, tolerogenic Mo-DCs tolerised with a patient-specific antigen contributing to RA disease in this individual is currently being explored as a promising cellular therapy for RA. In theory, a cell-based tolerogenic therapy would not only decrease immune activation short-term but also educate the immune system to re-establish tolerance to self that is lost in RA. While the phase I clinical trial established that tolerogenic Mo-DCs injected into the joint are safe and the highest dose was reported to have positive effects in some study participants (Bell et al., 2016), there are still some issues to resolve before this treatment can become available. Some of these issues, such as identifying a suitable antigen that is relevant for the immune response causing joint inflammation in a specific patient (Jansen et al., 2018), do not fall within β_2 integrin function. However, other aspects, such as the low migratory ability of tolerogenic Mo-DCs, could be partially explained and even potentially rectified by altered β_2 integrin function on tolerogenic Mo-DCs.

While earlier studies found that tolerogenic Mo-DCs express low levels of CCR7 and can migrate towards CCL19 in a transwell system, although less effectively

compared to mature Mo-DCs (Anderson et al., 2009, 2008), it remains unclear if tolerogenic Mo-DCs can migrate out of the joint to the LN and whether such migration to the LN is required for the induction of tolerance (Bell et al., 2016). As ability to present auto-antigen as well as migratory ability have been described as the hallmarks of yielding systemic tolerising effects (Hilkens et al., 2010), it is likely that tolerogenic Mo-DCs will need to reach the LN to interact with T cells and induce systemic tolerance. As the migratory ability of tolerogenic Mo-DCs using currently established protocols is poor, culturing methods may need to be adapted to ensure migratory ability of tolerogenic Mo-DCs is sufficient. In the following paragraphs, I will therefore briefly discuss the potential effects of β_2 integrin expression on the tolerogenic Mo-DCs ability to migrate and the possibility to alter their β_2 integrin functionality to improve migratory abilities.

Considering merely β_2 integrin expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, one cannot make assumptions about their ability to migrate. In mice, migration of cells from tissue to LN as found to occur independently of all β_2 integrins when in an inflammatory (Lämmermann et al., 2008; Morrison et al., 2014), which suggests that migration of Mo-DCs might occur independently of β_2 integrins in the inflammatory context of RA. However, the increased adhesion of tolerogenic Mo-DCs to plastic (observation in both Hilkens and Morrison labs), glass (Figure 4.5), as well as to iC3b and fibrinogen (Figure 4.12), suggests that altered composition of active β_2 integrin expression overall increases adhesion to various ligands, although adhesion to both plastic and glass could also be mediated by different adhesion receptors not considered in this study. This, in turn, might retain tolerogenic cells at the injection site, instead of being able to migrate to the draining LN.

Overall, testing migratory ability of tolerogenic Mo-DCs could not be attained due to limited time. However, migration towards LNs was shown to be independent of β_2 integrins in an inflammatory context (Lämmermann et al., 2008; Morrison et al., 2014) and blocking CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs had no significant effects on T cell proliferation (Figure 4.20). In murine studies however, integrin-deficient DCs were shown to migrate to LN in larger numbers in steady state, which was hypothesised to be due to decreased tissue retention (Morrison et al., 2014). Keeping in mind that reduced expression of active CD11b also yielded more tolerogenic cells, blocking CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs might potentially make them more tolerogenic and more migratory, although it has to be kept in mind that I could not observe any

changes in tolerogenic Mo-DC stimulatory capability when blocking CD11b (Figure 4.20). Furthermore, as tolerogenic Mo-DCs have been described to only express low levels of CCR7, blocking β_2 integrins might not improve exit from tissues and migration to LNs to a similar level as shown by Morrison and colleagues. Further work on this topic should therefore assess migratory ability in response to blocking β_2 integrin subunits alongside T cell stimulatory ability. However, instead of blocking CD11b, which was found to decrease T cell proliferation in mature Mo-DCs (Figure 4.20), it might be more interesting to block CD11a or CD11c to distinguish which subunit mediates the increase in adhesion to β_2 integrin ligands, which might impede migratory abilities.

When considering manipulation of β_2 integrins to improve tolerogenic Mo-DC therapy, any strategies will likely have spatially or temporally separate or multi-modal in nature. This is because of the range of functions β_2 integrins can be involved in, and they possibility that different subunits are playing potentially opposing roles in tolerogenic function. For example, if we assume that expression of integrins retains Mo-DCs in the joint after injection, it would be most feasible to block integrins to enable Mo-DCs to exit the joint and migrate towards LNs more effectively. However, considering β_2 integrins potential role in DC-T cell interactions, it is possible that balance of subunit conformation could contribute to tolerising T cells. Therefore, targeting β_2 integrins to enable migratory abilities of tolerogenic Mo-DCs might impair their ability to induce tolerance and vice versa. To add a further layer of complexity to this, β_2 integrins also have a potential role in inducing downstream signalling that alters expression of costimulatory molecules and production of pro- or antiinflammatory cytokines. For example, a blocking antibody meant to increase migration out of the injection site could simultaneously increase pro-inflammatory signals produced by tolerogenic Mo-DCs by acting as a ligand for CD11b. Targeting β_2 integrins will therefore have to be carefully tested to reduce unwanted off-target effects, due to the distinct roles of β_2 integrins in tolerogenic Mo-DC function.

To conclude, there are still severe gaps in current knowledge on the effect of β_2 integrins on Mo-DCs migratory ability. However, as these gaps are filled and available β_2 integrin targeting therapeutics advance, targeting β_2 integrins on tolerogenic Mo-DCs might be a real opportunity to improve cell therapy for RA.

4.4 Conclusions

In this chapter, I identified potentially opposing roles of the β_2 integrin α -subunits CD11a and CD11b utilising mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs as a model system for immune activation and tolerance in DCs. My findings suggest that active CD11a is more immunoregulatory, due to the increased expression of its active form on tolerogenic Mo-DCs. On the other hand, active CD11b was downregulated on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs and blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs in an MLR reduced their ability to stimulate proliferation of and IFN- γ production by T cells. Despite adhesion assays showing that tolerogenic Mo-DCs showed higher adhesion to iC3b and C4b and a range of literature suggesting the opposite, this is strong evidence that CD11b could also play a pro-inflammatory role on DCs.

Chapter 5 Opposing roles of β₂ integrins on antigen-presenting cells in patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis

5.1 Introduction

In an *in vitro* setting, I hypothesised that CD11b has more pro-inflammatory roles, while CD11a is potentially more immunoregulatory. This was based on my findings that active CD11b expression was reduced on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, while active CD11a expression was increased compared to mature Mo-DCs. This was further backed by the result that blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs reduced the amount of T cell proliferation they were able to induce in an MLR, as well as the amount of IFNy present in supernatants. Continuing this work, it was important to test if this finding could find support in an ex vivo setting. Specifically, in PB of healthy controls compared to patients with RA, a condition marked by a dysregulated immune system. The autoimmune condition RA was chosen as it represents a state of the immune system where tolerance to self is lost, which causes joint-specific as well as systemic pathology. Comparing healthy controls to patients who have active disease or are in remission therefore allows insights into how expression of β_2 integrins might potentially be altered in the context of loss of tolerance to self. As discussed previously, understanding both stimulatory and regulatory effects of β_2 integrins in DCs on immune function could make them more viable therapeutic targets for conditions such as RA, where immune regulation is lost, in the future.

5.1.1 Role of antigen-presenting cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis

While presentation of an auto-antigen to aberrant T and B cells is hypothesised to be the initiating event of RA pathogenesis, the role of APCs in RA pathogenesis as well as progression is not fully elucidated.

In mouse models of articular initiation of RA, conventional DCs were reported to have a critical role in T cell activation and concurrent joint inflammation (Benson et al., 2010), while pDCs were found to have more immunoregulatory roles in the murine joint (Jongbloed et al., 2009). However, the significance of DCs for RA progression is not well understood. Certain HLA-DR alleles, notably DR1 and DR4, are associated with more severe or more progressive disease, suggesting an important role for continuous T cell activation by DCs in RA (Weyand et al., 1992; Zeben et al., 1991). DCs were found to be present in higher numbers in synovial fluid of patients with established RA when compared to the less overtly inflammatory joint disease osteoarthritis (Harding and Knight, 1986), suggesting that there is an on-going role for DCs in maintaining joint inflammation. Circulating numbers of DCs in RA are a contentious issue, with several studies stating that circulating DCs are decreased in

RA (Cooles et al., 2018; Jongbloed et al., 2005), while others suggest DC numbers were actually higher (Estrada-Capetillo et al., 2013). This conflict in findings could be due to DCs becoming sequestrated in inflamed joint tissues at certain disease stages, removing cells from the circulating pool. However, it is established that Mo-DCs derived from RA patient blood monocytes are more pro-inflammatory than their healthy counterparts, characterised by increased IL-6 and IL-23 production and ability to induce Th17 cells (Estrada-Capetillo et al., 2013). Similarly, high numbers of DCs can be isolated from synovial fluid and were found to stimulate T cells better than cells isolated from peripheral blood (Zvaifler et al., 1985). Generally, as self-reactive T cells should be deleted in the thymus, it is hypothesised that DCs present self-protein that has been altered due to citrullination or other factors to T cells and provide sufficient pro-inflammatory cytokines and costimulatory factors to activate T cells, which are unable to recognise the altered self-protein (McInnes and Schett, 2011; Yu and Langridge, 2017). DCs therefore play important roles both in disease initiation as well as progression.

Monocytes are widely described to be more active in the context of RA, marked by increased expression of CD14 (Shinohara et al., 1992), a receptor for complexes of LPS and LPS binding protein (LBP) which can mediate immune sensitivity in response to infection (Wright et al., 1990). Interestingly, a range of β_2 integrins, including CD11a, CD11b and CD18 were also shown to be increased (Lioté et al., 1996; Torsteinsdóttir et al., 1999). While these changes are potentially due to the fact that monocytes are exposed to the inflammatory cytokine environment present in the systemic disease RA, evidence is accumulating that monocytes can also play an active role in creating the afore-mentioned pro-inflammatory environment. In vivo stimulated CD14⁺ monocytes from inflamed joints of RA patients were found to promote specifically Th17 responses when compared to resting CD14⁺ monocytes from PB (H. G. Evans et al., 2009), suggesting that monocytes have distinct proinflammatory roles in the joint that are independent of systemic cytokines. This is especially important, as Th17 T cells are considered a potent contributor to joint destruction in RA (van den Berg and Miossec, 2009). Another study found that CXCL16 expression, which was found to be a driver of immune cell recruitment to the joint as well as disease pathogenesis (Nanki et al., 2005; Voort et al., 2005), was not altered between monocytes from healthy donors and patients with RA. However, culturing monocytes together caused a significant increase in CXCL16, suggesting

than an increased influx of monocytes to the joint could in turn recruit other cells to the joint (Lieshout et al., 2009).

To conclude, it can therefore be said that both DCs and monocytes are thought to contribute to both initiation of RA as well as disease progression. Exploring the role of β_2 integrins on DCs and monocytes specifically could therefore be of special interest to understand how β_2 integrins might potentially contribute to these different functions.

5.1.2 Potential role of β_2 integrins in Rheumatoid Arthritis

There is a limited amount of published literature on the role of β_2 integrins in RA, but it is striking that β_2 integrin subunits CD11a and CD11b seem to have different reported functions in the context of RA (Schittenhelm et al., 2017).

In animal studies, CD11a was found to be important for the induction of RA disease models. Absence of CD11a in a KB x N serum transfer model of arthritis yielded mice resistant to disease induction (Watts et al., 2005). Supporting this, blocking all β_2 integrins in a rabbit model of RA caused a reduction of inflammation, suggesting that leukocytes could not be recruited to the joint in sufficient numbers to give rise to the full extent of the disease model (Jasin et al., 1992). Blocking CD11a, either using an anti-CD11a antibody (Kakimoto et al., 1992) or a small-molecule CD11a antagonist (Suchard et al., 2010), caused an improvement in clinical scores and reduced the amount of pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNA levels within the murine joint. Lastly, mice carrying a mutation in β_2 integrin ligand ICAM-1 similarly showed a reduction in susceptibility to the collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) model (Bullard et al., 1996). All of this suggests a pro-inflammatory role of CD11a in mice, specifically in leukocyte recruitment to the joint. In humans, however, the emerging role of CD11a seems to be more complex. CD11a expression was found to be increased in inflamed synovial tissue lymphocytes (Cush and Lipsky, 1988), but as the β_2 integrin subunit also plays an important role in lymphocyte migration, cause and effect are difficult to tease apart. On the other hand, blocking CD11a in vitro on healthy PB non-classical CD16+ monocytes was found to increase induction of Th17 T cells in response to treatment with a superantigen and a TLR2/NOD receptor agonist, suggesting an immunoregulatory role of CD11a on CD16⁺ monocytes but not CD14⁺ monocytes (Traunecker et al., 2015).

When considering the β_2 integrin subunit CD11b on the other hand, animal studies have shown that knocking out CD11b causes exacerbated joint pathology in a KB x N serum transfer model of arthritis (Watts et al., 2005). This result was repeated in a study utilising the CIA model, which also found that the observed increase in IL-6 production and Th17 priming could be reversed when introducing a DC cell line expressing CD11b (Stevanin et al., 2017), suggesting that CD11b plays immunoregulatory roles on DCs in RA. Surprisingly, a different study using both the CIA model and serum transfer model, found that blocking CD11b immediately before onset of symptoms could ameliorate symptoms and render serum unable to induce arthritis in SCID mice (Taylor et al., 1996), potentially suggesting that CD11b might also contribute to cell recruitment to the joint. When FcyRIIB-deficient mice, which spontaneously develop arthritis, were treated with a CD11b monoclonal antibody, symptoms were improved. This occurred in tandem with a reduction in migration of inflammatory cells to the synovium (Ohtsuji et al., 2018). Despite these promising animal studies, a functional polymorphism of ITGAM (CD11b), was found to be significantly associated with SLE, but not with RA (Lee and Bae, 2015). While the polymorphism, coding for a single amino acid substitution at position 77 of the extracellular domain of CD11b, remains able to undergo conformational changes, it shows impaired ability to adhere to CD11b ligands and mediate phagocytosis (MacPherson et al., 2011; Rhodes et al., 2012). However, CD11b was also found to be increased in peripheral CD14⁺ monocytes of RA patients (Lioté et al., 1996).

Consulting the published literature on a potential role of β_2 integrins in RA, it becomes apparent that several different aspects influencing β_2 integrin expression might occur simultaneously and might also differ between different cell types. First of all, there are systemic effects apparent in circulating cells as well as more local changes present in an inflamed joint. It is furthermore clear that β_2 integrins play a role in recruiting APCs to the joint, but other potentially more immunoregulatory roles in T cell activation are less well understood. Overall it is therefore possible that any additional roles carried out by β_2 integrins may be either subunit-specific, as suggested in the opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b observed in Chapter 4, or cell type specific, as suggested in studies finding differences in CD11b immunoregulatory function between classical and non-classical monocytes.

5.2 Aims

This chapter aims to assess expression and conformation of β_2 integrin subunits in APCs from RA patients and compare them to healthy controls. The aims of this chapter therefore were to:

- 1. Devise data analysis strategy that yields information on expression of both total and active β_2 integrins as well as how one relates to the other.
- 2. Quantify β_2 integrin expression and conformation on APC populations in PB from healthy controls
- 3. Compare expression and conformation of β_2 integrin α -subunits CD11a and CD11b specifically between PB of RA patients with active disease and in remission to healthy controls. Furthermore, compare expression and conformation of β_2 integrins in PB to SF of RA patients
- 4. Investigate if *in vitro* stimulation of PBMCs with various pro- and antiinflammatory stimuli or RA SF can mimic the joint environment in respect to β_2 integrin expression and conformation
- 5. Test the ability of PB cDC2 DCs to stimulate T cell proliferation in an MLR in the presence of CD11b antagonism or agonism.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Analysis and quantification of clinical data

 β_2 integrin expression was to be assessed on clinical samples acquired over a period of 1-2 years. As expression level (MFI or brightness of signal) was one of the major read-outs anticipated, standardising flow cytometry data over time was necessary. This was because flow cytometer lasers undergo shifts over time, which could render samples collected at the beginning of the recruitment period more different from samples recruited towards the end than from a sample from a different group (Schwartz et al., 1998; Watson, 1987). For this, BD application settings were utilised, which were applied to Fortessa X20 baseline throughout the recruitment period. Application settings rely on recording standardised reference beads upon which photomultiplier (PMT) voltages can be adjusted to (Gratama et al., 1998).

Quantifying expression levels of both total and active β_2 integrins simultaneously had the potential to yield a wide breadth of novel information. This was particularly the case because there is no available literature on the relationship between total expression and active conformation. Considering both total and active expression at the same time therefore provides unique insights into the role of β_2 integrin expression as well as conformational changes in different cell functions. To maximise information gained from this approach, a variety of analysis values were obtained for each sample. A detailed graphic representation of the different values obtained can be found in Figure 5.1.

For total expression of β_2 integrins, three values were obtained, including the MFI of the total population (1), the % of cells positive for the total marker in question (2) and the MFI of the cells that were positive for that specific marker (3) (Figure 5.1A). This is because different cell populations might have different proportions of cells positive for a marker. If, for example, the total β_2 integrin in question is only expressed on a small proportion of cells, the large negative population present will dominate the total MFI (1). In this case, %MFI (3) gives more accurate information on how much of that specific marker is present on the cells that express it. This also leads immediately into why it is important to consider both MFI (1 and 3) and %Positive (2). While MFI yields information on how bright the marker is in this cell population, suggesting more or less surface expression, percentage of cell positive for a specific marker gives important information on how widely the marker is expressed in a specific cell type.

For expression of active β_2 integrins, a total of five values were obtained. The first three values mirror what was obtained for the total expression of the subunit, with (4), (5) and (6) corresponding to MFI, %positive and %MFI respectively (Figure 5.1B). However, additionally to these values, two further measurements were taken into account to yield information on how total and active expression of a specific β_2 integrin subunit relate to one another (Figure 5.1C). To gather information on how many cells expressing the total β_2 integrin subunit also express the corresponding active subunit, the % of total-expressing cells positive for the active marker were recorded (T%) (7).

As this analysis was done for total and active β_2 integrin subunits CD11a, CD11b and CD18 on five APC subtypes, not all values acquired for each sample were possible to show in the following chapter. Instead, all data was considered and the value best suited to answer a specific question was selected.



Figure 5.1 β_2 Quantification of β_2 integrin subunit expression

Graphical description of data analysis strategy used for each cell type and β_2 integrin subunit considered (CD11a, CD11b or CD18). A. Data analysis strategy for total β_2 integrins, yielding measurements 1, 2 and 3. B. Data analysis strategy for active β_2 integrins, yielding measurements 4, 5 and 6. C. Data analysis strategy to connect total β_2 integrin expression to active β_2 integrin expression, yielding measurements 7.

Effect of PMA activation on β_2 integrins

While the use of PMA as a positive control was validated in Chapter 3, the desired effect of increasing active β_2 integrins was not significant, as it was only tested on three healthy samples. Additionally, the effect of PMA on CD11b and CD18 seemed to differ from the effect on CD11a, with the latter seemingly less responsive to stimulation. Therefore, it was decided to investigate the effect of PMA activation on CD11a with a larger sample size of healthy controls, as well as any differences between APC types reacting to stimulation with PMA. Additionally, the effect of stimulation on total β_2 integrins was assessed. For this, only double stained CD11a

total (when co-stained with active CD11a, affected by steric hindrance) was analysed due to limited cell number.

PBMCs were gated in accordance with the gating strategy presented in Chapter 3, section 3.3.6, Figure 3.7. This yielded classical (CD14⁺) as well as non-classical monocytes (CD16⁺), as well as three DC subtypes, cDC1 DCs (CD141⁺), cDC2 DCs (CD1c⁺) and pDCs (CD11c^{neg}). Expression of active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 on unstimulated (-PMA) and stimulated (+PMA) APC populations is compared in Figure 5.2. Active CD11a was not significantly altered by PMA stimulation in CD14⁺ monocytes or cDC2 DCs. Interestingly, however, active CD11a was significantly different in all other APC types, but instead of increasing the amount of active CD11a on the cell surface, PMA stimulation resulted in lower expression of active CD11a. Active CD11b was significantly increased upon PMA-stimulation in all APC types except pDCs. Lastly, active CD18 was significantly increased upon PMA stimulation in CD14⁺ monocytes and CD16⁺ monocytes, but none of the DC populations.

This reduction in active CD11a upon PMA stimulation could be due to increased endocytosis from the cell surface upon activation. However, this would suggest that active CD11a is endocytosed from the cell surface much quicker than active CD11b or CD18, where an increase in active β_2 integrin upon PMA stimulation can be observed. While this is possible considering my findings in Chapter 3 showing that sufficient CD11a staining can be achieved after 5min, while both CD11b and CD18 need to be stained for 30min to achieve sufficient signal (Chapter 3, 3.3.2, Figure 3.2), it still seems unlikely. Another possibility is that PMA acts differently on CD11a than it acts on CD11b and CD18. The fact that CD18 reacted to PMA differently on different cell types again suggests that there is APC-type specific regulation of β_2 integrin activation. This is especially the case for CD18, as an increase in active CD18 likely also caused associated α -subunits to become activated. The fact that this was not the case for CD11a, and furthermore not shown in DC populations suggests that different cell types regulate β_2 integrin subunits differentially to yield migration or adhesion results necessary in the biological context of the cell. This was supported by findings in the literature, showing that if CD11a is transfected into a non-hematopoietic cell line remains constitutively active and is not affected by a protein kinase C inhibitor reported to reduce expression of active CD11a (Dustin and Springer, 1989; Larson et al., 1990). This suggests that different cell types might

have different pathways to modulate β_2 integrin expression via intracellular domains (Ginsberg et al., 1992).

Next, the effect of PMA stimulation on total β_2 integrin expression was analysed (Figure 5.3). There was no significant effect of PMA stimulation on total CD11a expression except in pDCs, where total CD11a expression was significantly lower in the stimulated sample. Interestingly, total CD11b was significantly higher in all APC types except pDCs upon PMA stimulation. This suggests that PMA not only increased the amount of CD11b subunits assuming their high-affinity form, but also the amount of total CD11b on the cell surface.

This could mean that CD11b trafficking, which occurs at a faster rate than CD11a (Bretscher, 1992), is further increased when cells are stimulated with PMA. Total CD18 was also significantly increased in PMA-stimulated CD14⁺ monocytes, cDC2 DCs and cDC1 DCs, but not CD16⁺ monocytes or pDCs. Considering the results of both CD11a and CD11b, it is possible that CD11a is more dominant on CD16⁺ monocytes and pDCs, resulting in no significant difference in CD18, while the significant effect on total CD11b expression is more dominant on CD14⁺ monocytes, cDC2 DCs and cDC1 DCs. Furthermore, it is important to keep in mind that CD11c, which is highly expressed on all APC types but pDCs due to the utilised gating strategy, can also pair with CD18 and might thereby affect expression of total or active CD18 in response to PMA stimulation.

In summary, PMA stimulation caused an increase in expression of active CD11b in all cell types but pDCs and CD18 in both classical and non-classical monocytes. Surprisingly, expression of active CD11a was significantly lower after stimulation in CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC1 and pDCs, suggesting that the different β_2 integrin subunits react differently to PMA exposure. Furthermore, when testing the effect of PMA on total β_2 integrin expression, it was found that expression of total CD11b and CD18 is also significantly increased in several APC types after stimulation, potentially suggesting a role of PMA in β_2 integrin cycling. Expression of total CD11a was significantly reduced in pDCs but otherwise remained unaffected by PMA stimulation, again underlining that CD11a reacts to PMA in a fundamentally different way from both CD11b and CD18.



Figure 5.2 Effect of PMA on active β_2 integrin expression

Expression (MFI) of active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 was compared between unstimulated (black circles) and PMA-stimulated (open circles) healthy PB cells. Paired student's t test, n=29.



Figure 5.3 Effect of PMA on total β_2 integrin expression

Total expression (MFI) of CD11a, CD11b and CD18 was compared between unstimulated (black circles) and PMA-stimulated (open circles) healthy PB cells. Paired student's t test, n=29.

5.3.2 β_2 integrin expression on APCs in health

While there is evidence of different APC types expressing different levels of β_2 integrins, there is, to my knowledge, no information in the published literature on how this relates to β_2 integrin activation status (conformation). It was therefore of importance to assess a healthy control data set in respect to their total and active β_2 integrins on monocytes and DCs isolated from peripheral blood. To this end, 29 healthy controls were assessed using the active integrin panel described in Chapter 3 to quantify the expression of total and active integrin subunits on APCs.

Total β_2 integrins in healthy control APCs

Signal brightness of cells expressing the marker (MFI) for total CD11a, CD11b, CD18 and CD11c (MFI) for each of the APC types of interest is shown in Figure 5.4 (left). Additionally, the % of cells expressing the marker in question for CD11a, CD11b and CD18 was shown, as well as the MFI exclusively of cells expressing the marker (%MFI). Lastly, an overlay histogram of respective expression of total β_2 integrins on the five different APC subtypes was presented. As CD11c was used as a marker to delineate all APCs except for pDCs, % of cells expressing the marker is not shown as it would be 100% for all cell populations considered, except for pDCs. As discussed in Chapter 3, there is significant loss of CD11a total signal due to steric hindrance when staining for both active and total antibodies together. Total and active CD11a stained together ("double stain"), will therefore not only be shown in Figure 5.4A but will also be compared to the total CD11a single stain in Figure 5.5, allowing for validation of the double stained result. According to the double stain samples, CD11a expression is highest on cDC1 DCs, while expression on classical (CD14⁺) and nonclassical (CD16⁺) monocytes is similar to CD11a expression on cDC2 DCs. Lastly, pDCs are shown to have the lowest amount of CD11a expression on their surface, significantly lower even than cDC2 DCs. The differences in CD11a expression are shown to be indeed due to differing amounts of CD11a total on the cell surface of the APCs, as the % of cells positive for the CD11a total marker is close to 100% for all samples in CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes, as well as cDC1 and cDC2 DCs. pDCs are the only cell types that do not express CD11a on all the cells in the population in some healthy donors, but this difference is not significant. Importantly, when comparing these results to the single stained CD11a (Figure 5.5), results are largely the same. The only exception is that both CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes show significantly higher CD11a expression compared to cDC2 DCs, a result which is not visible in the double stained samples. This strongly suggests that steric hindrance occurring largely does not differ between cell types but is mostly consistent, enabling direct comparison of double stained samples. It can therefore be concluded that assessment of total expression of CD11a is not hindered by the presence of steric hindrance in the used experimental systems, as relative differences between cells persist regardless of its presence.

CD11b expression shows a markedly different expression profile from CD11a in healthy control APCs. It is highest expressed in CD14⁺ monocytes, and shows very

low expression on CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2, cDC1 and pDCs, which were all significantly lower than CD14⁺ monocytes. Interestingly, CD11b expression showed more variation in % expression between cell populations. While almost 100% of CD14⁺ monocytes expressed CD11b on their surface, this was not the case for the other cell types. CD11b was only expressed on around 60% of CD16⁺ monocytes and cDC2 DCs, and 30% of cDC1. pDCs had the lowest %positive value, with only 20% of cells in the population expressing CD11b total (Figure 5.4B).

CD18 expression was highest on CD14⁺ monocytes and lowest on pDCs, with expression being significantly lower on cDC2s compared to CD16⁺ monocytes (Figure 5.4C). Similarly, to CD11a total, CD18 was expressed on almost 100% of the cell populations considered, meaning that graphs plotting MFI and %MFI look virtually the same, with the difference in signal brightness being due to the amount of CD18 expressed on the cell surface and not to the amount of cells expressing it.

Lastly CD11c was highest in CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC2 DCs, and significantly lower CD16⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs Figure 5.4D). As the absence of CD11c in the presence of HLA-DR was used to delineate pDCs it is not surprising that the marker was absent from this population. However, it is important to note that none of the β_2 integrins considered were highly expressed on pDCs, which always showed lowest expression compared to other APCs.


Figure 5.4 Total β_2 integrins in healthy controls

Total expression of CD11a, CD11b, CD18 and CD11c in five APC subtypes of interest, CD14+ monocytes+, CD16+ Monocytes, cDC2 and cDC1 DCs, as well as pDCs. Measurements shown are %MFI and %Positive cells, except for CD11c where only MFI was available. Repeated measures one-way ANOVA, n=29.





Double stain of total and active CD11a affected by signal loss due to steric hindrance (left) compared to single stain of total CD11a unaffected by signal loss due to steric hindrance (right). %MFI and %Positive for total CD11a expression are shown. Repeated measures one-way ANOVA, n=29.

To summarise, total CD11a and CD18 were expressed on virtually all cells of any given population. This is maybe not surprising, as both are needed for homeostatic monocyte migration (Henderson et al., 2003), a role which could also be true for circulating DCs. CD11b on the other hand was present on nearly all CD14⁺ monocytes, but percentage of cells stained positive for the marker was significantly lower in CD16⁺ monocytes and cDC2 DCs, significantly lower again in cDC1 DCs and lowest values were recorded in pDCs. Considering brightness of signal only in cells positive for the total integrin, CD11a had a markedly different pattern from all other total β_2 integrin subunits considered. Total CD18, CD11b and CD11c were

highest expressed on CD14⁺ monocytes, with significantly lower levels in CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 and cDC1 DCs, and significantly lower levels again in pDCs. Total CD11a on the other hand was highest expressed on cDC1 DCs, with medium expression in CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes, as well as cDC2 DCs. What all β_2 integrins shared however, is their low expression on pDCs, which were significantly lower in all integrin subunits.

Considering how this compares to previously published date on β_2 integrin expression in human DCs and monocytes (Chapter 1, section 1.4.2, Table 1.1), this data set confirmed several previously published results, including that cDC2 DCs were significantly higher in CD11c compared to cDC1 DCs (Haniffa et al., 2012; Robbins et al., 2008), that pDCs expressed CD11a (Rosa et al., 2003) but almost no CD11b (Haniffa et al., 2012; Li et al., 2011; Rieckmann et al., 2017) and that circulating monocytes expressed CD11a, CD11b and CD11c. However, this data set did not confirm the findings that CD11b expression is higher in cDC2 DCs than in cDC1 DCs (Haniffa et al., 2012; Robbins et al., 2008), but rather shows that less cDC1 DCs are positive for the marker. Instead, the data in Figure Figure 5.4 indicate that CD11b expression was equivalent in these DC populations.

To summarise, I have found that different APC types differ not only in their respective expression of β_2 integrins, but also in the amount of cells expressing the β_2 integrin subunit. While all APC types were found to express CD11a and CD18 on their surface, expression of CD11b was more varied between cell types. Furthermore, I showed that the amount of signal lost due to steric hindrance when staining both total and active CD11a together is consistent in all APC types. This importantly means that total CD11a expression can be compared between APC types using double-stained samples affected by steric hindrance.

Active β_2 integrins in healthy control APCs

Having found high expression of β_2 integrin subunits in cDCs and monocytes, but not pDCs, I went on to assess the expression of the active β_2 integrins forms in these APCs. When investigating active β_2 integrin subunits, only CD11a, CD11b and C18 could be considered, as active CD11c was not included due to limitations of the panel design. Total MFI (left, all cells expressing the active β_2 integrin in question), as well as the percentage of cells expressing both total and active β_2 integrins (T %Positive, middle left, percentage of cells expressing total β_2 integrin that also

163

express the active β_2 integrin in question), the MFI of cells positive for the active conformation of the respective β_2 integrin (%MFI, middle right, MFI of active β_2 integrin on cells that also express its total form) and a histogram overlay of expression in all five APC types is shown in Figure 5.6. This allowed for both comparing the amount of positive staining between populations (MFI, %MFI, histogram overlay), as well as showing how many cells of a population express the respective active integrin subunit (T %Positive).

Similar to total CD11a (Figure 5.4, Figure 5.5), active CD11a was expressed on almost 100% of cells, that also expressed total CD11a, of all APC populations analysed. Again, pDCs had a lower percentage of cells positive for active CD11a in some samples, but this was not significant. Highest levels of active CD11a were measured on CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs, and significantly lower on CD16⁺ monocytes. Expression of active CD11a was further reduced in cDC2 DCs, and significantly lower again in pDCs. It is interesting to note that expression of active CD11a on the cell surface was similar between CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs, even though cDC1 DCs express much higher levels of total CD11a (Figure 5.4). This suggests that CD11a activation on cDC1 DC surfaces is tightly controlled, as it did not directly correlate with the amount of total CD11a expression. The fact that different cell types showed significantly different amounts of active CD11a staining, with highest signal recorded in CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs, thereby implies that conformation of CD11a is cell type specific. This suggests two things: the first is that different cell types have different 'optimum' levels of active CD11a at steadystate. As an example, different APC populations might require different levels of active CD11a to adhere to endothelium and extravasate into tissue depending on cell size or density. However, the data did not fit this hypothesis, as active CD11a was found in lower levels on cDC2s compared to cDC1 DCs, even though cDC2 DCs are closer in cell size and granularity to cDC1 DCs than to CD14⁺ monocytes. The other, more likely option, is that there are differences in CD11a expression and conformation between different APC subtypes, which might impact on the respective biological function of these cells.



Figure 5.6 Active β_2 integrins in healthy control APCs

Active expression of CD11a, CD11b, CD18 in five APC subtypes of interest, CD14+ monocytes, CD16+ Monocytes, cDC2 and cDC1 DCs, as well as pDCs. Measurements shown are MFI, T %Positive cells and %MFI. Repeated measures one-way ANOVA, n=29.

The highest expression of active CD11b was found in CD14⁺ monocytes, with close to 100% of this population expressing the total marker also expressing the active marker (Figure 5.6B). This was significantly different from only 40-50% of total CD11b⁺ CD16⁺ monocytes and cDC2 DCs expressing active CD11b. A mean of 30% of total CD11b⁺ cDC1 DCs expressed active CD11b, but the spread between donor samples was very wide, with some donors having up to 90% of total CD11b⁺ cDC1 DCs expressing active CD11b. Thus, active CD11b expression was not significantly different from CD16⁺ monocytes and cDC2 DCs. Lastly, active CD11b was only expressed on around 20% of total CD11b⁺ pDCs, which was significantly lower compared to all other APC populations except cDC1 DCs. MFI of the cells that did express active CD11b is much more uniform. CD14⁺ monocytes expressed by far the greatest levels of active CD11b, while all other APC populations were guite similar to each other. However, the 20% of total CD11b⁺ pDCs that expressed active CD11b on their cell surface did express significantly less than CD16⁺ monocytes, but not any of the other APC types. It is striking that CD14⁺ monocytes were found to have such high expression of active CD11b. Especially as published literature suggested β_2 integrins are largely inactive on cells in circulation (Li et al., 2017), this could again suggest that CD14⁺ monocytes have a lower threshold for CD11b activation compared to other APC types.

Lastly, active CD18 showed a similar expression pattern to active CD11b. CD14⁺ monocytes expressed significantly more active CD18 than all other APC types considered (Figure 5.6C). They were also close to 100% positive for active CD18, which was significantly different from only 25-35% of total CD18⁺ CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC1 DCs and cDC2 DCs. pDCs showed the lowest expression of active CD18⁺ cells, with only 10% of total CD18⁺ cells positive.

To summarise, CD11a has different expression and activation patterns across APC populations compared to the other β_2 integrin subunits. Importantly, cDC1 DCs expressed higher levels of both the total and the active forms of CD11a compared to cDC2 DCs. Total CD11b expression was lower in cDC1 compared to cDC2 DCs, although expression of active CD11b was equivalent. These differences between CD11a and CD11b in cDCs were especially interesting as it mirrored observations made during the active integrin panel optimisation process in Chapter 3, where CD11a showed different properties in regard to steric hindrance, staining duration and staining temperature, compared to CD11b and CD18. This suggests that while

166

CD11a and CD11b have overlapping functions, they are not interchangeable and show differences in which cell types they have which roles on.

The effect of age on β_2 integrin expression and conformation

After providing a thorough analysis of β_2 integrin subunit expression and conformation in APC populations in healthy control individuals, I now go on to assess the effect of an individual's age on expression and conformation of β_2 integrins. Assessing the effect of age on β_2 integrins is especially interesting in respect to a potential immunoregulatory role β_2 integrins might play, as senescent DCs were shown to be less able to stimulate T cells (Gardner et al., 2017) and that monocytes from individuals over the age of 65 are functionally and transcriptionally distinct upon activation from monocytes derived from younger donors (Metcalf et al., 2017). Testing the effect of age on β_2 integrin expression is therefore valuable not only to ensure age differences between healthy controls do not affect the results, but also to reveal potential differences in their function with age. As there is no published information on how β_2 integrins might differ with age of the individual, correlation between age of the donor and the signal of total and active β_2 integrins is shown in Figure 5.7.

Neither total nor active CD11a showed any significant correlation with age in any of the cell types. A similar picture emerges for total and active CD11b, suggesting that neither CD11a nor CD11b are in any way affected by age. Active CD18 is significantly correlated with age in CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs, while total CD18 is significantly correlated with age in cDC1 DCs and pDCs. However, when considering the R² values for the linear regression calculated for each correlation, they are very low, ranging from 0.139 to 0.258. This suggests that the correlation is not very strong and that the statistically significant result could arise due to a Type II statistical error. However, as the possibility remains that CD18 is correlated with the age of the donor, this needs to be considered later when comparing healthy controls to RA patients: the analysis will include age as a covariate to ensure that any effects seen are not due to a difference in age.



Figure 5.7 Correlation of total and active β_2 integrin expression with age in healthy controls. Age in years was correlated to total and active CD11a (left), CD11b (middle) and CD18 (right) for APC subtypes of interest. Total β_2 integrins are shown in black, active β_2 integrins are shown in green, with respective R² values and significance noted above each plot. Linear regression with fitted line, n=29.

Effect of gender on total β_2 integrin expression

Similarly to age, it is not known if gender has any effect on β_2 integrin expression. However, several studies have highlighted differences in immune system function

depending on gender (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Whitacre, 2001), making it important to investigate β_2 integrins in this context. Figure 5.8 shows total CD11a, CD11b and CD18 expression for healthy APCs from females and males, which shows that total CD11a is significantly higher in female than in male healthy controls. RA occurs in women at twice the rate than it occurs in men (Alamanos and Drosos, 2005). Due to the higher number of females, healthy controls could not be agematched exactly, although 9 of 10 male healthy controls could have been matched to 9 female healthy controls. However, as the mean age of female healthy controls was 46.30 and the mean age of male participants was 43.78, the difference in ages was not considered to have significant impact. As this healthy control data set was collected to eventually be compared to RA patient samples, healthy female and male samples were collected in proportion to reflect this observed 2:1 ratio. CD11a expression is significantly lower in males, which is true for all APC types analysed. Note that this difference was apparent when plotting either single or double stained CD11a total (data not shown). On the other hand, total CD11b and CD18 expression show no significant increase or decrease associated with gender. As the effect of higher CD11a expression on APCs from female participants was so striking, it was next considered if this was due to total CD11a being expressed on a lower percentage of cells in male participants. However, when looking at the percentage of cells positive for total CD11a in different APC populations (Figure 5.9), both male and female study participants showed close to 100% of cells expressing total CD11a in all APC types.



Figure 5.8 Effect of gender on total β_2 integrin expression in healthy controls

Total CD11a, CD11b and CD18 expression was compared between female (n=20, red circles) and male (n=9, blue squares) healthy controls in five APC types of interest. Unpaired t test, total n=29.



Figure 5.9 Percentage of male and female APCs expressing total CD11a

Percentage of APC population expressing total CD11a (% Positive) was compared between female (n=20, red circles) and male (n=9, blue squares) healthy controls. Unpaired t test, total n=29.

This suggests that women have higher total CD11a expression on APCs rather than increased proportion of APCs expressing total CD11a. However, when analysing active β_2 integrins on APCs from female and male participants (Figure 5.10), active CD11a does not show the same difference between genders, suggesting again that active β_2 integrins do not directly correlate to the level of total integrin expression. Active CD11b and CD18 are also not significantly different between genders.

In summary, gender of the study participant does not have any effect on conformation of β_2 integrins, but females express significantly more CD11a across APC types compared to males. This is an interesting finding that will be discussed in more detail in the discussion of this chapter.





Expression of active CD11a, CD11b and CD18 was compared between female (n=20, red circles) and male (n=9, blue squares) healthy controls in five APC types from PB. Unpaired t test, total n=29.

5.3.3 β_2 integrin expression in APCs in Rheumatoid Arthritis

As discussed in the introduction to this chapter, there is a potential role for β_2 integrins in RA initiation or progression. However, due to range of β_2 integrin functions between migration and adhesion and the complexity of RA, it is difficult to draw clear conclusions from previously published literature. To gain more knowledge of the potential immunoregulatory roles of β_2 integrins, I aimed to identify any changes in expression and conformation of β_2 integrin expression on APCs in patients with RA, RA patients were recruited in a local clinic and processed immediately. Samples were categorised into active (DAS28>3.2) and remission (DAS28<2.6) groups according to 2010 EULAR RA classification criteria (Aletaha et al., 2010). Healthy controls showed no signs of joint pain and had not been diagnosed with a disease or disorder affecting the joints.

Power calculations for RA patient sample size

As there was no published information to the effect size that could be expected, power calculations were expected to be adjusted during the sample acquisition process (Jones et al., 2003). As discussed in the methods (Chapter 2, section 2.9, Table 2.4 and Table 2.5), a priori power calculations assuming a power of 0.95 showed that 34 samples per group would be sufficient to detect a large effect size after Cohen's d (Cohen, 1992). Assuming only 80% (0.8) probability that significant results were indeed correct lowered the amount of samples per group to 13 to effect large effect sizes, or to 31 samples per group to detect medium effect sizes. It was therefore decided to collect 10 samples in each group and repeat power calculations once effect sizes specific to total and active β_2 integrin expression in APCs could be attained (Lakens, 2013). Effect sizes were calculated using the mean squared residual (MSresidual), a value that describes the difference between the sample mean and the individual observed values, which derived from a one-way ANOVA and g*power. Effect sizes varied widely between β_2 integrin cell type combinations, with active CD18 expression needing 1344 samples per group to correctly detect a significant difference at 95% probability. Considering that small effect sizes between 10 samples per group in certain β_2 integrin APC types combinations (6 total and active β_2 integrin subunits x 5 APC types) signified that there was no significant difference to be detected, it was decided to only consider combinations where sample number per group could be reasonably recruited in the available time frame.

173

Calculating this, it was found that 32 samples per group yielded 12 of 30 β_2 integrin APC combinations to be correctly powered at 0.8 or above. These 12 correctly powered comparisons consisted out of five total CD11a comparisons (all APC types), four total CD11b comparisons (all APC types except pDCs), two active CD11a comparisons (CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes) and one active CD11b comparison (CD14⁺ monocytes). The sample number needed to achieve the next tier of correctly powered comparisons per group, was not considered to be achievable. It was therefore decided to aim to recruit at least 32 samples per group.

	Healthy Controls	Active RA	Remission
Recruitment	No known joint	DAS28 (ESR)	DAS28 (ESR)
criteria	disease	>3.2	<2.6
Final n number (patients recruited)	29 (29)	31 (29)	24 (35)
Median age	52 years	63 years	65 years
(age range)	(22-71)	<i>(35-87)</i>	<i>(37-81)</i>
M:F ratio	9:20 M:F	5:26 M:F	10:14 M:F
(ratio)	(1:2.1)	<i>(1:5)</i>	(1:1.4)
Mean DAS28 (±SD)	N/A	4.48 (±1.03)	1.73 (±0.67)

Recruited RA patients

Table 5.1 Recruitment details of healthy controls and patients with RA

The final number recruited for each group, as well as their median age, gender ratio and mean DAS28 is shown in Table 5.1. A total of 29 healthy controls, 31 active RA and 24 RA patients in remission were recruited for this study. The largest number of samples had to be excluded in remission patients, where more than 10 patients were diagnosed by their healthcare professional to be likely in remission but whose DAS28 was equal or higher than 2.6. Interestingly, 2 patients that were identified to be likely in remission in the clinic turned out to have a DAS28 over 3.2, which is why they were included in the active RA cohort. Differences in 'clinical remission' (no tender or swollen joints) and remission defined by DAS28 cut-off points have been observed in the past, with the criticism being raised that DAS28 might be an imperfect tool to assess remission (Mäkinen et al., 2005). However, while CRP-DAS28 was found to underestimate remission, this was not observed in ESR-DAS28 (Sheehy et al., 2014), which was used throughout this study, as CRP-DAS28 could not be obtained for all patients. It was, however, also found that patients' perception of disease activity, which is a composite part of the DAS28 value, is dependent on the difference between disease activity at the beginning of treatment compared to a later time point (ALETAHA et al., 2009; Felson et al., 2011). This could be one reason why clinical perception of disease activity and DAS28 did not match.

Healthy controls were recruited to match age and gender ratio of RA patients as closely as possible. However, age-matching was found to be difficult. This was due to the fact that healthy donors were still largely in the work force, while recruitment of established RA patients included many who were of retirement age. While the oldest healthy donor was 71 years old, oldest donors in both active and remission RA were 10-15 years older, being 87 and 81 respectively. However, age-spread between healthy controls and RA patient samples was similar. Considering this, the age-gap of 10 years between the median healthy control and the median RA patient was thought to be acceptable. As studies have shown that RA occurs in twice as many women as men, healthy controls were recruited accordingly. However, this data set shows a much higher number of women in active RA with a ratio of 1:5, while the ratio in remission is closer to 1:1.4. Considering the differences in total CD11a between female and male healthy controls (Figure 5.8), the effect of gender on total CD11a expression will have to be considered in all further analysis. The mean DAS28 confirms that samples collected show high and low disease activity according to their group.

Disease status and medication in RA patient samples

Disease status as well as the drugs study participants were prescribed are shown in Table 5.2. Both active and remission groups had disease for 10-13 years. Participants with active RA were more likely to be RF+, while CCP+ status was similar between groups. In terms of medication, more patients in remission were on MTX (70.8%) compared to people with active disease (54.8%). This could potentially be explained by adverse reactions to MTX, which in turn could negatively affect disease activity. Alternatively, there is a higher likelihood that the first-line treatment MTX had not controlled disease in the past so had been discontinued in these patients with active disease. Approximately half of both groups were on various DMARDs, with HCQ being the most commonly prescribed drug in both groups. It is apparent that there was less DMARD variety in the remission group, potentially due

175

to the successful treatment with one of the first-line DMARDs. Lastly, approximately 10% less patients in remission were on biologics (20.8%), while 32.3% of patients with high disease activity were on biologics.

RA disease status				
	Active	Remission		
Mean Disease duration (±SD)	12.73 (±8.68)	10.83 (±7.11)		
Rheumatoid Factor (RF) status	RF+ve: 24 RF-ve: 4 Unknown: 3	RF+ve: 14 RF-ve: 6 Unknown: 4		
Anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (anti-CCP) status	CCP+ve: 21 CCP-ve: 4 Unknown: 6	CCP+ve: 15 CCP-ve: 2 Unknown: 7		
RA Therapeutics				
No medication	3 patients (2 <6months after diagnosis)	1 patient		
Methotrexate (MTX)	51.51% (17/31) (6 take no other drugs)	70.8% (17/24) (7 take no other drugs)		
Disease-modifying anti- rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) Hydroxychloroquine(HCQ) Sulfasalazine (SSZ) Prednisolene (PRED) Leflunomide (LEF) Azathriopine (AZA)	58.1% (18/31) HCQ: 11 SSZ: 10 PRED: 3 LEF: 2 AZA: 1	50% (12/24) HCQ: 7 SSZ: 4 PRED: 1 LEF: 0 AZA: 0		
Biologics Tocilizumab (TOC) Rituximab (RTX) Baricitinib (BAR) Certolizumab (CERT) Etanercept (ETA)	32.3% (10/31) TOC: 2 RTX: 1 BAR: 3 CERT: 1 ETA: 1 Unknown: 2	20.8% (5/24) TOC: 2 RTX: 1 BAR: 0 CERT: 2 ETA: 0 Unknown: 0		

Table 5.2 Information on disease pattern and prescribed therapeutics in the recruited RA patients

The comparably smaller number of people prescribed Biologics is easily explained by the high cost of the medication, which usually makes it a last effort to reduce disease activity if other drugs have failed.

Even though sufficient numbers of samples could only be attained in the active RA cohort with 31 samples, patient recruitment can still be considered a tentative success. Comparisons of expression are still highly powered in 8 of the assumed 12 comparisons, including both total CD11a and CD11b in cDC1 and cDC2 DCs, which are the main cells of interest to understand the role of β_2 integrins in DCs. Furthermore, three comparisons are still correctly powered to compare active RA to healthy controls (CD11a active and CD11b active in CD14⁺ monocytes, CD11a total in CD16⁺ monocytes), with the only comparison that is not correctly powered due to the lower amount of healthy controls and remission samples recruited being CD11b total in CD14⁺ monocytes. While having to exclude a large part of remission samples was unfortunate, this seems to be common in clinical research pertaining remission, but did not largely affect the comparisons made. The differences in age (Figure 5.7) and gender ratio (Figure 5.8) between different groups have to be considered. To further ensure age was not a significant factor, it was used as a covariate when differences between different patient groups were assessed. Furthermore, gender ratios between healthy controls and RA patients' groups were different, an aspect which might influence expression of especially total CD11a. This will be discussed in more detail in the discussion at the end of this chapter. Considering the RA patient groups, they compare well to published literature in terms of medication and disease status ("Guidelines for the management of rheumatoid arthritis," 2002; Song and Kang, 2010). It can therefore be concluded that the group of RA patients recruited into the study are representative of the wider patient community and can be compared to published studies.

5.3.4 The β_2 integrin CD11a in APCs from RA patients

First, it was assessed if expression of CD11a is altered in RA. For this, the data set discussed above was interrogated in terms of total and active CD11a expression.

Expression of total CD11a on different APC types between patients who have high disease activity or who are in remission is shown in Figure 5.11. No significant differences between RA patient groups were found, suggesting that CD11a expression on APCs is not a significant factor in either contributing to active disease

177

or controlling remission. When comparing healthy controls to both RA patient groups (Figure 5.12), representative histogram overlays show that expression of total CD11a is slightly lower on CD14⁺ monocytes from patients in remission and also on cDC2 DCs from RA patients in general (Figure 5.12A). However, Figure 5.12B shows that total CD11a is significantly lower in cDC2s from patients with both active disease and remission, when compared to healthy controls. However, the fold difference between active RA and healthy controls is quite small at 1.42, and the fold difference between remission and healthy controls is 1.63 in cDC2 DCs, which is similarly low. Interestingly, this trend is mirrored in CD14⁺ monocytes, cDC1 and pDCs, where only patients with low disease activity show significantly lower CD11a expression than healthy controls. This suggests that expression of total CD11a is altered, particularly on cDC2 DCs, in the inflammatory context of RA, but regardless of disease activity. Considering the higher expression of active CD11a on tolerogenic DCs compared to mature DCs shown in Chapter 4, one could hypothesise that the immunoregulatory function of CD11a is lost in RA, contributing to an altered immune phenotype that does not return to 'normal' despite disease remission.



Figure 5.11 Total CD11a expression in RA

Total expression of CD11a (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and disease in remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types of interest isolated from PB. Unpaired student's t test.

As mentioned previously, total CD11a shows significant signal loss due to steric hindrance when stained together with active CD11a. To confirm the result of reduced

total CD11a in cDC2s isolated from RA patients compared to healthy controls, single stained total CD11a was plotted (Figure 5.13A, right). Surprisingly, no significant difference between RA patient samples and healthy controls was found in the single stained total CD11a samples. Looking further into this, it can be observed that rather than CD11a being lower in cDC2s from RA patients, it is the amount of steric hindrance that is increased in both active and remission RA groups. This was confirmed by considering both the difference in MFI (Figure 5.13B, left), showing significantly increased MFI between double and single stain, as well as the % of steric hindrance (Figure 5.13B, right), showing that a significantly greater percentage of total CD11a signal is lost in both RA patient groups.



Figure 5.12 Total CD11a expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients

Expression of total CD11a comparing RA patient groups (active and remission) to healthy controls. A. Histogram overlays of representative total CD11a expression of each of the groups in each of the APC types. Representative samples were chosen as close to median of patient group as possible. B. Total CD11a expression (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.





Total CD11a expression on cDC2 DCs compared between healthy controls (black circles, n=29) and patients with either active RA (orange squares, n=31) or in RA remission (blue triangles, n=24). A. Total CD11a expression on cDC2s in Double stain (shown before in Figure 5.12, and here left) and total CD11a single stain (right). B. Amount of steric hindrance on cDC2 DCs between healthy controls and RA patients. Left shows the difference between single and double stain in MFI values (MFI amount lost to steric hindrance), right shows differences in steric hindrance as a percentage of single stain (% of signal lost to steric hindrance). Unmatched one way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.

Healthy control cDC2s lost a mean of 30% of total CD11a signal by staining alongside active CD11a, while a mean of 45% and 50% were lost respectively by patients with high and low disease activity. The fact that more total CD11a signal is lost in RA samples suggests that there is more active CD11a on RA patient cDC2s, which in turn cause an increase in steric hindrance. However, when looking at active CD11a expression, this was not the case. While there is a small but significant decrease in active CD11a expression between active RA and remission in cDC1 and cDC2 DCs (Figure 5.14), there are no significant differences between healthy controls and RA patients (Figure 5.15). This result is supported by the representative overlays of the three groups considered, which show no increase in active CD11a expression in RA samples (Figure 5.15). This result is particularly puzzling, as it suggests that the increase in steric hindrance is not caused by an increase in active



Figure 5.14 Active CD11a expression in RA

.

Expression of active CD11a (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types from PB. Unpaired student's t test.

Exploring if the increase in steric hindrance could be due to the prescribed therapeutics, total CD11a was assessed between patient groups taking different classes of anti-rheumatic drugs (Figure 5.16). For this, total CD11a expression determined by double staining (total and active CD11a together) was plotted. This is to visualise any differential effect between treatment groups.





Expression of active CD11a comparing RA patient groups (active RA, remission) to healthy controls. A. Histogram overlays of representative total CD11a expression of each group in each APC type. Representative samples were chosen as close to median of patient group as possible. B. Total CD11a expression (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.



Figure 5.16 Effect of RA therapeutics on total CD11a expression in RA samples

Expression of total CD11a determined by double staining (affected by steric hindrance, MFI) on five APC subsets of interest, comparing between drug-naïve and drug exposed individuals both with active disease (orange) and in remission (blue). Specific therapeutics considered include Methotrexate (left, No MTX, n=21, MTX, n=34) and broader groups of therapeutics considered include other DMARDs (middle, No DMARDs, n=25, DMARDs, n=30) and Biologics (right, No Biologics, n=40, Biologics, n=15). Unpaired Student's t test.

Discussing patients in such broad treatment groups (e.g. no biologics vs. biologics) has its caveats, as different drugs of the same group might have differing effects on the amount of steric hindrance. Furthermore, many study participants are on combinational therapy, which is highly individualised. Both issues make it difficult to collate groups of patients on the exact same therapy that are larger than 2-4 samples. This makes it impossible to make statistically sound observations. Keeping the comparably small size of this data set in mind, broad grouping of patient samples by therapeutics is, while not perfect, the best available option.

It was found that neither taking MTX, DMARDs nor Biologics had any significant effect on total CD11a expression on any type of APC (Figure 5.16). As seen in Figure 5.11, there was no significant difference in total CD11a expression between active RA and patients in remission, with no clustering of either disease group occurring in any of the cell types or therapeutics taken. While there was no significant difference in total CD11a expression due to Biologics, this result could be complicated by the much lower number of patients on Biologics, making the group size uneven. Despite this, there was no significant effect of drugs on total CD11a that would explain the increase in steric hindrance observed in cDC2 DCs (Figure 5.16).

Having found no effect of drugs on CD11a steric hindrance, the influence of other disease factors was analysed. To this end, the effect of DAS28, disease duration and Rheumatoid factor (RF) positive or Anti-citrullinated protein (CCP) positive status of RA patients was considered in Figure 5.17. However, no significant relationship between total CD11a expression and any of the clinical information available was found. The reason for the increase in steric hindrance in RA samples can therefore not be fully elucidated using the information available from this current data set.

To summarise, RA patients with active disease or in remission show increased signal loss due to steric hindrance, which caused the observed reduction in total CD11a expression (Figure 5.12). Surprisingly, there is no equivalent increase in active CD11a expression in RA samples that would account for this observed increase. Further analysis did not associate any disease parameters available to me (DAS28, disease duration, RF or CCP status) with the increased steric hindrance. Therefore, it is likely that another factor, common to active and remission groups but not healthy controls, is responsible. Potential causes for this difference will be discussed in more detail at the end of this chapter (Paragraph 5.4.2, Discussion).Further hypotheses as

185

to why this increase in steric hindrance could occur will therefore be discussed in detail in the final part of this chapter.



Figure 5.17 Effect of DAS28, disease duration and disease status on total CD11a expression.

Expression of total CD11a affected by steric hindrance (MFI, double stained) was investigated in terms of the effect of various RA patient variables. Both active RA (n=31, orange squares) and remission (n=24, blue triangles) were considered. A. Correlation between DAS28 and expression of total CD11a. Linear regression with fitted line. B. Correlation of disease duration in years with expression of total CD11a. Linear regression with fitted line. B. Correlation of disease duration in years with expression of total CD11a. Linear regression with fitted line. C. Comparing RF-negative with RF-positive patient samples, unpaired student's t test. D. Comparing CCP-negative with CCP-positive patient samples, unpaired Student's t test.

CD11a in RA synovial fluid

While considering total and active CD11a in PB is important, RA is an autoimmune disease primarily affecting the joints. To test if expression of the β_2 integrin subunit CD11a is different between the periphery and the site of inflammation, total and active CD11a expression was compared on different APCs between SF and PB from the same patient (Figure 5.18). Interestingly, both total and active CD11a expression were significantly decreased in SF in almost all cell types. The only exception were cDC1 DCs, which show no significant increase or decrease in total or active CD11a in SF compared to PB. However, as cDC1 DCs only make up around 0.1% of all PBMCs, their low number in PB might contribute to this finding. Considering the overlays of cells from SF (shown in blue) and PB (shown in red) (Figure 5.18, left), it is clear that the decrease in MFI was due to the larger spread of the population, and not due to the complete loss of total or active CD11a-high cells.

The result that total and active CD11a were lower on APCs found in SF compared to PB has several implications. First, considering the hypothesised immunoregulatory role of CD11a, this finding implies that immune regulation is either lost or actively downregulated in the inflammatory joint environment. To explain the difference, immunoregulatory and pro-inflammatory mechanisms have to be finely balanced to achieve a sufficient protective immune response, while simultaneously preventing immune-mediated tissue destruction. As the microenvironment of a swollen joint in RA is starkly pro-inflammatory, with the presence of high levels of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TGF- β and IFN- γ (Schlaak et al., 1996), CD11a could actively be downregulated to remove the influence of CD11a-mediate immune regulation and achieve a sufficient immune response in response to the loss of tolerance to self-antigen. On the other hand, it is also possible that the loss of total or active CD11a on all APCs except cDC1 DCs, is part of the immune dysregulation occurring as a result of, and potentially contributing to, the pathogenesis and maintenance of RA.

To summarise, while neither expression nor conformation of CD11a were found to be different between healthy controls and RA patients, expression of both total and active CD11a was significantly lower in almost all APC types found in SF when compared to PB of RA patients. This suggests that CD11a might play a different role in the inflammatory context of the joint that in PB.

188





Comparing expression of total and active CD11a in PB (red, circles, n=5) and matched SF (blue, squares, n=5) in five APC types of interest. Dot plot overlay of total and active CD11a expression in PB and SF (left), as well as total CD11a expression (middle, paired Student's t test, MFI of single-stained total CD11a) and active CD11a expression (right, paired Student's t test, MFI).

5.3.5 The β_2 integrin CD11b in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Having investigated the β_2 integrin subunit CD11a in the context of RA, I next analysed the role of CD11b. As previously mentioned, comparing CD11a and CD11b is of special interest, as the two subunits seem to have distinct functions in DCs. Furthermore, I hypothesised that CD11b has pro-inflammatory roles in DCs based on findings in Chapter 4 that blocking it on DCs was able to decrease T cell stimulatory capacity. Therefore, investigating CD11b in PB of RA could provide insight into whether this subunit is dysregulated in RA, due to either contributing to the disease or being affected by the presence of inflammation.

Total expression of CD11b in active RA and patients in remission is shown in Figure 5.19. No significant differences between RA patient groups were observed in any of the APC types, suggesting that total CD11b does not have a role in contributing to active disease or maintaining remission in PB and is not altered by the inflammatory environment in RA PB. Similarly, when comparing the two RA patient groups to healthy controls, there are no significant differences in total CD11b expression in any APC type (Figure 5.20). This finding is confirmed when looking at the representative histogram overlays (Figure 5.20A), which show high overlap.





Expression of total CD11a (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types. Unpaired Student's t test.





Expression of total CD11b comparing RA patient groups (active RA, remission) to healthy controls. A. Histogram overlays of representative expression of total CD11b of each group in each of the APC types. Representative samples were chosen as close to median of patient group as possible. B. Expression of total CD11b (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission. While active RA and remission had indeed slightly higher means compared to healthy controls, this difference was not found to be significant.

Figure 5.21 shows that there are no significant differences in active CD11b expression between patients with active disease and in remission. Furthermore, when comparing healthy controls to RA samples (Figure 5.22), active CD11b expression is equivalent. Of note, active CD11b expression in remission sample cDC2 DCs had a slightly lower mean MFI compared to active disease and healthy controls (Figure 5.22A), but this was not significant.

In summary, total and active CD11b expression is not significantly different in PB APCs in RA compared to healthy controls, nor in active versus remission RA samples.



Figure 5.21 Active CD11b expression in RA

Expression of active CD11b (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types. Unpaired Student's t test.





Expression of active CD11b comparing RA patient groups (active RA, remission) to healthy controls. A. Histogram overlays of representative active CD11b expression of each group in each APC type. Representative samples were chosen as close to median of patient group as possible. B. Expression of active CD11b (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.

CD11b and CD18 in synovial fluid

While neither expression nor conformation of CD11b was altered in RA when compared to healthy controls, next CD11b expression was assessed on APCs in SF. This was done to gain further insights into the differences between the site of active inflammation and circulating cells.

Expression of total and active CD11b in RA PB compared to SF is shown in Figure 5.23. Total CD11b was found to be significantly higher in SF compared to PB in CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 DCs and pDCs, but not CD14⁺ monocytes and cDC1 DCs. On the other hand, active CD11b expression was significantly elevated only in cDC2 DCs and pDCs in SF compared to PB. This was reiterated by the overlays of cells from PB and SF (Figure 5.23, left), where SF cells showed a much larger spread of CD11b expression in CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 and pDCs, while CD14⁺ monocytes largely overlapped between SF and PB. While CD11b expression in cDC1 DCs was not significantly different between PB and SF, this could partially be due to the low numbers of cDC1 DCs present in PB.

As investigating β_2 integrins on mo-DCs *in vitro* suggested that CD11b is a proinflammatory molecule (Chapter 4), the increased expression of both total and active CD11b on cDC2 DCs and pDCs in the joint environment could suggest that CD11b is part of an increase in pro-inflammatory mechanisms being employed. Its increased expression in the joint might contribute to APC recruitment to and retention in the joint due to increased adhesive forces as well as increase interaction between T cells and DCs. The question of cause and effect is again difficult to tease apart. Is CD11b upregulated in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli in the joint, which then in turn contributes to maintaining the immune response? Or is it in fact part of the dysregulation that contributes to RA pathology? Overall, it is interesting that CD11b expression was shown to be increased in the same cells where CD11a expression was decreased, when comparing SF to PB. Both total and active CD11b therefore showed a completely reverse trend to CD11a in many APCs, with CD11b being significantly higher in synovial fluid than in PB, while CD11a was significantly lower. Together with the findings that CD11a was upregulated while CD11b was downregulated in tolerogenic Mo-DCs (Chapter 4), this strongly suggests that CD11a and CD11b might have opposing roles in APCs. This interesting finding will be discussed in more detail at the end of this chapter.





Comparing expression of total and active CD11b in PB (red, circles, n=5) and matched SF (blue, squares, n=5) from the same RA patient in five APC types. Dot plot overlay of total and active CD11b expression in PB and SF (left), as well as total CD11b expression (middle, paired Student's t test, MFI) and active CD11b expression (right, paired Student's t test, MFI).

However, CD11a expression was lower in cells isolated from SF more globally, affecting all cell types except cDC1 DCs. On the other hand, total CD11b was significantly increased only in SF CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 and pDCs, and active CD11b was only significantly increased in cDC2 and pDCs. This suggests that downregulation of CD11a has a more global role in the joint, while CD11b regulation is more cell-type specific.

It is surprising that the effect was so stark in pDCs, as they were shown to express the lowest levels of both total and active CD11b of all cell types considered (Figure 5.4, Figure 5.6). Consulting the literature on this topic, synovial pDCs from RA patients were found to be less mature compared to pDCs from PB, expressing lower amounts of CD40, CD83 and CD86 (Lande et al., 2004; Van Krinks et al., 2004). This could suggest that the increase in CD11b expression contributes to their immature state, meaning that the increase in CD11b is associated with less pDC activation. This has not been confirmed directly as our study did not segregate between immature and mature DCs. However, considering the inflammatory nature of the RA joint, it seems unlikely that the SF DCs are immature. Other studies have shown that SF pDCs are able to induce T cell proliferation and production of levels of IFN- γ , IL-10 and TNF- α that were comparable to SF myeloid DCs (Cavanagh et al., 2005). The role of synovial pDCs in RA and how β_2 integrin expression relates to maturity therefore has to be explored in more depth.

Expression of CD18, the pairing β-subunit of both CD11a and CD11b, was not shown in PB of RA patients, as no significant differences in either CD11a or CD11b were found. Here, however, it was important to include CD18 as it can give valuable information about the importance of either the significant decrease in CD11a or the significant increase in CD11b. Total and active CD18 staining in the five APC types is presented in Figure 5.24, showing that total CD18 was significantly higher in SF compared to PB in CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes, as well as cDC2s and pDCs. This suggests that the increase in CD11b dominated over the decrease of CD11a in SF, as CD18 expression was shown to increase. However, this effect was not replicated in active CD18, which was not significantly different in any of the cell types considered when comparing expression in SF to PB. All APC types except cDC1 DCs were significantly lower in active CD11a in SF, but only cDC2 and pDCs were significantly higher in active CD11b in SF.




Comparing expression of total and active CD18 in PB (red, circles, n=5) and matched SF (blue, squares, n=5) from the same RA patient in five APC types. Dot plot overlay of total and active CD18 expression in PB and SF (left), as well as total CD18 expression (middle, paired Student's t test, MFI) and active CD18 expression (right, paired Student's t test, MFI).

This, therefore, suggests that while total CD11b could determine total CD18 expression, this was not the case for active CD18, where the increase in active CD11b and decrease in active CD11a seem to balance each other out. However, as neither active CD11c nor active CD11d were considered in this panel, they would have influenced the expression of active CD18.

In summary, both expression of total CD11b and CD18 were found to be significantly increased in CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 DCs and pDCs. But while expression of active CD11b was also significantly increased in cDC2 DCs and pDCs, no significant changes in expression of active CD18 were observed in any of the APC types when comparing PB to SF. Together with the finding that expression of total and active CD11a were increased on various APC types, this suggests that CD11b is playing an opposing role to CD11a.

5.3.6 Exploring functional roles of CD11a and CD11b ex vivo

Having investigated expression of total and active CD11a and CD11b in the context of RA, the data strengthens my result from Chapter 4, which suggested that the two β_2 integrin α -subunits have opposing functions, with CD11a being more regulatory while CD11b has more inflammatory roles. This role seems to be negligible in PB, where no significant differences between RA patients and healthy controls were found in either CD11a or CD11b expression. Comparing SF of RA patients to matched PB revealed total and active CD11a to be significantly reduced in SF (Figure 5.18), while total and active CD11b was increased on APCs in SF (Figure 5.23).

To investigate this result further, two questions were considered to explore the functional roles of CD11a and CD11b *ex vivo*. First, the effect of SF and various proand anti-inflammatory cytokines on total and active β_2 integrin expression was investigated. This was to test the hypothesis that β_2 integrins on synovial APCs respond to their pro-inflammatory environment, which would explain the stark differences seen between SF and PB. Second, following on from suppression of T cell proliferation after blockage of CD11b in Chapter 4, the effect of CD11b blocking on cDC2s sorted from peripheral blood was investigated.

5.3.7 Mimicking the synovial environment in vitro

Due to the wide-spread significant decrease in total and active CD11a expression and increase in total CD11b expression observed in SF compared to PB, it was concluded that β_2 integrins have opposing function. It was considered that a more immunoregulatory role of CD11a was lost in RA, while the pro-inflammatory roles of CD11b found in Chapter 4 were further enhanced by the high concentration of proinflammatory cytokines present in an acutely inflamed joint. To test this hypothesis, healthy PBMCs were exposed to pro-inflammatory (+IL-1/TNF α , +LPS) or antiinflammatory stimuli (+IL-10/TGF β) for 18h and total and active β_2 integrins were measured on APCs. Importantly, IL-1 and TNF α , as well as IL-10 and TGF β have been reported to be present in SF (Lettesjö et al., 1998; Schlaak et al., 1996). Additionally, PBMCs were exposed to thawed cell-free SF samples from three donors to determine if SF components could elicit a decrease in CD11a expression with a concomitant increase in CD11b. It was hypothesised that pro-inflammatory IL-1/TNF α and LPS stimulation would increase total CD11b expression and reduce total and active CD11a expression, while IL-10/TGF β would increase CD11a expression and reduce total expression of CD11b by APCs.

CD11a expression in stimulated APCs

Total and active CD11a expression on APCs in the different conditions described above is shown in Figure 5.25. In CD14⁺ monocytes, a significant decrease in total CD11a was seen in two conditions compared to untreated; however, it was lower in both LPS and IL-10/TGFβ treatment groups. This is surprising, as total CD11a expression in IL-1/TNF α treated cells was not significantly different from untreated. Counterintuitively, expression of total CD11a on CD14⁺ monocytes was not affected by addition of any of the SF samples. Expression of active CD11a was globally significantly reduced when comparing any treatment to untreated cells. However, there are subtle differences between different treatment groups worth exploring. Considering the SF treatment conditions, more heterogeneity between the different donors is revealed. SF1 showed the lowest active CD11a expression of all conditions, while both other SF samples, SF2 and SF3 treatments both caused more expression of active CD11a. These differences were however not significant. This suggests that our hypothesis is not correct in the case of CD14⁺ monocytes. While pro-inflammatory LPS treatment reduced the expression of total CD11a, it is not likely that this is what happens in the joint as the effect was not seen using IL-1/TNF α . Interestingly, SF did not affect expression of total CD11a. This could be explained by the fact that there was not sufficient biobanked synovial fluid available to test levels of any of the cytokines used as well as treat 8 PBMC samples with it. Therefore, it is

not clear how much of each cytokine is present. Simply put, cytokine concentrations could have been too low to elicit significant effects on total CD11a expression in CD14⁺ monocytes. Another potential reason is that β_2 integrin expression and conformation are regulated by cell-cell contacts within the joint, which cannot be mimicked by adding cell-free SF. The global downregulation of active CD11a in all conditions is puzzling, as all cytokines were highly diluted in culture medium before being added to the well and compared to untreated, which only received medium.

CD16⁺ Monocytes showed a different pattern of total CD11a expression to CD14⁺ monocytes upon stimulation (Figure 5.25, top right). All pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli significantly reduce the amount of total CD11a expression. The only exception is treatment with SF2, which caused no significant increase or decrease in total expression of CD11a total. The data. show again that while pro-inflammatory cytokines reduce total CD11a as hypothesised, the same can be said for treatment with the anti-inflammatory combination IL-10/TGF β . Considering the absence of an effect of SF on total CD11a expression in CD14⁺ monocytes, it could be hypothesised that SF samples from different donors have varying contents. Similarly, to CD14⁺ monocytes, the CD16⁺ monocytes data does not support my hypothesis. However, differences in expression of total and active CD11a suggest that β_2 integrins are differently controlled on the closely related monocyte types.

Looking at total CD11a expression on cDC2 DCs, total CD11a expression is significantly decreased in IL-1/TNF α and LPS treatment groups, while IL-10/TGF β treatment does not significantly alter total CD11a expression compared to untreated cells. SF treated cells again show high heterogeneity between donors, with SF3 causing significant decrease in expression of total CD11a, while neither treatment with SF1 nor SF2 show any effect. There is no significant difference in active CD11a expression following any treatment condition. Similarly, to the results in CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes, cDC2 DCs reduce their total CD11a expression upon encountering pro-inflammatory stimuli. In contrast to both monocyte populations however, anti-inflammatory IL-10/TGF β does not cause a decrease in total CD11a, instead maintaining it at a normal level.

Similar to cDC2 DCs, expression of total CD11a is significantly lower in cDC1 DCs when treated with IL-1/TNF α or LPS, but not with IL-10/TGF β . Total CD11a is also lower on cDC1 DCs treated with SF3, but neither of the other SF samples. There are no significant differences in expression of active CD11a in cDC1 DCs in any of the

conditions. Both expression of total and active CD11a is significantly lower on pDCs treated with SF3, but none of the other treatments affect expression of CD11a.

Due to limited knowledge of the extent of steric hindrance affecting CD11a double staining at the time of experiment design, a single stained control for total CD11a was not included for all treatment groups. However, considering that difference in total CD11a between PB and SF became more and not less significant when plotting total CD11a not affected by steric hindrance, it was assumed that any effects seen would be due to a change in expression and not in steric hindrance. However, it cannot be assessed if pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines could indeed affect steric hindrance, which is a caveat of this experiment.

In summary, pro-inflammatory stimuli (IL-1/TNF α , LPS), as well as treatment with SF3, caused a reduction in total CD11a expression on both cDC2 and cDC1 DCs, while conformation status was not affected. This supports the hypothesis of a immunoregulatory role of CD11a on DCs, as it was downregulated in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli. Considering differences in CD11a expression described between monocyte and DC types, one could furthermore hypothesise that expression is differentially regulated between monocytes on one side and DCs on the other side.

CD11b expression in stimulated APCs

The effect of different stimuli on total and active CD11b expression in different APC types is presented in Figure 5.26. In CD14⁺ monocytes, total CD11b expression was significantly lower in all conditions when compared to untreated, including all SF samples. This was similar to the active CD11a results in CD14⁺ monocytes (Figure 5.25). Despite reduced total CD11b, active CD11b was only significantly reduced when treated with LPS. As the PB-matched SF data (Figure 5.23) showed no significant increase in either total or active CD11b in synovial fluid, this result would fit the hypothesis that while CD11b might be pro-inflammatory on DCs, it might have opposite effects on monocytes.

In CD16⁺ monocytes, neither expression of total nor active CD11b was significantly affected by any treatment condition. Also, the global downregulation of CD11b observed in CD14⁺ monocytes upon addition of any kind of stimulus was not seen in CD16⁺ monocytes. Considering that total CD11b was significantly increased in SF CD16⁺ monocytes compared to PB (Figure 5.23), this result is surprising and

suggests that we cannot mimic the effects seen in SF cells in this *in vitro* stimulation system.

Expression of CD11b in cDC2 DCs was similarly unaffected by stimuli. The untreated samples showed a large data spread in both total and active CD11b, which did not appear to be typical for other APCs observed. No other significant differences in either total or active CD11b expression were observed.

cDC1 DCs showed a significant reduction in total CD11b in LPS, IL-10/TGFβ and SF2 conditions compared to untreated, but no significant differences in active CD11b. Similarly to CD14⁺ monocytes, lower CD11b expression was apparent in all treatment conditions, but is not as strong as in the monocytes.

Lastly, pDCs showed no significant differences in stimulated compared to untreated cells in either total or active CD11b expression, but heterogeneity of SF samples was shown again.

Overall, data showing expression of total and active CD11b in response to various stimuli did not support the hypothesis that increased CD11b expression in SF is due to the pro-inflammatory cytokines present in the joint environment. However, several considerations have to be kept in mind when putting this result into context. First, it was not possible to use cells isolated from PB or SF of RA patients for these experiments. While no differences in total or active CD11b expression between healthy controls and RA patients could be found, it could still be possible that β_2 integrins of RA patients react differently to stimuli that those of healthy controls. This is likely as myeloid DCs from RA SF were found to express greater levels of costimulatory factors compared to PB DCs and were far more proficient at inducing T cell proliferation (Moret et al., 2013). This suggests that DCs are likely to be functionally altered in the inflammatory joint environment of RA. Another consideration is that the increased total and active CD11b expression in CD16+ monocytes, cDC2 and pDCs may be due to chronic rather than short-term exposure to cytokines. As healthy PBMCs were only stimulated for 18h, it is possible that either chronic joint inflammation or the event of a flare on the background of a dysregulated immune system could majorly influence how expression of CD11b reacts to stimuli.

CD18 expression by stimulated APCs

Levels of total and active CD18 expression in APCs in response to overnight exposure to various stimuli are shown in Figure 5.27.

As both total CD11a and total CD11b were reduced on CD14⁺ monocytes when exposed to any of the stimuli, it is unsurprising that a similar pattern emerges with total CD18 expression. Expression of total CD18 in the untreated condition was significantly higher than with IL-1/TNF α , LPS or SF2 stimulation, but not than any of the other conditions. Considering the different SF samples, it appears that total CD18 expression following SF1 and SF3 treatment was similar, in contrast to the significantly lower expression of total CD18 in SF2 treatment. Expression of active CD18 was significantly reduced in LPS treatment, but not in any of the other treatment conditions, suggesting again that active CD18 expression was not immediately dependent on total expression.

Considering CD18 on CD16⁺ monocytes, no significant differences in active CD18 were observed with stimulation. However, total CD18 expression was significantly lower in cells treated with SF1 compared to untreated cells, suggesting that SF1 might contain either higher concentrations or different cytokines that cause total CD18 reduction.

Total CD18 expression in cDC2 DCs was more similar in pattern to total CD11b expression, although here no significant differences were observed between treatment groups. Similarly, active CD18 expression was not significantly different in cDC2 DCs in any treatment group.

In cDC1 DCs, untreated cells had significantly greater levels of total CD18 compared to LPS, IL-10/TGF β and SF2, while no significant differences in active CD18 were observed.

Lastly, total CD18 expression in pDCs was reduced with SF3 treatment but with no other stimuli. No significant differences in active CD18 expression in pDCs between different conditions were found.







In summary, expression or conformation of CD18 is not altered in cDC2s, but total expression is reduced in cDC1 and pDCs in response to both pro- and antiinflammatory stimuli or SF. Total and active CD18 expression in different APC types therefore does not clearly follow either CD11a or CD11b expression patterns, suggesting that the other pairing subunits CD11c and CD11d may react to the various stimuli and influence these results.

5.3.8 Effect of blocking CD11b on cDC2 stimulatory ability

First, it was assessed if cDC2s sorted from peripheral blood were impeded in their ability to stimulate T cell proliferation when the CD11a/CD11b ratio was shifted by blocking CD11b. This question was based on a series of observations from both in vitro and ex vivo experiments utilising Mo-DCs (Chapter 4). There I found that expression of active CD11a is increased, while active CD11b was decreased, on tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, and that blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs made them less efficient at stimulating T cells. From this I hypothesised that CD11b is a pro-inflammatory mediator in DCs. Therefore, I wanted to test if blocking CD11b on PB cDC2 DCs had the same effects. However, one caveat of this experiment was that cDC2s in PB are likely to be immature. Furthermore, considering the hypothesis that the increase in synovial CD11b is linked to its increased proinflammatory roles in the joint environment of RA, this is also an opportunity to question if expression links up with function. It was therefore hypothesised that blocking CD11b would result in reduced T cell proliferation and IFN-y production, while potentially increasing IL-10 production by both DCs and T cells. Conversely, it is predicted that activating CD11b will enhance its inflammatory ability, thus increasing T cell proliferation and IFNy production.

To test these hypotheses, cDC2 DCs were sorted from PB of three healthy donors and co-cultured with naïve CD4 T cells for 6 days, either untreated or in the presence of CD11b antagonism (M1/70 or isotype control mAbs, Figure 5.28A) or CD11b agonism (LA-1 or control DMSO, Figure 5.28B). As naïve CD4 T cells express CD11a as well as CD18, only CD11b could be targeted specifically on DCs in an MLR (Chapter 4, section 4.2.5, Figure 4.14). No significant difference in percentage of proliferated T cells between untreated MLRs and CD11b blocking by M1/70 treatment was found (Figure 5.28B). There was also no significant difference in either IFN-γ or IL-10 levels measured in MLR supernatants. However, it is important to note that M1/70 treatment led to a small decrease in IFN-γ production in two out of three

donors with a simultaneous increase in IL-10 levels visible in all three donors, though not significant. This could suggest that while there was little effect of CD11b blocking on T cell proliferation, production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines might be impacted by the blockage of CD11b. Ideally, additional samples would be analysed to increase N, as only three donors were assessed due to time constraints.



Figure 5.28 Effect of CD11b in FACS -sorted cDC2 MLRs

cDC2s were sorted from three healthy donors and co-cultured with naïve T cells for 6 days, in the presence of either CD11b blocking antibody (M1/70, control: Isotype control) or a small-molecule CD11b agonist (LA-1, control: DMSO). Shown are T cell proliferation in % of single live CD11c-CD3+CD4+ cells which had lost a proportion of their CTV staining (left), as well as the concentration of IFN γ (middle) and IL-10 (right) in the co-culture supernatants. Matched one-way ANOVA, n= 3 healthy cDC2 donors co-cultured with 3 separate buffy coat donors, from which naïve T cells were isolated.

On the other hand, LA-1 treated MLRs showed a significant decrease in T cell proliferation compared to untreated. However, the same was true for DMSO treated cells, suggesting that the negative effect of DMSO on cell proliferation is to blame for the significant decrease in T cell proliferation observed in the LA-1 culture. As upregulation of active (or indeed total) CD11b using LA-1 could not reliably be achieved *in vitro* (Chapter 4, section 4.2.5, Figure 4.17), it is likely that the DMSO rather than LA-1 is responsible for the loss of T cell proliferation. Indeed, DMSO has previously been reported to block T cell proliferation (Vanherwegen et al., 2019). Neither IFN-γ nor IL-10 production was significantly affected by treatment with LA-1,

but it seems as if IFN-γ production followed the pattern of T cell proliferation, with almost no IFN-γ being produced in LA-1 or DMSO controls (Figure 5.28).

To conclude, blocking CD11b on sorted PB cDC2s from healthy donors did not reduce T cell proliferation. However, one could hypothesise that no effect can be seen because of the immaturity of cDC2s circulating in PB. It could therefore be possible that investigating this further using a larger sample number or a longer co-culture might reveal differences that cannot be observed in this culturing system. Furthermore, it might be necessary to induce DC maturation before any effects of CD11b blocking can be observed.

5.4 Discussion

The aims of this chapter were to investigate the roles of total and active β_2 integrins in RA patient PB and SF samples compared to healthy controls in order to identify potential differences. In this chapter, I have devised a way to ensure data acquired over time is consistent and comparable, and developed a data analysis strategy that fully utilises the breadth of information captured by the integrin panel. Furthermore, I have characterised active and total β_2 integrin expression levels on APCs in detail in healthy samples, creating a valuable baseline of expression and activation status in a healthy context. There, I found that total CD11a expression is significantly higher in females than in males. I then compared the properties of β_2 integrin α -subunits CD11a and CD11b in the autoimmune context of RA, comparing both PB and SF to this healthy baseline. While no differences between healthy controls and RA patients were found in PB, comparing PB with matched SF of active RA patients again suggested opposing roles of β_2 integrins. While both total and active CD11a were downregulated in SF cells, total and active CD11b were upregulated particularly on DC populations. Lastly, I investigated how expression of active and total β_2 integrin subunits related to function, utilising different methods of *in vitro* manipulation of β_2 integrins (agonism and antagonism). There, I found that total expression of CD11a is downregulated in response to pro-inflammatory but not immunoregulatory stimuli in cDC1 and cDC2 DCs, further supporting the hypothesis that it has immunoregulatory roles. In contrast, neither total nor active CD11b were affected by either proinflammatory or immunoregulatory stimuli in cDC2 or pDCs, but were decreased in cDC1 DCs, not supporting my hypothesis of CD11b as a pro-inflammatory modulator. This chapter poses several interesting questions on the significance of these findings, which I will discuss in the following paragraphs.

5.4.1 Gender differences in β_2 integrins

Considering the gender differences observed in total CD11a expression (Figure 5.8), with female study participants showing higher CD11a expression in all APC types analysed, it is important to interrogate this effect in more detail.

There is no prior evidence in the literature for this phenomenon, which is potentially unsurprising considering the previously acknowledged lack of cell-specific information on β_2 integrins. Furthermore, the field of immunology is potentially prone to under-reporting gender differences as less than 10% of published articles in the field analyse at least part of their data by gender (Beery and Zucker, 2011). This is surprising, as there are several established differences in immune responses between male and female study participants, including larger T cell numbers, antibody responses to infection and Type I interferon responses in human females (Klein and Flanagan, 2016).

In mice, it was observed that APCs from female mice are more efficient at presenting antigen either to female or male T cells, suggesting that the difference between genders lies on the APC rather than the T cell side (Weinstein et al., 1984). Putting this into context with the increased CD11a expression in female study participants (Figure 5.8), it is possible that the increased surface expression of total CD11a also improves formation of the immune synapse, in turn increasing the efficiency of T cell activation. This hypothesis would also fit with the absence of significant differences in active CD11a between genders (Figure 5.10), as shifting the balance towards more active CD11a was found to actually decrease the amount of T cell activation (Balkow et al., 2010).

Another potential reason for the increase in total CD11a in females is the role the hormone oestrogen plays in the female immune system. For example, pDCs from both female humanised mice and human female adults were found to become more activated and increase TLR7 and TLR9 signalling in response to oestrogen (Seillet et al., 2012). On the other hand, absence of all β_2 integrins caused an increase in TLR-mediated signalling (Yee and Hamerman, 2013), suggesting that β_2 integrins play an important role in dampening down TLR-signalling. It could therefore be suggested that CD11a is upregulated in female study participants to counteract the comparably larger TLR-mediated signalling caused by the presence of oestrogen in the system. However, oestrogen levels decrease after menopause (Brzezinski, 2019) yet we

found no significant negative correlation of total CD11a expression with age, refuting this theory.

Interestingly, no differences in total CD11a expression between male and female study participants who had RA were found (data shown in appendix). This suggests that comparably lower total CD11a expression in APCs of female study participants may contribute to RA pathology. This is interesting as women are more susceptible to many autoimmune disorders (Whitacre, 2001). Therefore, the role of gender in β_2 integrin expression, particularly in CD11a expression, should be investigated in more detail.

To conclude, gender differences in total CD11a expression in APCs have not been described in the published literature to my knowledge. While it could not be identified why female healthy controls express significantly higher levels of total CD11a compared to males, one could hypothesise that the higher expression of total CD11a on female APCs is connected to the immune functions in females, including their increased ability to present antigen and the potential dampening of increased TLRresponses caused by oestrogen. Future studies on β_2 integrins should therefore ensure that any gender differences are sufficiently reported on and studied in more detail. With differing gender ratios, 1:2.1 in healthy controls and 1:5 in active RA patients, one could have assumed that patients with active RA express higher levels of total CD11a due to the larger numbers of females. This is however not the case, as there were no differences in total CD11a when steric hindrance did not influence the results. Furthermore, differences in expression of total CD11a between female and male participants with RA could not be found. The increased expression of total CD11a in female healthy controls therefore does not affect any conclusions drawn from comparing the RA data set to healthy controls.

5.4.2 Increase of steric hindrance in RA samples

As mentioned previously, I observed significantly reduced expression of total CD11a in cDC2 DCs in RA patients compared to healthy controls (Figure 5.12). Further analysis revealed that expression was not reduced in the single stained condition and that the effect was caused by an increase in steric hindrance (Figure 5.13). This result is puzzling as the increase in steric hindrance was not accompanied by an increase in active CD11a expression, which was previously observed to be the

source of the steric hindrance (Chapter 4, section 4.2.3, Figure 4.6). Considering the highly significant differences, this effect has to be explored in more depth.

First, one explanation is that total CD11a staining is lost due to its close proximity to the non-covalently associated β subunit, CD18. As steric hindrance was only tested between total and active antibodies of each β_2 integrin subunit in isolation, it would be possible that total or active CD18 might interfere with binding of the antibody raised against total CD11a. However, neither total nor active CD18 were shown to be significantly increased in any of the APC types in RA samples to explain this increase in steric hindrance (data shown in appendix). The only exception was pDCs, where a significantly smaller percentage of pDCs expressed total CD18 in remission samples. However, the percentage of pDCs expressing active CD18 was lower and not higher than in healthy controls, and this effect could not be observed in any of the other APC types. It is, therefore, considered unlikely that the increase in steric hindrance in RA samples is due to increased binding of active or total CD18 antibodies.

A second option to consider is that the increase in steric hindrance is due to an increase in avidity of CD11a/CD18. As β_2 integrin avidity is potentially more important than affinity in the context of inside-out signalling (Bazzoni and Hemler, 1998), this could potentially point to a difference in CD11a signalling in RA. To explain, increased clustering of CD11a might result in an increased likelihood of close proximity of total CD11a binding sites to each other and therefore a loss of total CD11a antibody access. This would explain the increase in steric hindrance, not only would signal be lost due to steric hindrance between active and total CD11a mAbs, but also between total mAbs binding to epitopes that have brought closer together due to increase β_2 integrin clustering. While this is possible, it does however not explain why there is no significant signal loss of total CD11a in the RA samples where no steric hindrance to active CD11a occurred. RA single stained total CD11a should at least show 15-20% less signal compared to the healthy controls, if this hypothesis was valid, as this is the increased amount of signal lost in active RA samples. Furthermore, it seems unlikely that steric hindrance would occur between different CD11a subunits, but not within the same CD11a protein. It is therefore unlikely that increased avidity of CD11a in RA samples is the cause for the significant difference in steric hindrance.

A third possibility is that the active CD11a antibody binds to an intermediate state of the β_2 integrin, where total and active antibody binding sites are positioned in closer proximity to another and steric hindrance increases. Inactive and active forms of β_2 integrins are extreme situations and a variety of intermediate states have been described in the literature (Carman and Springer, 2003). However, this would also imply that either intermediate CD11a states occur more frequently or intermediate CD11a activation states are recognised at significantly higher rates in the context of either active RA or remission. Additionally, affinity of the active CD11a antibody for its target was proposed to be quite promiscuous, demonstrated by its ability to bind its target even in cold temperatures (Chapter 3, section 3.3.1, Figure 3.1). The group first identifying MEM-83, the clone used to detect active CD11a, reported that it binds in I domain of the alpha-subunit (Landis et al., 1994), which is located immediately in the active binding site between the β -propeller of CD11a and the I-like domain of CD18. While this would suggest that MEM-83 binds exclusively when CD11a is in its fully extended conformation, Landis and colleagues actually found that the antibody increased adhesion of T cells to ICAM-1 and bound regardless of cation availability. This would not only explain why no further increase in active CD11a expression could be elicited by PMA, it also strongly suggests that MEM-83 binds to the intermediate affinity states of CD11a and activates them. It is therefore a real possibility that significantly increased levels of steric hindrance in RA signal increased levels of β_2 integrins in their intermediate state. This increased readiness for activation might contribute or be elicited by the pro-inflammatory environment in RA.

While it is likely that binding to intermediate affinity β_2 integrin states contribute to the increase in steric hindrance, the idea that binding sites of total and active CD11a are somehow closer together in RA patients could reveal a further possibility. X-ray crystallography studies on the structure of CD11a revealed a 5-stranded parallel β -sheet surrounded by 7 α -helices on both sides (Binnerts and van Kooyk, 1999; Qu and Leahy, 1995), which was hypothesised to be the active conformation of CD11a as it was shown to be bound to Mn²⁺, a potent cation activator if β_2 integrins. Keeping in mind that β_2 integrin conformation can be altered by cation concentrations in the surroundings (Zhang and Chen, 2012), it is possible that an altered cation balance in PB of RA patients might contribute to the increase in intermediate CD11a that in turn causes the increase in steric hindrance. Indeed, Ca²⁺ levels were found to be

reduced in the PB of RA patients (Scott et al., 1981). Considering that Ca^{2+} was found to be one of the main cations inhibiting β_2 integrin activation in PB (Dransfield et al., 1992), it is somewhat surprising that the potentially lower Ca^{2+} levels of the RA data set would not in turn increase the levels of active CD11a expressed by APCs. One could therefore tentatively hypothesise that CD11a is structurally altered in response to the state of chronic inflammation present in RA, which is accompanied by low Ca^{2+} expression. This would explain both the increase in steric hindrance, as well as the absence of increased active CD11a in response to low Ca^{2+} . However, there are still caveats to this hypothesis, as it does not sufficiently explain why neither active CD11b nor CD18 are similarly altered in response to low Ca^{2+} levels. However, keeping previous observations of the different properties of CD11a compared to CD11b/CD18 in mind (Chapter 3), one could propose that CD11b and CD18 might react to the pro-inflammatory environment with different modifications that would not affect steric hindrance.

To conclude, the specific reason why CD11a mAb steric hindrance is significantly increased in APCs from RA patient samples could not be elucidated and further tests on the subject were not within the time limits of this project. However, considering all possible options, one could propose that CD11a structure or avidity is consistently altered in RA patients in a way that total and activation-specific binding sites move closer together, causing an increase in β_2 integrins in their intermediate state which in turn causes a loss of signal due to steric hindrance. Future studies should explore this link in more detail.

5.4.3 Opposing functions of CD11a and CD11b

My findings from Chapter 4 suggest that β_2 integrin pairing subunits CD11a and CD11b have opposing functions in Mo-DCs, with CD11a being more immunoregulatory, while CD11b has more pro-inflammatory roles. I will now explore this conclusion in the context of the knowledge on β_2 integrins in APCs in a human *ex vivo* setting gained in this chapter.

There were no differences in expression of total or active CD11a and CD11b in APCs isolated from PB of RA patients compared to healthy controls, suggesting that function of β_2 integrins in PB is not altered in RA. However, the striking increase in steric hindrance affecting total CD11a staining when comparing RA patients to

healthy controls (Figure 5.13) suggests that the two β_2 integrin subunits might react differently to the changed environment in RA PB.

However, when considering CD11a and CD11b expression in RA SF, evidence of opposing functions clearly emerges. While total and active CD11a are significantly lower in SF APCs compared to PB (Figure 5.18), total and active CD11b are significantly higher in SF (Figure 5.23). These results are partially supported by other studies reporting large amounts of 'shed' CD11a in SF effusions (Evans et al., 2006), suggesting that CD11a is actively lost from cell surfaces rather than internalised. This finding would support my conclusion from Chapter 4, that CD11a is immunoregulatory in DCs and is actively downregulated to maintain joint inflammation. To achieve the inflammation present in an RA joint during flare, it would make sense that immunoregulatory mediators, such as CD11a, are downregulated. Shedding of CD11a is one way to achieve this. On the other hand, pro-inflammatory mediators, as I suggested CD11b to be, would increase to enable and perpetuate this pro-inflammatory local microenvironment, as I have shown to be the case in SF APCs.

Following this finding further, I exposed healthy PBMCs to various pro- and antiinflammatory stimuli to investigate if both CD11a and CD11b could be manipulated by mimicking the potential factors present in SF. However, the data from short-term *in vitro* stimulation of APCs did not show the same effects of integrin subunit expression as we see in SF. cDC1 and cDC2 DCs indeed decrease total CD11a expression upon stimulation with pro-inflammatory mediators IL-1/TNF α or LPS and are not affected by immunoregulatory stimuli, supporting my conclusion. In contrast, neither expression of total nor active CD11b was affected by stimulation, and cDC1 DCs confusingly expressed significantly less total CD11b after both stimulation with LPS (pro-inflammatory stimuli) and IL-10/TGF β (anti-inflammatory stimuli).

To summarise, while the *ex vivo* PB versus SF data is striking, I have not been able to completely replicate this result with short-term stimulation *in vitro*. It is therefore likely that this effect is dependent on either a state of chronic inflammation or on other environmental aspects, that cannot be replicated *in vitro*. One example of such an environmental factor would be the presence of multiple other cell types in the inflamed joint. However, as the failure of β_2 integrin-targeted therapeutics is largely credited to the failure of drugs to target different subunits specifically, increasing our

understanding of the specific properties and functions could improve future therapeutic interventions.

5.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, I successfully characterised, in detail, total and active β_2 integrin expression in healthy study participants, finding that different APC types have distinct expression of both total and active β_2 integrins. In addition, total expression of CD11a is significantly higher in females compared to males. Furthermore, I investigated if β_2 integrins were in any way altered in the context of the autoimmune disorder RA PB and SF. While no differences were found in PB between healthy controls and RA patients, comparing RA PB to SF yielded striking results, with expression of total and active CD11a being decreased and expression of total and active CD11b being increased in SF. Lastly, the reaction of β_2 integrins to outside stimuli as well as their functional role was tested to gain further insight into β_2 integrin functionality. Here, I found that neither blocking nor stimulating CD11b had any significant effect on T cell stimulatory capacities of PB cDC2 DCs, although this is likely due to their immature state. Furthermore, I found that pro-inflammatory stimuli decrease expression of total CD11a in DCs, but not monocytes. In contrast, expression of conformation of CD11b was not altered in DCs by stimuli, except in cDC1 DCs, where pro-inflammatory stimuli caused a decrease in total CD11b.

The most striking result of this chapter is the opposite relationship between CD11a and CD11b demonstrated in the RA PB to SF comparison, finding that CD11a is downregulated in the joint, while CD11b is upregulated. This mirrors my findings in Chapter 4, which leads me to conclude that CD11a and CD11b have opposing roles in DCs. In my final discussion, I will therefore explore the respective significance of CD11a and CD11b on DCs.

Chapter 6 Final Discussion

The role of β_2 integrins in the immune systems is multifactorial. While the heterodimeric adhesion receptors were primarily associated with playing proinflammatory roles due to their roles in migration, cell signalling and maintaining the immunological synapse, more recent work has also highlighted their potential immunoregulatory roles on macrophages and, of special interest in this thesis, on DCs. This thesis therefore investigated the hypothesis that dysregulation of β_2 integrins on DC surfaces might contribute to aberrant inflammatory responses and autoimmunity. To this end, expression and conformation of β_2 integrin subunits CD11a, CD11b and CD18 were assessed simultaneously in human Mo-DCs, as a model of immune tolerance versus activation (mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs) and a dysregulated immune system where tolerance to self has been lost and is causing pathology (RA patient samples). Furthermore, the impact of activating or blocking specific integrin subunits in DCs on subsequent T cell priming was defined. In the following discussion, I will discuss the challenges in detecting and targeting β_2 integrins encountered during this thesis, before delving into my findings that β_2 integrins are dysregulated in RA. Furthermore, I will discuss my findings that CD11a and CD11b play opposing roles on DCs and comment on how this would impact targeting β_2 integrins therapeutically. Lastly, I will explore further work that arises from the findings presented in this thesis.

6.1 Challenges in targeting β_2 integrins for research and therapeutic reasons The question if a β_2 integrin-targeted antibody is blocking adhesion, mediating outside-in signalling or both arose predominantly when targeting CD11b on DCs in MLRs. As discussed in Chapter 4 (section 4.3.1), there is a wide range of published evidence for an immunoregulatory role of CD11b on DCs (Nowatzky et al., 2018b; Varga et al., 2007; Yee and Hamerman, 2013). This made my finding that T cell proliferation and production of IFN- γ was reduced in a mature Mo-DC MLR when adding a CD11b-specific antibody surprising, as it suggested pro-inflammatory roles for CD11b.

The antibody clone used in this thesis to block CD11b, M1/70, has been well established to block CD11b-mediated functions in multiple species. For example, M1/70 strongly inhibited resetting of erythrocytes in response to stimulation with complement (Springer et al., 1982) and reduced adhesive ability to fibrinogen in a dose-dependent manner (Rogers et al., 1998). The same study also reported that administrating M1/70 to a rabbit model of angioplasty reduced leukocyte recruitment

to the site of artery injury. In a rabbit model of muscle injury, M1/70 blocked neutrophil-mediated oxidative burst and limited the severity of injury (Brickson et al., 2003). Interestingly, this study also observed that treatment with M1/70 actually reduced CD11b receptor density on neutrophils, suggesting that the blocking effect of M1/70 was not exclusively mediated by reducing CD11b binding to its endogenous ligands. Potentially, binding of M1/70 to CD11b caused increased internalisation of the receptor, therefore reducing its presence on the cell surface.

However, in murine DCs, M1/70 was found to reduce CpG-mediated production of IL-6 (Stevanin et al., 2017), which led the authors to propose that the relative resistance of CD11b⁺ C57BL/6 to CIA compared to CD11b KO mice is mediated via tight control of IL-6 production by CD11b. Furthermore, both murine and human macrophages were shown to increase production of tissue factor (TF), an important initiating factor in the coagulation cascade, two to eight-fold when treated with M1/70 (Fan and Edgington, 1991). This suggested that M1/70 is not merely functioning as a blocking antibody, it is also able to induce functional outside-in signalling when binding to CD11b and therefore act as ligand in its own right. However, it is puzzling how M1/70 could induce downstream signalling without also inducing the active conformation of CD11b, as the essential signalling molecules talin and kindlin are only recruited after integrin activation. One would therefore have to assume that M1/70 binding activates CD11b but simultaneously blocks integrin-mediated adhesion and binding by other ligands to explain its effects on cell function.

Considering the evidence suggesting that M1/70 can both act as a blocking agent and a functional ligand, one could assume that this is an isolated phenomenon, potentially only true for the binding site of M1/70. However, clone ICRF44 (or clone 44), which binds total CD11b and was used in this study for flow cytometry purposes, has been used to block or bind CD11b in a similar fashion to M1/70, suggesting that clear boundaries between 'blocking' and 'ligating' are difficult to assess when targeting β_2 integrins. Similar to M1/70, clone ICRF44 has been described to block a variety of CD11b-mediated functions. For example, it was shown to block adhesion to iC3b, as well as chemotactic abilities and cell spreading when seeded on plastic coverslips (Dana et al., 1986). Another study showed that clone ICRF44 treatment of COS cells, exclusively expressing CD11b, CD11c and CD18, but not CD11a, reduced IL-23 mediated release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Lecoanet-Henchoz et al., 1995). Furthermore, treatment of neutrophils with clone ICRF44 reduced

adhesion in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Blouin et al., 1999), as well as CD86-mediated adhesion of monocytes to fibrinogen (Sitrin et al., 1996).

While this would suggest that usage of clone ICRF44 is suitable for blocking CD11bmediated adhesion, several studies have also reported that it has functional effects on cells. For example, in vitro treatment of neutrophils with clone ICRF44 caused rapid release of neutrophil gelatinase B (MMP-9), which was proposed to contribute to their transmigration into sites of inflammation (Wize et al., 1998). Furthermore, the antibody was found to induce translocation of NF-kB from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and subsequently mediate production of macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP- 1α) and MIP- 1β by primary human monocytes (Rezzonico et al., 2001). This, again, suggested that clone ICRF44 actively mediated cell function via outside-in signalling. Lastly, treatment of human Mo-DCs with clone ICRF44 was previously shown to reduce Mo-DC-mediated T cell proliferation and IFN-y production, although CD11b-mediated inhibition could be overturned when Mo-DCs were simultaneously infected with Listeria monocytogenes (Škoberne et al., 2006). Indeed, a follow-up study reported that ligating CD11b on human Mo-DCs using clone ICRF44 efficiently restricted memory T cell development into Th17 T cells, by skewing cytokine production by Mo-DCs (Nowatzky et al., 2018b). However, while both studies observed that DC function was more tolerogenic after treatment with clone ICRF44, neither assessed signalling occurring after binding of the CD11b-specific antibody directly. Together, this suggests that while clone ICRF44 might block CD11bmediated adhesion, there is a wide range of evidence supporting that it induces functional differences in cells by ligating CD11b.

So how does the potential dual role of CD11b targeting antibodies in blocking and ligation affect interpretation of my results? I used M1/70 to block CD11b in MLRs and found it to reduce T cell priming by mature Mo-DCs (Chapter 4, section 4.2.5, Figure 4.20). Considering that treatment of human Mo-DCs with CD11b-specific antibody clone ICRF44 caused similar reduction in their ability to induce proliferation and IFN- γ production by T cells (Škoberne et al., 2006), it is possible that this result could be similarly explained by ligating effects of M1/70 on CD11b. To clearly distinguish between ligation and blocking action of M1/70, further tests on mature Mo-DCs in the presence of antibody would have to be made to detect if outside-in signalling molecules are phosphorylated after exposure to M1/70. While treatment with the CD11b agonist LA-1 did not have any significant effect on T cell proliferation, this

was potentially due to its solving agent DMSO, which had unforeseen negative effects. Ligating CD11b would therefore be testing if a functioning agonist of CD11b has the same effect on T cell proliferation and IFN-γ production. However, the suggestion that immunoregulatory functions are induced by ligation rather than blocking of CD11b does not make sense when considering my finding that active CD11b is significantly lower on tolerogenic Mo-DCs. It is therefore likely that M1/70 did act as a blocking antibody in the context of an MLR, as mature Mo-DCs became more tolerogenic Mo-DC-like, which expressed lower levels of active CD11b. Furthermore, the ICRF44 CD11b antibody was used when staining for 30min at 37°C for flow cytometry to detect total CD11b expression. Despite the evidence that this antibody can also elicit downstream signalling, it is unlikely that this aspect altered staining results, as CD11b could still be activated further by PMA, thereby suggesting that ICRF44 did not cause activation of all CD11b subunits it bound to.

In summary, both M1/70 and clone ICRF44 have been classically described as 'blocking' antibodies, largely due to their ability to reduce CD11b-mediated adhesion. However, taking all evidence into account, this is not factually correct, as both antibodies mediate a range of cellular functions, including production of both pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators (Nowatzky et al., 2018b; Rezzonico et al., 2001). It is, therefore, likely that interpretation of the effects of CD11b-targeting antibodies in the literature has so far primarily been based on testing a narrow range of functions in each paper, resulting in the term 'blocking' if a functional aspect was reduced or 'ligating' if a functional aspect was induced. While this is reasonable due to limited space for publication and the need for a coherent story, it makes interpretation of published data and its potential therapeutic impact highly complex, as exact functions of mAbs currently used in basic research could be multifactorial and potentially dependent on cell-type and environment. Future studies should acknowledge the potential dichotomy of mAbs or other therapeutic targets blocking some functions but activating others, thereby potentially impacting interpretation of results. Furthermore, it would be important to test if downstream outside-in signalling actually occurs as a direct result of individual antibodies binding, as this is not known so far.

An important question that arises from the difficulty to correctly distinguish between effects mediated by 'blocking' and 'ligation' of a β_2 integrin subunit is what this means for the targeting β_2 integrins therapeutically in the future. Currently, the most promising avenue to target β_2 integrins are small-molecule CD11b agonists termed

leukadherins (Faridi et al., 2013; Panni et al., 2019). One possibility is that these therapeutic agents are not only promising because they reduced inflammation in animal models (see Chapter 1, Section 1.4.5) (Faridi et al., 2013; Park et al., 2007), but because of their defined function on integrins: they increase adherence of the β_2 integrin to its ligand. It is therefore possible that failure of other CD11b-targeting therapies to outperform placebo in human (see Chapter 1, Section 1.4.5) (Dove, 2000; Harlan and Winn, 2002) was partially due to not fully understanding their functionality and thereby affecting β_2 integrins and in turn cell properties in unforeseen ways.

6.2 Evidence of dysregulation of β_2 integrins in RA

As the main aim of my thesis was to define the roles of β_2 integrins on DC in tolerogenic and autoimmune environments, I will first explore which of my findings support my original hypothesis that integrin expression and/or conformation may be dysregulated in RA.

First, no differences in the expression of total or active β_2 integrin subunits were observed in any of the DC subtypes or monocytes isolated from PB between healthy controls and RA patients (Chapter 5, sections 5.3.4 & 5.3.5, Figure 5.12, Figure 5.15, Figure 5.20, Figure 5.22). This suggested that, in PB, β_2 integrin expression or conformational regulation were neither actively contributing to pathology nor altered in response to the presence of inflammation due to established autoimmunity.

However, while this result does not support a role of β_2 integrins in systemic immune dysregulation, several other results presented in this thesis do support the hypothesis that β_2 integrins are dysregulated in autoimmunity. CD11a, in particular, was found to have different properties when comparing healthy controls and RA patients. For example, total CD11a expression was significantly lower in healthy male controls compared to healthy females. However, when comparing total CD11a expression between male and female RA patients, no significant differences between genders was observed (Appendix, Figure 7.1). Considering the fact that women are twice as likely to suffer from RA and other autoimmune disorders compared to men (Whitacre, 2001), this could suggest that dysregulation of CD11a expression leading to a change in immune cell communication could contribute to RA pathology. This is further supported by evidence that APCs derived from healthy female mice showed higher abilities to elicit a T cell response in an MLR compared to APCs derived from

male (Weinstein et al., 1984). The authors suggested that the higher reactivity of APCs from female mice might contribute to an increased likelihood to breach self-tolerance. Finally, the female hormone oestrogen has been found to increase TLR-signalling (Seillet et al., 2012), while β_2 integrins have been described to dampen and control TLR signalling (Yee and Hamerman, 2013). As no difference in CD11a expression between male and female RA patients was found, one could therefore suppose that decreased CD11a on female RA patients fails to regulate the TLR signalling mediated by oestrogen. This would further support the theory that the loss of difference in total CD11a expression between male and female RA patients could contribute to disease pathology in women. To conclude, this data therefore suggests that β_2 integrins, especially loss of CD11a, might play a role in mediating autoimmune diseases such as RA in women. It is here also important to state that, to my knowledge, no other differences in integrin expression or function have been reported to be different between genders.

Another difference between healthy controls and RA patients concerning CD11a was observed in the significantly increased steric hindrance between total and activation-specific antibodies in both active and remission RA samples compared to healthy control samples (Chapter 5, section 5.3.4, Figure 5.13). By elimination of other possibilities, I concluded that this was likely to be due to a consistent alteration in either molecular structure, such as an increase in the intermediate activation state, or avidity (clustering) of CD11a, that resulted in total and active binding sites moving closer together, therefore increasing loss of total CD11a signal due to steric hindrance. While exploring this altered state was not within the remit of this thesis, this finding suggested that the β_2 integrin subunit CD11a is consistently altered in RA. These alterations in CD11a expression and molecular properties may directly contribute to disease or, alternatively, may reflect a downstream consequence of the dysregulated immune environment in RA.

Considering that I did find β_2 integrins to be dysregulated in RA, it is furthermore interesting to speculate if these changes are specific to RA and autoimmune disease more generally, or if this change in CD11a is likely to occur in any inflammatory environment. It is interesting that the difference in steric hindrance was seen in both active RA and remission patients, suggesting that this dysregulation exists even in the absence of inflamed joints. One could therefore speculate that CD11a would not be similarly altered in acute infection. However, further work on understanding if and

how the change in CD11a affects DC function in RA and potentially other immune diseases would be necessary to understand the aspect of chronic versus acute inflammation and infection versus autoimmunity better.

My data showing that tolerogenic and mature Mo-DCs differ in their expression of active CD11a and CD11b, and that treating mature Mo-DCs with a blocking antibody against CD11b reduced their ability to effectively stimulate T cells, further supports the possibility that alteration of β_2 integrins might affect immune functions such as antigen presentation and cytokine production. In the following section, I will therefore explore the potential opposing roles of the β_2 integrin α subunits CD11a and CD11b evidence of support from throughout my thesis.

6.3 Summary of opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b

A theme that was persistent throughout my thesis were the differences observed specifically between β_2 integrin subunits CD11a and CD11b, which led me to conclude that they likely play opposing roles on DCs. In the following paragraphs, I will summarise the findings presented in my three results chapters, put them into context with the published literature and explore what they can tell us about the respective roles of CD11a and CD11b on DCs.

Opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b on Mo-DCs

I quantified $β_2$ integrin expression and conformation in mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs to investigate if they are involved in respective immunogenic and tolerogenic roles of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. While I detected no differences in total CD11a or total CD11b expression, active CD11a was significantly increased in tolerogenic compared to mature Mo-DCs, while active CD11b was significantly decreased (Chapter 4, sections 4.2.3 & 4.2.4, Figure 4.7 and Figure 4.10). Especially as the active CD11a antibody (clone MEM-83) likely also contributes to activation of CD11a, one could speculate that tolerogenic Mo-DCs were able to activate CD11a to a higher degree compared to mature Mo-DCs. Furthermore, surprising adhesion assay data suggested a potential role for CD11c, which would further support that a fine balance between different b2 integrin alpha subunits has to be maintained to mediate tolerogenic Mo-DC function. Lastly, blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DCs in the context of an MLR reduced the level of T cell proliferation and cytokine production. Although this result was not repeated in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, which showed no differences in T cell stimulatory ability in response to blocking CD11b, this fits well with the data showing that active CD11b is significantly reduced on tolerogenic Mo-DC surfaces (Chapter 4, section 4.2.4, Figure 4.10). Therefore, it suggests that active CD11b is somehow maintained in its inactive state or downregulated on tolerogenic Mo-DCs to mediate immunoregulatory functions, potentially via an increase in active CD11a and that blocking CD11b on mature Mo-DC surfaces makes them assume a more tolerogenic phenotype. The mechanism of how integrins could be maintained in an inactive state have not been reported, but one could speculate that as inside-out signalling is largely mediated via talin and kindlin binding to the β_2 integrin β subunit CD18, that specific inactivation of CD11b could be mediated by increasing non-covalent interactions between CD11b and CD18. Possibly, phosphorylation of CD11b intracellular domains might thereby keep leg regions of CD11b and CD18 close together despite talin and kinlin binding to CD18 to induce activation.

So how could differences in active CD11a and active CD11b relate to the function of mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs respectively? One could speculate that increasing active CD11a on tolerogenic DCs would make them adhere tighter to T cells via binding to ICAM-1, thereby prolonging contact time, which was previously shown to reduce T cell activation (Balkow et al., 2010). However, contact with T cells is not the only aspect that could be affected: changing the balance of active CD11a and active CD11b on tolerogenic Mo-DCs could alter ligands the cells primarily interact with and thereby affect cell signalling. For example, it is possible that tolerogenic Mo-DCs resistance to restimulation with LPS is partially mediated by their low active CD11b signalling in macrophages (Perera et al., 2001). Increasing signalling mediated via CD11a and decreasing signalling mediated via CD11b might also alter type and levels of cytokines released by tolerogenic Mo-DCs by shifting downstream signalling processes, potentially explaining why tolerogenic Mo-DCs do not induce as much IFN-γ production by T cells.

To summarise, active CD11a and CD11b were found to be differentially expressed between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. In addition to other mature and tolerogenic Mo-DC properties that were hypothesised to be due to altered β_2 integrin expression, such as cell adhesion, clustering and ability to stimulate T cell responses, targeting CD11b specifically altered functionality of mature Mo-DCs by reducing their ability

stimulate T cells. This provided first concrete evidence that β_2 integrin α subunits CD11a and CD11b play opposing roles in immune activation versus tolerance.

Opposing roles for CD11a and CD11b in RA

As I found evidence of opposing functions of CD11a and CD11b in a model of immune versus tolerogenic environments (mature vs. tolerogenic Mo-DCs), I went on to validate these findings in real human DCs from relevant clinical samples (healthy controls vs. RA patients). As previously mentioned, no opposing functions for β_2 integrin α subunits were observed in PB, with only CD11a being implicated to be dysregulated between RA patients and healthy controls. Importantly, the finding that CD11a and CD11b might play opposing roles on DCs was further supported when comparing PB monocytes and DCs to their counterparts located in SF. Compared to PB APCs, SF APCs showed significantly increased expression of total and active CD11b, while expression of total and active CD11a was significantly decreased compared to PB (Chapter 5, sections 5.3.4 and 5.3.5, Figure 5.18, Figure 5.23 and Figure 5.24). Therefore, in the joint, where DCs have been shown to be in a mature state, I found CD11b expression to be increased and CD11a expression decreased, compared to PB. This mirrors my finding that mature Mo-DCs expressed more active CD11b and less active CD11a compared to tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Especially as CD11a, the proposed immunoregulatory mediator, was found to be shed from cell surfaces in large quantities in the synovium (Evans et al., 2006), one could speculate that to maintain joint inflammation, the immunoregulatory roles of CD11a have to be actively down modulated, while the pro-inflammatory functions of CD11b are increased.

In line with my findings in tolerogenic Mo-DCs, I proposed that increased presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the inflamed joint cavity likely cause downregulation of immunoregulatory mediators, such as CD11a, while simultaneously stimulating pro-inflammatory mediators, such as CD11b. Cytokines that could mediate driving DCs to a mature state could be IFN- γ , IL-1 β and IL-6, which have all been found at increased levels in RA synovial fluid (Lettesjö et al., 1998; Schlaak et al., 1996). To test if this was true, I therefore quantified expression of total and active β_2 integrins on monocytes and DCs when exposed to pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli, as well as RA synovial fluid. Expression of CD11b in response to pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli did not support my hypothesis, with CD11b either not being altered by stimuli or, confusingly, being significantly

decreased by both the pro-inflammatory stimulus LPS and the anti-inflammatory stimulus IL-10/TGF β in cDC1 DCs. However, total CD11a expression was significantly decreased specifically in cDC1 and cDC2 DCs when treated with the pro-inflammatory stimuli LPS or IL-1/TNF α , further supporting my hypothesis that CD11a holds immunoregulatory roles on DCs that are downregulated in the presence of inflammation.

Overview of opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b

To summarise, evidence that roles of CD11a and CD11b might be different and potentially even in direct opposition of each other was presented in both Mo-DCs and in RA clinical samples. Due to CD11a being upregulated on tolerogenic Mo-DCs (chapter 4) while being downregulated in a setting of inflammation (chapter 5), I propose that CD11a plays an immunoregulatory role on DCs. While very little research on the role of CD11a on DCs exists, this conclusion finds support in the group reporting that constitutively active CD11a on DCs decreased their ability to induce T cell proliferation (Balkow et al., 2010; Semmrich et al., 2005). This previous publication fits well with data presented in this thesis on both Mo-DCs and in RA SF DCs. Increased levels of active CD11a on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, could thereby contribute to their variety of tolerogenic functions, such as low expression of costimulatory molecules, reduced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and increased expression of immunoregulatory cytokines (Chapter 4, section 4.1.1), alongside their reduced abilities to induce IFN- γ production by T cells (Chapter 4, section 4.2.1, Figure 4.4). Conversely, in an inflamed RA joint, it is likely that local pro-inflammatory factors, such as IFN-γ, IL-1β IL-6 (Lettesjö et al., 1998; Schlaak et al., 1996), would activate DCs present in the joint and increase their ability to stimulate T cells (Grohmann et al., 2001), therefore explaining the shedding of CD11a from DC surfaces. On the other hand, I suggested CD11b to be proinflammatory due to its significantly decreased expression on tolerogenic Mo-DCs, while being upregulated on APCs found in RA SF. Evidence from the literature on this topic is more conflicting, as there are a number of studies to suggest immunoregulatory roles for CD11b in DCs (Chapter 1, section 1.4.3) (Behrens et al., 2007; Ehirchiou et al., 2007; Nowatzky et al., 2018b; Podgrabinska et al., 2009; Škoberne et al., 2006; Varga et al., 2007; Yee and Hamerman, 2013). However, one study suggested that absence of CD11b from DCs restricted their ability to stimulate

T cells by restricting endocytosis of TLR4 (Ling et al., 2014), suggesting that CD11b can mediate pro-inflammatory functions under some circumstances.

How can this discrepancy between findings presented in this thesis and the wider published literature be explained? First, it is possible that CD11b has both proinflammatory and immunoregulatory functions that are mediated depending on context. It is therefore possible that both inducing mature Mo-DCs from CD14⁺ monocytes and APCs present in an inflamed joint represent an environment where pro-inflammatory functions of CD11b are more prevalent in comparison to its immunoregulatory roles. This is further supported by the fact that the study reporting a pro-inflammatory role for CD11b in TLR4 signalling (Ling et al., 2014) found this in murine BMDCs that were matured with LPS. Another possibility would be that CD11a and CD11b are reciprocally regulated, potentially together with CD11c, with a change in expression of CD11a automatically altering the balance of β_2 integrins on the cell surface and therefore affecting expression and conformation of CD11b. One can speculate that such a reciprocal regulation of β_2 integrin α subunits could be mediated by downstream signalling processes causing increased internalisation of a certain β_2 integrin subunit or by altering their ability to assume their active conformation in response to either outside-in or inside-out signalling.

6.4 Targeting β_2 integrins therapeutically

Data presented in this thesis highlight opposing roles of CD11a and CD11b, with CD11a potentially being more immunoregulatory and CD11b potentially playing proinflammatory roles on DCs. Therefore, therapeutic manipulation of this β_2 integrin axis, for example by blocking CD11b and/or promoting CD11a, might have benefit in RA and other autoimmune conditions by inducing DCs with a more tolerogenic phenotype.

A major challenge in interpreting scientific results as well as developing therapeutic strategies involving β_2 integrins is the difficulty in distinguishing how mAbs or therapeutic agents mediate their effects. To explain, an agent binding specifically to a β_2 integrin subunit could be 'blocking' β_2 integrin function, by obstructing their access to ligands. However, a mAb or therapeutic agent could equally well mediate outside-in signalling by 'ligating' the β_2 integrins, which might elicit phenotypic changes to cells via downstream outside-in signalling pathways. Interestingly, both approaches might be useful intervention strategies in disease. For example, blocking adhesion of

DCs to T cells might reduce the amount of T cells becoming activated and blocking adhesion to endothelium would restrict access of cells to sites of tissue inflammation, thereby potentially contributing to resolving inflammation. On the other hand, downstream β_2 integrin signalling in DCs has been described to be immunoregulatory (Chapter 1, section 1.4.3), suggesting that ligating β_2 integrins might increase control of TLR signalling (Yee and Hamerman, 2013), thereby contributing to limiting immune responses. Therapeutically, it might therefore even be desirable to block access of immune cells into tissues, while simultaneously inducing immunoregulatory signalling in DCs already present in either inflamed tissues or LNs.



6.5 Future Directions

Figure 6.1 Graphical summary

The work presented in this thesis suggests that β_2 integrin subunits CD11a and CD11b are reciprocally controlled on immune cell surfaces. This raises a variety of novel questions for future research, including involvement of other subunits, underlying molecular mechanism and role of found gender differences as well as potential alterations in autoimmune disease or infection, making this system a potential therapeutic target.

The finding that β_2 integrin subunits CD11a and CD11b appear to be reciprocally regulated, with one increasing when the other decreases in surface expression under several circumstances, is one of the main findings of this thesis (Figure 6.1). It generates a variety of novel questions and directions for future research. The most

obvious questions would be how such a system of integrin regulation works on a molecular basis and how other subunits, such as CD11c and CD11d are involved. Another question that was touched on by my finding that β_2 integrins, especially CD11a, do seem to be dysregulated in RA, is if this system is altered in autoimmune disease or infection and if it is therefore a viable therapeutic target. Lastly, gender differences in CD11a total expression suggest that this mechanism might operate differently in males and females, adding a further dimension. In the following paragraphs, I will explore how these questions could be answered in the future.

While the evidence presented in the previous section supports a role for dysregulation of the β_2 integrin subunit, CD11a, in RA, the question of cause and effect is especially difficult to answer in a human setting. Continuing this work, I would focus on the functional aspects of β_2 integrins on DCs, including adhesive, migratory and T cell stimulatory functions, between male and female healthy controls and healthy controls and RA patients. One could here hypothesise that such CD11a-mediated functions would be altered in RA patients, and might even be shown to contribute to on-going inflammation. Here, it would be especially important to compare RA patient samples functionally to healthy controls, as the specific nature of CD11a dysregulation is not yet clear and would therefore be difficult to recreate *in vitro*. This furthermore suggests that while measuring both total and active β_2 integrin expression yields novel information, this is not exhaustive of integrin function. Even though expression of the active integrin conformation likely reflects functional ability, further measurements, such as receptor avidity, might affect function as well and might therefore be important to take into account.

For further exploring the potential opposing functions of CD11a and CD11b in the future, targeting CD11a and CD11b specifically on human DCs would be a top priority to investigate the respective functional importance of CD11a and CD11b on DCs. RNAsilencing of individual β_2 integrin subunits, which would allow for quantification of expression and conformation of other β_2 integrins to test if any reciprocal regulation between β_2 integrin subunits exists, could potentially do this. This approach would allow to pinpoint the functional significance of different β_2 integrin subunits, as it would allow testing of DC abilities to migrate, stimulate T cells and produce cytokines. Furthermore, as the read-outs used to detect differences in specifically tolerogenic function of Mo-DCs were limited, further read-outs could be added once specific integrin subunits can be blocked or activated. Examples of this

could include measuring cytokine signalling, such as the presence of IL-12 or TGF- β after blocking or activating integrin subunits to test if tolerogenic functions are altered. Similarly, surface marker expression of CD83, CD86, HLA-DR, LAP or TLR2 might give insight in how far integrins are actually involved in these differences between mature and tolerogenic Mo-DCs. Lastly migratory and clustering properties could be similarly assessed to test how functionally important the different subunits are.

6.6 Concluding remarks

In this thesis I present evidence that the β_2 integrin CD11a is dysregulated in RA. These alterations of CD11a may indicate a downstream consequence of inflammation or actively contribute to disease pathology, or potentially even do both. Especially the finding that expression of CD11a differed between healthy men and women, but was found to be the same between men and women with RA, could provide valuable insights into how gender might contribute to the development of autoimmune disease. Furthermore, my work uncovered potentially opposing roles of β_2 integrin subunits CD11a and CD11b on DCs, with CD11a being likely to mediate immunoregulatory roles, while CD11b was suggested to play more pro-inflammatory roles. Although technical problems with β_2 integrin targeting therapies persist and would need to become more targeted to specific cell types or cell locations, together, this suggests that β_2 integrins represent a viable therapeutic target on DCs specifically to treat RA and potentially other autoimmune disorders by driving a more tolerogenic phenotype in DCs.

Appendix



Appendix figure 1 Expression of total CD11a does not differ between genders in RA

Total CD11a expression was compared between female (red circles) and male (blue squares) RA patients in five APC types of interest. Both active RA (left, female n=26, male n=5) and remission samples (right, female n=14, male n=10) are shown. Unpaired t test, total n=29.




Total CD18 expression in RA samples and RA samples compared to healthy controls A. Total expression of CD18 (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and disease in remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types of interest isolated from PB. Unpaired student's t test. B. Total CD18 expression (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.



Appendix figure 3 Active CD18 expression in healthy controls compared to RA patients

Active CD18 expression in RA samples and RA samples compared to healthy controls A. Expression of active CD18 (MFI) compared between active RA (orange squares, n=31) and disease in remission (blue triangles, n=24) on five APC types of interest isolated from PB. Unpaired student's t test. B. Active CD18 expression (MFI) between healthy controls and RA patients. One way ANOVA, n=29 for healthy control, n=31 in active RA, n=24 in remission.

References

- Aho, K., Heliövaara, M., Maatela, J., Tuomi, T., Palosuo, T., 1991. Rheumatoid factors antedating clinical rheumatoid arthritis. J. Rheumatol. 18, 1282–1284.
- Alamanos, Y., Drosos, A.A., 2005. Epidemiology of adult rheumatoid arthritis. Autoimmun. Rev. 4, 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2004.09.002
- ALETAHA, D., FUNOVITS, J., WARD, M.M., SMOLEN, J.S., KVIEN, T.K., 2009. Perception of Improvement in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis Varies With Disease Activity Levels at Baseline. Arthritis Rheum. 61, 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24282
- Aletaha, D., Neogi, T., Silman, A.J., Funovits, J., Felson, D.T., Bingham, C.O., Birnbaum, N.S., Burmester, G.R., Bykerk, V.P., Cohen, M.D., Combe, B., Costenbader, K.H., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Ferraccioli, G., Hazes, J.M.W., Hobbs, K., Huizinga, T.W.J., Kavanaugh, A., Kay, J., Kvien, T.K., Laing, T., Mease, P., Ménard, H.A., Moreland, L.W., Naden, R.L., Pincus, T., Smolen, J.S., Stanislawska-Biernat, E., Symmons, D., Tak, P.P., Upchurch, K.S., Vencovský, J., Wolfe, F., Hawker, G., 2010. 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: An American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. Arthritis Rheum. 62, 2569–2581. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27584
- Alon, R., Dustin, M.L., 2007. Force as a Facilitator of Integrin Conformational Changes during Leukocyte Arrest on Blood Vessels and Antigen-Presenting Cells. Immunity 26, 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.002
- Altieri, D.C., 1991. Occupancy of CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) divalent ion binding site(s) induces leukocyte adhesion. J. Immunol. 147, 1891–1898.
- Ammon, C., Meyer, S.P., Schwarzfischer, L., Krause, S.W., Andreesen, R., Kreutz, M., 2000. Comparative analysis of integrin expression on monocyte-derived macrophages and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Immunology 100, 364– 369. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2567.2000.00056.x
- Anbazhagan, K., Duroux-Richard, I., Jorgensen, C., Apparailly, F., 2014. Transcriptomic Network Support Distinct Roles of Classical and Non-Classical Monocytes in Human. Int. Rev. Immunol. 33, 470–489. https://doi.org/10.3109/08830185.2014.902453
- Anderson, A.E., Sayers, B.L., Haniffa, M.A., Swan, D.J., Diboll, J., Wang, X.-N., Isaacs, J.D., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2008. Differential regulation of naïve and memory CD4+ T cells by alternatively activated dendritic cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 84, 124–133. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1107744
- Anderson, A.E., Swan, D.J., Sayers, B.L., Harry, R.A., Patterson, A.M., Delwig, A. von, Robinson, J.H., Isaacs, J.D., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2009. LPS activation is required for migratory activity and antigen presentation by tolerogenic dendritic cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0608374
- Anderson, A.E., Swan, D.J., Wong, O.Y., Buck, M., Eltherington, O., Harry, R.A., Patterson, A.M., Pratt, A.G., Reynolds, G., Doran, J.-P., Kirby, J.A., Isaacs, J.D., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2017. Tolerogenic dendritic cells generated with dexamethasone and vitamin D3 regulate rheumatoid arthritis CD4+ T cells partly via transforming growth factor-β1. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 187, 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12870
- Andrew, D., Shock, A., Ball, E., Ortlepp, S., Bell, J., Robinson, M., 1993. KIM185, a monoclonal antibody to CD18 which induces a change in the conformation of CD18 and promotes both LFA-1- and CR3-dependent adhesion. Eur. J. Immunol. 23, 2217–2222. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830230925

Angénieux, C., Fricker, D., Strub, J.-M., Luche, S., Bausinger, H., Cazenave, J.-P., Dorsselaer, A., Hanau, D., de la Salle, H., Rabilloud, T., 2001. Gene induction during differentiation of human monocytes into dendritic cells: an integrated study at the RNA and protein levels. Funct. Integr. Genomics 1, 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s101420100037

Arnaout, M.A., 2016. Biology and structure of leukocyte β 2 integrins and their role in inflammation. F1000Research 5.

https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9415.1

Asselin-Paturel, C., Trinchieri, G., 2005. Production of type I interferons: plasmacytoid dendritic cells and beyond. J. Exp. Med. 202, 461–465. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20051395

- Auffray, C., Fogg, D., Garfa, M., Elain, G., Join-Lambert, O., Kayal, S., Sarnacki, S., Cumano, A., Lauvau, G., Geissmann, F., 2007. Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. Science 317, 666–670. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1142883
- Bai, Y., Qian, C., Qian, L., Ma, F., Hou, J., Chen, Y., Wang, Q., Cao, X., 2012. Integrin CD11b Negatively Regulates TLR9-Triggered Dendritic Cell Cross-Priming by Upregulating microRNA-146a. J. Immunol. 188, 5293–5302. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1102371
- Balázs, M., Martin, F., Zhou, T., Kearney, J.F., 2002. Blood Dendritic Cells Interact with Splenic Marginal Zone B Cells to Initiate T-Independent Immune Responses. Immunity 17, 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00389-8
- Balkow, S., Heinz, S., Schmidbauer, P., Kolanus, W., Holzmann, B., Grabbe, S., Laschinger, M., 2010. LFA-1 activity state on dendritic cells regulates contact duration with T cells and promotes T-cell priming. Blood 116, 1885–1894. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-05-224428
- Banchereau, J., Pascual, V., 2006. Type I Interferon in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Other Autoimmune Diseases. Immunity 25, 383–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.010
- Barchet, W., Cella, M., Odermatt, B., Asselin-Paturel, C., Colonna, M., Kalinke, U., 2002. Virus-induced Interferon α Production by a Dendritic Cell Subset in the Absence of Feedback Signaling In Vivo. J. Exp. Med. 195, 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20011666
- Bazzoni, G., Hemler, M.E., 1998. Are changes in integrin affinity and conformation overemphasized? Trends Biochem. Sci. 23, 30–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(97)01141-9
- Bednarska, K., Klink, M., Wilczyński, J.R., Szyłło, K., Malinowski, A., Sułowska, Z., Nowak, M., 2016. Heterogeneity of the Mac-1 expression on peripheral blood neutrophils in patients with different types of epithelial ovarian cancer. Immunobiology 221, 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2015.10.003
- Beery, A.K., Zucker, I., 2011. Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35, 565–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.002
- Behrens, E.M., Sriram, U., Shivers, D.K., Gallucci, M., Ma, Z., Finkel, T.H., Gallucci, S., 2007. Complement Receptor 3 Ligation of Dendritic Cells Suppresses Their Stimulatory Capacity. J. Immunol. 178, 6268–6279. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6268
- Belge, K.-U., Dayyani, F., Horelt, A., Siedlar, M., Frankenberger, M., Frankenberger, B., Espevik, T., Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., 2002. The Proinflammatory CD14+CD16+DR++ Monocytes Are a Major Source of TNF. J. Immunol. 168, 3536–3542. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3536

- Bell, D., Young, J.W., Banchereau, J., 1999. Dendritic Cells, in: Dixon, F.J., Alt, F., Austen, K.F., Kishimoto, T., Melchers, F., Uhr, J.W. (Eds.), Advances in Immunology. Academic Press, pp. 255–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(08)60023-1
- Bell, G.M., Anderson, A.E., Diboll, J., Reece, R., Eltherington, O., Harry, R.A., Fouweather, T., MacDonald, C., Chadwick, T., McColl, E., Dunn, J., Dickinson, A.M., Hilkens, C.M.U., Isaacs, J.D., 2016. Autologous tolerogenic dendritic cells for rheumatoid and inflammatory arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. annrheumdis-2015-208456. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208456
- Beller, D.I., Springer, T.A., Schreiber, R.D., 1982. Anti-Mac-1 selectively inhibits the mouse and human type three complement receptor. J. Exp. Med. 156, 1000– 1009. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.156.4.1000
- Benham, H., Nel, H.J., Law, S.C., Mehdi, A.M., Street, S., Ramnoruth, N., Pahau, H., Lee, B.T., Ng, J., Brunck, M.E.G., Hyde, C., Trouw, L.A., Dudek, N.L., Purcell, A.W., O'Sullivan, B.J., Connolly, J.E., Paul, S.K., Cao, K.-A.L., Thomas, R., 2015. Citrullinated peptide dendritic cell immunotherapy in HLA risk genotype– positive rheumatoid arthritis patients. Sci. Transl. Med. 7, 290ra87-290ra87. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9301
- Bennett, C.L., Christie, J., Ramsdell, F., Brunkow, M.E., Ferguson, P.J., Whitesell, L., Kelly, T.E., Saulsbury, F.T., Chance, P.F., Ochs, H.D., 2001. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat. Genet. 27, 20–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/83713
- Benson, R.A., Patakas, A., Conigliaro, P., Rush, C.M., Garside, P., McInnes, I.B., Brewer, J.M., 2010. Identifying the Cells Breaching Self-Tolerance in Autoimmunity. J. Immunol. 184, 6378–6385. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0903951
- Bernatsky, S., Hudson, M., Suissa, S., 2007. Anti-rheumatic drug use and risk of serious infections in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology 46, 1157–1160. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kem076
- Bevan, M.J., 1976. Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J. Exp. Med. 143, 1283–1288. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.143.5.1283
- Binnerts, M.E., Kooyk, Y. van, Simmons, D.L., Figdor, C.G., 1994. Distinct binding of T lymphocytes to ICAM-1, -2 or -3 upon activation of LFA-1. Eur. J. Immunol. 24, 2155–2160. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830240933
- Binnerts, M.E., van Kooyk, Y., 1999. How LFA-1 binds to different ligands. Immunol. Today 20, 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01467-X
- Birnberg, T., Bar-On, L., Sapoznikov, A., Caton, M.L., Cervantes-Barragán, L., Makia, D., Krauthgamer, R., Brenner, O., Ludewig, B., Brockschnieder, D., Riethmacher, D., Reizis, B., Jung, S., 2008. Lack of Conventional Dendritic Cells Is Compatible with Normal Development and T Cell Homeostasis, but Causes Myeloid Proliferative Syndrome. Immunity 29, 986–997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.012
- Blackford, J., Reid, H.W., Pappin, D.J.C., Bowers, F.S., Wilkinson, J.M., 1996. A monoclonal antibody, 3/22, to rabbit CD11c which induces homotypic T cell aggregation: evidence that ICAM-1 is a ligand for CD11c/CD18. Eur. J. Immunol. 26, 525–531. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830260304
- Blokland, S.C.A. van, Wierenga-Wolf, A.F., Helden-Meeuwsen, C.G. van, Drexhage, H.A., Hooijkaas, H., Merwe, J.P. van de, Versnel, M.A., 2000. Professional Antigen Presenting Cells in Minor Salivary Glands in Sjögren's Syndrome:

Potential Contribution to the Histopathological Diagnosis? Lab. Invest. 80, 1935–1941. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3780203

- Blouin, E., Halbwachs-Mecarelli, L., Rieu, P., 1999. Redox regulation of β2-integrin CD11b / CD18 activation. Eur. J. Immunol. 29, 3419–3431. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199911)29:11<3419::AID-IMMU3419>3.0.CO;2-1
- Bohuslav, J., Horejsí, V., Hansmann, C., Stöckl, J., Weidle, U.H., Majdic, O., Bartke, I., Knapp, W., Stockinger, H., 1995. Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor, beta 2-integrins, and Src-kinases within a single receptor complex of human monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1381–1390. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.181.4.1381
- Boks, M.A., Kager-Groenland, J.R., Haasjes, M.S.P., Zwaginga, J.J., van Ham, S.M., ten Brinke, A., 2012. IL-10-generated tolerogenic dendritic cells are optimal for functional regulatory T cell induction — A comparative study of human clinicalapplicable DC. Clin. Immunol. 142, 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2011.11.011
- Bouneaud, C., Kourilsky, P., Bousso, P., 2000. Impact of Negative Selection on the T Cell Repertoire Reactive to a Self-Peptide: A Large Fraction of T Cell Clones Escapes Clonal Deletion. Immunity 13, 829–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00080-7
- Boyden, S.D., Hossain, I.N., Wohlfahrt, A., Lee, Y.C., 2016. Non-inflammatory Causes of Pain in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 18, 30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-016-0581-0
- Brennan, P., Silman, A., 1995. Why the gender difference in susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis? Ann. Rheum. Dis. 54, 694–695.
- Bretscher, M. s., 1992. Circulating integrins: alpha 5 beta 1, alpha 6 beta 4 and Mac-1, but not alpha 3 beta 1, alpha 4 beta 1 or LFA-1. EMBO J. 11, 405–410. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1992.tb05068.x
- Brickson, S., Ji, L.L., Schell, K., Olabisi, R., St. Pierre Schneider, B., Best, T.M., 2003. M1/70 attenuates blood-borne neutrophil oxidants, activation, and myofiber damage following stretch injury. J. Appl. Physiol. 95, 969–976. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00005.2003
- Brocker, T., Riedinger, M., Karjalainen, K., 1997. Targeted Expression of Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class II Molecules Demonstrates that Dendritic Cells Can Induce Negative but Not Positive Selection of Thymocytes In Vivo. J. Exp. Med. 185, 541–550. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.185.3.541
- Brzezinski, A., 2019. Menopausal symptoms: not just estrogen deficiency. Menopause 26, 229. https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.000000000001290
- Bullard, D.C., Hurley, L.A., Lorenzo, I., Sly, L.M., Beaudet, A.L., Staite, N.D., 1996. Reduced susceptibility to collagen-induced arthritis in mice deficient in intercellular adhesion molecule-1. J. Immunol. 157, 3153–3158.
- Byron, A., Humphries, J.D., Askari, J.A., Craig, S.E., Mould, A.P., Humphries, M.J., 2009. Anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies. J. Cell Sci. 122, 4009–4011. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.056770
- Cai, T.-Q., Wright, S.D., 1995. Energetics of Leukocyte Integrin Activation. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 14358–14365. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.24.14358
- Calderwood, D.A., Yan, B., Pereda, J.M. de, Alvarez, B.G., Fujioka, Y., Liddington, R.C., Ginsberg, M.H., 2002. The Phosphotyrosine Binding-like Domain of Talin Activates Integrins. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 21749–21758. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111996200

- Carman, C.V., Springer, T.A., 2003. Integrin avidity regulation: are changes in affinity and conformation underemphasized? Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 15, 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2003.08.003
- Cavanagh, L.L., Boyce, A., Smith, L., Padmanabha, J., Filgueira, L., Pietschmann, P., Thomas, R., 2005. Rheumatoid arthritis synovium contains plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Arthritis Res Ther 7, R230. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1467
- Celik, E., Faridi, Mohd.H., Kumar, V., Deep, S., Moy, V.T., Gupta, V., 2013. Agonist Leukadherin-1 Increases CD11b/CD18-Dependent Adhesion Via Membrane Tethers. Biophys. J. 105, 2517–2527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2013.10.020
- Cella, M., Salio, M., Sakakibara, Y., Langen, H., Julkunen, I., Lanzavecchia, A., 1999. Maturation, Activation, and Protection of Dendritic Cells Induced by Double-stranded RNA. J. Exp. Med. 189, 821–829. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.189.5.821
- Celli, S., Lemaître, F., Bousso, P., 2007. Real-Time Manipulation of T Cell-Dendritic Cell Interactions In Vivo Reveals the Importance of Prolonged Contacts for CD4+ T Cell Activation. Immunity 27, 625–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.018
- Cerovic, V., Bain, C.C., Mowat, A.M., Milling, S.W.F., 2014. Intestinal macrophages and dendritic cells: what's the difference? Trends Immunol. 35, 270–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2014.04.003
- Chabaud, M., Fossiez, F., Taupin, J.-L., Miossec, P., 1998. Enhancing Effect of IL-17 on IL-1-Induced IL-6 and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Production by Rheumatoid Arthritis Synoviocytes and Its Regulation by Th2 Cytokines. J. Immunol. 161, 409–414.
- Christensen, J.E., Andreasen, S.Ø., Christensen, J.P., Thomsen, A.R., 2001. CD11b expression as a marker to distinguish between recently activated effector CD8+ T cells and memory cells. Int. Immunol. 13, 593–600. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/13.4.593
- Chuluyan, H.E., Issekutz, A.C., 1993. VLA-4 integrin can mediate CD11/CD18independent transendothelial migration of human monocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 92, 2768–2777. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116895
- Cisse, B., Caton, M.L., Lehner, M., Maeda, T., Scheu, S., Locksley, R., Holmberg, D., Zweier, C., den Hollander, N.S., Kant, S.G., Holter, W., Rauch, A., Zhuang, Y., Reizis, B., 2008. Transcription Factor E2-2 Is an Essential and Specific Regulator of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Development. Cell 135, 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.016
- Cohen, J., 1992. A power primer. Psychol. Bull. 112, p.155.
- Coller, B.S., 1985. A new murine monoclonal antibody reports an activationdependent change in the conformation and/or microenvironment of the platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa complex. J. Clin. Invest. 76, 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI111931
- Cooles, F.A.H., Anderson, A.E., Skelton, A., Pratt, A.G., Kurowska-Stolarska, M.S., McInnes, I., Hilkens, C.M.U., Isaacs, J.D., 2018. Phenotypic and Transcriptomic Analysis of Peripheral Blood Plasmacytoid and Conventional Dendritic Cells in Early Drug Naïve Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front. Immunol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00755
- Coombes, J.L., Siddiqui, K.R.R., Arancibia-Cárcamo, C.V., Hall, J., Sun, C.-M., Belkaid, Y., Powrie, F., 2007. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-β– and retinoic acid–dependent mechanism. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1757–1764. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070590

- Curtis, J.R., Singh, J.A., 2011. Use of Biologics in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Current and Emerging Paradigms of Care. Clin. Ther. 33, 679–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2011.05.044
- Cush, J.J., Lipsky, P.E., 1988. Phenotypic analysis of synovial tissue and peripheral blood lymphocytes isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 31, 1230–1238. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780311003
- D'Agata, I.D., Paradis, K., Chad, Z., Bonny, Y., Seidman, E., 1996. Leucocyte adhesion deficiency presenting as a chronic ileocolitis. Gut 39, 605–608. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.39.4.605
- Dana, N., Styrt, B., Griffin, J.D., Todd, R.F., Klempner, M.S., Arnaout, M.A., 1986. Two functional domains in the phagocyte membrane glycoprotein Mo1 identified with monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 137, 3259–3263.
- Danilov, Y.N., Juliano, R.L., 1989. Phorbol ester modulation of integrin-mediated cell adhesion: a postreceptor event. J. Cell Biol. 108, 1925–1933. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.108.5.1925
- de la Rosa, G., Longo, N., Rodríguez-Fernández, J.L., Puig-Kroger, A., Pineda, A., Corbí, A.L., Sánchez-Mateos, P., 2003. Migration of human blood dendritic cells across endothelial cell monolayers: adhesion molecules and chemokines involved in subset-specific transmigration. J. Leukoc. Biol. 73, 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1002516
- de Lange, K.M., Moutsianas, L., Lee, J.C., Lamb, C.A., Luo, Y., Kennedy, N.A., Jostins, L., Rice, D.L., Gutierrez-Achury, J., Ji, S.-G., Heap, G., Nimmo, E.R., Edwards, C., Henderson, P., Mowat, C., Sanderson, J., Satsangi, J., Simmons, A., Wilson, D.C., Tremelling, M., Hart, A., Mathew, C.G., Newman, W.G., Parkes, M., Lees, C.W., Uhlig, H., Hawkey, C., Prescott, N.J., Ahmad, T., Mansfield, J.C., Anderson, C.A., Barrett, J.C., 2017. Genome-wide association study implicates immune activation of multiple integrin genes in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat. Genet. 49, 256–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3760
- Dekking, M., 2005. A modern introduction to probability and statistics: understanding why and how. Springer, London.
- Delves, P.J., Roitt, I.M., 2000. The Immune System. N. Engl. J. Med. 343, 37–49. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200007063430107
- Deshpande, P., Cavanagh, M.M., Saux, S.L., Singh, K., Weyand, C.M., Goronzy, J.J., 2013. IL-7– and IL-15–Mediated TCR Sensitization Enables T Cell Responses to Self-Antigens. J. Immunol. 190, 1416–1423. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1201620
- Diamond, M.S., Springer, T.A., 1993. A subpopulation of Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) molecules mediates neutrophil adhesion to ICAM-1 and fibrinogen. J. Cell Biol. 120, 545–556. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.120.2.545
- Diamond, M.S., Staunton, D.E., Fougerolles, A.R. de, Stacker, S.A., Garcia-Aguilar, J., Hibbs, M.L., Springer, T.A., 1990. ICAM-1 (CD54): a counter-receptor for Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). J. Cell Biol. 111, 3129–3139. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.111.6.3129
- Dickinson, C.M., LeBlanc, B.W., Edhi, M.M., Heffernan, D.S., Faridi, Mohd.H., Gupta, V., Cioffi, W.G., O'Brien, X., Reichner, J.S., 2018. Leukadherin-1 ameliorates endothelial barrier damage mediated by neutrophils from critically ill patients. J. Intensive Care 6, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40560-018-0289-5
- Dinarello, C.A., 2011. Blocking interleukin-1β in acute and chronic autoinflammatory diseases. J. Intern. Med. 269, 16–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2010.02313.x

- Ding, Z.-M., Babensee, J.E., Simon, S.I., Lu, H., Perrard, J.L., Bullard, D.C., Dai, X.Y., Bromley, S.K., Dustin, M.L., Entman, M.L., Smith, C.W., Ballantyne, C.M., 1999. Relative Contribution of LFA-1 and Mac-1 to Neutrophil Adhesion and Migration. J. Immunol. 163, 5029–5038.
- Dove, A., 2000. CD18 trials disappoint again. Nat. Biotechnol. 18, 817–818. https://doi.org/10.1038/78412
- Dransfield, I., Cabañas, C., Craig, A., Hogg, N., 1992. Divalent cation regulation of the function of the leukocyte integrin LFA-1. J. Cell Biol. 116, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.116.1.219
- Drevets, D.A., Leenen, P.J., Campbell, P.A., 1993. Complement receptor type 3 (CD11b/CD18) involvement is essential for killing of Listeria monocytogenes by mouse macrophages. J. Immunol. 151, 5431–5439.
- Dudek, A.M., Martin, S., Garg, A.D., Agostinis, P., 2013. Immature, Semi-Mature, and Fully Mature Dendritic Cells: Toward a DC-Cancer Cells Interface That Augments Anticancer Immunity. Front. Immunol. 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00438
- Dustin, M.L., Springer, T.A., 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. Nature 341, 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1038/341619a0
- Ehirchiou, D., Xiong, Y., Xu, G., Chen, W., Shi, Y., Zhang, L., 2007. CD11b facilitates the development of peripheral tolerance by suppressing Th17 differentiation. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1519–1524. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20062292
- Eich, C., Vries, I.J.M. de, Linssen, P.C., Boer, A. de, Boezeman, J.B., Figdor, C.G., Cambi, A., 2011. The lymphoid chemokine CCL21 triggers LFA-1 adhesive properties on human dendritic cells. Immunol. Cell Biol. 89, 458–465. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2010.103
- EMBL-EBI expression atlas, 2017.
- Emery, P., 2002. Evidence supporting the benefit of early intervention in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Rheumatol. Suppl. 66, 3–8.
- Estrada-Capetillo, L., Hernández-Castro, B., Monsiváis-Urenda, A., Alvarez-Quiroga, C., Layseca-Espinosa, E., Abud-Mendoza, C., Baranda, L., Urzainqui, A., Sánchez-Madrid, F., González-Amaro, R., 2013. Induction of Th17
 Lymphocytes and Treg Cells by Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus [WWW Document]. J. Immunol. Res. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/584303
- Evans, B.J., McDowall, A., Taylor, P.C., Hogg, N., Haskard, D.O., Landis, R.C., 2006. Shedding of lymphocyte function–associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) in a human inflammatory response. Blood 107, 3593–3599. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-09-3695
- Evans, H.G., Gullick, N.J., Kelly, S., Pitzalis, C., Lord, G.M., Kirkham, B.W., Taams, L.S., 2009. In vivo activated monocytes from the site of inflammation in humans specifically promote Th17 responses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 6232–6237. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808144106
- Evans, R., Patzak, I., Svensson, L., Filippo, K.D., Jones, K., McDowall, A., Hogg, N., 2009. Integrins in immunity. J. Cell Sci. 122, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.019117
- Fabbri, M., Fumagalli, L., Bossi, G., Bianchi, E., Bender, J.R., Pardi, R., 1999. A tyrosine-based sorting signal in the β2 integrin cytoplasmic domain mediates its recycling to the plasma membrane and is required for ligand-supported migration. EMBO J. 18, 4915–4925. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.18.4915

- Fan, S.T., Edgington, T.S., 1993. Integrin regulation of leukocyte inflammatory functions. CD11b/CD18 enhancement of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha responses of monocytes. J. Immunol. 150, 2972–2980.
- Fan, S.T., Edgington, T.S., 1991. Coupling of the adhesive receptor CD11b/CD18 to functional enhancement of effector macrophage tissue factor response. J. Clin. Invest. 87, 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115000
- Fan, Z., Kiosses, W.B., Sun, H., Orecchioni, M., Ghosheh, Y., Zajonc, D.M., Arnaout, M.A., Gutierrez, E., Groisman, A., Ginsberg, M.H., Ley, K., 2019. High-Affinity Bent β2-Integrin Molecules in Arresting Neutrophils Face Each Other through Binding to ICAMs In cis. Cell Rep. 26, 119-130.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.12.038
- Faridi, M.H., Altintas, M.M., Gomez, C., Duque, J.C., Vazquez-Padron, R.I., Gupta, V., 2013. Small molecule agonists of integrin CD11b/CD18 do not induce global conformational changes and are significantly better than activating antibodies in reducing vascular injury. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1830, 3696– 3710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.02.018
- Faridi, Mohd.H., Maiguel, D., Barth, C.J., Stoub, D., Day, R., Schürer, S., Gupta, V., 2009. Identification of novel agonists of the integrin CD11b/CD18. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 19, 6902–6906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.10.077
- Felson, D.T., Smolen, J.S., Wells, G., Zhang, B., Tuyl, L.H.D. van, Funovits, J., Aletaha, D., Allaart, C.F., Bathon, J., Bombardieri, S., Brooks, P., Brown, A., Matucci-Cerinic, M., Choi, H., Combe, B., Wit, M. de, Dougados, M., Emery, P., Furst, D., Gomez-Reino, J., Hawker, G., Keystone, E., Khanna, D., Kirwan, J., Kvien, T.K., Landewé, R., Listing, J., Michaud, K., Martin-Mola, E., Montie, P., Pincus, T., Richards, P., Siegel, J.N., Simon, L.S., Sokka, T., Strand, V., Tugwell, P., Tyndall, A., Heijde, D. van der, Verstappen, S., White, B., Wolfe, F., Zink, A., Boers, M., 2011. American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism provisional definition of remission in rheumatoid arthritis for clinical trials. Arthritis Rheum. 63, 573–586. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30129
- Ferguson, C.J., 2016. An effect size primer: A guide for clinicians and researchers, Methodological issues and strategies in clinical research, 4th ed. American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, US. https://doi.org/10.1037/14805-020
- Fingerle, G., Pforte, A., Passlick, B., Blumenstein, M., Strobel, M., Ziegler-Heitbrock, H.W., 1993. The novel subset of CD14+/CD16+ blood monocytes is expanded in sepsis patients. Blood 82, 3170–3176. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V82.10.3170.3170
- Fiorini, M., Vermi, W., Facchetti, F., Moratto, D., Alessandri, G., Notarangelo, L., Caruso, A., Grigolato, P., Ugazio, A.G., Notarangelo, L.D., Badolato, R., 2002. Defective migration of monocyte-derived dendritic cells in LAD-1 immunodeficiency. J. Leukoc. Biol. 72, 650–656. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.72.4.650
- Fischer, A., Lisowska-Grospierre, B., Anderson, D.C., Springer, T.A., 1988. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency: molecular basis and functional consequences. Immunodefic. Rev. 1, 39–54.
- Fogel-Petrovic, M., Long, J.A., Misso, N.L., Foster, P.S., Bhoola, K.D., Thompson, P.J., 2007. Physiological concentrations of transforming growth factor β1 selectively inhibit human dendritic cell function. Int. Immunopharmacol., Special Issue in Honor of Tony Hugli 7, 1924–1933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2007.07.003

- Fossati-Jimack, L., Ling, G.S., Cortini, A., Szajna, M., Malik, T.H., McDonald, J.U., Pickering, M.C., Cook, H.T., Taylor, P.R., Botto, M., 2013. Phagocytosis Is the Main CR3-Mediated Function Affected by the Lupus-Associated Variant of CD11b in Human Myeloid Cells. PLOS ONE 8, e57082. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057082
- Freudenthal, P.S., Steinman, R.M., 1990. The distinct surface of human blood dendritic cells, as observed after an improved isolation method. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87, 7698–7702. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.87.19.7698
- Gallego-Galisteo, M., Villa-Rubio, A., Rey, E.A., Márquez-Fernández, E., Ramos-Báez, J.J., 2012. Indirect comparison of biological treatments in refractory rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther. 37, 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2710.2011.01292.x
- Galvao, J., Davis, B., Tilley, M., Normando, E., Duchen, M.R., Cordeiro, M.F., 2013. Unexpected low-dose toxicity of the universal solvent DMSO. FASEB J. 28, 1317–1330. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.13-235440
- Gardner, J.K., Mamotte, C.D.S., Jackaman, C., Nelson, D.J., 2017. Modulation of dendritic cell and T cell cross-talk during aging: The potential role of checkpoint inhibitory molecules. Ageing Res. Rev. 38, 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2017.07.002
- Gautier, E.L., Shay, T., Miller, J., Greter, M., Jakubzick, C., Ivanov, S., Helft, J., Chow, A., Elpek, K.G., Gordonov, S., Mazloom, A.R., Ma'ayan, A., Chua, W.-J., Hansen, T.H., Turley, S.J., Merad, M., Randolph, G.J., 2012. Geneexpression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. Nat. Immunol. 13, 1118– 1128. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2419
- Geijtenbeek, T.B., Torensma, R., van Vliet, S.J., van Duijnhoven, G.C., Adema, G.J., van Kooyk, Y., Figdor, C.G., 2000. Identification of DC-SIGN, a novel dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 receptor that supports primary immune responses. Cell 100, 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80693-5
- Geisel, J., Brück, J., Glocova, I., Dengler, K., Sinnberg, T., Rothfuss, O., Walter, M., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Röcken, M., Ghoreschi, K., 2014. Sulforaphane Protects from T Cell–Mediated Autoimmune Disease by Inhibition of IL-23 and IL-12 in Dendritic Cells. J. Immunol. 192, 3530–3539. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1300556
- Geissmann, F., Dieu-Nosjean, M.C., Dezutter, C., Valladeau, J., Kayal, S., Leborgne, M., Brousse, N., Saeland, S., Davoust, J., 2002. Accumulation of Immature Langerhans Cells in Human Lymph Nodes Draining Chronically Inflamed Skin. J. Exp. Med. 196, 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20020018
- Geissmann, F., Jung, S., Littman, D.R., 2003a. Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity 19, 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(03)00174-2
- Geissmann, F., Jung, S., Littman, D.R., 2003b. Blood Monocytes Consist of Two Principal Subsets with Distinct Migratory Properties. Immunity 19, 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00174-2
- Geissmann, F., Manz, M.G., Jung, S., Sieweke, M.H., Merad, M., Ley, K., 2010. Development of Monocytes, Macrophages, and Dendritic Cells. Science 327, 656–661. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1178331
- Giannoukakis, N., Phillips, B., Finegold, D., Harnaha, J., Trucco, M., 2011. Phase I (Safety) Study of Autologous Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells in Type 1 Diabetic Patients. Diabetes Care 34, 2026–2032. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-0472
- Ginsberg, M.H., Du, X., Plow, E.F., 1992. Inside-out integrin signalling. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 4, 766–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/0955-0674(92)90099-X

- Gong, H., Shen, B., Flevaris, P., Chow, C., Lam, S.C.-T., Voyno-Yasenetskaya, T.A., Kozasa, T., Du, X., 2010. G Protein Subunit Gα13 Binds to Integrin αIIbβ3 and Mediates Integrin "Outside-In" Signaling. Science 327, 340–343. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1174779
- Goodrum, K.J., McCormick, L.L., Schneider, B., 1994. Group B streptococcusinduced nitric oxide production in murine macrophages is CR3 (CD11b/CD18) dependent. Infect. Immun. 62, 3102–3107.
- Grabbe, S., Varga, G., Beissert, S., Steinert, M., Pendl, G., Seeliger, S., Bloch, W., Peters, T., Schwarz, T., Sunderkötter, C., Scharffetter-Kochanek, K., 2002. β₂ integrins are required for skin homing of primed T cells but not for priming naive T cells. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI11703
- Graham, I.L., Gresham, H.D., Brown, E.J., 1989. An immobile subset of plasma membrane CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) is involved in phagocytosis of targets recognized by multiple receptors. J. Immunol. 142, 2352–2358.
- Grakoui, A., Bromley, S.K., Sumen, C., Davis, M.M., Shaw, A.S., Allen, P.M., Dustin, M.L., 1999. The Immunological Synapse: A Molecular Machine Controlling T Cell Activation. Science 285, 221–227.
 - https://doi.org/10.1126/science.285.5425.221
- Gresham, H.D., Graham, I.L., Anderson, D.C., Brown, E.J., 1991. Leukocyte adhesion-deficient neutrophils fail to amplify phagocytic function in response to stimulation. Evidence for CD11b/CD18-dependent and -independent mechanisms of phagocytosis. J. Clin. Invest. 88, 588–597. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115343
- Grohmann, U., Fallarino, F., Bianchi, R., Belladonna, M.L., Vacca, C., Orabona, C.,
 Uyttenhove, C., Fioretti, M.C., Puccetti, P., 2001. IL-6 Inhibits the Tolerogenic
 Function of CD8α+ Dendritic Cells Expressing Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase.
 J. Immunol. 167, 708–714. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.2.708
- Guerri, L., Peguillet, I., Geraldo, Y., Nabti, S., Premel, V., Lantz, O., 2013. Analysis of APC Types Involved in CD4 Tolerance and Regulatory T Cell Generation Using Reaggregated Thymic Organ Cultures. J. Immunol. 190, 2102–2110. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1202883
- Guidelines for the management of rheumatoid arthritis: 2002 Update, 2002. Arthritis Rheum. 46, 328–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10148
- Guilliams, M., Dutertre, C.-A., Scott, C.L., McGovern, N., Sichien, D., Chakarov, S., Van Gassen, S., Chen, J., Poidinger, M., De Prijck, S., Tavernier, S.J., Low, I., Irac, S.E., Mattar, C.N., Sumatoh, H.R., Low, G.H.L., Chung, T.J.K., Chan, D.K.H., Tan, K.K., Hon, T.L.K., Fossum, E., Bogen, B., Choolani, M., Chan, J.K.Y., Larbi, A., Luche, H., Henri, S., Saeys, Y., Newell, E.W., Lambrecht, B.N., Malissen, B., Ginhoux, F., 2016. Unsupervised High-Dimensional Analysis Aligns Dendritic Cells across Tissues and Species. Immunity 45, 669–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.08.015
- Guilliams, M., Ginhoux, F., Jakubzick, C., Naik, S.H., Onai, N., Schraml, B.U., Segura, E., Tussiwand, R., Yona, S., 2014. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 571. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3712
- Gutcher, I., Becher, B., 2007. APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation [WWW Document]. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI31720
- Han, C., Jin, J., Xu, S., Liu, H., Li, N., Cao, X., 2010. Integrin CD11b negatively regulates TLR-triggered inflammatory responses by activating Syk and promoting degradation of MyD88 and TRIF via Cbl-b. Nat. Immunol. 11, 734– 742. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1908

- Han, J., Lim, C.J., Watanabe, N., Soriani, A., Ratnikov, B., Calderwood, D.A., Puzon-McLaughlin, W., Lafuente, E.M., Boussiotis, V.A., Shattil, S.J., Ginsberg, M.H., 2006. Reconstructing and Deconstructing Agonist-Induced Activation of Integrin αIIbβ3. Curr. Biol. 16, 1796–1806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.08.035
- Haniffa, M., Shin, A., Bigley, V., McGovern, N., Teo, P., See, P., Wasan, P.S., Wang, X.-N., Malinarich, F., Malleret, B., Larbi, A., Tan, P., Zhao, H., Poidinger, M., Pagan, S., Cookson, S., Dickinson, R., Dimmick, I., Jarrett, R.F., Renia, L., Tam, J., Song, C., Connolly, J., Chan, J.K.Y., Gehring, A., Bertoletti, A., Collin, M., Ginhoux, F., 2012. Human Tissues Contain CD141hi Cross-Presenting Dendritic Cells with Functional Homology to Mouse CD103+ Nonlymphoid Dendritic Cells. Immunity 37, 60–73.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.012
- Harding, B., Knight, S.C., 1986. The distribution of dendritic cells in the synovial fluids of patients with arthritis. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 63, 594–600.
- Haringman, J.J., Gerlag, D.M., Zwinderman, A.H., Smeets, T.J.M., Kraan, M.C., Baeten, D., McInnes, I.B., Bresnihan, B., Tak, P.P., 2005. Synovial tissue macrophages: a sensitive biomarker for response to treatment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 64, 834–838. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2004.029751
- Harlan, J.M., Winn, R.K., 2002. Leukocyte-endothelial interactions: Clinical trials of anti-adhesion therapy. Crit. Care Med. 30, S214.
- Harry, R.A., Anderson, A.E., Isaacs, J.D., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2010. Generation and characterisation of therapeutic tolerogenic dendritic cells for rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 69, 2042–2050. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2009.126383
- Hataye, J., Moon, J.J., Khoruts, A., Reilly, C., Jenkins, M.K., 2006. Naïve and Memory CD4+ T Cell Survival Controlled by Clonal Abundance. Science 312, 114–116. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1124228
- Heer, H.J. de, Hammad, H., Soullié, T., Hijdra, D., Vos, N., Willart, M.A.M., Hoogsteden, H.C., Lambrecht, B.N., 2004. Essential Role of Lung Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Preventing Asthmatic Reactions to Harmless Inhaled Antigen. J. Exp. Med. 200, 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20040035
- Hegde, S., Pahne, J., Smola-Hess, S., 2004. Novel immunosuppressive properties of interleukin-6 in dendritic cells: inhibition of NF-κB binding activity and CCR7 expression. FASEB J. 18, 1439–1441. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.03-0969fje
- Helft, J., Böttcher, J., Chakravarty, P., Zelenay, S., Huotari, J., Schraml, B.U., Goubau, D., Reis e Sousa, C., 2015. GM-CSF Mouse Bone Marrow Cultures Comprise a Heterogeneous Population of CD11c+MHCII+ Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. Immunity 42, 1197–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.018
- Henderson, R.B., Hobbs, J.A.R., Mathies, M., Hogg, N., 2003. Rapid recruitment of inflammatory monocytes is independent of neutrophil migration. Blood 102, 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-10-3228
- Hettinger, J., Richards, D.M., Hansson, J., Barra, M.M., Joschko, A.-C., Krijgsveld, J., Feuerer, M., 2013. Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. Nat. Immunol. 14, 821–830. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2638
- Hijdra, D., Vorselaars, A.D., Grutters, J.C., Claessen, A.M., Rijkers, G.T., 2012. Differential expression of TNFR1 (CD120a) and TNFR2 (CD120b) on subpopulations of human monocytes. J. Inflamm. 9, 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-9255-9-38

- Hilkens, C.M.U., Isaacs, J.D., 2013. Tolerogenic dendritic cell therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: where are we now? Clin. Exp. Immunol. 172, 148–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12038
- Hilkens, C.M.U., Isaacs, J.D., Thomson, A.W., 2010. Development of Dendritic Cell-Based Immunotherapy for Autoimmunity. Int. Rev. Immunol. 29, 156–183. https://doi.org/10.3109/08830180903281193
- Hill, J.A., Southwood, S., Sette, A., Jevnikar, A.M., Bell, D.A., Cairns, E., 2003. Cutting Edge: The Conversion of Arginine to Citrulline Allows for a High-Affinity Peptide Interaction with the Rheumatoid Arthritis-Associated HLA-DRB1*0401 MHC Class II Molecule. J. Immunol. 171, 538–541. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.2.538
- Hogg, N., Harvey, J., Cabanas, C., Landis, R.C., 1993. Control of Leukocyte Integrin Activation. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 148, S55–S59. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm/148.6_Pt_2.S55
- Hogg, N., Patzak, I., Willenbrock, F., 2011. The insider's guide to leukocyte integrin signalling and function. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11, 416–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2986
- Horváth, G., Petrás, M., Szentesi, G., Fábián, Á., Park, J.W., Vereb, G., Szöllősi, J., 2005. Selecting the right fluorophores and flow cytometer for fluorescence resonance energy transfer measurements. Cytometry A 65A, 148–157. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.20142
- Huang, Y.-M., Xiao, B.-G., Özenci, V., Kouwenhoven, M., Teleshova, N., Fredrikson, S., Link, H., 1999. Multiple sclerosis is associated with high levels of circulating dendritic cells secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines. J. Neuroimmunol. 99, 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5728(99)00106-X
- Hughes, P.E., Pfaff, M., 1998. Integrin affinity modulation. Trends Cell Biol. 8, 359– 364. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(98)01339-7
- Hugues, S., Fetler, L., Bonifaz, L., Helft, J., Amblard, F., Amigorena, S., 2004. Distinct T cell dynamics in lymph nodes during the induction of tolerance and immunity. Nat. Immunol. 5, 1235–1242. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1134
- Hulspas, R., O'Gorman, M.R.G., Wood, B.L., Gratama, J.W., Sutherland, D.R., 2009. Considerations for the control of background fluorescence in clinical flow cytometry. Cytometry B Clin. Cytom. 76B, 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.b.20485
- Hynes, R.O., 1987. Integrins: A family of cell surface receptors. Cell 48, 549–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90233-9
- Hynes, R.O., Naba, A., 2012. Overview of the Matrisome—An Inventory of Extracellular Matrix Constituents and Functions. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4, a004903. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004903
- Ingalls, R.R., Golenbock, D.T., 1995. CD11c/CD18, a transmembrane signaling receptor for lipopolysaccharide. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1473–1479. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.181.4.1473
- Ingulli, E., Mondino, A., Khoruts, A., Jenkins, M.K., 1997. In Vivo Detection of Dendritic Cell Antigen Presentation to CD4+ T Cells. J. Exp. Med. 185, 2133– 2141. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.185.12.2133
- Ivaska, J., Pallari, H.-M., Nevo, J., Eriksson, J.E., 2007. Novel functions of vimentin in cell adhesion, migration, and signaling. Exp. Cell Res., Special Issue -Intermediate Filaments 313, 2050–2062. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.03.040
- Iwamoto, S., Iwai, S., Tsujiyama, K., Kurahashi, C., Takeshita, K., Naoe, M., Masunaga, A., Ogawa, Y., Oguchi, K., Miyazaki, A., 2007. TNF-α Drives Human CD14+ Monocytes to Differentiate into CD70+ Dendritic Cells Evoking

Th1 and Th17 Responses. J. Immunol. 179, 1449–1457. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.3.1449

- Jaeschke, H., Farhood, A., Bautista, A.P., Spolarics, Z., Spitzer, J.J., Smith, C.W., 1993. Functional inactivation of neutrophils with a Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) monoclonal antibody protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat liver. Hepatology 17, 915–923. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840170523
- Jakubzick, C., Gautier, E.L., Gibbings, S.L., Sojka, D.K., Schlitzer, A., Johnson, T.E., Ivanov, S., Duan, Q., Bala, S., Condon, T., van Rooijen, N., Grainger, J.R., Belkaid, Y., Ma'ayan, A., Riches, D.W.H., Yokoyama, W.M., Ginhoux, F., Henson, P.M., Randolph, G.J., 2013. Minimal Differentiation of Classical Monocytes as They Survey Steady-State Tissues and Transport Antigen to Lymph Nodes. Immunity 39, 599–610.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.007

- Janossy, G., Duke, O., Poulter, L.W., Panayi, G., Bofill, M., Goldstein, G., 1981. RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS: A DISEASE OF T-LYMPHOCYTE/MACROPHAGE IMMUNOREGULATION. The Lancet, Originally published as Volume 2, Issue 8251 318, 839–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(81)91107-7
- Jansen, M.A.A., Spiering, R., Broere, F., Laar, J.M. van, Isaacs, J.D., Eden, W. van, Hilkens, C.M.U., 2018. Targeting of tolerogenic dendritic cells towards heatshock proteins: a novel therapeutic strategy for autoimmune diseases? Immunology 153, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12811
- Jasin, H.E., Lightfoot, E., Davis, L.S., Rothlein, R., Faanes, R.B., Lipsky, P.E., 1992. Amelioration of antigen-induced arthritis in rabbits treated with monoclonal antibodies to leukocyte adhesion molecules. Arthritis Rheum. 35, 541–549. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780350508
- Jauregui-Amezaga, A., Cabezón, R., Ramírez-Morros, A., España, C., Rimola, J., Bru, C., Pinó-Donnay, S., Gallego, M., Masamunt, M.C., Ordás, I., Lozano, M., Cid, J., Panés, J., Benítez-Ribas, D., Ricart, E., 2015. Intraperitoneal Administration of Autologous Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells for Refractory Crohn's Disease: A Phase I Study. J. Crohns Colitis 9, 1071–1078. https://doi.org/10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv144
- Jin, M., Andricioaei, I., Springer, T.A., 2004. Conversion between Three Conformational States of Integrin I Domains with a C-Terminal Pull Spring Studied with Molecular Dynamics. Structure 12, 2137–2147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2004.10.005
- Jones, S., Carley, S., Harrison, M., 2003. An introduction to power and sample size estimation. Emerg. Med. J. EMJ 20, 453–458. https://doi.org/10.1136/emj.20.5.453
- Jongbloed, S.L., Benson, R.A., Nickdel, M.B., Garside, P., McInnes, I.B., Brewer, J.M., 2009. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Regulate Breach of Self-Tolerance in Autoimmune Arthritis. J. Immunol. 182, 963–968. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.963
- Jongbloed, S.L., Lebre, M.C., Fraser, A.R., Gracie, J.A., Sturrock, R.D., Tak, P.P., McInnes, I.B., 2005. Enumeration and phenotypical analysis of distinct dendritic cell subsets in psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res. Ther. 8, R15. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1864
- Jonuleit, H., Schmitt, E., Schuler, G., Knop, J., Enk, A.H., 2000. Induction of Interleukin 10–Producing, Nonproliferating Cd4+ T Cells with Regulatory Properties by Repetitive Stimulation with Allogeneic Immature Human Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med. 192, 1213–1222. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.9.1213

- Jurk, K., Schulz, A.S., Kehrel, B.E., Räpple, D., Schulze, H., Möbest, D., Friedrich, W.W., Omran, H., Deak, E., Henschler, R., Scheele, J.S., Zieger, B., 2010.
 Novel integrin-dependent platelet malfunction in siblings with leukocyte adhesion deficiency-III (LAD-III) caused by a point mutation in FERMT3. Thromb. Haemost. 103, 1053–1064. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH09-10-0689
- Kakimoto, K., Nakamura, T., Ishii, K., Takashi, T., Iigou, H., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., Onoue, K., 1992. The effect of anti-adhesion molecule antibody on the development of collagen-induced arthritis. Cell. Immunol. 142, 326–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-8749(92)90294-Y
- Kaliński, P., Hilkens, C.M.U., Wierenga, E.A., Kapsenberg, M.L., 1999. T-cell priming by type-1and type-2 polarized dendritic cells: the concept of a third signal. Immunol. Today 20, 561–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01547-9
- Kambayashi, T., Laufer, T.M., 2014. Atypical MHC class II-expressing antigenpresenting cells: can anything replace a dendritic cell? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 719–730. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3754
- Kanse, S., Matz Rachel L., Preissner Klaus T., Peter Karlheinz, 2004. Promotion of Leukocyte Adhesion by a Novel Interaction Between Vitronectin and the β2 Integrin Mac-1 (αMβ2, CD11b/CD18). Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 24, 2251–2256. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000146529.68729.8b
- Kawanaka, N., Yamamura, M., Aita, T., Morita, Y., Okamoto, A., Kawashima, M., Iwahashi, M., Ueno, A., Ohmoto, Y., Makino, H., 2002. CD14+,CD16+ blood monocytes and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 46, 2578–2586. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10545
- Khalili, A., Craigie, M., Donadoni, M., Sariyer, I.K., 2019. Host-Immune Interactions in JC Virus Reactivation and Development of Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy (PML). J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 14, 649–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-019-09877-8
- Kinne, R.W., Bräuer, R., Stuhlmüller, B., Palombo-Kinne, E., Burmester, G.-R., 2000. Macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res. Ther. 2, 189. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar86
- Klein, S.L., Flanagan, K.L., 2016. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 626–638. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Kliche, S., Worbs, T., Wang, X., Degen, J., Patzak, I., Meineke, B., Togni, M., Moser, M., Reinhold, A., Kiefer, F., Freund, C., Förster, R., Schraven, B., 2012.
 CCR7-mediated LFA-1 functions in T cells are regulated by 2 independent ADAP/SKAP55 modules. Blood 119, 777–785. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-06-362269
- Kloverpris, H., Fomsgaard, A., Handley, A., Ackland, J., Sullivan, M., Goulder, P., 2010. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) exposure to human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) abolish T cell responses only in high concentrations and following coincubation for more than two hours. J. Immunol. Methods 356, 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2010.01.014
- Knight, S.C., Farrant, J., Chan, J., Bryant, A., Bedford, P.A., Bateman, C., 1988. Induction of autoimmunity with dendritic cells: Studies on thyroiditis in mice. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 48, 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-1229(88)90021-9
- Kodaira, Y., Nair, S.K., Wrenshall, L.E., Gilboa, E., Platt, J.L., 2000. Phenotypic and Functional Maturation of Dendritic Cells Mediated by Heparan Sulfate. J. Immunol. 165, 1599–1604. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.3.1599
- Kooyk, Y. van, Vliet, S.J. van, Figdor, C.G., 1999. The Actin Cytoskeleton Regulates LFA-1 Ligand Binding through Avidity Rather than Affinity Changes. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 26869–26877. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.38.26869

- Kremer, J.M., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Durez, P., Sibilia, J., Shergy, W., Steinfeld, S., Tindall, E., Becker, J.-C., Li, T., Nuamah, I.F., Aranda, R., Moreland, L.W., 2005. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with the selective costimulation modulator abatacept: Twelve-month results of a phase iib, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 2263–2271. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21201
- Kucik, D.F., Dustin, M.L., Miller, J.M., Brown, E.J., 1996. Adhesion-activating phorbol ester increases the mobility of leukocyte integrin LFA-1 in cultured lymphocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 97, 2139–2144. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118651
- Kusunoki, T., Tsuruta, S., Higashi, H., Hosoi, S., Hata, D., Sugie, K., Mayumi, M., Mikawa, H., 1994. Involvement of CD11b/CD18 in enhanced neutrophil adhesion by Fcγ receptor stimulation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 55, 735–742. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.55.6.735
- Lakens, D., 2013. Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. Front. Psychol. 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863
- Lämmermann, T., Bader, B.L., Monkley, S.J., Worbs, T., Wedlich-Söldner, R., Hirsch, K., Keller, M., Förster, R., Critchley, D.R., Fässler, R., Sixt, M., 2008. Rapid leukocyte migration by integrin-independent flowing and squeezing. Nature 453, 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06887
- Lande, R., Giacomini, E., Serafini, B., Rosicarelli, B., Sebastiani, G.D., Minisola, G., Tarantino, U., Riccieri, V., Valesini, G., Coccia, E.M., 2004. Characterization and Recruitment of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Synovial Fluid and Tissue of Patients with Chronic Inflammatory Arthritis. J. Immunol. 173, 2815–2824. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2815
- Landis, R.C., Bennett, R.I., Hogg, N., 1993. A novel LFA-1 activation epitope maps to the I domain. J. Cell Biol. 120, 1519–1527. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.120.6.1519
- Landis, R.C., McDowall, A., Holness, C.L., Littler, A.J., Simmons, D.L., Hogg, N., 1994. Involvement of the "I" domain of LFA-1 in selective binding to ligands ICAM-1 and ICAM-3. J. Cell Biol. 126, 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.126.2.529
- Lanier, L.L., Warner, N.L., 1981. Paraformaldehyde fixation of hematopoietic cells for quantitative flow cytometry (FACS) analysis. J. Immunol. Methods 47, 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1759(81)90253-2
- Lanzavecchia, A., 1985. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. Nature 314, 537–539. https://doi.org/10.1038/314537a0
- Larson, R.S., Hibbs, M.L., Springer, T.A., 1990. The leukocyte integrin LFA-1 reconstituted by cDNA transfection in a nonhematopoietic cell line is functionally active and not transiently regulated. Cell Regul. 1, 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.1.4.359
- Lassila, O., Vainio, O., Matzinger, P., 1988. Can B cells turn on virgin T cells? Nature 334, 253–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/334253a0
- Lebre, M.C., Jongbloed, S.L., Tas, S.W., Smeets, T.J.M., McInnes, I.B., Tak, P.P., 2008. Rheumatoid Arthritis Synovium Contains Two Subsets of CD83–DC-LAMP– Dendritic Cells with Distinct Cytokine Profiles. Am. J. Pathol. 172, 940–950. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.070703
- Lecoanet-Henchoz, S., Gauchat, J.-F., Aubry, J.-P., Graber, P., Life, P., Paul-Eugene, N., Ferrua, B., Corbi, A.L., Dugas, B., Plater-Zyberk, C., Bonnefoy, J.-Y., 1995. CD23 Regulates monocyte activation through a novel interaction

with the adhesion molecules CD11b-CD18 and CD11c-CD18. Immunity 3, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-7613(95)90164-7

- Lee, H.-S., Lim, C.J., Puzon-McLaughlin, W., Shattil, S.J., Ginsberg, M.H., 2009. RIAM Activates Integrins by Linking Talin to Ras GTPase Membrane-targeting Sequences. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 5119–5127. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M807117200
- Lee, Y.H., Bae, S.-C., 2015. Association between the functional ITGAM rs1143679 G/A polymorphism and systemic lupus erythematosus/lupus nephritis or rheumatoid arthritis: an update meta-analysis. Rheumatol. Int. 35, 815–823. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-014-3156-2
- León, B., López-Bravo, M., Ardavín, C., 2007. Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Formed at the Infection Site Control the Induction of Protective T Helper 1 Responses against Leishmania. Immunity 26, 519–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.017
- Leonardi, C.L., Papp, K.A., Gordon, K.B., Menter, A., Feldman, S.R., Caro, I., Walicke, P.A., Compton, P.G., Gottlieb, A.B., 2005. Extended efalizumab therapy improves chronic plaque psoriasis: Results from a randomized phase III trial. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 52, 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2004.09.029
- Lettesjö, H., Nordström, E., Ström, H., Nilsson, B., Glinghammar, B., Dahlstedt, L., Möller, E., 1998. Synovial fluid cytokines in patients with rheumatoid arthritis or other arthritic lesions. Scand. J. Immunol. 48, 286–292. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3083.1998.00399.x
- Leung, B.P., Conacher, M., Hunter, D., McInnes, I.B., Liew, F.Y., Brewer, J.M., 2002. A Novel Dendritic Cell-Induced Model of Erosive Inflammatory Arthritis: Distinct Roles for Dendritic Cells in T Cell Activation and Induction of Local Inflammation. J. Immunol. 169, 7071–7077. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.12.7071
- Li, J., Springer, T.A., 2017. Integrin extension enables ultrasensitive regulation by cytoskeletal force. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 114, 4685–4690. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704171114
- Li, J., Su, Y., Xia, W., Qin, Y., Humphries, M.J., Vestweber, D., Cabañas, C., Lu, C., Springer, T.A., 2017. Conformational equilibria and intrinsic affinities define integrin activation. EMBO J. 36, 629–645. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201695803
- Li, K., Fazekasova, H., Wang, N., Sagoo, P., Peng, Q., Khamri, W., Gomes, C., Sacks, S.H., Lombardi, G., Zhou, W., 2011. Expression of complement components, receptors and regulators by human dendritic cells. Mol. Immunol. 48, 1121–1127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2011.02.003
- Lieshout, A.W.T. van, Voort, R. van der, Toonen, L.W.J., Helden, S.F.G. van, Figdor, C.G., Riel, P.L.C.M. van, Radstake, T.R.D.J., Adema, G.J., 2009. Regulation of CXCL16 expression and secretion by myeloid cells is not altered in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 68, 1036–1043. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2007.086611
- Lin, C., Zhang, Y., Zhang, K., Zheng, Y., Lu, L., Chang, H., Yang, H., Yang, Y., Wan, Y., Wang, S., Yuan, M., Yan, Z., Zhang, R., He, Y., Ge, G., Wu, D., Chen, J., 2019. Fever Promotes T Lymphocyte Trafficking via a Thermal Sensory Pathway Involving Heat Shock Protein 90 and α4 Integrins. Immunity 50, 137-151.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.11.013
- Ling, G.S., Bennett, J., Woollard, K.J., Szajna, M., Fossati-Jimack, L., Taylor, P.R., Scott, D., Franzoso, G., Cook, H.T., Botto, M., 2014. Integrin CD11b positively

regulates TLR4-induced signalling pathways in dendritic cells but not in macrophages. Nat. Commun. 5, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4039

- Lioté, F., Boval-Boizard, B., Weill, D., Kuntz, D., Wautier, J.-L., 1996. Blood monocyte activation in rheumatoid arthritis: increased monocyte adhesiveness, integrin expression, and cytokine release. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 106, 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.1996.d01-820.x
- Lo, S.K., Seventer, G.A.V., Levin, S.M., Wright, S.D., 1989. Two leukocyte receptors (CD11a/CD18 and CD11b/CD18) mediate transient adhesion to endothelium by binding to different ligands. J. Immunol. 143, 3325–3329.
- Loike, J.D., Sodeik, B., Cao, L., Leucona, S., Weitz, J.I., Detmers, P.A., Wright, S.D., Silverstein, S.C., 1991. CD11c/CD18 on neutrophils recognizes a domain at the N terminus of the A alpha chain of fibrinogen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88, 1044–1048. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.3.1044
- Lu, H., Smith, C.W., Perrard, J., Bullard, D., Tang, L., Shappell, S.B., Entman, M.L., Beaudet, A.L., Ballantyne, C.M., 1997. LFA-1 is sufficient in mediating neutrophil emigration in Mac-1-deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 99, 1340–1350. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119293
- Ludewig, B., Odermatt, B., Landmann, S., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R.M., 1998. Dendritic Cells Induce Autoimmune Diabetes and Maintain Disease via De Novo Formation of Local Lymphoid Tissue. J. Exp. Med. 188, 1493–1501. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.8.1493
- Lundberg, K., Rydnert, F., Greiff, L., Lindstedt, M., 2014. Human blood dendritic cell subsets exhibit discriminative pattern recognition receptor profiles. Immunology 142, 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12252
- Lutz, M.B., Kukutsch, N.A., Menges, M., Rößner, S., Schuler, G., 2000a. Culture of bone marrow cells in GM-CSF plus high doses of lipopolysaccharide generates exclusively immature dendritic cells which induce alloantigenspecific CD4 T cell anergy in vitro. Eur. J. Immunol. 30, 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(200004)30:4<1048::AID-IMMU1048>3.0.CO;2-W
- Lutz, M.B., Suri, R.M., Niimi, M., Ogilvie, A.L.J., Kukutsch, N.A., Rößner, S., Schuler, G., Austyn, J.M., 2000b. Immature dendritic cells generated with low doses of GM-CSF in the absence of IL-4 are maturation resistant and prolong allograft survival in vivo. Eur. J. Immunol. 30, 1813–1822. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200007)30:7<1813::AID-IMMU1813>3.0.CO;2-8
- MacPherson, M., Lek, H.S., Prescott, A., Fagerholm, S.C., 2011. A Systemic Lupus Erythematosus-associated R77H Substitution in the CD11b Chain of the Mac-1 Integrin Compromises Leukocyte Adhesion and Phagocytosis. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 17303–17310. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.182998
- Maiguel, D., Faridi, M.H., Wei, C., Kuwano, Y., Balla, K.M., Hernandez, D., Barth, C.J., Lugo, G., Donnelly, M., Nayer, A., Moita, L.F., Schürer, S., Traver, D., Ruiz, P., Vazquez-Padron, R.I., Ley, K., Reiser, J., Gupta, V., 2011. Small Molecule–Mediated Activation of the Integrin CD11b/CD18 Reduces Inflammatory Disease. Sci Signal 4, ra57–ra57. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2001811
- Major, E.O., 2010. Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy in Patients on Immunomodulatory Therapies. Annu. Rev. Med. 61, 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.med.080708.082655
- Mäkinen, H., Kautiainen, H., Hannonen, P., Sokka, T., 2005. Is DAS28 an appropriate tool to assess remission in rheumatoid arthritis? Ann. Rheum. Dis. 64, 1410–1413. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2005.037333

- Malhotra, V., Hogg, N., Sim, R.B., 1986. Ligand binding by the pl50,95 antigen of U937 monocytic cells: properties in common with complement receptor type 3 (CR3). Eur. J. Immunol. 16, 1117–1123. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejj.1830160915
- McFarland, H.I., Nahill, S.R., Maciaszek, J.W., Welsh, R.M., 1992. CD11b (Mac-1): a marker for CD8+ cytotoxic T cell activation and memory in virus infection. J. Immunol. 149, 1326–1333.
- McInnes, I.B., Schett, G., 2011. The Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. N. Engl. J. Med. 365, 2205–2219. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1004965
- Mempel, T.R., Henrickson, S.E., Andrian, U.H. von, 2004. T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. Nature 427, 154–159. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02238
- Menges, M., Rößner, S., Voigtländer, C., Schindler, H., Kukutsch, N.A., Bogdan, C., Erb, K., Schuler, G., Lutz, M.B., 2002. Repetitive Injections of Dendritic Cells Matured with Tumor Necrosis Factor α Induce Antigen-specific Protection of Mice from Autoimmunity. J. Exp. Med. 195, 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20011341
- Metcalf, T.U., Wilkinson, P.A., Cameron, M.J., Ghneim, K., Chiang, C., Wertheimer, A.M., Hiscott, J.B., Nikolich-Zugich, J., Haddad, E.K., 2017. Human Monocyte Subsets Are Transcriptionally and Functionally Altered in Aging in Response to Pattern Recognition Receptor Agonists. J. Immunol. 199, 1405–1417. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1700148
- Miller, J.C., Brown, B.D., Shay, T., Gautier, E.L., Jojic, V., Cohain, A., Pandey, G., Leboeuf, M., Elpek, K.G., Helft, J., Hashimoto, D., Chow, A., Price, J., Greter, M., Bogunovic, M., Bellemare-Pelletier, A., Frenette, P.S., Randolph, G.J., Turley, S.J., Merad, M., Immunological Genome Consortium, 2012.
 Deciphering the transcriptional network of the dendritic cell lineage. Nat. Immunol. 13, 888–899. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2370
- Miller, J.F., Basten, A., 1996. Mechanisms of tolerance to self. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 8, 815–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(96)80010-0
- Miller, J.F.A.P., Morahan, G., 1992. Peripheral T Cell Tolerance. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10, 51–69. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.10.040192.000411
- Mitchell, D.M., Spitz, P.W., Young, D.Y., Bloch, D.A., McShane, D.J., Fries, J.F., 1986. Survival, prognosis, and causes of death in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 29, 706–714. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780290602
- Miyazaki, Y., Vieira-de-Abreu, A., Harris, E.S., Shah, A.M., Weyrich, A.S., Castro-Faria-Neto, H.C., Zimmerman, G.A., 2014. Integrin αDβ2 (CD11d/CD18) Is Expressed by Human Circulating and Tissue Myeloid Leukocytes and Mediates Inflammatory Signaling. PLOS ONE 9, e112770. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112770
- Moniuszko, M., Bodzenta-Lukaszyk, A., Kowal, K., Lenczewska, D., Dabrowska, M., 2009. Enhanced frequencies of CD14++CD16+, but not CD14+CD16+, peripheral blood monocytes in severe asthmatic patients. Clin. Immunol. 130, 338–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2008.09.011
- Monks, C.R.F., Freiberg, B.A., Kupfer, H., Sciaky, N., Kupfer, A., 1998. Threedimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. Nature 395, 82–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/25764
- Moret, F.M., Hack, C.E., van der Wurff-Jacobs, K.M., de Jager, W., Radstake, T.R., Lafeber, F.P., van Roon, J.A., 2013. Intra-Articular Cd1c-Expressing Myeloid Dendritic Cells from Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients Express a Unique Set of T Cell-Attracting Chemokines and Spontaneously Induce Th1, Th17 and Th2 Cell Activity. Arthritis Res. Ther. 15, R155. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4338

- Morrison, V.L., James, M.J., Grzes, K., Cook, P., Glass, D.G., Savinko, T., Lek, H.S., Gawden-Bone, C., Watts, C., Millington, O.R., MacDonald, A.S., Fagerholm, S.C., 2014. Loss of beta2-integrin-mediated cytoskeletal linkage reprogrammes dendritic cells to a mature migratory phenotype. Nat. Commun. 5, 5359. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6359
- Moser, B., Brandes, M., 2006. γδ T cells: an alternative type of professional APC. Trends Immunol. 27, 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.01.002
- Moser, M., Nieswandt, B., Ussar, S., Pozgajova, M., Fässler, R., 2008. Kindlin-3 is essential for integrin activation and platelet aggregation. Nat. Med. 14, 325– 330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1722
- Moutsopoulos, N.M., Konkel, J., Sarmadi, M., Eskan, M.A., Wild, T., Dutzan, N., Abusleme, L., Zenobia, C., Hosur, K.B., Abe, T., Uzel, G., Chen, W., Chavakis, T., Holland, S.M., Hajishengallis, G., 2014. Defective Neutrophil Recruitment in Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency Type I Disease Causes Local IL-17–Driven Inflammatory Bone Loss. Sci. Transl. Med. 6, 229ra40-229ra40. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007696
- Moutsopoulos, N.M., Zerbe, C.S., Wild, T., Dutzan, N., Brenchley, L., DiPasquale, G., Uzel, G., Axelrod, K.C., Lisco, A., Notarangelo, Lucia D., Hajishengallis, G., Notarangelo, Luigi D., Holland, S.M., 2017. Interleukin-12 and Interleukin-23 Blockade in Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency Type 1. N. Engl. J. Med. 376, 1141–1146. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1612197
- Mukherjee, R., Kanti Barman, P., Kumar Thatoi, P., Tripathy, R., Kumar Das, B., Ravindran, B., 2015. Non-Classical monocytes display inflammatory features: Validation in Sepsis and Systemic Lupus Erythematous. Sci. Rep. 5, 13886. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13886
- Myones, B.L., Dalzell, J.G., Hogg, N., Ross, G.D., 1988. Neutrophil and monocyte cell surface p150,95 has iC3b-receptor (CR4) activity resembling CR3. J. Clin. Invest. 82, 640–651. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI113643
- Nace, G., Evankovich, J., Eid, R., Tsung, A., 2012. Dendritic Cells and Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns: Endogenous Danger Signals Linking Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J. Innate Immun. 4, 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1159/000334245
- Naik, S.H., Sathe, P., Park, H.-Y., Metcalf, D., Proietto, A.I., Dakic, A., Carotta, S., O'Keeffe, M., Bahlo, M., Papenfuss, A., Kwak, J.-Y., Wu, L., Shortman, K., 2007. Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. Nat. Immunol. 8, 1217– 1226. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1522
- Nakano, H., Yanagita, M., Gunn, M.D., 2001. Cd11c+B220+Gr-1+ Cells in Mouse Lymph Nodes and Spleen Display Characteristics of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med. 194, 1171–1178. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.194.8.1171
- Nanki, T., Shimaoka, T., Hayashida, K., Taniguchi, K., Yonehara, S., Miyasaka, N., 2005. Pathogenic role of the CXCL16–CXCR6 pathway in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 3004–3014. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21301
- Naour, F.L., Hohenkirk, L., Grolleau, A., Misek, D.E., Lescure, P., Geiger, J.D., Hanash, S., Beretta, L., 2001. Profiling Changes in Gene Expression during Differentiation and Maturation of Monocyte-derived Dendritic Cells Using Both Oligonucleotide Microarrays and Proteomics. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 17920– 17931. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100156200
- Nath, S.K., Han, S., Kim-Howard, X., Kelly, J.A., Viswanathan, P., Gilkeson, G.S., Chen, W., Zhu, C., McEver, R.P., Kimberly, R.P., Alarcón-Riquelme, M.E., Vyse, T.J., Li, Q.-Z., Wakeland, E.K., Merrill, J.T., James, J.A., Kaufman, K.M., Guthridge, J.M., Harley, J.B., 2008. A nonsynonymous functional variant in

integrin-α M (encoded by ITGAM) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat. Genet. 40, 152–154. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.71

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2018. Rheumatoid arthritis in adults: management (NICE guideline NG100).
- Nielen, M.M.J., Schaardenburg, D. van, Reesink, H.W., Stadt, R.J. van de, Horst-Bruinsma, I.E. van der, Koning, M.H.M.T. de, Habibuw, M.R., Vandenbroucke, J.P., Dijkmans, B.A.C., 2004. Specific autoantibodies precede the symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis: A study of serial measurements in blood donors. Arthritis Rheum. 50, 380–386. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.20018
- Nockher, W.A., Scherberich, J.E., 1998. Expanded CD14+ CD16+Monocyte Subpopulation in Patients with Acute and Chronic Infections Undergoing Hemodialysis. Infect. Immun. 66, 2782–2790.
- Noti, J.D., 2002. Expression of the myeloid-specific leukocyte integrin gene CD11d during macrophage foam cell differentiation and exposure to lipoproteins. Int. J. Mol. Med. 10, 721–727.
- Novoa, E.A., Kasbekar, S., Thrasher, A.J., Kohn, D.B., Sevilla, J., Nguyen, T., Schwartz, J.D., Bueren, J.A., 2018. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency-I: A comprehensive review of all published cases. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. Pract. 6, 1418-1420.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2017.12.008
- Nowatzky, J., Manches, O., Khan, S.A., Godefroy, E., Bhardwaj, N., 2018a. Modulation of human Th17 cell responses through complement receptor 3 (CD11 b/CD18) ligation on monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J. Autoimmun. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2018.05.005
- Nowatzky, J., Manches, O., Khan, S.A., Godefroy, E., Bhardwaj, N., 2018b. Modulation of human Th17 cell responses through complement receptor 3 (CD11 b/CD18) ligation on monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J. Autoimmun. 92, 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2018.05.005
- Oberg, F., Botling, J., Nilsson, K., 1993. Functional antagonism between vitamin D3 and retinoic acid in the regulation of CD14 and CD23 expression during monocytic differentiation of U-937 cells. J. Immunol. 150, 3487–3495.
- Obst, R., Santen, H.-M. van, Mathis, D., Benoist, C., 2005. Antigen persistence is required throughout the expansion phase of a CD4+ T cell response. J. Exp. Med. 201, 1555–1565. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20042521
- Ochando, J.C., Homma, C., Yang, Y., Hidalgo, A., Garin, A., Tacke, F., Angeli, V., Li, Y., Boros, P., Ding, Y., Jessberger, R., Trinchieri, G., Lira, S.A., Randolph, G.J., Bromberg, J.S., 2006. Alloantigen-presenting plasmacytoid dendritic cells mediate tolerance to vascularized grafts. Nat. Immunol. 7, 652–662. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1333
- Ochs, H.D., Ziegler, S.F., Torgerson, T.R., 2005. FOXP3 acts as a rheostat of the immune response. Immunol. Rev. 203, 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00231.x
- Odai, T., Matsunawa, M., Takahashi, R., Wakabayashi, K., Isozaki, T., Yajima, N., Miwa, Y., Kasama, T., 2009. Correlation of CX3CL1 and CX3CR1 Levels with Response to Infliximab Therapy in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. J. Rheumatol. 36, 1158–1165. https://doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.081074
- Ohnmacht, C., Pullner, A., King, S.B.S., Drexler, I., Meier, S., Brocker, T., Voehringer, D., 2009. Constitutive ablation of dendritic cells breaks selftolerance of CD4 T cells and results in spontaneous fatal autoimmunity. J. Exp. Med. 206, 549–559. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20082394
- Ohtsuji, M., Lin, Q., Okazaki, H., Takahashi, K., Amano, H., Yagita, H., Nishimura, H., Hirose, S., 2018. Anti-CD11b antibody treatment suppresses the osteoclast generation, inflammatory cell infiltration, and autoantibody production in

arthritis-prone FcγRIIB-deficient mice. Arthritis Res. Ther. 20, 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-018-1523-1

- Oryoji, K., Yoshida, K., Kashiwado, Y., Tanaka, K., Mizuki, S., Tsukamoto, H., Kamada, K., Akashi, K., 2018. Shared epitope positivity is related to efficacy of abatacept in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 77, 1234–1236. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211430
- Ostermann, G., Weber, K.S.C., Zernecke, A., Schröder, A., Weber, C., 2002. JAM-1 is a ligand of the β 2 integrin LFA-1 involved in transendothelial migration of leukocytes. Nat. Immunol. 3, 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni755
- Osugi, Y., Vuckovic, S., Hart, D.N.J., 2002. Myeloid blood CD11c+ dendritic cells and monocyte-derived dendritic cells differ in their ability to stimulate T lymphocytes. Blood 100, 2858–2866. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V100.8.2858
- Panni, R.Z., Herndon, J.M., Zuo, C., Hegde, S., Hogg, G.D., Knolhoff, B.L., Breden, M.A., Li, X., Krisnawan, V.E., Khan, S.Q., Schwarz, J.K., Rogers, B.E., Fields, R.C., Hawkins, W.G., Gupta, V., DeNardo, D.G., 2019. Agonism of CD11b reprograms innate immunity to sensitize pancreatic cancer to immunotherapies. Sci. Transl. Med. 11, eaau9240. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aau9240
- Parijs, L.V., Abbas, A.K., 1998. Homeostasis and Self-Tolerance in the Immune System: Turning Lymphocytes off. Science 280, 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.280.5361.243
- Park, J.Y., Amin Arnaout, M., Gupta, V., 2007. A Simple, No-Wash Cell Adhesion– Based High-Throughput Assay for the Discovery of Small-Molecule Regulators of the Integrin CD11b/CD18. J. Biomol. Screen. 12, 406–417. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087057106299162
- Passlick, B., Flieger, D., Ziegler-Heitbrock, H.W., 1989. Identification and characterization of a novel monocyte subpopulation in human peripheral blood. Blood 74, 2527–2534.
- Patarroyo, M., Beatty, P.G., Fabre, J.W., Gahmberg, C.G., 1985. Identification of a Cell Surface Protein Complex Mediating Phorbol Ester-Induced Adhesion (Binding) among Human Mononuclear Leukocytes. Scand. J. Immunol. 22, 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.1985.tb01869.x
- Pavlovic, D., Patera, A.C., Nyberg, F., Gerber, M., Liu, M., 2015. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy: current treatment options and future perspectives. Ther. Adv. Neurol. Disord. 8, 255–273. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756285615602832
- Penna, G., Adorini, L., 2000. 1α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 Inhibits Differentiation, Maturation, Activation, and Survival of Dendritic Cells Leading to Impaired Alloreactive T Cell Activation. J. Immunol. 164, 2405–2411. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.5.2405
- Perera, P.-Y., Mayadas, T.N., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Zaks-Zilberman, M., Goyert, S.M., Vogel, S.N., 2001. CD11b/CD18 Acts in Concert with CD14 and Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) 4 to Elicit Full Lipopolysaccharide and Taxol-Inducible Gene Expression. J. Immunol. 166, 574–581. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.1.574
- Perez, V.L., Pflugfelder, S.C., Zhang, S., Shojaei, A., Haque, R., 2016. Lifitegrast, a Novel Integrin Antagonist for Treatment of Dry Eye Disease. Ocul. Surf. 14, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtos.2016.01.001
- Pfaff, M., Liu, S., Erle, D.J., Ginsberg, M.H., 1998. Integrin β Cytoplasmic Domains Differentially Bind to Cytoskeletal Proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 6104–6109. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.11.6104

- Piemonti, L., Monti, P., Sironi, M., Fraticelli, P., Leone, B.E., Cin, E.D., Allavena, P., Carlo, V.D., 2000. Vitamin D3 Affects Differentiation, Maturation, and Function of Human Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. J. Immunol. 164, 4443–4451. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.9.4443
- Pincus, T., Callahan, L.F., Sale, W.G., Brooks, A.L., Payne, L.E., Vaughn, W.K., 1984. Severe functional declines, work disability, and increased mortality in seventy-five rheumatoid arthritis patients studied over nine years. Arthritis Rheum. 27, 864–872. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780270805
- Pincus, T., Sokka, T., Kautiainen, H., 2005. Patients seen for standard rheumatoid arthritis care have significantly better articular, radiographic, laboratory, and functional status in 2000 than in 1985. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 1009–1019. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.20941
- Podgrabinska, S., Kamalu, O., Mayer, L., Shimaoka, M., Snoeck, H., Randolph, G.J., Skobe, M., 2009. Inflamed Lymphatic Endothelium Suppresses Dendritic Cell Maturation and Function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-Dependent Mechanism. J. Immunol. 183, 1767–1779. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- Podolnikova, N.P., Podolnikov, A.V., Haas, T.A., Lishko, V.K., Ugarova, T.P., 2015. Ligand Recognition Specificity of Leukocyte Integrin αMβ2 (Mac-1, CD11b/CD18) and Its Functional Consequences. Biochemistry 54, 1408– 1420. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi5013782
- Popov, I., Li, M., Zheng, X., San, H., Zhang, X., Ichim, T.E., Suzuki, M., Feng, B., Vladau, C., Zhong, R., Garcia, B., Strejan, G., Inman, R.D., Min, W.-P., 2006.
 Preventing autoimmune arthritis using antigen-specific immature dendritic cells: a novel tolerogenic vaccine. Arthritis Res. Ther. 8, R141. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2031
- Poulin, L.F., Reyal, Y., Uronen-Hansson, H., Schraml, B.U., Sancho, D., Murphy, K.M., Håkansson, U.K., Ferreira Moita, L., Agace, W.W., Bonnet, D., Reis e Sousa, C., 2012. DNGR-1 is a specific and universal marker of mouse and human Batf3-dependent dendritic cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. Blood 119, 6052–6062. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-01-406967
- Poulter, L.W., Duke, O., Hobbs, S., Janossy, G., Panayi, G., Seymour, G., 1983. The involvement of interdigitating (antigen-presenting) cells in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 51, 247–254.
- Prevoo, M.L.L., Hof, M.A.V., Kuper, H.H., Leeuwen, M.A.V., Putte, L.B.A.V.D., Riel, P.L.C.M.V., 1995. Modified disease activity scores that include twenty-eightjoint counts development and validation in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 38, 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780380107
- Prieto, J., Eklund, A., Patarroyo, M., 1994. Regulated expression of integrins and other adhesion molecules during differentiation of monocytes into macrophages. Cell. Immunol. 156, 191–211. https://doi.org/10.1006/cimm.1994.1164
- Proietto, A.I., Dommelen, S. van, Zhou, P., Rizzitelli, A., D'Amico, A., Steptoe, R.J., Naik, S.H., Lahoud, M.H., Liu, Y., Zheng, P., Shortman, K., Wu, L., 2008. Dendritic cells in the thymus contribute to T-regulatory cell induction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 19869–19874. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810268105
- Prüßmann, J., Prüßmann, W., Recke, A., Rentzsch, K., Juhl, D., Henschler, R., Müller, S., Lamprecht, P., Schmidt, E., Csernok, E., Görg, S., Stöcker, W., Zillikens, D., Ibrahim, S.M., Ludwig, R.J., 2014. Co-occurrence of autoantibodies in healthy blood donors. Exp. Dermatol. 23, 519–521. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12445

- Puig-Kröger, A., Sanz-Rodríguez, F., Longo, N., Sánchez-Mateos, P., Botella, L., Teixidó, J., Bernabéu, C., Corbí, A.L., 2000. Maturation-Dependent Expression and Function of the CD49d Integrin on Monocyte-Derived Human Dendritic Cells. J. Immunol. 165, 4338–4345. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.8.4338
- Qu, A., Leahy, D.J., 1995. Crystal structure of the I-domain from the CD11a/CD18 (LFA-1, alpha L beta 2) integrin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 92, 10277–10281. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.22.10277
- Quast, T., Tappertzhofen, B., Schild, C., Grell, J., Czeloth, N., Förster, R., Alon, R., Fraemohs, L., Dreck, K., Weber, C., Lämmermann, T., Sixt, M., Kolanus, W., 2009. Cytohesin-1 controls the activation of RhoA and modulates integrindependent adhesion and migration of dendritic cells. Blood 113, 5801–5810. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-08-176123
- Quinn, M.A., Conaghan, P.G., Emery, P., 2001. The therapeutic approach of early intervention for rheumatoid arthritis: what is the evidence? Rheumatol. Oxf. Engl. 40, 1211–1220. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/40.11.1211
- Randolph, G.J., Inaba, K., Robbiani, D.F., Steinman, R.M., Muller, W.A., 1999. Differentiation of Phagocytic Monocytes into Lymph Node Dendritic Cells In Vivo. Immunity 11, 753–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80149-1
- Randolph, G.J., Jakubzick, C., Qu, C., 2008. Antigen presentation by monocytes and monocyte-derived cells. Curr. Opin. Immunol., Antigen Processing and Recognition / Edited by Emil Unanue and James McCluskey - Innate Immunity / Edited by Wayne Yokoyama and Marco Colonna 20, 52–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2007.10.010
- Rantapää-Dahlqvist, S., Jong, B.A.W. de, Berglin, E., Hallmans, G., Wadell, G., Stenlund, H., Sundin, U., Venrooij, W.J. van, 2003. Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptide and IgA rheumatoid factor predict the development of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 48, 2741–2749. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.11223
- Remmers, E.F., Plenge, R.M., Lee, A.T., Graham, R.R., Hom, G., Behrens, T.W., de Bakker, P.I.W., Le, J.M., Lee, H.-S., Batliwalla, F., Li, W., Masters, S.L., Booty, M.G., Carulli, J.P., Padyukov, L., Alfredsson, L., Klareskog, L., Chen, W.V., Amos, C.I., Criswell, L.A., Seldin, M.F., Kastner, D.L., Gregersen, P.K., 2007. STAT4 and the Risk of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. N. Engl. J. Med. 357, 977–986. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa073003
- Rezzonico, R., Imbert, V., Chicheportiche, R., Dayer, J.-M., 2001. Ligation of CD11b and CD11c β2 integrins by antibodies or soluble CD23 induces macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP-1α) and MIP-1β production in primary human monocytes through a pathway dependent on nuclear factor–κB. Blood 97, 2932–2940. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V97.10.2932
- Rhodes, B., Fürnrohr, B.G., Roberts, A.L., Tzircotis, G., Schett, G., Spector, T.D., Vyse, T.J., 2012. The rs1143679 (R77H) lupus associated variant of ITGAM (CD11b) impairs complement receptor 3 mediated functions in human monocytes. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 71, 2028–2034. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201390
- Rhodes, J.W., Tong, O., Harman, A.N., Turville, S.G., 2019. Human Dendritic Cell Subsets, Ontogeny, and Impact on HIV Infection. Front. Immunol. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01088
- Rice, M.E., Harris, G.T., 2005. Comparing Effect Sizes in Follow-Up Studies: ROC Area, Cohen's d, and r. Law Hum. Behav. 29, 615–620. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7

- Rico, F., Chu, C., Abdulreda, M.H., Qin, Y., Moy, V.T., 2010. Temperature Modulation of Integrin-Mediated Cell Adhesion. Biophys. J. 99, 1387–1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2010.06.037
- Rieckmann, J.C., Geiger, R., Hornburg, D., Wolf, T., Kveler, K., Jarrossay, D.,
 Sallusto, F., Shen-Orr, S.S., Lanzavecchia, A., Mann, M., Meissner, F., 2017.
 Social network architecture of human immune cells unveiled by quantitative proteomics. Nat. Immunol. 18, 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3693
- Robbins, S.H., Walzer, T., Dembélé, D., Thibault, C., Defays, A., Bessou, G., Xu, H., Vivier, E., Sellars, M., Pierre, P., Sharp, F.R., Chan, S., Kastner, P., Dalod, M., 2008. Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. Genome Biol. 9, R17. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2008-9-1-r17
- Rogers, C., Edelman, E.R., Simon, D.I., 1998. A mAb to the β2-leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) reduces intimal thickening after angioplasty or stent implantation in rabbits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95, 10134–10139. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.17.10134
- Rogers, N.M., Kireta, S., Coates, P.T.H., 2010. Curcumin induces maturationarrested dendritic cells that expand regulatory T cells in vitro and in vivo. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 162, 460–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04232.x
- Rosa, G. de la, Longo, N., Rodríguez-Fernández, J.L., Puig-Kroger, A., Pineda, A., Corbí, Á.L., Sánchez-Mateos, P., 2003. Migration of human blood dendritic cells across endothelial cell monolayers: adhesion molecules and chemokines involved in subset-specific transmigration. J. Leukoc. Biol. 73, 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1002516
- Ross, G.D., Cain, J.A., Lachmann, P.J., 1985. Membrane complement receptor type three (CR3) has lectin-like properties analogous to bovine conglutinin as functions as a receptor for zymosan and rabbit erythrocytes as well as a receptor for iC3b. J. Immunol. 134, 3307–3315.
- Rossol, M., Kraus, S., Pierer, M., Baerwald, C., Wagner, U., 2012. The CD14brightCD16+ monocyte subset is expanded in rheumatoid arthritis and promotes expansion of the Th17 cell population. Arthritis Rheum. 64, 671– 677. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.33418
- Rubenstein, K.E., Leute, R.K., 1976. Antibody steric hindrance immunoassay with two antibodies. US3935074A.
- Rycke, L.D., Peene, I., Hoffman, I.E.A., Kruithof, E., Union, A., Meheus, L., Lebeer, K., Wyns, B., Vincent, C., Mielants, H., Boullart, L., Serre, G., Veys, E.M., Keyser, F.D., 2004. Rheumatoid factor and anticitrullinated protein antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: diagnostic value, associations with radiological progression rate, and extra-articular manifestations. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 63, 1587–1593. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2003.017574
- Sadhu, C., Hendrickson, L., Dick, K.O., Potter, T.G., Staunton, D.E., 2007. Novel Tools for Functional Analysis of CD11c: Activation-Specific, Activation-Independent, and Activating Antibodies. J. Immunoassay Immunochem. 29, 42–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/15321810701735062
- Sallusto, F., Lanzavecchia, A., 1994. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J. Exp. Med. 179, 1109–1118. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.179.4.1109
- Sándor, N., Lukácsi, S., Ungai-Salánki, R., Orgován, N., Szabó, B., Horváth, R., Erdei, A., Bajtay, Z., 2016a. CD11c/CD18 Dominates Adhesion of Human

Monocytes, Macrophages and Dendritic Cells over CD11b/CD18. PLOS ONE 11, e0163120. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163120

- Sándor, N., Lukácsi, S., Ungai-Salánki, R., Orgován, N., Szabó, B., Horváth, R., Erdei, A., Bajtay, Z., 2016b. CD11c/CD18 Dominates Adhesion of Human Monocytes, Macrophages and Dendritic Cells over CD11b/CD18. PLOS ONE 11, e0163120. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163120
- Savinko, T.S., Morrison, V.L., Uotila, L.M., Wolff, C.H.J., Alenius, H.T., Fagerholm, S.C., 2015. Functional Beta2-Integrins Restrict Skin Inflammation In Vivo. J. Invest. Dermatol. 135, 2249–2257. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2015.164
- Schittenhelm, L., Hilkens, C.M., Morrison, V.L., 2017. β2 Integrins As Regulators of Dendritic Cell, Monocyte, and Macrophage Function. Front. Immunol. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01866
- Schlaak, J.F., Pfers, I., Meyer, K.Z.B., Märker-Hermann, E., 1996. Different cytokine profiles in the synovial fluid of patients with osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and seronegative spondylarthropathies. Clin. Exp. Rheumatol. 14, 155–162.
- Schwab, N., Ulzheimer, J.C., Fox, R.J., Schneider-Hohendorf, T., Kieseier, B.C., Monoranu, C.M., Staugaitis, S.M., Welch, W., Jilek, S., Pasquier, R.A.D., Brück, W., Toyka, K.V., Ransohoff, R.M., Wiendl, H., 2012. Fatal PML associated with efalizumab therapy: Insights into integrin αLβ2 in JC virus control. Neurology 78, 458–467. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182478d4b
- Schwartz, A., Marti, G.E., Poon, R., Gratama, J.W., Fernández-Repollet, E., 1998. Standardizing flow cytometry: A classification system of fluorescence standards used for flow cytometry. Cytometry 33, 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0320(19981001)33:2<106::AID-CYTO4>3.0.CO;2-H
- Scott, D.L., Farr, M., Hawkins, C.F., Wilkinson, R., Bold, A.M., 1981. Serum calcium levels in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 40, 580–583. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.40.6.580
- Segura, E., Guérin, C., Hogg, N., Amigorena, S., Théry, C., 2007. CD8+ dendritic cells use LFA-1 to capture MHC-peptide complexes from exosomes in vivo. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 179, 1489–1496. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.3.1489
- Seillet, C., Laffont, S., Trémollières, F., Rouquié, N., Ribot, C., Arnal, J.-F., Douin-Echinard, V., Gourdy, P., Guéry, J.-C., 2012. The TLR-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells is positively regulated by estradiol in vivo through cell-intrinsic estrogen receptor α signaling. Blood 119, 454–464. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-08-371831
- Semmrich, M., Smith, A., Feterowski, C., Beer, S., Engelhardt, B., Busch, D.H., Bartsch, B., Laschinger, M., Hogg, N., Pfeffer, K., Holzmann, B., 2005. Importance of integrin LFA-1 deactivation for the generation of immune responses. J. Exp. Med. 201, 1987–1998. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041850
- Seventer, G.A.V., Shimizu, Y., Horgan, K.J., Shaw, S., 1990. The LFA-1 ligand ICAM-1 provides an important costimulatory signal for T cell receptormediated activation of resting T cells. J. Immunol. 144, 4579–4586.
- Shahinian, A., Pfeffer, K., Lee, K.P., Kundig, T.M., Kishihara, K., Wakeham, A., Kawai, K., Ohashi, P.S., Thompson, C.B., Mak, T.W., 1993. Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. Science 261, 609–612. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7688139
- Shamri, R., Grabovsky, V., Gauguet, J.-M., Feigelson, S., Manevich, E., Kolanus, W., Robinson, M.K., Staunton, D.E., Andrian, U.H. von, Alon, R., 2005.

Lymphocyte arrest requires instantaneous induction of an extended LFA-1 conformation mediated by endothelium-bound chemokines. Nat. Immunol. 6, 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1194

- Shattil, S.J., Hoxie, J.A., Cunningham, M., Brass, L.F., 1985. Changes in the platelet membrane glycoprotein IIb.IIIa complex during platelet activation. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 11107–11114.
- Sheehy, C., Evans, V., Hasthorpe, H., Mukhtyar, C., 2014. Revising DAS28 scores for remission in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin. Rheumatol. 33, 269–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-013-2468-z
- Shelef, M.A., Bennin, D.A., Mosher, D.F., Huttenlocher, A., 2012. Citrullination of fibronectin modulates synovial fibroblast behavior. Arthritis Res. Ther. 14, R240. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4083
- Shen, B., Delaney, M.K., Du, X., 2012. Inside-out, outside-in, and inside-outside-in: G protein signaling in integrin-mediated cell adhesion, spreading, and retraction. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol., Cell-to-cell contact and extracellular matrix 24, 600–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2012.08.011
- Shibata, M., Katsuyama, M., Onodera, T., Ehama, R., Hosoi, J., Tagami, H., 2009. Glucocorticoids Enhance Toll-Like Receptor 2 Expression in Human Keratinocytes Stimulated with Propionibacterium acnes or Proinflammatory Cytokines. J. Invest. Dermatol. 129, 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2008.237
- Shinohara, S., Hirohata, S., Inoue, T., Ito, K., 1992. Phenotypic analysis of peripheral blood monocytes isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J. Rheumatol. 19, 211–215.
- Shortman, K., Liu, Y.-J., 2002. Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2, 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri746
- Siebert, H., Sachse, A., Kuziel, W.A., Maeda, N., Brück, W., 2000. The chemokine receptor CCR2 is involved in macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nervous system. J. Neuroimmunol. 110, 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5728(00)00343-X
- Simon, J.C., Cruz, P.D., Tigelaar, R.E., Sontheimer, R.D., Bergstresser, P.R., 1991. Adhesion Molecules CD11a, CD18, and ICAM-1 on Human Epidermal Langerhans Cells Serve a Functional Role in the Activation of Alloreactive T Cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 96, 148–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12515946
- Singh, B., Read, S., Asseman, C., Malmström, V., Mottet, C., Stephens, L.A., Stepankova, R., Tlaskalova, H., Powrie, F., 2001. Control of intestinal inflammation by regulatory T cells. Immunol. Rev. 182, 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1820115.x
- Singh-Jasuja, H., Scherer, H.U., Hilf, N., Arnold-Schild, D., Rammensee, H.-G., Toes, R.E.M., Schild, H., 2000. The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. Eur. J. Immunol. 30, 2211– 2215. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(2000)30:8<2211::AID-IMMU2211>3.0.CO;2-0
- Sitrin, R.G., Todd, R.F., Albrecht, E., Gyetko, M.R., 1996. The urokinase receptor (CD87) facilitates CD11b/CD18-mediated adhesion of human monocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 97, 1942–1951. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118626
- Škoberne, M., Somersan, S., Almodovar, W., Truong, T., Petrova, K., Henson, P.M., Bhardwaj, N., 2006. The apoptotic-cell receptor CR3, but not αvβ5, is a regulator of human dendritic-cell immunostimulatory function. Blood 108, 947– 955. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-12-4812

- Skrzeczyńska-Moncznik, J., Bzowska, M., Lo"seke, S., Grage-Griebenow, E., Zembala, M., Pryjma, J., 2008. Peripheral Blood CD14high CD16+ Monocytes are Main Producers of IL-10. Scand. J. Immunol. 67, 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2007.02051.x
- Smedt, T.D., Pajak, B., Muraille, E., Lespagnard, L., Heinen, E., Baetselier, P.D., Urbain, J., Leo, O., Moser, M., 1996. Regulation of dendritic cell numbers and maturation by lipopolysaccharide in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 184, 1413–1424. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.184.4.1413
- Snir, O., Rieck, M., Gebe, J.A., Yue, B.B., Rawlings, C.A., Nepom, G., Malmström, V., Buckner, J.H., 2011. Identification and functional characterization of T cells reactive to citrullinated vimentin in HLA–DRB1*0401–positive humanized mice and rheumatoid arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum. 63, 2873–2883. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30445
- Song, Y.W., Kang, E.H., 2010. Autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: rheumatoid factors and anticitrullinated protein antibodies. QJM Int. J. Med. 103, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcp165
- Sørensen, M.G., Henriksen, K., Schaller, S., Henriksen, D.B., Nielsen, F.C., Dziegiel, M.H., Karsdal, M.A., 2007. Characterization of osteoclasts derived from CD14+ monocytes isolated from peripheral blood. J. Bone Miner. Metab. 25, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00774-006-0725-9
- Sparwasser, T., Koch, E.-S., Vabulas, R.M., Heeg, K., Lipford, G.B., Ellwart, J.W., Wagner, H., 1998. Bacterial DNA and immunostimulatory CpG oligonucleotides trigger maturation and activation of murine dendritic cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 28, 2045–2054. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199806)28:06<2045::AID-IMMU2045>3.0.CO;2-8
- Spiering, R., Jansen, M.A.A., Wood, M.J., Fath, A.A., Eltherington, O., Anderson, A.E., Pratt, A.G., van Eden, W., Isaacs, J.D., Broere, F., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2019. Targeting of tolerogenic dendritic cells to heat-shock proteins in inflammatory arthritis. J. Transl. Med. 17, 375. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-019-2128-4
- Sprangers, S., Schoenmaker, T., Cao, Y., Everts, V., de Vries, T.J., 2017. Integrin αMβ2 is differently expressed by subsets of human osteoclast precursors and mediates adhesion of classical monocytes to bone. Exp. Cell Res. 350, 161– 168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2016.11.018
- Springer, T.A., Davignon, D., Ho, M.K., Kürzinger, K., Martz, E., Sanchez-Madrid, F., 1982. LFA-1 and Lyt-2,3, molecules associated with T lymphocyte-mediated killing; and Mac-1, an LFA-1 homologue associated with complement receptor function. Immunol Rev 68, 171–195.
- Stefanelli, V.L., Choudhury, S., Hu, P., Liu, Y., Schwenzer, A., Yeh, C.-R., Chambers, D.M., Pesson, K., Li, W., Segura, T., Midwood, K.S., Torres, M., Barker, T.H., 2019. Citrullination of fibronectin alters integrin clustering and focal adhesion stability promoting stromal cell invasion. Matrix Biol. 82, 86–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2019.04.002
- Steinbrink, K., Graulich, E., Kubsch, S., Knop, J., Enk, A.H., 2002. CD4+ and CD8+ anergic T cells induced by interleukin-10–treated human dendritic cells display antigen-specific suppressor activity. Blood 99, 2468–2476. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.7.2468
- Steinbrink, K., Wölfl, M., Jonuleit, H., Knop, J., Enk, A.H., 1997. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 159, 4772–4780.
- Steinman, R.M., Cohn, Z.A., 1973. Identification of a Novel Cell Type in Peripheral Lymphoid Organs of Mice: I. Morphology, Quantitation, Tissue Distribution. J. Exp. Med. 137, 1142–1162. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.137.5.1142

- Stevanin, M., Busso, N., Chobaz, V., Pigni, M., Ghassem-Zadeh, S., Zhang, L., Acha-Orbea, H., Ehirchiou, D., 2017. CD11b regulates the Treg/Th17 balance in murine arthritis via IL-6. Eur. J. Immunol. 47, 637–645. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201646565
- Stewart, J.C., Villasmil, M.L., Frampton, M.W., 2007. Changes in fluorescence intensity of selected leukocyte surface markers following fixation [WWW Document]. Cytometry A. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.20392
- Stoll, S., Delon, J., Brotz, T.M., Germain, R.N., 2002. Dynamic Imaging of T Cell-Dendritic Cell Interactions in Lymph Nodes. Science 296, 1873–1876. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1071065
- Stoop, J.N., Harry, R.A., Delwig, A. von, Isaacs, J.D., Robinson, J.H., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2010. Therapeutic effect of tolerogenic dendritic cells in established collagen-induced arthritis is associated with a reduction in Th17 responses. Arthritis Rheum. 62, 3656–3665. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27756
- Suchard, S.J., Stetsko, D.K., Davis, P.M., Škala, S., Potin, D., Launay, M., Dhar, T.G.M., Barrish, J.C., Susulic, V., Shuster, D.J., McIntyre, K.W., McKinnon, M., Salter-Cid, L., 2010. An LFA-1 (αLβ2) Small-Molecule Antagonist Reduces Inflammation and Joint Destruction in Murine Models of Arthritis. J. Immunol. 184, 3917–3926. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0901095
- Sun, C.-M., Hall, J.A., Blank, R.B., Bouladoux, N., Oukka, M., Mora, J.R., Belkaid, Y., 2007. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1775– 1785. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070602
- Sun, H.Q., Kwiatkowska, K., Wooten, D.C., Yin, H.L., 1995. Effects of CapG overexpression on agonist-induced motility and second messenger generation. J. Cell Biol. 129, 147–156. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.129.1.147
- Sunderkötter, C., Nikolic, T., Dillon, M.J., Van Rooijen, N., Stehling, M., Drevets, D.A., Leenen, P.J.M., 2004. Subpopulations of mouse blood monocytes differ in maturation stage and inflammatory response. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 172, 4410–4417. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.4410
- Szabo, M.C., Butcher, E.C., McIntyre, B.W., Schall, T.J., Bacon, K.B., 1997. RANTES stimulation of T lymphocyte adhesion and activation: role for LFA-1 and ICAM-3. Eur. J. Immunol. 27, 1061–1068. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830270504
- Takahashi, H., Söderström, K., Nilsson, E., Kiessling, R., Patarroyo, M., 1992. Integrins and other adhesion molecules on lymphocytes from synovial fluid and peripheral blood of rheumatoid arthritis patients. Eur. J. Immunol. 22, 2879–2885. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830221119
- Tang, Q., Adams, J.Y., Tooley, A.J., Bi, M., Fife, B.T., Serra, P., Santamaria, P., Locksley, R.M., Krummel, M.F., Bluestone, J.A., 2006. Visualizing regulatory T cell control of autoimmune responses in nonobese diabetic mice. Nat. Immunol. 7, 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1289
- Taylor, P.C., Chu, C.Q., Plater-Zyberk, C., Maini, R.N., 1996. Transfer of type II collagen-induced arthritis from DBA/1 to severe combined immunodeficiency mice can be prevented by blockade of Mac-1. Immunology 88, 315–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.1996.tb00021.x
- Théry, C., Amigorena, S., 2001. The cell biology of antigen presentation in dendritic cells. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 13, 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00180-1
- Thomas, A.P., Dunn, T.N., Oort, P.J., Grino, M., Adams, S.H., 2011. Inflammatory Phenotyping Identifies CD11d as a Gene Markedly Induced in White Adipose

Tissue in Obese Rodents and Women. J. Nutr. 141, 1172–1180. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.110.127068

- Torres-Aguilar, H., Aguilar-Ruiz, S.R., González-Pérez, G., Munguía, R., Bajaña, S., Meraz-Ríos, M.A., Sánchez-Torres, C., 2010. Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Generated with Different Immunosuppressive Cytokines Induce Antigen-Specific Anergy and Regulatory Properties in Memory CD4+ T Cells. J. Immunol. 184, 1765–1775. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0902133
- Torsteinsdóttir, I., Arvidson, N.-G., Hällgren, R., Håkansson, L., 1999. Monocyte activation in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): increased integrin, Fcγ and complement receptor expression and the effect of glucocorticoids. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 115, 554–560. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.00817.x
- Traunecker, E., Gardner, R., Fonseca, J.E., Polido-Pereira, J., Seitz, M., Villiger, P.M., Iezzi, G., Padovan, E., 2015. Blocking of LFA-1 enhances expansion of Th17 cells induced by human CD14+CD16++ nonclassical monocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 45, 1414–1425. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201445100
- Unanue, E.R., 1984. Antigen-Presenting Function of the Macrophage. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2, 395–428. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.02.040184.002143
- Ursum, J., Bos, W.H., van de Stadt, R.J., Dijkmans, B.A., van Schaardenburg, D., 2009. Different properties of ACPA and IgM-RF derived from a large dataset: further evidence of two distinct autoantibody systems. Arthritis Res. Ther. 11, R75. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2704
- Uzel, G., Kleiner, D.E., Kuhns, D.B., Holland, S.M., 2001. Dysfunctional LAD-1 neutrophils and colitis. Gastroenterology 121, 958–964. https://doi.org/10.1053/gast.2001.28022
- van den Berg, W.B., Miossec, P., 2009. IL-17 as a future therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 5, 549–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2009.179
- Van der Vieren, M., Le Trong, H., Wood, C.L., Moore, P.F., John, T.St., Staunton, D.E., Gallatin, W.M., 1995. A novel leukointegrin, αdβ2, binds preferentially to ICAM-3. Immunity 3, 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-7613(95)90058-6
- van Holten, J., Plater-Zyberk, C., Tak, P.P., 2002. Interferon-β for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis? Arthritis Res. Ther. 4, 346. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar598
- Van Krinks, C.H., Matyszak, M.K., Hill Gaston, J.S., 2004. Characterization of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in inflammatory arthritis synovial fluid. Rheumatology 43, 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keh115
- Vanherwegen, A.-S., Eelen, G., Ferreira, G.B., Ghesquière, B., Cook, D.P., Nikolic, T., Roep, B., Carmeliet, P., Telang, S., Mathieu, C., Gysemans, C., 2019.
 Vitamin D controls the capacity of human dendritic cells to induce functional regulatory T cells by regulation of glucose metabolism. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 187, 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2018.11.011
- Varga, G., Balkow, S., Wild, M.K., Stadtbaeumer, A., Krummen, M., Rothoeft, T., Higuchi, T., Beissert, S., Wethmar, K., Scharffetter-Kochanek, K., Vestweber, D., Grabbe, S., 2007. Active MAC-1 (CD11b/CD18) on DCs inhibits full T-cell activation. Blood 109, 661–669. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-12-023044
- Villani, A.-C., Satija, R., Reynolds, G., Sarkizova, S., Shekhar, K., Fletcher, J., Griesbeck, M., Butler, A., Zheng, S., Lazo, S., Jardine, L., Dixon, D., Stephenson, E., Nilsson, E., Grundberg, I., McDonald, D., Filby, A., Li, W., Jager, P.L.D., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., Lane, A.A., Haniffa, M., Regev, A., Hacohen, N., 2017. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. Science 356, eaah4573. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah4573

- Voort, R.V.D., Lieshout, A.W.T.V., Toonen, L.W.J., Slöetjes, A.W., Berg, W.B.V.D., Figdor, C.G., Radstake, T.R.D.J., Adema, G.J., 2005. Elevated CXCL16 expression by synovial macrophages recruits memory T cells into rheumatoid joints. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 1381–1391. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21004
- Wang, L., Gordon, R.A., Huynh, L., Su, X., Min, K.-H.P., Han, J., Arthur, J.S., Kalliolias, G.D., Ivashkiv, L.B., 2010. Indirect Inhibition of Toll-like Receptor and Type I Interferon Responses by ITAM-Coupled Receptors and Integrins. Immunity 32, 518–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.014
- Watson, J.V., 1987. Time, a quality-control parameter in flow cytometry. Cytometry 8, 646–649. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.990080619
- Watts, G.M., Beurskens, F.J.M., Martin-Padura, I., Ballantyne, C.M., Klickstein, L.B., Brenner, M.B., Lee, D.M., 2005. Manifestations of Inflammatory Arthritis Are Critically Dependent on LFA-1. J. Immunol. 174, 3668–3675. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.6.3668
- Weinstein, Y., Ran, S., Segal, S., 1984. Sex-associated differences in the regulation of immune responses controlled by the MHC of the mouse. J. Immunol. 132, 656–661.
- Weyand, C.M., Hicok, K.C., Conn, D.L., Goronzy, J.J., 1992. The influence of HLA-DRB1 genes on disease severity in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Intern. Med. 117, 801–806. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-117-10-801
- Whitacre, C.C., 2001. Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat. Immunol. 2, 777– 780. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni0901-777
- Wildenberg, M.E., Welzen-Coppens, J.M.C., Helden-Meeuwsen, C.G. van, Bootsma, H., Vissink, A., Rooijen, N. van, Merwe, J.P. van de, Drexhage, H.A., Versnel, M.A., 2009. Increased frequency of CD16+ monocytes and the presence of activated dendritic cells in salivary glands in primary Sjögren syndrome. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 68, 420–426. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2008.087874
- Winchester, R.J., Gregersen, P.K., 1988. The molecular basis of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis: The conformational equivalence hypothesis. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 10, 119–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01857219
- Wize, J., Sopata, I., Smerdel, A., Maśliński, S., 1998. Ligation of selectin L and integrin CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) induces release of gelatinase B (MMP-9) from human neutrophils. Inflamm. Res. 47, 325–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s000110050336
- Wolf, D., Anto-Michel, N., Blankenbach, H., Wiedemann, A., Buscher, K., Hohmann, J.D., Lim, B., Bäuml, M., Marki, A., Mauler, M., Duerschmied, D., Fan, Z., Winkels, H., Sidler, D., Diehl, P., Zajonc, D.M., Hilgendorf, I., Stachon, P., Marchini, T., Willecke, F., Schell, M., Sommer, B., Muhlen, C. von zur, Reinöhl, J., Gerhardt, T., Plow, E.F., Yakubenko, V., Libby, P., Bode, C., Ley, K., Peter, K., Zirlik, A., 2018. A ligand-specific blockade of the integrin Mac-1 selectively targets pathologic inflammation while maintaining protective host-defense. Nat. Commun. 9, 525. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-02896-8
- Wolfe, F., Mitchell, D.M., Sibley, J.T., Fries, J.F., Bloch, D.A., Williams, C.A., Spitz, P.W., Haga, M., Kleinheksel, S.M., Cathey, M.A., 1994. The mortality of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 37, 481–494. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780370408
- Wong, K.L., Tai, J.J.-Y., Wong, W.-C., Han, H., Sem, X., Yeap, W.-H., Kourilsky, P., Wong, S.-C., 2011. Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets. Blood 118, e16–e31. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326355
- Wood, M.J., Leckenby, A., Reynolds, G., Spiering, R., Pratt, A.G., Rankin, K.S., Isaacs, J.D., Haniffa, M.A., Milling, S., Hilkens, C.M.U., 2019. Macrophage

proliferation distinguishes 2 subgroups of knee osteoarthritis patients. JCI Insight 4. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.125325

- Wright, S.D., Ramos, R.A., Tobias, P.S., Ulevitch, R.J., Mathison, J.C., 1990. CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein. Science 249, 1431–1433. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1698311
- Wu, H., Shen, J., Liu, L., Lu, X., Xue, J., 2019. Vasoactive intestinal peptide-induced tolerogenic dendritic cells attenuated arthritis in experimental collagen-induced arthritic mice. Int. J. Rheum. Dis. 22, 1255–1262. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13578
- Xia, C.-Q., Peng, R., Beato, F., Clare-Salzler, M.J., 2005. Dexamethasone Induces IL-10-Producing Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells with Durable Immaturity. Scand. J. Immunol. 62, 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2005.01640.x
- Xu, D., Yan, S., Wang, H., Gu, B., Sun, K., Yang, X., Sun, B., Wang, X., 2015. IL-29 Enhances LPS/TLR4-Mediated Inflammation in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 37, 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1159/000430330
- Yakubenko, V.P., Belevych, N., Mishchuk, D., Schurin, A., Lam, S.C.-T., Ugarova, T.P., 2008. The role of integrin αDβ2 (CD11d/CD18) in monocyte/macrophage migration. Exp. Cell Res. 314, 2569–2578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.05.016
- Yakubenko, V.P., Yadav, S.P., Ugarova, T.P., 2006. Integrin αDβ2, an adhesion receptor up-regulated on macrophage foam cells, exhibits multiligand-binding properties. Blood 107, 1643–1650. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-06-2509
- Yamada, H., Nakashima, Y., Okazaki, K., Mawatari, T., Fukushi, J.-I., Kaibara, N., Hori, A., Iwamoto, Y., Yoshikai, Y., 2008. Th1 but not Th17 cells predominate in the joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 67, 1299– 1304. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2007.080341
- Yee, N.K., Hamerman, J.A., 2013. β2 integrins inhibit TLR responses by regulating NF-κB pathway and p38 MAPK activation. Eur. J. Immunol. 43, 779–792. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201242550
- Yu, M.B., Langridge, W.H.R., 2017. The function of myeloid dendritic cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol. Int. 37, 1043–1051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-017-3671-z
- Zawada, A.M., Rogacev, K.S., Rotter, B., Winter, P., Marell, R.-R., Fliser, D., Heine, G.H., 2011. SuperSAGE evidence for CD14++CD16+ monocytes as a third monocyte subset. Blood 118, e50–e61. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-01-326827
- Zeben, D.V., Hazes, J.M.W., Zwinderman, A.H., Cats, A., Schreuder, G.M.T., D'Amaro, J., Breedveld, F.C., 1991. Association of HLA–DR4 with a more progressive disease course in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Results of a followup study. Arthritis Rheum. 34, 822–830. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780340707
- Zepter, K., Häffner, A., Soohoo, L.F., Luca, D.D., Tang, H.P., Fisher, P., Chavinson, J., Elmets, C.A., 1997. Induction of biologically active IL-1 beta-converting enzyme and mature IL-1 beta in human keratinocytes by inflammatory and immunologic stimuli. J. Immunol. 159, 6203–6208.
- Zhang, K., Chen, J., 2012. The regulation of integrin function by divalent cations. Cell Adhes. Migr. 6, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.4161/cam.18702
- Zhou, L.J., Tedder, T.F., 1996. CD14+ blood monocytes can differentiate into functionally mature CD83+ dendritic cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93, 2588– 2592. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.6.2588

- Zhu, B., Bando, Y., Xiao, S., Yang, K., Anderson, A.C., Kuchroo, V.K., Khoury, S.J., 2007. CD11b+Ly-6Chi Suppressive Monocytes in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. J. Immunol. 179, 5228–5237. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5228
- Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., Ancuta, P., Crowe, S., Dalod, M., Grau, V., Hart, D.N., Leenen, P.J.M., Liu, Y.-J., MacPherson, G., Randolph, G.J., Scherberich, J., Schmitz, J., Shortman, K., Sozzani, S., Strobl, H., Zembala, M., Austyn, J.M., Lutz, M.B., 2010. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. Blood 116, e74–e80. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558
- Zvaifler, N.J., Steinman, R.M., Kaplan, G., Lau, L.L., Rivelis, M., 1985. Identification of immunostimulatory dendritic cells in the synovial effusions of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 76, 789–800. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI112036